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Group Management Report

General economic environment1)

In 2017, the economic situation in Europe improved. In a 
forecast published in November of the year under review, the 
European Commission estimated that economic growth in  
the European Union would be 2.3 % in 2017 and raised thereby  
its previous forecast from the spring significantly due to the 
positive economic situation, with 2.1 % growth expected in 
2018. The Austrian economy is expected to grow by 2.6 % in 
2017. In Bulgaria, the increase in GDP is estimated at 3.9 %  
in 2017. In Croatia, the economy is expected to have expand-
ed by 3.2 % in the same period. After two years of negative 
growth rates, a slight increase in economic output of 0.7 % is 
expected for Belarus in 2017. Based on European Commission 
estimates, Slovenia, the Republic of Serbia and the Republic  
of Macedonia are expected to have seen an increase in eco-
nomic output of 4.7 %, 2.0 % and 1.7 % respectively in 2017.

The European Central Bank (ECB) continued with its policy 
of monetary easing using its bond buying programme in the 
year under review. Within the framework of this programme 
launched in March 2015, in the year under review the ECB  
was buying securities in the amount of EUR 80 bn per month 
until March 2017, reducing this volume to EUR 60 bn as of 
April 2017. In October 2017, approval was granted for the 
bond buying programme due to expire at the end of 2017 to 
be extended through to the end of September 2018 at least.  

At the same time, the ECB announced that it would halve  
the amount of securities bought to EUR 30 bn per month as  
of January 2018. The ECB kept its key interest rate at 0.00 % 
during the year under review. Meanwhile, the US Federal Reserve 
raised its key interest rate from 0.50–0.75 % to 1.25–1.50 %  
in three stages in March, June and December 2017.

Industry trends and competition
The business performance of the A1 Telekom Austria Group  
is significantly influenced by a number of external factors. The 
macroeconomic recovery in recent years continued in 2017, 
although some countries continued to experience a slower 
rate of growth with an impact on purchasing power. In 2017, 
the market environment in both the fixed-line and the mobile 
communications markets proved to be highly competitive once 
again, particularly in mature markets. Furthermore, it remains 
to be seen how the takeover of Tele2 Austria by Hutchinson 
Drei Austria and the planned acquisition of UPC Austria by 
T-Mobile Austria will affect the market environment. In the no- 
frills segment, there was sustained pressure on prices due  
to the aggressive pricing policy of mobile virtual network oper-
ators (MVNOs). Furthermore, regulatory provisions continued 
to negatively impact revenues and earnings. In particular,  
the stepwise abolition of retail roaming in the EU as of 30 April 
2016 and 15 June 2017 affected the Group’s results. Further 
termination rate cuts in Bulgaria, Croatia, the Republic of  
Serbia and the Republic of Macedonia also had a negative 
impact in 2017. The A1 Telekom Austria Group counters these  
factors through the systematic implementation of its con- 
vergence strategy, a clear focus on high-value customers, 
innovative products and services as well as strict cost manage-
ment. In the year under review, the A1 Telekom Austria Group 
agreed to harmonise the brand within the Group. The ‘A1’ 
brand will be introduced incrementally throughout the Group 
according to local market circumstances. During the course  
of the systematic implementation of its single brand strategy, 
the Group is operating as A1 Telekom Austria Group since 
November 2017.

Development of real GDP in the  
markets of A1 Telekom Austria Group  
(in %)

   2016 2017e 2018e

Austria 1.5 2.6 2.4

Bulgaria 3.9 3.9 3.8

Croatia 3.0 3.2 2.8

Belarus –2.6 0.7 0.7

Slovenia 3.1 4.7 4.0

Republic of Serbia 2.8 2.0 3.3

Republic of Macedonia 2.9 1.7 2.7

Sources: IMF for Belarus; European Commission for all other countries

1) Sources: GDP for Belarus: IMF https://www.imf.org/~/media/Files/Publications/WEO/2017/October/pdf/main-chapter/text.ashx?la=en, dated  
 October 2017, page 66; European Union, Austria, Bulgaria, Croatia, Slovenia, Republic of Serbia and Republic of Macedonia: https://ec.europa.eu/info/ 
 sites/info/files/economy-finance/ip063_en.pdf, dated November 2017, pages 160, 187

GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

A1 TELEKOM AUSTRIA GROUP — ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2017 2



Source: RTR

In Austria, the A1 Telekom Austria Group offers a comprehen-
sive and convergent product portfolio comprising both fixed- 
line and mobile communications solutions under its A1 brand. 
The latest market report issued by the regulatory authority, 
which tracked the most recent market data in Austria up to  
the end of the second quarter of 2017, underlines the high 
degree of maturity of the Austrian market and describes the 
following average trends across all operators: 2)

▸  Average monthly revenues generated per mobile customer 
decreased from EUR 14.3 in the first half of 2016 to  
EUR 13.4 in the first half of 2017, while total end customer 
revenues rose by 0.7 % year-on-year. The amount of airtime 
increased by 5.4 % in comparison to the first half of 2016. 
The rapid growth in data volume in the first half of the year 
2017 continued, with an increase of 95.5 % year-on-year. 
As previously, the strongest stimulus for this trend came 
from smartphone users, where an increase of 12.5 % to 
more than 4.8 million users was recorded. 

2) https://www.rtr.at/de/inf/TK_Monitor_Q2_2017/RTR_Telekom_ 
 Monitor_Q2_2017.pdf; A1 Telekom Austria Group calculations
3) http://www.statistik.at/web_de/statistiken/informationsgesellschaft/ 
 index.html
4) http://www.nsi.bg/sites/default/files/files/pressreleases/ICT_hh2017_ 
 en_ZW9AP4W.pdf; http://www.nsi.bg/sites/default/files/files/ 
 pressreleases/ICT_hh2016_en_TSVV05D.pdf
5) https://www.hakom.hr/UserDocsImages/2017/e_trziste/KVA%20 
 ENG%20Q3%202017%20Fixed%20broadband%20penetration.pdf;  
 https://www.hakom.hr/UserDocsImages/2017/e_trziste/KVA%20 
 ENG%20Q3%202017%20Mobile%20broadband%20penetration.pdf
6) http://www.belstat.gov.by/en/ofitsialnaya-statistika/real-sector-of-the- 
 economy/communication-and-ict/communication/annual-data/main- 
 indicators-of-general-use-communications-development/; 
 Statistical Yearbook of the Republic of Belarus, 2017: http://www.belstat. 
 gov.by/en/ofitsialnaya-statistika/publications/statistical-publications- 
 data-books-bulletins/public_compilation/index_8145/, page 342; note:  
 only figures for 2016 are available for Belarus.
7) http://pxweb.stat.si/pxweb/Dialog/viewplus.asp?ma=H087E&ti= 
 &path=../Database/Hitre_Repozitorij/&lang=1; A1 Telekom Austria Group  
 calculations

▸  In the Austrian fixed-line market, the number of fixed  
access lines in the first half of the year decreased by  
1.6 % year-on-year. The amount of airtime via the do- 
mestic fixed-line network also decreased by 8.5 % in the  
first half of the year 2017 in comparison to the previous 
year. The strong demand for broadband solutions contin-
ued in 2017 and resulted in an overall rise of 17.0 % to  
10.8 million mobile and fixed-line broadband connections. 
While fixed-line broadband exhibited a moderate increase 
of 1.1 %, mobile broadband connections experienced  
dynamic growth of 22.8 % year-on-year.

According to Statistics Austria, the share of Austrian house-
holds with Internet access rose from 85 % in 2016 to 89 % in 
2017. Broadband lines in households increased from 85 %  
to 88 % in the same period, while lines at companies remained 
constant at 98 %.3)

In Bulgaria, the trend of previous years continued and the 
Internet penetration rate across all households increased  
year-on-year from 63.5 % to 67.3 % in 2017. 85.3 % of these 
people with Internet access also used a mobile device to  
access the web (2016: 70.4 %).4)

The positive development of the Croatian ICT market and the 
macroeconomic situation continued in the year under review. 
Broadband penetration in the fixed-line business increased  
to 25.3 % in the third quarter of 2017 (Q3 2016: 23.9 %),  
while mobile broadband penetration increased from 79.0 %  
to 81.2 % in the same period.5)

In Belarus, the ICT market has developed strongly in recent 
years, which has led to a steady increase in the number of 
Internet customers and the number of mobile telephone users. 
While the number of mobile network users stagnated in 2016, 
the number of Internet users increased. At the end of 2016, 
the proportion of households with Internet access was 62.5 % 
(2015: 59.1 %).6)

In Slovenia, the Internet penetration rate increased from  
78.4 % in the previous year to 81.7 % in the year under  
review. 85.1 % of these users with Internet access also utilised  
a mobile device to access the web (2016: 67.5 %).7)

Up- and download volume  
Austrian retail market
Volume in terabyte
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In the Republic of Serbia, the increase in the number of Inter-
net connections continued, with 68.0 % of households having 
Internet access in 2017 (2016: 64.7 %). Meanwhile, 90.5 % 
of all Serbian households also own mobile telephones (2016: 
90.2 %) and 68.1 % have a computer (2016: 65.8 %).1)

According to the Statistical Office of the Republic of Macedonia,  
73.6 % of all Macedonian households had Internet access in 
the first quarter of 2017 (2016: 75.3 %), thereof 82.5 % also 
used a mobile device to access the web (2016: 81.0 %).2)

Regulation
As the market leader, A1 Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft 
is classified as a provider with substantial market power in 
Austria and is therefore subject to the corresponding regula- 
tory measures. These include extensive network access and 
price regulations. The international subsidiaries of the A1  
Telekom Austria Group are also subject to far-reaching reg-
ulatory provisions in their respective national markets. The 
relevant regulation for A1 Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft 
in the fixed-line network in Austria has only a limited impact 
at retail level now but applies in full at wholesale level. This 
includes obligations to give alternative providers access to 
infrastructure and services. As such, the trend is develop- 
ing from physical access towards virtual access at wholesale 
level (e.g. virtual unbundling; VULA). Decisions on regula- 
tion are made not only at national level, but increasingly  
at European level in order to make harmonised decisions  
within the EU. For example, this is the case for the European  
Commission’s 3) roaming and net neutrality regulations,  
which apply equally to all EU member states.

Fixed-line telecommunication 
markets

In the spring of 2015, the Austrian regulatory authority initi- 
ated the fifth round of the statutory market review process, 
which is oriented towards the European Commission’s ‘rele- 
vant markets recommendation’ of October 2014. Now, at the 
end of 2017, the final decisions have been issued in almost 
all markets to be examined. In the summer of 2017, decisions 
were made as to the key wholesale markets for central and 
local access. These decisions impacted the year under review 
as A1 Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft was now also able  
to roll out vectoring technology in unbundled connection areas  
in order to offer broadband connections with higher band-
widths. Virtual unbundling (VULA) was also confirmed as a 
direct replacement for the physical unbundling of customer 
lines. This has now established itself as the new, central type  
of access for alternative operators. The procedures which  
are still open at this point in time are not likely to have been 
completed until the end of the first half of 2018. 

Mobile communications markets
The mobile communications markets of the A1 Telekom Austria 
Group are subject to various regulatory systems. As members  
of the EU and the European Economic Area (EEA), their res- 
pective regulations apply in Austria, Bulgaria, Croatia and 
Slovenia. They define roaming charges and termination rates 
between individual market players. The regulatory environ- 
ment in Belarus, the Republic of Serbia and the Republic of 
Macedonia are at different stages of development. There  
are general signs of gradual harmonisation with EU statutory 
provisions in these countries as well.

1) http://webrzs.stat.gov.rs/WebSite/repository/documents/00/02/59/78/Saopstenje_2017_engl.pdf
2) http://www.stat.gov.mk/pdf/2017/8.1.17.33.pdf; http://www.stat.gov.mk/pdf/2016/8.1.16.30.pdf
3) Regulation (EU) 2015/2120 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 25 November 2015 laying down measures concerning open Internet  
 access and amending Directive 2002/22/EC on universal service and users’ rights relating to electronic communications networks and services and  
 Regulation (EU) No. 531/2012 on roaming on public mobile communications networks within the Union.

1) National MTRs stated. International MTRs differ.
2) Values that apply to Belarus: prime time/downtime. MTS: Mobile TeleSystems; BeST: Belarus Telecommunications Network

Glide paths for mobile termination rates

   Jan 16 Jul 16 Jan 17 Jul 17 Jan 18

Austria (EUR)  0.008049 0.008049 0.008049 0.008049 0.008049

Bulgaria (BGN)  0.019 0.019 0.014 0.014 0.014

Croatia (HRK)  0.0631) 0.0631) 0.0631) 0.0471) 0.0471)

Belarus (BYN)  MTS: 0.025/0.0125 MTS: 0.025/0.0125 MTS: 0.025/0.0125 MTS: 0.025/0.0125 MTS: 0.025/0.0125
  BeST: 0.018/0.0092) BeST: 0.018/0.0092) BeST: 0.018/0.0092) BeST: 0.018/0.0092) BeST: 0.018/0.0092)

Slovenia (EUR)  0.0114 0.0114 0.0114 0.0114 0.0114

Republic of Serbia (RSD) 3.43 2.75 2.07 2.07 1.43

Republic of Macedonia (MKD) 0.90 0.90 0.63 0.63 0.63

GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

A1 TELEKOM AUSTRIA GROUP — ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2017 4



The new regulation on net neutrality and roaming (‘Connected  
Continent’ or the ‘Telecom Single Market’ package) came into 
force in 2016. In accordance with the regulation, Internet 
access service providers are obliged to treat data traffic overall 
in an equal manner, regardless of the transmitter, receiver, 
application or device in question. In addition to Internet access 
services, specialised services can also be offered, although 
this is subject to certain limitations. However, some details  
of the implementation of the regulation in terms of both net 
neutrality and roaming are still to be determined, meaning  
that the extent of its effects cannot be fully predicted.

As far as roaming in EU member states is concerned, the  
abolition of retail roaming surcharges as of 15 June 2017  
has been implemented. From 30 April 2016 to 14 June 2017,  
there was a transition period in which network operators  
were allowed to apply roaming surcharges in the amount of 
wholesale caps in addition to domestic prices. Following  
the Communications Committee’s (COCOM) approval of the  
implementing regulation on fair use limits for roaming to be 
adopted on 12 December 2016, this was formally adopted by 
the European Commission by the end of 2016 as planned.  
The named provisions apply to the mobile communications 
companies of the A1 Telekom Austria Group in the EEA member 
states of Austria, Bulgaria, Croatia and Slovenia and will have  
a negative impact on current and future roaming revenues.

In 2016, the European Commission presented the draft  
of a new directive revising the current framework, access, 
authorisation and universal service directives and intro- 
ducing a range of new regulations (European Electronic  
Communications Code). This initial proposed legislation  
is being negotiated in the European Parliament and at the 
level of the EU member states. An agreement shall be made 
by mid-2018 at the latest. The European Parliament has again 
brought forward a previous proposal for the abolition  

1) The total of the domestic retail price and any surcharge applied to regulated roaming calls made, regulated roaming SMS messages sent or regulated  
 data roaming services must not exceed EUR 0.19 per minute, EUR 0.06 per SMS message and EUR 0.20 per megabyte used. Any surcharge applied  
 for calls received must not exceed the weighted average of mobile termination rates across the Union.

EU roaming glide path

Retail (in EUR) July 2014 30 April 2016  15 June 2017

Data (per MB) 0.20 domestic tariff + 0.051)  domestic tariff    

Voice calls made    
(per minute)  0.19 domestic tariff + 0.051)  domestic tariff   

Voice calls received  
(per minute) 0.05 weighted average MTR1)  0 

SMS (per SMS) 0.06 domestic tariff + 0.021)  domestic tariff    

  
 
Wholesale (in EUR) July 2014 30 April 2016  15 June 2017 1 January 2018 1 January 2019

Data (per MB) 0.05 0.05  0.0077 0.006 0.0045

Voice (per minute) 0.05 0.05  0.032 0.032 0.032

SMS (per SMS) 0.02 0.02  0.01 0.01 0.01

of surcharges for international calls within the EU. Policy  
objectives for a ‘gigabit society’ and a 5G plan of action were 
also presented. This will involve both legal and regulatory  
risks as well as financial risks in future. The frequency alloca-
tion of the 3.4–3.8 GHz band is also imminent in Austria.  
The auction is likely to take place in the second half of 2018.

Information on financial reporting
The A1 Telekom Austria Group reports on seven business  
segments: Austria, Bulgaria, Croatia, Belarus, Slovenia,  
the Republic of Serbia and the Republic of Macedonia. The  
‘Corporate & other, eliminations’ segment performs strategic 
and management functions for all segments in addition to 
financing agendas and since the first quarter of 2017 has  
also included A1 Digital International GmbH. The Machine- 
to-Machine (M2M) business, which has so far been reported  
in the Austria segment, is part of this company. Therefore,  
previously reported numbers in the segments Austria as well 
as in ‘Corporate & other, eliminations’ will be affected, while 
Group numbers will not change. Comparative figures were 
adjusted accordingly. A1 Digital International GmbH focuses 
on the B2B market and offers digital services to actively sup-
port companies in the digitalisation process with the goal of 
enhancing their success in their field of business.

The presentation and analysis of financial information and 
key performance indicators until page 20 may differ from the 
financial information presented in the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. This is due to the fact that the presentation and 
analysis are partially based on proforma figures that include 
M&A transactions between the start of the comparison period 
and the end of the reporting period.
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To reflect the performance on an operational basis, the  
proforma figures present comparison figures for previous  
periods as if M&A transactions executed between the start of 
the comparison period and the end of the reporting period 
had already been fully consolidated in the relevant months  
of the comparison period. Alternative Performance Measures 
(APM) are used to describe the operational performance. 
Please therefore also refer to the financial information pre- 
sented in the Consolidated Financial Statements, which  
do not contain proforma figures, as well as the reconciliation 
tables provided on page 21.

The performance indicator EBITDA is reported in order  
to present the operational development of individual busi- 
ness units transparently. EBITDA is defined as the net  
result excluding financial result, income tax, depreciation  
and amortisation and, if applicable, impairment losses  
or reversal of impairments.

The use of automated calculation systems may give rise  
to rounding differences.

Revenue and earnings development

Proforma view 
Key financials    2017 2016 Change
in EUR million    reported proforma in %

Total revenues    4,382.5 4,254.9 3.0

EBITDA    1,397.3 1,370.4 2.0

% of total revenues    31.9 % 32,2 % – 

Operating income    443.9 496.2 –10.5

 
 

Proforma view      
Costs and expenses    2017 2016 Change
in EUR million    reported proforma in %

Cost of service    1,394.2 1,362.7 2.3

Cost of equipment    584.2 521.9 11.9

Selling, general & administrative expenses   994.9 997.2 –0.2

Other expenses    11.8 2.7 n. m.

Total costs and expenses   2,985.1 2,884.5 3.5
 thereof employee costs   793.9 796.6 –0.3

  thereof restructuring charges   –18.2 7.2 n. m.

Impairment charges    0.0 2.3 n. a.

Depreciation and amortisation   953.4 871.9 9.4

 

 

Reported view      2017 2016 Change 
in EUR million    reported berichtet in %

Net result    345.5 413.2 –16.4

Net cash flow from operating activities   1,174.8 1,195.5 –1.7

Earnings per share (in EUR)   0.48 0.58 –17.6

Free cash flow per share (in EUR)   0.58 0.35 65.8

Capital expenditures1)    736.9 764.1 –3.6

Net debt    2,331.8 2,339.4 –0.3

1) Additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, excluding asset retirement obligations.
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Revenue and earnings  
development

The following analysis is based on proforma figures  
if not stated otherwise1).
In the 2017 financial year, the A1 Telekom Austria Group  
continued with the systematic implementation of its con- 
vergence strategy as well as maintaining a clear focus on  
high-value customers, innovative products and services as  
well as strict cost management. Negative effects stemming  
from the stepwise abolition of retail roaming in the EU as  
of 30 April 2016 and 15 June 2017 came in slightly lower  
than expected and derive mostly from Austria and Slovenia, 
while Croatia profited from growth in visitor roaming.

In Austria, the market environment in 2017 was again  
characterised by no-frills mobile offers and rapidly increasing 
data volumes. The A1 Telekom Austria Group counteracted 
these developments in the no-frills segment with competitive 
national tariffs, for example, while the focus in the premium 
segment was on data monetisation. As of November 2017, 
premium tariffs also included ‘zero-rated’ services enabling 
certain music and video services to be used independently  
of data limits. In Bulgaria, mobile business performance in 
2017, particularly in the business segment, was again char- 
acterised by a difficult competitive environment. The fixed- 
line business continued its positive development. Overall  
business in Croatia in 2017 profited from a strong market  
environment, whereby the fixed-line business was further 
strengthened by the acquisition of Metronet.

In Belarus, the solid operational performance in 2017 was 
supported, in contrast to previous years, by positive FX devel-
opment in the first half of 2017. Based on the period average, 
the Belarusian Rouble appreciated by 1.0 % against the Euro  
in the year under review. The Slovenian telecommunications 
market was also characterised by fierce competition in the 
mobile network in 2017, with a focus on convergence. During 
April 2017, Si.mobil was successfully rebranded to A1 Slovenija.  
In the Republic of Serbia, a new product portfolio was intro-
duced following the change of positioning in the market in 
order to respond to the competitive market environment. The 
segment Republic of Macedonia continues to be characterised 
by intense competition.

In September 2017, the A1 Telekom Austria Group took a 
further step in strengthening its brand profile and announced 
its decision to introduce the A1 brand stepwise in all markets 
according to local circumstances and thereby harmonise its 
brands throughout the Group. This triggered the continuous 
amortisation of local brand values, which had reached a total 
of around EUR 350 mn by the end of 2016. The respective 
companies will amortise the brand values until the phase-out 
of the old brands, which is expected to have a negative impact 
on the net result until the financial year 2019, with more than 

1) Proforma figures are not audited and include effects of M&A transactions  
 executed between the start of the comparison period and the end of the  
 reporting period.

half of the impact in 2017 and Q1 2018. In 2017, the brand 
value amortisation resulting thereof amounted to EUR 121.8 mn  
and stemmed primarily from the segment Bulgaria as well  
as to a lesser extent from the segments Belarus, Croatia and 
Republic of Macedonia.

As of Q1 2017, A1 Digital International GmbH (A1 Digital)  
is consolidated as part of the segment ‘Corporate & other, 
eliminations‘. The M2M (Machine-to-Machine) business,  
which has so far been reported in the Austria segment, is now 
part of this company. A1 Digital focuses on the B2B market 
and offers digital services to actively support companies in the 
digitalisation process with the goal of enhancing their success 
in their field of business. In August 2017, A1 Digital acquired  
a majority holding of Swiss cloud provider Akenes SA, which 
operates under the Exoscale brand. Exoscale provides infra-
structure and services for cloud applications in Europe. Follow-
ing the acquisition, A1 Digital is now able to offer cloud-based 
services via this platform.

In order to further strengthen its market position, the A1 Telekom  
Austria Group carried out targeted M&A activities, whereby  
the following transactions between the start of the comparison 
period and the end of the reporting period are highlighted:

 2017:
▸  The acquisition of fixed-line operator Garant (Gomel)  

in Belarus, consolidated as of 1 August 2017.
▸  The acquisition of fixed-line operator Metronet in Croatia, 

consolidated as of 1 February 2017.
▸  The acquisition of fixed-line provider Atlant Telecom  

and its subsidiary TeleSet in Belarus, consolidated as  
of 1 December 2016.

For further details on purchasing prices and cash outflow,  
see Note (33).

In 2017, the one-off effects in total revenues (incl. other 
operating income) amounted to EUR +23.8 mn (2016: none), 
EBITDA included one-off effects of EUR +23.8 mn (2016:  
EUR +21.4 mn). The material one-off effects in 2017 and  
2016 are as follows:

2017:
▸  A positive one-off effect in the Republic of Serbia in  

the amount of EUR 3.8 mn in Q4 2017 in other operating  
income, resulting from changed parameters in the  
calculation of asset retirement obligations.

▸  A positive one-off effect in Bulgaria in the amount  
of EUR 5.8 mn in Q3 2017 in other operating income,  
stemming from a legal settlement. 

▸  A positive one-off effect in Austria in the amount  
of EUR 10.6 mn in Q1 2017 in fixed-line and other  
revenues (in solutions & connectivity), resulting  
from the reversal of an accrual for wholesale services.

▸  A positive one-off effect of EUR 3.6 mn in the Austria  
segment in Q1 2017 in other operating income,  
stemming from a release of an asset retirement obligation.
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2016:
▸  A positive EUR 14.4 mn one-off effect in Q3 2016 deriving 

from the reversal of an accrual for copyrights in Austria, 
included in cost of service. 

▸  A positive EUR 7.0 mn one-off effect in Austria in cost of 
equipment in Q1 2016, stemming from the harmonisation 
of value adjustments for handsets. 

Furthermore, positive FX effects of EUR 11.0 mn are included  
in revenues and EUR 3.3 mn in EBITDA in 2017, stemming  
from the segments Belarus, Croatia and Republic of Serbia.

In mobile communications, the number of A1 Telekom Austria 
Group subscribers decreased slightly by 0.2 % to 20.7 million 
subscribers in the year under review. Declining subscriber 
numbers in Bulgaria, Austria, Belarus, the Republic of Macedonia  
and Slovenia were offset in part by an increase in the number 

of A1 Digital M2M customers as well as growth in Croatia and 
the Republic of Serbia. The number of mobile subscribers in 
Austria decreased by 1.9 % in 2017, which was driven by the 
prepaid segment. Almost all markets saw a shift from prepaid 
to postpaid offers. The number of revenue-generating units 
(RGUs) in the Group’s fixed-line business decreased by  
0.6 % year-on-year (reported: +2.3 %). The decline in RGUs  
in Austria and Bulgaria, which was driven primarily by voice 
RGUs, was partially offset by increases in the other markets.

Key figures of the A1 Telekom Austria Group

Proforma view

    2017 2016 Change 
Total revenues    reported proforma in %

Austria    2,622.3 2,571.6 2.0

Bulgaria    431.2 412.0 4.7

Croatia    434.9 423.9 2.6

Belarus    390.5 338.8 15.2

Slovenia    216.1 214.1 0.9

Republic of Serbia    230.8 221.1 4.4

Republic of Macedonia    114.0 119.4 –4.5

Corporate & other, eliminations   –57.3 –46.2 –24.1

Total    4,382.5 4,254.9 3.0
  

    2017 2016 Change
EBITDA    reported proforma in %

Austria    914.2 899.7 1.6

Bulgaria    130.1 125.6 3.6

Croatia    108.0 98.6 9.6

Belarus    181.3 157.4 15.2

Slovenia    40.6 52.8 –23.2

Republic of Serbia    38.4 38.8 –1.2

Republic of Macedonia    30.1 26.1 15.0

Corporate & other, eliminations   –45.3 –28.6 –58.5

Total    1,397.3 1,370.4 2.0
 

    2017 2016 Change
Operating income    reported proforma in %

Austria    442.1 404.4 9.3

Bulgaria    –85.6 15.4 n. m.

Croatia    12.4 15.0 –17.2

Belarus    123.1 91.7 34.1

Slovenia    10.5 20.1 –47.8

Republic of Serbia    –6.8 –7.8 13.1

Republic of Macedonia    –6.0 –29.5 79.7

Corporate & other, eliminations   –45.8 –13.2 –248.0

Total    443.9 496.2 –10.5

(in EUR million)
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Key figures of the A1 Telekom 
Austria Group

In the 2017 financial year, the A1 Telekom Austria Group saw  
an increase in revenues of 3.0 % (reported: +4.1 %). Adjusted  
for the one-off and FX effects described above, total revenues  
rose by 2.2 % compared with the previous year (reported: 3.2 %).  
This revenue growth was driven by the strong operational per-
formance in Belarus, as well as higher total revenues in Austria, 
Bulgaria, Croatia, the Republic of Serbia and Slovenia. These 
increases were only partly offset by lower total revenues in the 
Republic of Macedonia. In total, Group service revenues in-
creased by 1.9 % (reported: +3.1 %) and rose by 1.3 % (report-
ed: +2.5 %) excluding the above-mentioned one-off effects. 

Group total costs and expenses increased by 3.5 % year-on- 
year in the year under review (reported: +4.5 %). Investments 
in high-value customers led to a rise in cost of equipment and  
higher sales area costs. The cost of service increased, among 
other things, due to higher roaming and content costs. Re-
structuring, originating entirely from the Austrian segment, 
resulted in an income of EUR 18.2 mn in the year under review, 
stemming primarily from a revaluation due to changed param- 
eters. In the previous year, restructuring charges amounted to 
EUR 7.2 mn.

EBITDA increased by 2.0 % in the 2017 financial year (report-
ed: +3.2 %). The growth in Belarus, Austria, Croatia, Bulgaria 
and the Republic of Macedonia was only partially offset by  
a decline in Slovenia and the Republic of Serbia. Furthermore, 
start-up costs of A1 Digital, included in the position ‘Corporate 
& other, eliminations’, had a negative impact on Group EBITDA. 
In total, the EBITDA margin decreased slightly from 32.2 % in 
the previous year to 31.9 % in the year under review. Adjusted  
for the one-off and FX effects described above as well as 
restructuring charges, EBITDA remained stable year-on-year 
(proforma: –0.3 %; reported: +0.9 %).

In the year under review, expenses for depreciation and 
amortisation increased by 9.4 % to EUR 953.4 mn (reported: 
+10.2 %) in comparison with the previous year. This increase 
was primarily due to the brand value amortisation in Bulgaria 
and to a lesser degree in Belarus, Croatia and the Republic  
of Macedonia in conjunction with Group-wide rebranding.  
As a result, operating income declined by 10.5 % to EUR 
443.9 mn compared with the previous year (reported: –8.8 %). 
Excluding brand value amortisations, the operating income 
increased by 14.3 % (reported: 16.5 %).

Company Key Figures

  2017 2016 Change 
  reported reported in %

Earnings per share 
(in EUR) 0.48 0.58 –17.6

Dividend per share 
(in EUR) 0.201) 0.20 n. a.

Free cash flow per share
(in EUR) 0.58 0.35 65.8

ROE 12.1 %2) 15.9 % – 

ROIC 6.9 %3) 8.5 %3) – 

1) Proposal to the 2018 Annual General Meeting, which will take  
 place on 30 May 2018.
2) Ratio of net result to average equity employed; serves as an  
 indicator to measure the yield on equity.
3) Total return on invested capital, calculated by net operating profit  
 after tax (NOPAT) divided by the average capital invested. As  
 calculation parameters changed in the reporting period, figures  
 have been adjusted accordingly in the comparison period.

Reported view

The following analysis is presented solely  
on a reported basis.
The A1 Telekom Austria Group recorded a financial result  
of negative EUR 95.4 mn in the year under review, which  
means an improvement of 24.8 % compared with the previ- 
ous year. This was mainly due to the EUR 47.2 mn reduction  
in interest expense. This resulted, on the one hand, from  
the repayment of a EUR 500 mn bond on 27 January 2017  
and favourable refinancing conditions. On the other hand,  
the previous year was impacted by termination costs for  
the early repayment of bank debt. FX differences amounted  
to negative EUR 2.6 mn in the reporting year after positive  
EUR 10.0 mn in 2016.

Tax expenses of EUR 3.0 mn were reported in the year under 
review despite further capitalisation of deferred tax assets.  
In the previous year, the recognition of higher deferred tax 
assets on tax losses carried forward resulted in a tax benefit  
of EUR 53.5 mn. Overall, the A1 Telekom Austria Group report-
ed a positive net result of EUR 345.5 mn in the 2017 reporting 
year (2016: EUR 413.2 mn).
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Net assets and financial position 
As of 31 December 2017, the balance sheet total declined  
by 3.8 % year-on-year to EUR 7,638.3 mn.

Current assets fell by 14.8 % to EUR 1,226.3 mn in the period 
under review resulting from the reduction in cash and cash 
equivalents, which was partly offset by an increase in receiv- 
ables. The main reason for the decrease in cash and cash  
equivalents was the repayment of a EUR 500 mn bond on  
27 January 2017, which was partly offset by the tap-issuance 
of an existing bond of EUR 250 mn on 11 July 2017.

Non-current assets decreased by 1.4 % year-on-year to  
EUR 6,412.0 mn, as the growth in property, plant and equip-
ment, deferred tax assets and goodwill was more than offset 
by the reduction in intangible assets. The increase in goodwill 
as well as in property, plant and equipment was attributable 
primarily to the acquisition of Metronet in Croatia, while the  
increase in property, plant and equipment was also impacted  
by the fibre and LTE rollout in Austria. The reduction in intan- 
gible assets resulted from brand value amortisations in con- 
nection with Group-wide rebranding and from the amortisa-
tion of licences and software. This reduction was partly offset 
by the increase in intangible assets due to the acquisition of 
Metronet and a new IRU (Indefeasible Rights of Use) contract 
in Slovenia.

Current liabilities declined by 32.7 % to EUR 1,243.7 mn in the 
period under review primarily as a result of the repayment of 
the EUR 500 mn Eurobond. Liabilities were also driven down  
by EUR 120 mn due to the exercising of the call option con-
nected with the acquisition of the Telekom Slovenije Group’s 
45 % stake in Macedonian company one.Vip DOOEL.

Non-current liabilities increased by 4.0 % to EUR 3,457.2 mn  
in the year under review. Non-current financial liabilities went 
up as a result of the tap-issuance of EUR 250 mn on 11 July 
2017. Non-current provisions declined mainly as a result of 
payments for restructuring and social plans, and this was only 
partly offset by an increase in asset retirement obligations.

Dividend payments, which also include coupon payments  
of EUR 33.8 mn for the EUR 600 mn hybrid bond, increased 
from EUR 67.2 mn in the previous year to EUR 166.9 mn in 
2017 due to the increase in the dividend from EUR 0.05 to  
EUR 0.20 per share.

The rise in stockholders’ equity from EUR 2,770.7 mn at year- 
end 2016 to EUR 2,937.4 mn at year-end 2017 results from 
the net income for 2017 less the carried-out profit distribution. 
This also led to an increase in the equity ratio as of 31 December  
2017 to 38.5 % after 34.9 % as of 31 December 2016.

The following analysis is presented solely on a reported basis.

   31 Dec 2017 As % of the 31 Dec 2016 As % of the
in EUR million    reported  balance sheet total reported  balance sheet total

Current assets   1,226.3 16.1 1,438.9 18.1

Property, plant and equipment  2,627.9 34.4 2,550.8 32.1

Goodwill   1,276.3 16.7 1,241.8 15,6

Intangible assets   2,075.9 27.2 2,321.4 29.2

Other assets   431.9 5.7 390.4 4.9

Total assets   7,638.3 100.0 7,943.2 100.0
         

Current liabilities    1,243.7 16.3  1,847.8 23.3

Long-term debt    2,533.6 33.2  2,303.5 29.0

Employee benefits    196.8 2.6  206.3 2.6

Langfristige Rückstellungen   646.9 8.5  731.8 9.2

Other long-term liabilities   79.9  1.0  83.1 1.0

Stockholders’ equity    2,937.4 38.5  2,770.7 34.9

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  7,638.3 100.0 7,943.2 100.0

Balance sheet structure 
Reported view

Net assets and financial position
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Net debt
In the 2017 reporting year, the A1 Telekom Austria Group’s  
net debt decreased slightly by 0.3 % to EUR 2,331.8 mn.  
Dividend payments and the outflow of funds for the acquisition  
of Metronet were offset by the free cash flow. The net debt to 
EBITDA ratio remained stable in comparison with the previous 
year at 1.7 x as of 31 December 2017.

Cash flow
Earnings before income tax (EBT) declined year-on-year  
by 3.1 % to EUR 348.5 mn, as the higher EBITDA and the  
improved financial result were more than offset by the brand 
value amortisation of EUR 121.8 mn in conjunction with the 
Group-wide rebranding.

Despite the improvement in results of operations, cash flow 
from operating activities decreased slightly year-on-year  
by 1.7 % to EUR 1,174.8 mn. This was mainly due to increased 
needs for working capital compared with the previous year.

Cash flow from investing activities went down by 6.5 % to  
EUR –770.4 mn in the reporting period, as the cash outflow 
from the acquisition of Metronet was more than compensated 
for by a decrease in capital expenditures paid. The latter was 
also impacted by the fact that the figure for 2016 included 
greater pay-ments for capital expenditures from 2015, such  
as the spectrum investments in the Republic of Serbia.

Cash flow from financing activities decreased from  
EUR –824.3 mn in 2016 to EUR –659.3 mn in the 2017 re-
porting year. The repayment of a EUR 500 mn bond in January 
2017 was partly compensated for by the tap-issuance of  
EUR 250 mn. Interest payments fell significantly year-on-year 
by 39.9 % to EUR 99.8 mn due to the reduction in financial 
liabilities and the use of favourable refinancing. Dividend and 
hybrid bond coupon payments increased overall from  
EUR 67.2 mn in 2016 to EUR 166.9 mn in 2017 due to the 
increase in the dividend from EUR 0.05 to EUR 0.20 per share. 
There was also an outflow of funds totalling EUR 120 mn in  
the year under review due to the exercising of the call option  
connected with the acquisition of the Telekom Slovenije 
Group’s 45 % stake in Macedonian company one.Vip DOOEL.

Overall, cash and cash equivalents went down by  
EUR 255.1 mn in the year under review compared with  
a reduction of EUR 451.7 mn in the previous year.

Free cash flow, which is calculated as cash flow from operating 
activities less capital expenditures paid and interest paid plus 
proceeds from the sale of plant, property and equipment, in-
creased from EUR 232.0 mn in the previous year to EUR 384.7 mn  
in the 2017 reporting year. This was mainly attributable to the 
lower levels of capital expenditures and interest paid as well as 
operational improvement.

Net debt

     31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
in EUR million      reported reported

Long-term debt     2,533.6 2,303.5

Short-term debt     0.6 500.1

Cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments   –202.4 –464.2

Net debt     2,331.8 2,339.4
Net debt/EBITDA (last 12 months)    1.7 1.7

Reported view

Cash flow

    2017 2016 Change
in EUR million     reported reported in %

Earnings before income tax (EBT)   348.5 359.7 –3.1 

Net cash flow from operating activities   1,174.8 1,195.5 –1.7 

Net cash flow from investing activities   –770.4 –823.5 6.5 

Net cash flow from financing activities   –659.3 –824.3 20.0 

Adjustment to cash flows due to exchange rate fluctuations, net  –0.2 0.6 n. m.

Net change in cash and cash equivalents   –255.1 –451.7 43.5 

Reported view
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Capital expenditures1)

In the 2017 year under review, capital expenditures decreased 
by 3.6 % year-on-year to EUR 736.9 mn. This was due to lower 
investments in Belarus, Austria and the Republic of Macedonia,  
which were partially offset by higher capital expenditures in 
Slovenia, the Republic of Serbia, Croatia and Bulgaria.

In 2017, tangible capital expenditures decreased by 9.5 % to 
EUR 579.3 mn in comparison with the previous year, as higher 
investments in the Republic of Serbia, Croatia and Bulgaria 
were more than compensated for by lower tangible capital  
expenditures in Austria, Belarus, the Republic of Macedonia 
and Slovenia. The decline in tangible capital expenditures  
in Austria was attributable to lower investments in the fibre 
rollout. In Belarus, tangible capital expenditures declined  
compared with 2016 as the previous year was affected by  
the solar power plant project. 

The increase in intangible capital expenditures by 27.4 %  
to EUR 157.6 mn was driven mainly by the capitalisation  
of a long-term IRU (Indefeasible Rights of Use) contract for 
fibre-optic lines in Slovenia. Higher investments in Bulgaria, 
Croatia and Austria also played a role here.

Segment analysis

Segment Austria 

As there have been no M&A transactions in Austria  
between the beginning of the comparison period  
and the end of the period under review, the following  
analysis is based on reported figures.
In 2017, competition in the Austrian mobile market continued 
to be driven by aggressive promotions including high data 
allowances in the mobile no-frills business but also data mon-
etisation in the contract business. In this context, A1 Telekom 
Austria AG is monetising the growth in demand for data by 
including high data allowances and data roaming in the premi-
um tariffs. As of November 2017, these also included ‘zero- 
rated’ services enabling certain music and video streaming 
services to be used independently of data limits. At the same 
time, it is addressing the price pressure in the no-frills seg-
ment via its no-frills brands bob and YESSS!, for example  
by means of competitive national tariffs. The company has  
also introduced attractive regional promotions and target- 
group-oriented products, for example for the youth segment.

The fixed-line business profited from the increased demand  
for broadband products with a higher bandwidth. In this con-
text, the hybrid modem — a combination of fixed-line and mobile 
network — remains a central factor, in addition to classic fibre 
products, in enabling A1 fixed-line products to be offered with 
higher bandwidths. As of 1 August 2017, monthly fees were 
increased for existing customers in the fixed-line business.

In the Austrian broadband market, mobile Wi-Fi routers with 
unlimited data offers also remain an important element.  
Convenient unlimited mobile broadband offers therefore  
complete A1’s data-centric premium package. On 26 June 
2017, A1 increased the available download speed in its  
mobile and fixed-line broadband offers to up to 300 Mbps. 

In the year under review, the total number of mobile communi-
cation subscribers declined by 1.9 % year-on-year, entirely  
driven by a decrease in the number of prepaid customers. At 
the same time, the high demand for mobile Wi-Fi routers and 
high-value tariffs resulted in an increase in postpaid custom-
ers. The market share in mobile communications declined  
to 38.8 % in the year under review (2016: 39.4 %). In the  
fixed-line business, revenue-generating units (RGUs) de-
creased by 3.0 % in 2017 due primarily to loss of voice RGUs.  
While demand for fibre upgrades remained strong and TV 
RGUs continued to exhibit solid growth (+4.5 % year-on-year), 
fixed-line broadband RGUs declined by 2.3 % year-on-year. 
This was attributable both to the ongoing substitution by  
mobile Wi-Fi routers and to the above-mentioned price in- 
crease of 1 August 2017, which resulted in increased churn.

Total revenues in the Austrian segment increased by 2.0 %  
year-on-year in the year under review, including the positive 
one-off effects described above in the total amount of  
EUR 14.2 mn in Q1 2017. Excluding these effects, total reve-
nues rose by 1.4 %. The rise was driven by higher solutions  
& connectivity and interconnection revenues in the fixed- 
line segment, increasing revenues from fixed-line services  
in the residential business as well as higher revenues from  
the sale of handsets. Revenues from fixed-line services in  
the residential business increased as the lower airtime rev- 
enues were more than offset by higher broadband revenues 
thanks to strong demand for products with a higher band- 
width and the above-mentioned price increases as well as 
increased TV revenues. In the mobile business, the lower  
revenues from mobile services were due to the negative  
effects from the stepwise abolition of retail roaming in the EU  
as of 30 April 2016 and 15 June 2017 as well as losses in the 
prepaid segment. This was somewhat compensated for by  
increased revenues in the mobile broadband business and  
the postpaid segment. Revenues from the sale of mobile  
handsets increased due to higher quantities sold and an up-
dated handset portfolio with a shift to higher-value devices.

The average monthly revenue per user (ARPU) declined  
year-on-year from EUR 15.8 in 2016 to EUR 15.6 in 2017, 
which was attributable primarily to negative roaming effects.  
Excluding roaming, the ARPU in the year under review would 
have risen slightly in comparison with the previous year. The 
average monthly revenue per fixed line (ARPL) increased from 
EUR 28.0 in 2016 to EUR 29.3 in 2017. This was primarily  
due to upselling measures in the broadband business as well 
as the above-mentioned price increases.

1) For more detailed figures, we refer to the reconciliation tables as well as the 
 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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In 2017, total costs and expenses in the Austrian segment  
rose by 2.2 % year-on-year. Adjusted for the positive one-off 
effects in total costs and expenses amounting to EUR 21.4 mn 
for the same period in the previous year as well as the re- 
structuring expenses in 2016 and 2017, total costs and ex-
penses increased by 2.4 % year-on-year. Cost of equipment, 

interconnection expenses, attributable to increased volumes, 
and roaming costs in particular experienced an increase.  
These increases were partially offset by lower network mainte-
nance and advertising costs. Cost of equipment rose primarily 
due to higher handset subsidies and higher quantities  
as well as increased costs for ICT equipment.

Key performance indicators Austria 

Costs and expenses

Key financials    2017  2016 Change
in EUR million     reported proforma in %
Total revenues    2,622.3 2,571.6 2.0

 thereof wireless revenues   1,228.9 1,235.9 –0.6

  thereof service revenues   1,006.2 1,032.0 –2.5

  thereof equipment revenues   164.4 146.5 12.2

 thereof fixed-line and other revenues   1,393.4 1,335.7 4.3

EBITDA    914.2 899.7 1.6

% of total revenues    34.9 % 35.0 % –

Operating income    442.1 404.4 9.3

% of total revenues    16.9 % 15.7 % – 

 

    2017 2016 Change
Wireless indicators    reported proforma in %

 Postpaid subscribers (in ’000)   3,779.4 3,709.9 1.9

 Prepaid subscribers (in ’000)   1,555.8 1,728.8 –10.0

Wireless subscribers (in ’000)   5,335.2 5,438.7 –1.9

 thereof mobile broadband subscribers (in ’000)  947.4 945.4 0.2

ARPU (in EUR)    15.6 15.8 –1.2

Churn (%)    1.7 % 1.7 % – 

Market share    38.8 % 39.4 % – 

Penetration    156.2 % 158.7 % – 

    2017 2016 Change
Wireline indicators    reported reported in %

RGUs (in ’000)    3,390.4 3,495.5 –3.0

 thereof fixed broadband RGUs   1,447.3 1,481.0 –2.3

ARPL (in EUR)    29.3 28.0 4.5

Total access lines (in ’000)   2,117.5 2,202.8 –3.9

Unbundled lines (in ’000)   220.3 228.7 –3.7

Fixed-line voice traffic (in million minutes)   1,324.9 1,469.1 –9.8

Mobile and fixed-line broadband penetration in % of households  139.1 % 139.4 % – 

    2017 2016 Change
in EUR million     reported proforma in %
Cost of service    875.2 846.9 3.3

Cost of equipment    257.3 225.8 13.9

Selling, general & administrative expenses   568.1 600.0 –5.3

Others    7.4 –1.0 n. m.

Total costs and expenses   1,708.1 1,671.8 2.2

 thereof employee costs   583.2 616.9 –5.5

Proforma view (= Reported view)

Proforma view (= Reported view)
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The rise in total costs and expenses in the year under review 
was more than offset by higher total revenues. EBITDA thus 
increased by 1.6 % in comparison with the previous year. 
Adjusted for one-off effects in costs and revenues as well as 
restructuring expenses, EBITDA decreased slightly by 0.4 %.

Depreciation and amortisation decreased by 4.2 % in the period 
under review compared with the same period last year. This 
decrease was related to the depreciation of equipment in Q2 
2016 related to intercompany transactions and was therefore 
eliminated and did not affect numbers on a Group level. All in  
all, operating income in Austria increased by 9.3 % year-on-year.

Key performance indicators Bulgaria

Key financials    2017  2016 Change
in EUR million     reported proforma in %
total revenues    431.2 412.0 4.7

 thereof service revenues   337.4 324.8 3.9

  thereof service revenues   267.0 271.9 –1.8

  thereof equipment revenues   57.5 46.9 22.7

 thereof fixed-line and other revenues   93.8 87.2 7.6

EBITDA    130.1 125.6 3.6

% of total revenues    30.2 % 30.5 % – 

Operating income    -85.6 15.4 n. m.

% of total revenues    –19.8 % 3.7 % – 

 

    2017 2016 Change
Wireless indicators    reported proforma in %

 Postpaid subscribers (in ’000)   3,500.4 3,509.4 –0.3

 Prepaid subscribers (in ’000)   476.8 598.7 –20.4

Wireless subscribers (in ’000)   3,977.1 4,108.1 –3.2

 thereof mobile broadband subscribers (in ’000)  422.3 382.4 10.4

ARPU (in EUR)    5.5 5.5 –0.7

Churn (%)    2.2 % 2.0 % – 

Market share    38.7 % 38.4 % – 

Penetration    145.6 % 150.5 % – 

 

    2017 2016 Change
Wireline indicators (proforma)   reported proforma in %

RGUs (in ’000)    1,005.0 1,018.9 –1.4

 thereof fixed-line broadband RGUs   434.8 429.3 1.3

 

    2017 2016 Change
Wireline indicators (reported)   reported reported in %

ARPL (in EUR)    11.4 10.8 5.9

Total access lines (in ’000)   531.2 542.6 –2.1

Proforma view (= Reported view)

Segment Bulgaria 

As there have been no M&A transactions in Bulgaria 
between the beginning of the comparison period  
and the end of the period under review, the following 
analysis is based on reported figures.
In 2017, the competitive environment in Bulgaria remained 
challenging. This was particularly apparent in the business 
segment, which did improve but continued to perform  
negatively year-on-year. To counter price pressure, Mobiltel 
maintained its focus on value-based management and the  
associated enhanced efforts to retain high-value customers. 
The fixed-line network performed positively on account  
of the content strategy as well as increased demand for  
customised corporate solutions. In Q1 2017, Mobiltel intro-
duced exclusive sports content into its fixed-line product  
for new and existing customers, which has been charged  
for from Q2 2017. This supported the increase in revenues 
from fixed-line services.
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The total number of mobile subscribers declined in the year 
under review by 3.2 % year-on-year, which was primarily at- 
tributable to losses in the prepaid segment. The latter were 
largely a result of the national regulation on limiting the 
number of prepaid card activations per person, which came 
into force on 1 July 2017. Smartphone and mobile broadband 
services expanded in comparison with the previous year as  
a result of the rising demand for mobile data access. The 
mobile market share increased from 38.4 % to 38.7 %. The 
aforementioned focus on value-oriented retention resulted  
in an increased share of contract customers of 88.0 % (2016: 
85.4 %). Total fixed-line revenue-generating units (RGUs) 
decreased by 1.4 % year-on-year, as the growth in the TV and 
fixed-line broadband services only partly compensated for  
the loss in fixed-line voice services.

In the Bulgaria segment, total revenues rose by 4.7 % in 2017 
compared with the same period last year. This was driven  
by the increase in revenues from the sale of handsets and 
higher revenues from fixed-line services as well as a positive 
one-off effect in other operating income in Q3 2017 amount-
ing to EUR 5.8 mn as a result of a legal settlement. Excluding 
this one-off effect, total revenues increased by 3.2 % year-on-
year. Wireless service revenues were impacted by pricing pres-
sure in the business segment and regulatory effects from the 
reduction of interconnection and roaming charges. Fixed-line 
revenues increased, supported by the launch of the exclusive 
sports TV package and increased demand for fixed-line corpo-
rate solutions as well as the growth in satellite TV subscribers. 

The average monthly revenue per user (ARPU) remained stable 
in comparison with the previous year at EUR 5.5. The average 
monthly revenue per fixed line (ARPL) increased from EUR 10.8 
in 2016 to EUR 11.4 in the year under review supported  
by the upselling of existing subscribers as well as the billing  
of exclusive sports content.

The increase in total costs and expenses of 5.1 % in comparison 
with the previous year was driven primarily by higher equipment 
costs following increased costs for smartphones. In addition, 
employee costs increased due to sales initiatives while bad debt 
expenses rose year-on-year due to lower collections. These cost 
increases were partially offset by lower network maintenance 
costs and decreased interconnection costs.

In the Bulgarian segment, increasing total revenues more 
than offset higher costs and expenses, resulting in an EBITDA 
increase of 3.6 % in the 2017 year under review. Excluding  
the above-mentioned positive one-off effect, EBITDA declined  
by 1.0 % year-on-year. Depreciation and amortisation in-
creased by 95.8 % to EUR 215.7 mn in comparison with the 
previous year due to the brand value amortisation in the 
amount of EUR 99.7 mn in conjunction with Group-wide re- 
branding. This resulted in negative operating income in 2017 
in the amount of EUR –85.6 mn (2016: EUR +15.4 mn).  
Excluding the effects of the brand value amortisation, the 
operating income decreased by 8.4 % year-on-year.

Segment Croatia 

The following analysis is based on proforma figures  
if not stated otherwise.1)

The Croatian segment continued its positive operational per-
formance in 2017, which was due to the growth of its fixed- 
line business and enduring solid mobile trends. The market 
environment was characterised by the strong demand for  
larger data packages, bundles and convergent products. 
Vipnet’s mobile business profited from the push towards the 
higher-value tariff portfolio and mobile Wi-Fi routers, while 
trends in the fixed-line business remained encouraging on  
the back of the sales focus on broadband and TV services.  
The fixed-line business was further strengthened by the acqui-
sition of Metronet. The company has been consolidated as of  
1 February 2017. In Q3 2017, Vipnet introduced a new con-
vergent portfolio, with more data included and higher speeds, 
and introduced new data options for its mobile Wi-Fi routers.

In the year under review, mobile subscribers increased by  
3.1 % year-on-year. There were losses in the prepaid segment 
while the contract subscriber base continued to rise due to  
the strong growth of mobile Wi-Fi routers as well as the on- 
going general shift from prepaid to contract in the market.  
This led to a value enhancement of the customer base. The 
mobile market share increased from 36.1 % in the previous  
year to 36.5 % in the year under review. In the fixed-line busi-
ness, revenue-generating units (RGUs) rose by 1.3 % year- 
on-year (reported: +5.5 %), driven primarily by the ongoing 
solid demand for TV and fixed-line broadband products.

In the Croatian segment, total revenues rose by 2.6 % year- 
on-year (reported: +9.2 %). This development was attributable 
primarily to the strong growth in the fixed-line business as  
well as the significant increase in visitor roaming due to great-
er elasticity in data usage. Excluding these positive roaming  
effects, Croatia also saw a rise in revenues from mobile servic-
es in the year under review. Equipment revenues declined de-
spite higher sales volumes as revenues per device decreased.

The average monthly revenue per user (ARPU) increased from 
EUR 11.9 in 2016 to EUR 12.2 in 2017 due to visitor roaming 
as well as the strong demand for Wi-Fi routers. On a reported 
basis, the average monthly revenue per fixed line (ARPL) in-
creased from EUR 23.6 in 2016 to EUR 28.0 in the year under 
review. This was due to the consolidation of Metronet with  
a higher ARPL. Together with the strong growth in fixed-line 
RGUs, this led to a 34.6 % increase in reported ARPL-relevant 
revenues year-on-year.

The 0.5 % increase in costs and expenses in the year under 
review (reported: +5.4 %) was primarily driven by higher 
roaming costs as well as revenue-related salesforce costs  
and commissions.

1)  Proforma figures are not audited and include effects of M&A transactions  
 executed between the start of the comparison period and the end of the  
 reporting period. In the Croatia segment, this applies to the acquisition of  
 fixed-line operator Metronet in Croatia, consolidated as of 1 February 2017.
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Key performance indicators Croatia

Key financials    2017  2016 Change
in EUR million     reported proforma in %
Total revenues    434.9 423.9 2.6

 thereof wireless revenues   313.3 308.0 1.7

  thereof service revenues   258.8 249.8 3.6

  thereof equipment revenues   48.2 51.2 –5.7

 thereof fixed-line and other revenues   121.6 116.0 4.9

EBITDA    108.0 98.6 9.6

% of total revenues    24.8 % 23.2 % – 

Operating income    12.4 15.0 –17.2

% of total revenues    2.9 % 3.5 % – 

    2017 2016 Change
Wireless indicators    reported proforma in %

 Postpaid subscribers (in ’000)   965.2 846.8 14.0

 Prepaid subscribers (in ’000)   807.5 873.2 – 7.5

Wireless subscribers (in ’000)   1,772.7 1,720.0 3.1

 thereof mobile broadband subscribers (in ’000)  173.2 131.1 32.1

ARPU (in EUR)    12.2 11.9 2.7

Churn (%)    2.6 % 2.8 % – 

Market share    36.5 % 36.1 %  –

Penetration    117.5 % 114.3 %  –

    2017 2016 Change
Wireline indicators (proforma)   reported proforma in %

RGUs (in ’000)    654.1 645.8 1.3

 thereof fixed-line broadband RGUs   250.0 248.4 0.6

    2017 2016 Change
Wireline indicators (reported)   reported reported in %

ARPL (in EUR)    28.0 23.6 18.6

Total access lines (in ’000)   296.6 284.9 4.1

Proforma view

The slightly higher costs and expenses were more than offset 
by revenue growth, which led to an EBITDA increase of 9.6 % 
year-on-year (reported: +22.4 %). As a result of the higher  
depreciation and amortisation, primarily due to the brand 
value amortisation in the amount of EUR 7.5 mn in conjunction 
with Group-wide rebranding, this led to a 17.2 % lower oper-
ating income (reported: +32.1 %). Excluding the effects of the 
brand value amortisation, the operating income increased by 
32.6 % year-on-year (reported: 111.4 %).

Belarus segment

The following analysis is based on proforma figures  
if not stated otherwise.1)

In Belarus, strong operational developments continued to 
face macroeconomic challenges, although there were some 
improvements and the GDP increased slightly by 0.7 % in 2017 
(IMF estimation; 2016: -2.6 %). In this context, the government  
is maintaining its focus on stabilising inflation, which came 
in at 4.6 % in 2017, and keeping in place the caps on certain 

price increases. In the year under review, velcom continued 
with its consolidation strategy in the fixed-line business with 
the acquisition of Garant (Gomel). The company has been 
consolidated as of 1 August 2017. Since September 2017, 
after opening its own data centre, velcom has also been able 
to offer cloud services and digital products (Infrastructure  
as a Service, Platform as a Service). Moreover, inflation-linked 
price increases in the amount of 9 % were implemented for 
the mobile business as of 12 April 2017. This followed a price 
increase in the fixed-line business as of 1 March 2017.

In comparison with the previous year, the mobile customer base 
in the Belarus segment declined by 1.6 %, which was attribut-
able primarily to the prepaid and also the postpaid segment. 

1) Proforma figures are not audited and include effects of M&A transactions  
 executed between the start of the comparison period and the end of the  
 reporting period. In the Belarus segment, this applies to the acquisition  
 of fixed-line operator Garant (Gomel) in Belarus, consolidated as of  
 1 August 2017, and the acquisition of fixed-line provider Atlant Telecom  
 and its subsidiary TeleSet in Belarus, consolidated as of 1 December 2016.
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Revenue-generating units (RGUs) in the fixed-line business at 
the end of 2017 amounted to 463,400, including the 159,600 
RGUs from acquired fixed-line provider Garant (Gomel).

Total revenues in the Belarusian segment increased by 15.2 % 
year-on-year (reported: +21.6 %), driven by continuing solid 
operational growth on the back of inflation-linked price in-
creases and strong demand for data. Revenues from the sale 
of handsets also increased due to the changeover to a portfo-
lio with more expensive handsets and higher sales volumes.  
The supportive FX development in the first half of 2017 was 
almost completely offset by a devaluation in the second half  
of the year. Overall, the Belarusian Rouble appreciated by 
1.0 % compared with the same period last year (period 
average used respectively). On a local currency basis, total 
revenues rose by 14.1 % in comparison with the previous year 
(reported: +20.5 %). 

Costs and expenses increased by 15.3 % in the year under 
review (reported: +23.5 %). On a local currency basis, the 
increase amounted to 14.2 % (reported: 22.3 %). The increase 
resulted mostly from increasing equipment costs and higher 
personnel costs due to inflation-linked salary increases as  
well as higher roaming costs. 

In the Belarusian segment, the increasing revenues more  
than offset higher costs and expenses, which resulted in an 
increase in EBITDA by 15.2 % (reported: 19.6 %). Belarus  
recorded the highest EBITDA margin in the Group, at 46.4 %  
in the year under review (2016: 46.4 %). Excluding the positive  
FX effects amounting to EUR 1.8 mn, EBITDA in Belarus in- 
creased by 14.1 % year-on-year (reported: 18.5 %). Together 
with lower depreciation in comparison with the previous  
year as a result of the solar power plant project in 2016, the 
operating income improved by 34.1 % (reported: 40.2 %).

Key performance indicators Belarus

Key financials    2017  2016 Change
in EUR million     reported proforma in %
Total revenues    390.5 338.8 15.2

 thereof wireless revenues   359.8 310.8 15.8

  thereof service revenues   273.1 242.5 12.6

  thereof equipment revenues   71.5 58.4 22.4

 thereof fixed-line and other revenues   30.6 28.0 9.5

EBITDA    181.3 157.4 15.2

% of total revenues    46.4 % 46.4 % – 

Operating income    123.1 91.7 34.1

% of total revenues    31.5 % 27.1 % – 

    2017 2016 Change
Wireless indicators    reported proforma in %

 Postpaid subscribers (in ’000)   3.964.5 3,972.5 –0.2

 Prepaid subscribers (in ’000)   899.7 972.3 –7.5

Wireless subscribers (in ’000)   4,864.2 4,944.9 –1.6

 thereof mobile broadband subscribers (in ’000)  303.2 391.6 –22.6

ARPU (in EUR)    4.7 4.1 13.7

Churn (%)    1.7 % 1.6 % – 

Market share    42.5 % 43.2 % – 

Penetration    120.5 % 120.3 % – 

    2017 2016 Change
Wireline indicators (proforma)   reported proforma in %

RGUs (in ’000)    463.4 429.3 8.0

 thereof fixed-line broadband RGUs   212.0 204.0 3.9

    2017 2016 Change
Wireline indicators (reported)   reported reported in %

ARPL (in EUR)    7.3 7.9 –7.7

Total access lines (in ’000)   306.4 179.3 70.9

Proforma view
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Key performance indicators Slovenia

Key financials    2017  2016 Change
in EUR million     reported proforma in %
Total revenues    216.1 214.1 0.9

 thereof wireless revenues   180.7 180.0 0.4

  thereof service revenues   132.9 135.7 –2.0

  thereof equipment revenues   43.5 40.1 8.5

 thereof fixed-line and other revenues   35.4 34.1 3.8

EBITDA    40.6 52.8 –23.2

% of total revenues    18.8 % 24.7 % – 

Operating income    10.5 20.1 –47.8

% of total revenues    4.8 % 9.4 % – 

    2017 2016 Change
Wireless indicators    reported proforma in %

 Postpaid subscribers (in ’000)   605.8 591.8 2.4

 Prepaid subscribers (in ’000)   97.5 122.5 –20.4

Wireless subscribers (in ’000)   703.3 714.3 –1.5

 thereof mobile broadband subscribers (in ’000)  46.8 39.8 17.7

ARPU (in EUR)    15.6 15.8 –1.7

Churn (%)    1.7 % 1.5 %  – 

Market share    29.1 % 30.1 % – 

Penetration    116.0 % 115.1 % – 

    2017 2016 Change
Wireline indicators (proforma)   reported proforma in %

RGUs (in ’000)    183.0 172.0 6.4

 thereof fixed-line broadband RGUs   70.4 70.2 0.2

    2017 2016 Change
Wireline indicators (reported)   reported reported in %

ARPL (in EUR)    35.4 35.4 –0.2

Total access lines (in ’000)   70.5 70.2 0.3

Proforma view (= Reported view)

Slovenia segment

As there have been no M&A transactions in Slovenia 
between the beginning of the comparison period  
and the end of the period under review, the following 
analysis is based on reported figures.
In April 2017, Si.mobil was successfully rebranded to A1 
Slovenija. The rebranding affects the entire brand presence  
in Slovenia and strengthens the positioning in the market  
as a convergent brand. In 2017, the Slovenian telecommuni-
cations market was still characterised by the fierce competition 
in the mobile market with a focus on convergent tariffs with 
high discounts and tariffs with high data allowances. In order 
to follow market demand, A1 Slovenija also increased the  
data volumes included in its packages in September 2017.

In the 2017 financial year, the number of mobile subscribers 
declined by 1.5 %, as losses in the prepaid segment were only 
partially offset by an increase in post-paid customers. Total 
fixed-line revenue-generating units (RGUs) increased by 6.4 % 
year-on-year, mainly driven by higher demand for IPTV and 
voice telephony.

Total revenues in Slovenia increased by 0.9 % year-on-year, as 
lower revenues from mobile services were more than offset by 
increasing equipment revenues and increasing revenues from 
fixed-line services. Mobile service revenues declined as a result 
of negative roaming impacts and lower monthly fees due to the 
enduring highly competitive environment. Equipment revenues 
rose on the back of higher sales prices due to higher-value hand- 
sets. Fixed-line service revenues increased due to price adjust-
ments for TV products as of 1 March 2017 and RGU growth. 

Costs and expenses increased by 8.8 % and were primarily 
driven by higher equipment costs following the shift to higher- 
value handsets and rising roaming costs. Content costs in-
creased as a result of more TV RGUs and price increases  
for TV rights, while advertising costs also increased due to  
the above-mentioned rebranding.

Higher revenues were more than offset by higher costs and 
expenses in the year under review and resulted in a significant 
decrease in the EBITDA of 23.2 % year-on-year. Despite the 
lower depreciation and amortisation, the operating income 
declined by 47.8% year-on-year.
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Segment Republic of Serbia 

As there have been no M&A transactions in the  
Republic of Serbia between the beginning of the  
comparison period and the end of the period  
under review, the following analysis is based on  
reported figures.
In 2017, the segment Republic of Serbia continued to be  
characterised by a highly competitive market with aggressive 
convergent offers including high discounts. Vip mobile coun-
teracted this market environment by changing its positioning 
in the market and subsequently introducing a new product 
portfolio with attractive flat-rate tariffs in June 2017. Addi- 
tionally, results were impacted by regulatory headwinds due  
to termination rate cuts in January 2017.

Compared with the same period last year, the contract share  
increased significantly from 57.7 % in 2016 to 62.7 % in 2017. 
The total number of customers increased by 1.7 % year-on-year. 
This was entirely attributable to the postpaid segment, support-
ed by high gross additions as a result of the new tariffs men-
tioned above and the high demand for mobile Wi-Fi routers. 

Total revenues increased by 4.4 % year-on-year as a result of 
higher equipment revenues, which increased as a result of 
higher sales prices, and the positive one-off effect resulting 
from changed parameters in the calculation of asset retire-
ment obligations. Excluding this one-off effect, total revenues 
increased by 2.6 % year-on-year. Increased monthly fees were 
fully offset by lower interconnection revenues, prescribed by 
regulation, and by lower airtime revenues.

In the year under review, total costs and expenses increased  
by 5.5 % year-on-year, mainly driven by higher equipment  
costs due to mobile Wi-Fi routers and higher handset prices. 
The higher costs were also attributable to higher bad debts  
as well as increasing personnel and advertising costs as 
a result of sales initiatives. These increases were partly com-
pensated for by lower interconnection expenses due to the 
above-mentioned termination rate cuts.

In the Republic of Serbia, the higher total revenues did not 
entirely offset the higher costs and expenses, resulting in a 
1.2 % decline in EBITDA. Excluding the abovementioned one-
off effect, EBITDA decreased by 11.0 % year-on-year. Together 
with somewhat lower depreciation and amortisation than in 
the previous year, this resulted in negative operating income  
of EUR –6.8 mn (2016: EUR –7.8 mn) in the year under review.

Key performance indicators Republic of Serbia

Key financials    2017  2016 Change
in EUR million     reported proforma in %
Key financials    230.8 221.1 4.4

 thereof wireless revenues   224.6 213.9 5.0

  thereof service revenues   139.6 139.9 –0.2

  thereof equipment revenues   76.4 69.8 9.5

EBITDA    38.4 38.8 –1.2

% of total revenues    16.6 % 17.6 % – 

Operating income    –6.8 –7.8 13.1

% of total revenues    –2.9 % –3.5 % – 

    2017 2016 Change
Wireless indicators    reported proforma in %

 Postpaid subscribers (in ’000)   1,367.8 1,236.8 10.6

 Prepaid subscribers (in ’000)   814.9 908.5 –10.3

Wireless subscribers (in ’000)   2,182.8 2,145.3 1.7

 thereof mobile broadband subscribers (in ’000)  140.2 98.1 42.9

ARPU (in EUR)    5.4 5.6 –3.8

Churn (%)    3.2 % 3.3 % – 

Market share    24.1 % 22.4 % – 

Penetration    128.6 % 135.0 % –

Proforma view (= Reported view)
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Segment Republic of Macedonia

As there have been no M&A transactions in the  
Republic of Macedonia between the beginning of  
the comparison period and the end of the period  
under review, the following analysis is based on  
reported figures.
In 2017, performance in the Macedonian segment continued 
to be characterised by intense competition. Both the private 
customer and business customer sectors experienced a chal- 
lenging competitive environment. Customer retention was  
the biggest challenge for all market players. In the fixed-line  
market, customers are leaning towards multiple-play offers 
rather than maintaining multiple single-play subscriptions.  
This increases the competitive advantage of convergent oper- 
ators such as one.Vip. In order to profit from the demand for 
data and attract a larger number of customers with broad- 
band products, one.Vip introduced Wi-Fi routers in May 2017.

In the year under review, one.Vip’s mobile customer base  
declined by 2.8 % year-on-year as customers continued to 
move from multiple prepaid to single contract subscriptions. 

In the fixed-line business, the number of revenue-generating 
units (RGU) increased by 8.4 % compared with the previous 
year. The RGU growth was driven by strong demand for con- 
vergent packages.

Total revenues decreased by 4.5 % year-on-year, mostly due  
to a decline in interconnection revenues stemming from a  
mobile termination rate cut as well as lower transit revenues  
in the fixed-line segment.

Costs and expenses decreased by 10.0 % year-on-year. The  
decline was attributable to lower interconnection expenses 
due to a termination rate cut as well as cost savings on account  
of the synergies created following the merger with ONE.

Overall, the decrease in total revenues was more than offset  
by lower total costs and expenses, and in 2017 EBITDA in-
creased by 15.0 % year-on-year. Depreciation and amortisa- 
tion declined by 35.3 % year-on-year due to the deprecia- 
tion that resulted from the merger in the previous year. Overall, 
the negative operational results improved from EUR –29.5 mn  
in 2016 to EUR –6.0 mn in 2017.

Key performance indicators Republic of Macedonia

Key financials    2017  2016 Change
in EUR million     reported proforma in %
Total revenues    114.0 119.4 –4.5

 thereof wireless revenues   87.7 92.4 –5.1

   thereof service revenues   80.6 82.8 –2.6

   thereof equipment revenues   6.4 7.0 –8.9

 thereof fixed-line and other revenues   26.3 27.0 –2.6

EBITDA    30.1 26.1 15.0

% of total revenues    26.4 % 21.9 % – 

Operating income    –6.0 –29.5 79.7

% of total revenues    –5.2 % –24.7 % – 

    2017 2016 Change
Wireless indicators    reported proforma in %

 Postpaid subscribers (in ’000)   647.4 641.0 1.0

 Prepaid subscribers (in ’000)   424.9 462.6 –8.2

Wireless subscribers (in ’000)   1,072.3 1,103.6 –2.8

 thereof mobile broadband subscribers (in ’000)  2.6 2.3 13.5

ARPU (in EUR)    6.1 6.1 0.7

Churn (%)    2.1 % 2.5 % – 

Market share    47.8 % 49.5 % – 

Penetration    108.1 % 107.7 % – 

    2017 2016 Change
Wireline indicators (proforma)   reported proforma in %

RGUs (in ’000)    340.7 314.3 8.4

 thereof fixed-line broadband RGUs   114.6 102.0 12.3

    2017 2016 Change
Wireline indicators (reported)   reported reported in %

ARPL (in EUR)    12.3 12.3 –0.6

Total access lines (in ’000)   149.3 141.8 5.3

Proforma view (= Reported view)
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Reconciliation tables — additional  
performance measures and  
further details on the above- 
mentioned figures

The following tables present all the proforma tables from the 
previous section on a reported as well as on a proforma basis. 
Additionally, the difference between reported and proforma 
values is also provided and stems from the M&A activities  
between the start of the comparison period and the end of  
the reporting period mentioned on page 7. Alternative per- 
formance measures are used to describe the operational per-
formance. Further explanations are provided to give addition-
al, useful and relevant detail on the company’s performance.

ARPL (reported)

ARPL-relevant revenues are fixed retail revenues and fixed 
interconnection revenues. The ARPL is calculated by dividing 
ARPL-relevant revenues by average fixed access lines in a  
certain period. The difference to fixed-line and other revenues  
are interconnection transit revenues, solutions and connec- 
tivity revenues, fixed equipment revenues and other revenues.

ARPU (proforma)

ARPU-relevant revenues are wireless service revenues, i.e. 
mobile retail revenues (incl. customer roaming) and mobile 
interconnection as well as visitor roaming and national  
roaming revenues. The ARPU is calculated based on ARPU- 
relevant revenues divided by the average number of sub- 
scribers in a certain period.

ARPL-relevant revenues

Access lines

  2017 2016  
in EUR million reported reported  % change

Austria 758.4 746.4 1.6

Bulgaria 73.4 70.3 4.5

Croatia 101.2 77.8 30.1

Belarus 19.3 1.5 n. m.

Slovenia 29.9 29.8 0.5

Republic of Serbia n. a. n. a. n. a.

Republic of Macedonia 21.2 21.0 0.6

  2017 2016 Change 
in EUR million reported reported in %

Wireless service 
revenues 2,139.0 2,146.2 –0.3

  2017 2016  
in ’000 reported reported % change

Austria 2,117.5 2,202.8 –3.9

Bulgaria 531.2 542.6 –2.1

Croatia 296.6 284.9 4.1

Belarus 306.4 179.3 70.9

Slovenia 70.5 70.2 0.3

Republic of Serbia n. a. n. a. n. a.

Republic of Macedonia 149.3 141.8 5.3

  2017 2016  
in EUR million reported reported % change

Net cash flow  
from operating
activities 1,174.8 1,195.5 –1.7

Capital expenditures 
paid –705.4 –816.5 13.6

Proceeds from  
sale of plant, property
and equipment 15.1 18.9 –20.1

Interest paid –99.8 –166.0 39.9

Free cash flow 384.7 232.0 65.8

Free cash flow (reported)
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Belarus Key Financials in EUR and BYN

Due to the impact on the consolidated results of occasionally 
substantial fluctuations in the Belarusian Rouble, the  
performance for the Belarusian segment is also presented  
in local currency.

Belarus Key Financials

 2017 2016  2016 % change Absolute change
in EUR million reported reported % change proforma proforma (proforma — reported) 

Total revenues 390.5 321.0 21.6 338.8 15.2 17.9

Total costs and expenditures –209.2 –169.4 –23.5 –181.5 –15.3 –12.0

EBITDA 181.3 151.5 19.6 157.4 15.2 5.9

 

 2017 2016  2016 % change Absolute change
in BYN million reported reported  % change proforma proforma (proforma — reported) 

Total revenues 851.8 707.1 20.5 746.5 14.1 39.4

Total costs and expenditures –456.4 –373.3 –22.3 –399.7 –14.2 –26.5

EBITDA 395.5 333.8 18.5 346.7 14.1 12.9

Presentation of proforma  
reconciliation

The following section provides for the proforma values  
in the previous section the corresponding reported values 
as well as the difference between both. The difference 
stems from the M&A activities listed below.

▸  The acquisition of fixed-line operator Garant (Gomel)  
in Belarus, consolidated as of 1 August 2017.

▸  The acquisition of fixed-line operator Metronet in  
Croatia, consolidated as of 1 February 2017.

▸  The acquisition of fixed-line provider Atlant Telecom 
and its subsidiary TeleSet in Belarus, consolidated  
as of 1 December 2016.

For further details on purchasing prices and cash outflow, 
see Note (33).
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Group summary

Key financials 2017 2016  2016 % change Absolute change
in EUR million reported reported % change proforma proforma (proforma — reported) 

Total revenues 4,382.5 4,211.5 4.1 4,254.9 3.0 43.4

EBITDA 1,397.3 1,354.3 3.2 1,370.4 2.0 16.1

% of total revenues 31.9 % 32.2 % –  32.2 % –  – 

Operating income 443.9 486.7 –8.8 496.2 –10.5 9.5

Costs and expenses 2017 2016  2016 % change Absolute change
in EUR million reported reported % change proforma proforma (proforma — reported) 

Cost of service 1,394.2 1,346.5 3.5 1,362.7 2.3 16.1

Cost of equipment 584.2 521.9 12.0 521.9 11.9 0.0

Selling, general &
administrative expenses 994.9 986.1 0.9 997.2 –0.2 11.1

Others 11.8 2.7 n. m. 2.7 n. m. 0.0

Total costs
and expenses 2,985.1 2,857.2 4.5 2,884.5 3.5 27.3

 thereof employee costs 793.9 787.1 0.9 796.6 –0.3 9.6

 thereof restructuring charges –18.2 7.2 n. m. 7.2 n. m. 0.0

Impairment charges 0.0 2.3 n. a. 2.3 n. a. 0.0

Depreciation and amortisation 953.4 865.3 10.2 871.9 9.4 6.6

Segment Croatia

Key financials 2017 2016  2016 % change Absolute change
in EUR million reported reported % change proforma proforma (proforma — reported)

Total revenues 434.9 398.3 9.2 423.9 2.6 25.6

 thereof wireless revenues 313.3 307.9 1.8 308.0 1.7 0.1

  thereof service revenues 258.8 249.9 3.6 249.8 3.6 – 0.1

  thereof equipment revenues 48.2 51.2 – 5.8 51.2 –5.7 0.0

 thereof fixed-line and 
 other revenues 121.6 90.5 34.4 116.0 4.9 25.5

EBITDA 108.0 88.3 22.4 98.6 9.6 10.3

% of total revenues 24.8 % 22.2 % –  23.2 % –  – 

Operating income 12.4 9.4 32.1 15.0 –17.2 5.6

% of total revenues 2.9 % 2.4 %   3.5 % –  – 

 

Wireline indicators 2017 2016  2016 % change Absolute change
in EUR million reported reported % change proforma proforma (proforma — reported) 

RGUs (in ’000) 654.1 620.1 5.5 645.8 1.3 25.7

 thereof fixed-line broadband RGUs 250.0 234.4 6.7 248.4 0.6 14.0

The reconciliation table does not show wireless indicators as the M&A transaction in the segment only comprises the fixed-line business.
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Revenues
 2017 2016  2016 % change Absolute change
in EUR million reported reported % change proforma proforma (proforma — reported) 

Austria 2,622.3 2,571.6 2.0 2,571.6 2.0 0.0

Bulgaria 431.2 412.0 4.7 412.0 4.7 0.0

Croatia 434.9 398.3 9.2 423.9 2.6 25.6

Belarus 390.5 321.0 21.6 338.8 15.2 17.9

Slovenia 216.1 214.1 0.9 214.1 0.9 0.0

Republic of Serbia 230.8 221.1 4.4 221.1 4.4 0.0

Republic of Macedonia 114.0 119.4 –4.5 119.4 –4.5 0.0

Corporate & other, eliminations –57.3 –46.2 –24.1 –46.2 –24.1 0.0

Total revenues 4,382.5 4,211.5 4.1 4,254.9 3.0 43.4

EBITDA
 2017 2016  2016 % change Absolute change
in EUR million reported reported % change proforma proforma (proforma — reported) 

Austria 914.2 899.7 1.6 899.7 1.6 0.0

Bulgaria 130.1 125.6 3.6 125.6 3.6 0.0

Croatia 108.0 88.3 22.4 98.6 9.6 10.3

Belarus 181.3 151.5 19.6 157.4 15.2 5.9

Slovenia 40.6 52.8 –23.2 52.8 –23.2 0.0

Republic of Serbia 38.4 38.8 –1.2 38.8 –1.2 0.0

Republic of Macedonia 30.1 26.1 15.0 26.1 15.0 0.0

Corporate & other, eliminations –45.3 –28.6 –58.5 –28.6 –58.5 0.0

Total EBITDA 1,397.3 1,354.3 3.2 1,370.4 2.0 16.1

Segment Belarus

Key financials 2017 2016  2016 % change Absolute change
in EUR million reported reported % change proforma proforma (proforma — reported) 

Total revenues 390.5 321.0 21.6 338.8 15.2 17.9

 thereof wireless revenues 359.8 309.0 16.5 310.8 15.8 1.9

  thereof service revenues 273.1 242.5 12.6 242.5 12.6 0.0

  thereof equipment revenues 71.5 58.4 22.4 58.4 22.4 0.0

 thereof fixed-line and 
 other revenues 30.6 12.0 155.0 28.0 9.5 16.0

EBITDA 181.3 151.5 19.6 157.4 15.2 5.9

% of total revenues 46.4 % 47.2 % –  46.4 % –  – 

Operating income 123.1 87.8 40.2 91.7 34.1 3.9

% of total revenues 31.5 % 27.4 % –  27.1 % –  – 
 

Wireline indicators 2017 2016  2016 % change Absolute Abweichung
in Mio. EUR reported reported % change proforma proforma (proforma — reported) 

RGUs (in ’000) 463.4 279.4 65.9 429.3 8.0 149.9

 thereof fixed-line broadband RGUs 212.0 132.0 60.6 204.0 3.9 72.0

The reconciliation table does not show wireless indicators as the M&A transaction in the segment only comprises the fixed-line business.
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Depreciation & amortisation
 2017 2016  2016 % change Absolute change
in EUR million reported reported % change proforma proforma (proforma — reported) 

Austria –472.2 –493.0 4.2 –493.0 4.2 0.0

Bulgaria –215.7 –110.2 –95.8 –110.2 –95.8 0.0

Croatia –95.6 –78.8 –21.2 –83.5 –14.4 –4.7

Belarus –58.2 –63.7 8.7 –65.7 11.3 –1.9

Slovenia –30.1 –32.7 8.0 –32.7 8.0 0.0

Republic of Serbia –45.1 –46.6 3.2 –46.6 3.2 0.0

Republic of Macedonia –36.0 –55.7 35.3 –55.7 35.3 0.0

Corporate & other, eliminations –0.5 15.4 n. m. 15.4 n. m. 0.0

Total depreciation & amortisation –953.4 –865.3 –10.2 –871.9 – 9.4 – 6.6

EBIT
 2017 2016  2016 % change Absolute change
in EUR million reported reported % change proforma proforma (proforma — reported) 

Austria 442.1 404.4 9.3 404.4 9.3 0.0

Bulgaria –85.6 15.4 n. m. 15.4 n. m. 0.0

Croatia 12.4 9.4 32.1 15.0 –17.2 5.6

Belarus 123.1 87.8 40.2 91.7 34.1 3.9

Slovenia 10.5 20.1 –47.8 20.1 –47.8 0.0

Republic of Serbia –6.8 –7.8 13.1 –7.8 13.1 0.0

Republic of Macedonia –6.0 –29.5 79.7 –29.5 79.7 0.0

Corporate & other, eliminations –45.8 –13.2 –248.0 –13.2 –248.0 0.0

Total EBIT 443.9 486.7 –8.8 496.2 –10.5 9.5

Capital expenditures 1)

 2017 2016  2016 % change Absolute change
in EUR million reported reported % change proforma proforma (proforma — reported) 

Austria 435.5 460.3 –5.4 460.3 –5.4 0.0

Bulgaria 81.3 73.0 11.3 73.0 11.3 0.0

Croatia 84.7 76.3 11.0 81.0 4.6 4.7

Belarus 47.1 73.7 –36.1 73.8 –36.2 0.1

Slovenia 41.8 26.8 56.2 26.8 56.2 0.0

Republic of Serbia 35.1 25.9 35.7 25.9 35.7 0.0

Republic of Macedonia 21.3 35.4 –39.8 35.4 –39.8 0.0

Corporate & other, eliminations –10.0 –7.2 –37.5 –7.2 –37.5 0.0

Total capital expenditures  736.9 764.1 –3.6 768.9 –4.2 4.8

1) Additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, excluding asset retirement obligations.

Capital expenditures — tangible
    2017 2016 
in EUR million    reported reported % change 

Austria    361.2 391.3 –7.7

Bulgaria    53.8 52.6 2.3

Croatia    69.3 67.2 3.1

Belarus    37.9 65.8 –42.4

Slovenia    19.3 20.2 –4.5

Republic of Serbia    26.0 19.2 35.2

Republic of Macedonia    17.9 30.9 –42.3

Corporate & other, eliminations   –6.0 –6.9 11.9

Total capital expenditures – tangible   579.3 640.4 –9.5
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Consolidated non-financial  
statement

We refer to the separate consolidated non-financial report  
in accordance with Section 267a (6) UGB.

Disclosure in accordance with 
Section 243a of the Austrian  
Business Enterprise Code (‘UGB’)

Shareholder structure and capital  
disclosures
At the end of 2017, a total of 51.00 % or 338,895,000 shares  
of Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft were held by América 
Móvil B.V., Netherlands (‘América Móvil B.V.’; formerly Carso  
Telecom B.V.), a wholly owned subsidiary of América Móvil, 
S.A.B. de C.V. (‘América Móvil’). The Republic of Austria holds 
28.42 % via Österreichische Bundes- und Industriebeteiligungen 
GmbH (‘ÖBIB’), while the remaining 20.58 % of the shares are 
in free float. 0.1 % or 0.4 million shares of the latter were held 
by the company itself. Employee shares that are being held in 
a collective custody account are also part of the free float. The 
associated voting rights are exercised by a custodian (notary).  
The total number of no-par value shares remains at 664,500,000.

The following information concerning the shareholders’ 
agreement is based solely on publicly available information.) 
The company has no additional information. The shareholders’ 
agreement between ÖBIB, América Móvil and América Móvil 
B.V., Netherlands (‘América Móvil B.V.’; formerly ‘Carso Telecom 
B.V.’), came into force on 27 June 2014 (see Note (27)). Under 
the terms of the shareholders’ agreement, the parties have un-
dertaken to jointly pursue a long-term policy with regard to the 
management of Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft by exercis-
ing their voting rights on a concerted basis. The shareholders’ 
agreement also contains provisions on the joint exercise of 
voting rights in the committees of the company for the election 
of Supervisory Board and Management Board members and 
restrictions on the sale of shares. The Supervisory Board of  
the company consists of ten shareholder representatives, of 
which eight members are nominated by América Móvil B.V. 
and two by ÖBIB. ÖBIB has the right to nominate the chairman 
of the Supervisory Board. América Móvil B.V. has the right to 
nominate the deputy chairman. The Management Board of the 
company consists of three members. Two members are nomi-
nated by América Móvil B.V., while one member of the Manage-
ment Board, namely the Chief Executive Officer (CEO), is  
nominated by ÖBIB. On 24 July 2015, the Chief Executive 
Officer responsibilities of Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft 
were allocated to Alejandro Plater as of 1 August 2015, as 
proposed by the two majority shareholders América Móvil and 
ÖBIB. The Extraordinary General Meeting on 14 August 2014 
also amended the Articles of Association to state that, as long 
as the Republic of Austria directly or indirectly holds at least 
25 % plus one share of the share capital of the company, reso-
lutions on capital increases and the issue of instruments con-
taining a conversion right or a conversion obligation for shares 
of the company and amendments to the provisions of the 
Articles of Association relating to capital increases and such 
instruments shall require a majority of at least three quarters  
of the share capital represented at the vote on the resolution.

ÖBIB and América Móvil B.V. have agreed that at least 24 % 
of the shares of the company should be in free float while the 
shareholders’ agreement is in place. This minimum free float 

Capital expenditures — intangible

    2017 2016 
in EUR million    reported reported % change 

Austria    74.3 68.9 7.9

Bulgaria    27.5 20.4 34.3

Croatia    15.4 9.1 68.8

Belarus    9.1 7.8 16.4

Slovenia    22.5 6.6 241.8

Republic of Serbia    9.1 6.6 37.3

Republic of Macedonia    3.5 4.5 –22.7

Corporate & other, eliminations   –3.9 –0.4 n. m.

Total capital expenditures — intangible   157.6 123.7 27.4

1) Information on the takeover offer (9 May 2014):  
 https://www.a1.group/en/ir/12474
 Information on the capital increase as of 7 November 2014:  
 https://www.a1.group/en/ir/14887

   Change
 2017 2016 in %

Treasury shares 415,159 415,159 0.0

Further details on treasury shares are provided in Section 27  
of the Notes.

Standard change-of-control clauses that could ultimately lead 
to the termination of contracts affect the majority of financing 
agreements. None of these clauses came into effect in the 
2017 financial year or up until the date of this report.
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requirement is based on ÖBIB’s maximum equity interest of 
25 % plus one share. If ÖBIB holds more than 25 % plus one 
share of the share capital of the company, the minimum free 
float requirement decreases accordingly so that América Móvil 
can retain an equity interest in the company of 51 %. If the 
number of shares in free float falls below the minimum while 
the shareholders’ agreement is in place, (i) América Móvil 
B.V. undertakes to sell shares within the next 24 months and 
(ii) América Móvil undertakes to ensure that neither it nor its 
subsidiaries purchase any additional shares until the minimum 
free float requirement is restored.

As long as ÖBIB holds 25 % plus one share or more of the share 
capital of Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft, ÖBIB shall have 
the following rights of codetermination in accordance with  
the voting rights agreement: the right to veto capital increases 
of Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft and its subsidiaries, the 
issue of certain convertible instruments, the appointment of 
the auditor of the financial statements, related party transac-
tions, the relocation of the registered office of the company 
and material business functions, including research and de-
velopment, the disposal of the company’s core business, and 
changes to the name of Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft 
and the brands of Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft, among 
other things. ÖBIB shall also be granted the blocking minority 
rights accruing by law to a minority shareholder with an equity 

interest of 25 % plus one share. ÖBIB’s veto rights in connec-
tion with capital increases and the issue of certain convertible 
instruments are also set out in the Articles of Association  
of the company. If ÖBIB’s equity interest falls below 20 % but 
remains above 10 %, ÖBIB shall retain certain veto rights.  
The voting rights agreement shall expire automatically if the 
equity interest held by one of the parties falls below 10 %.

Changes to the Management Board  
and the Supervisory Board
At the Annual General Meeting on 9 June 2017, the Supervisory  
Board mandates of Stefan Pinter and Reinhard Kraxner were 
extended. In the Extraordinary General Meeting on 20 September  
2017, Peter F. Kollmann was elected as a member of the  
Supervisory Board, following Ronny Pecik’s resignation from 
the Supervisory Board on 9 June 2017.

Cash use policy
The A1 Telekom Austria Group pursues a conservative finance  
strategy, with a solid investment grade rating of Baa2 by 
Moody’s and BBB by Standard & Poor’s at its core. This orien-
tation ensures a solid balance sheet structure with moderate 

Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft: members of the Supervisory Board

   End of current term of

Name (year of birth) Date of first appointment office/leaving date

Alejandro Cantú Jiménez (1972) 14.08.2014 20192)

Karin Exner-Wöhrer (1971) 27.05.2015 20203)

Carlos García Moreno Elizondo, first Deputy Chairman (1957) 14.08.2014 20181)

Peter Hagen (1959) 25.05.2016 20192)

Carlos M. Jarque (1954) 14.08.2014 20181)

Peter F. Kollmann (1962) 20.09.2017 20214)

Reinhard Kraxner (1970) 14.08.2014 20181)

Ronny Pecik (1962) 23.05.2012 09.06.2017

Stefan Pinter (1978) 14.08.2014 20181)

Wolfgang Ruttenstorfer, Chairman (1950) 27.05.2010 to 14.08.2014, 
  reappointed on 27.05.2015 20203)

Oscar Von Hauske Solís (1957) 23.10.2012 20181)

Members of the Supervisory Board delegated by the Staff Council    

Silvia Bauer (1968) 30.01.2009 to 03.11.2010, 
  re-delegated on 26.07.2012  

Walter Hotz (1959) re-delegated on 06.05.2011  

Werner Luksch (1967) 03.08.2007 to 20.10.2010, 
  re-delegated on 11.01.2011  

Alexander Sollak (1978) 03.11.2010  

Gottfried Kehrer (1962) 27.10.2010  

1) The term of office ends at the Annual General Meeting for the 2017 financial year (30 May 2018).
2) The term of office ends at the Annual General Meeting for the 2018 financial year (provisionally May 2019).
3) The term of office ends at the Annual General Meeting for the 2019 financial year (provisionally May 2020).
4) The term of office ends at the Annual General Meeting for the 2020 financial year (provisionally May 2021).

There were no changes in the Management Board of Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft in 2017.
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leverage (Net debt to EBITDA) as well as financial flexibility for 
investments and unrestricted access to debt capital markets. 
In the 2017 year under review, the company rating of the 
A1 Telekom Austria Group was confirmed by both Standard 
and Poor’s (BBB) and Moody’s (Baa2), and the outlook was 
increased to ‘positive’.

Based on the improved operational and financial performance 
of the Group, a new expected dividend level was agreed upon 
by América Móvil and Österreichische Bundes- und Industrie-
beteiligungen GmbH (ÖBIB) in 2016. Starting with the 2016 
financial year, this dividend expectation entails the payment 
of EUR 0.20 per share to be maintained or increased on a 
sustainable basis in line with the operational and financial 
developments of the Group. 

Risk management

Principles and methods

As one of the leading telecommunications companies in 
Austria as well as Central and Eastern Europe, the A1 Telekom 
Austria Group is exposed to a wide range of risks and changes 
in market circumstances. The A1 Telekom Austria Group’s  
risk management system analyses risk areas systematically,  
assesses the potential impact, improves existing risk avoid-
ance and risk elimination measures, and reports on the status 
and developments in the Supervisory Board. In this process, 
the A1 Telekom Austria Group relies on close cooperation  
between Group officers and the local risk officers. The risk  
management system is made up of seven risk categories.  
‘1. Market and strategic risks’ (business risks in budget  
and business plan, risk from disruptive business models,  
competitive risks) are handled by the Group Controlling  
division. ‘2. Compliance risks’ (anti-corruption, capital market 
compliance) are monitored by the Group Compliance division. 
Part ‘3. Physical risks’ contains risks that may influence the  
guaranteed availability and security of the services offered, 
such as technical or topographical risks, which are covered  
by business interruption management. ‘4. Cyber risks’ are 
countered both technologically and procedurally by expert 
teams. Under ‘5. Operational risks’, matters such as invoic-
ing processes, collection of receivables and securing critical 
human resources are managed. ‘6. Financial risks’, such as 
liquidity, credit, foreign currency exchange rate, transfer and 
interest rate risks, are handled by Treasury. ‘7. Political, legal 
and regulatory risks’ come under the responsibility of the legal 
experts and the regulatory departments at corporate  
and national level.

Risk management is performed by analysing risks and oppor-
tunities in connection with the short-term and medium-term 
planning and ongoing business operations. One key element 
for risk management is to develop effective measures for  
reducing and perceiving risks. These are continuously updated 
by way of monthly performance calls (MPC) and leadership 
team meetings (LTM) and by analysing critical deviations  
and initiated measures. The overall risk situation of this risk 
category is derived from the sum of the individual risks.  

In addition to the fixed-line and mobile communications  
market in Austria, the A1 Telekom Austria Group holds leading 
positions in six other telecommunications markets abroad. 
This ensures diversification in terms of both sectors and  
geographical regions. The risk sets of the respective markets 
vary, which is why risk management is the responsibility of  
the local operational units. Risk management is controlled 
by the holding company. In addition to the regular operating 
meetings (MPC) and strategic meetings (LTM), a multi-year 
plan is created. This close integration of business planning 
and risk management ensures appropriate risk control.

A1 Telekom Austria Group’s risk management is monitored  
by the Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board.

The most important risk categories and individual risks that 
could materially influence the net assets, financial position  
and results of operations of the A1 Telekom Austria Group  
are explained below.

Risks

1. Market and strategic risks
High competitive intensity in the A1 Telekom Austria Group’s 
markets is leading to sharp price reductions in both mobile 
communications and data traffic. Additional competition is 
arising from innovative and efficient over-the-top players 
(OTTs), which are able to offer their services without owning  
a network. Accordingly, there is a risk that growth in traffic 
volumes will not be sufficient to offset these price declines.  
In addition, the monitoring of key macroeconomic indicators  
in order to assess any changes in consumer behaviour is  
an important aspect of risk management as well as strategic 
pricing and product design.
 
The telecommunications sector is facing the challenge  
of being able to offer new services and products at increas-
ingly faster rates. Cloud services, over-the-top services and 
machine-to-machine are just a few examples of new business 
areas where the A1 Telekom Austria Group is convinced of  
their growth potential. In addition, the growing importance  
of digitalisation is taken into account with A1 Digital Interna-
tional GmbH. However, shorter innovation cycles are also as- 
sociated with innovation risks. Within the América Móvil Group, 
the A1 Telekom Austria Group is involved in the discussion on 
innovations.

2. Compliance risks
The annual compliance risk assessment process – which is  
an essential element of the A1 Telekom Austria Group’s com-
pliance management system – identifies relevant compliance 
risks on the basis of structured management interviews and 
workshops and defines risk-mitigating measures. The A1  
Telekom Austria Group focuses on prevention by means of 
training and uncompromising application of internal and ex-
ternal guidelines – such as capital market compliance and  
a focus on compliance at management level (tone at the top).

Data protection risks are a relevant section of compliance 
risks. The products and services of the A1 Telekom Austria 
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Group are subject to data protection and data security risks, 
particularly with regard to unauthorised access to customer, 
partner or employee data. Violations of the EU General Data 
Protection Regulation (GDPR), which comes into force on  
25 May 2018, may result in considerable legal and financial 
risks. To minimise potential risk, the EU General Data Protec-
tion Regulation has been implemented in interdisciplinary  
projects within the A1 Telekom Austria Group since early 2016. 
Technical and organisational measures have also been imple-
mented on the basis of risk assessments. All companies of  
the A1 Telekom Austria Group undertake to comply with the 
most stringent data protection and data security standards.

3. Physical risks
Technical and topographical risks
Maintaining a high level of availability and reliability of the ser-
vices and products offered is a key aspect of operational risk 
management, as different threats such as natural disasters, 
major technical disruptions, third-party construction work, 
hidden faults or criminal activities can all impair their quality. 
Long-term planning takes technological developments into 
account, while the redundancy of critical components  
ensures failure safety, and efficient organisational structures 
for operations and security serve to secure high standards 
of quality. Furthermore, a separate Group guideline ensures 
uniform methods for the recognition and management of the 
most important risks. The ongoing identification and assess-
ment of risks flows into the decision-making process in terms 
of the implementation of risk minimisation measures and  
the self-sustaining ability of the A1 Telekom Austria Group. 
Whenever a major disruption occurs, causes are clarified and 
conclusions are drawn on ways to reduce the risks of repeat-
ing the same causes of error. A central approach of insurance 
against physical damage also helps to minimise the financial 
effects of damage caused by extraordinary events.

Environmental risks
Climate change can give rise to risks for the A1 Telekom Austria 
Group’s network infrastructure (ranging from rising average 
temperatures and high rainfall levels through to flooding, 
mudslides, etc.). The A1 Telekom Austria Group is actively 
committed to climate protection and continuously observes 
developments in this area in order to ensure that it can initiate 
measures to protect its infrastructure facilities as necessary.

4. Cyber risks
The A1 Telekom Austria Group places great emphasis on the 
implementation of cyber security standards. These are covered 
by a series of internal guidelines and procedures that are con-
trolled, implemented and monitored for effectiveness in critical 
situations by means of defined responsibilities. Prevention 
of possible risks is the primary focus in critical and important 
network elements as well as business and operational support 
systems (BSS & OSS). The A1 Telekom Austria Group uses the 
international IT standards for security techniques (ISO 27001) 
as a basis and has defined uniform and state-of-the-art security  
information standards and security information policies.

Essential elements in managing cyber risks are continuous 
assessments and software updates to the infrastructure to be 
protected as well as employee training. The A1 Telekom Austria 

Security Committee is made up of highly qualified security 
experts from all countries of the A1 Telekom Austria Group and  
regularly exchanges information about the latest local, regional  
and global cyber risks and cyber attacks. This working group 
also discusses and coordinates cross-country protection  
measures in critical situations.

5. Operational risks
In addition to the operational management of business-critical 
systems (billing, call servers, gateways, etc.), which is per-
formed by means of redundancies, standard processes and 
authorisation as well as access management, this category 
includes personnel risks.

The A1 Telekom Austria Group counters personnel-related  
risks in various ways. For example, young talents are recruited  
as part of the ‘1A Career’ programme, which focuses on  
graduates, students, trainees and apprentices and ensures 
diversity in the company. The risk of losing key employees  
is counteracted by means of forward-looking skill management 
and succession planning and Group-wide talent management. 
Managers operate in accordance with Group-wide corporate 
values with the dimensions ‘Team’, ‘Trust’ and ‘Agility’. The 
internal A1 Learning Hub development platform (formerly the 
A1 Telekom Austria Business School) develops employees’ 
skills and abilities and serves as a platform for the Group-wide 
transfer of expertise. A central e-learning platform provides 
training at any time and in any place throughout the Group. 
In addition to business-plan-oriented cost planning, human 
resources planning includes measures aimed at encouraging 
employee mobility. Managers are faced with the challenge of 
getting more out of fewer resources while preventing burnout.

In 1996, civil servants of the Republic of Austria were alloca- 
ted to Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft or predecessor com-
panies until their retirement in accordance with the Austrian 
Postal Services Structure Act (‘Poststrukturgesetz’). Transfers 
within and outside the A1 Telekom Austria Group are limited. 
Civil servants are employed in accordance with public law. The 
rights and duties associated with their employment status are 
exclusively based on provisions under public law, particularly 
the Public Sector Employment Law of 1979 (‘Beamten-Dienst- 
rechtsgesetz 1979’).

Civil servants cannot be laid off. Therefore, their employment 
contract cannot be unilaterally terminated if the need for their 
employment no longer exists. In the event of a breach of duty, 
performance deficiencies, or a permanent incapacity to work, 
complex administrative procedures are necessary. Due to 
their remuneration scheme, civil servants normally move to the 
next remuneration level every two years.

Around 47 % of employees in the Austrian segment have civil 
servant status. This corresponds to around 20 % at Group  
level. To address the structure of employee costs, the Austrian  
segment has developed not only several social plans in coop- 
eration with employee representatives, but also models that 
enable employees with civil servant status to transfer to gov- 
ernment ministries. Civil servants are also encouraged to  
take part in internal mobility initiatives within the context of 
integrated skill management.
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6. Financial risks
The A1 Telekom Austria Group is exposed to liquidity, credit, 
foreign currency exchange rate, transfer and interest rate risks 
(see Note (32)).

Investment risks
In general, the A1 Telekom Austria Group counters investment 
risks through measures such as the active management of 
equity investments by means of target requirements, coordi- 
nation processes and, where acquisitions of equity interests 
are concerned, thorough due diligence and enterprise  
valuation (see Notes (16) and (17)).

7. Political, legal and regulatory risks
Telecommunications services offered by a provider with sig-
nificant market power are subject to extensive network access 
and price regulations. In Austria, the A1 Telekom Austria Group 
is classified as this kind of provider in several sub-markets. 
Regulation at wholesale level restricts operational flexibility 
with regard to products. There is also an obligation to provide 
access to infrastructure and fixed-line services to alternative 
providers. The foreign subsidiaries are also subject to regu- 
latory frameworks. Additional regulatory rulings, such as  
a reduction in mobile and fixed-line termination rates as a 
result of the European Commission’s recommendation on  
termination rates, could negatively affect the A1 Telekom  
Austria Group’s earnings development.

As described in the ‘Regulation’ section, a new regulation on 
net neutrality and roaming (previously known as ‘Connected 
Continent’ or the ‘Telecom Single Market’ package) came into 
force in 2016 with extensive consequences for A1 and other 
subsidiaries within the EU. The Body of European Regulators 
has issued guiding principles on net neutrality in order to 
specify how the regulation should be applied in more detail. 
The regulation and the guiding principles are open to inter- 
pretation on the subjects of both net neutrality and roaming, 
so that harmonised, uniform implementation within the EU is 
not guaranteed. Therefore the extent of their effects cannot  
be fully predicted and may vary between member states. In turn, 
this gives rise to legal, regulatory and financial uncertainty.

The draft of the European Electronic Communications Code 
described in the ‘Regulation’ section includes policy objectives 
for a ‘gigabit society’ and a 5G plan of action. In this context, 
the European Parliament has again brought forward a previous 
proposal for the abolition of surcharges for international calls 
within the EU. This will involve both legal and regulatory risks 
as well as financial risks in the future.

The A1 Telekom Austria Group and its subsidiaries are party  
to a number of legal proceedings both in and out of court with 
public authorities, competitors and other parties. An ongoing 
dialogue with the stakeholders involved and a regular exchange  
of information on controversial issues that could pose a threat 
to the company enable the Group to identify problems at  
an early stage and develop measures to counteract them in  
a targeted manner if need be.

Internal control system  
for financial reporting
Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft has an internal control 
system (ICS) for the financial reporting process, as required 
by law. The ICS is intended to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability, completeness and accuracy of exter-
nal financial reporting in compliance with international and 
national accounting standards. Regular internal reporting to 
Management and the review of the internal control system 
by Internal Audit also ensure that weaknesses are identified 
promptly and reported and eliminated accordingly. The most 
important content and principles apply to all A1 Telekom 
Austria Group subsidiaries. The effectiveness of the ICS is re-
viewed, analysed and assessed at regular intervals. At the end 
of each year, the Group’s Management carries out an assess-
ment of the relevant companies with the involvement of the 
respective business units. Based on the findings of this as- 
sessment and the defined criteria, Management stated the in-
ternal control system to be effective as of 31 December 2017.

Due to the listing of the ultimate parent, América Móvil, on the 
New York Stock Exchange (NYSE), the implementation of the  
U.S. Sarbanes–Oxley Act (SOX) is required (again). To this end, 
an adjustment and amendment of the internal control system to 
reflect this standard was implemented in the 2015 financial year.
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Outlook

A1 Telekom Austria Group outlook for the full year 2018 
In 2017, A1 Telekom Austria Group managed to grow revenues  
and EBITDA via a clear focus on high-value customers and 
attractive fixed-line propositions, both on a reported and pro- 
forma basis. This was achieved despite the fact that most of 
the Group’s mobile markets continued to be characterised 
by intense competition and regulatory burdens. The macroe-
conomic headwinds slowed down further in most segments. 
Results were negatively impacted by the stepwise abolition of 
retail roaming in the EU during the last two years. The Belaru-
sian Rouble showed in contrast to the forgone years a stable 
development versus the Euro (+1.0 % year-on-year based on 
period average). Cost efficiencies enabled the translation of 
the solid revenue growth into an EBITDA increase. Moreover, 
results profited from acquisitions in the fixed-line business.

In the reporting year, the A1 Telekom Austria Group decided  
to harmonise its brands throughout the Group and to roll out 
the ‘A1’ brand in a gradual manner throughout the Group de-
pending on local circumstances. This triggered the amortisa-
tion of local brand values, which had reached a total of around 
EUR 350 mn by the end of 2016. The respective companies 
will amortise the brand values until the phase-out of the old 
brands, which is expected to have a negative impact on the 
net result until the financial year 2019, with more than half of 
the impact in 2017 and Q1 2018. In 2017, the brand value 
amortisation resulting thereof amounted to EUR 121.8 mn and 
stemmed primarily from the segment Bulgaria as well as to a 
lesser extent from the segments Belarus, Croatia and Republic 
of Macedonia.

For the full year 2018, most of the market dynamics mentioned 
above are expected to remain. 

Both in Austria and in the CEE markets, the competitive environ- 
ment in mobile markets is anticipated to continue, while the 
demand for fixed-line services is expected to remain a positive 
driver across all markets. In the CEE segments, operational  
results are expected to benefit increasingly from measures 
taken in the past as well as from the macroeconomic improve-
ments with GDP growth forecasted in all markets (see page 2).

The negative roaming impact is anticipated to amount to 
approximately 1.0 % to 1.5 % of Group EBITDA for the full year 
2018. Contrary to the supportive FX development in 2017,  
the operational performance in Belarus is expected to be  
negatively affected by a devaluation of the Belarusian Rouble.

In this business environment, the Management of A1 Telekom 
Austria Group remains committed to its growth strategy and 
is concentrating on the following focus areas: exceling in the 
core business, expansion of products and services as well as 
value-accretive mergers and acquisitions. As in the previous 
year, results should gain support from ongoing efforts to con-
tinuously increase operating efficiency. 

For the year 2018, the Management of A1 Telekom Austria 
Group expects to achieve modest growth in total revenues on  
a reported basis.

A1 Telekom Austria Group remains committed to the LTE rollout 
across its markets as well as the accelerated fibre deployment 
in Austria. Capital expenditures before spectrum investments 
and acquisitions are expected to remain stable in 2018.

Whilst the Management of A1 Telekom Austria Group  
acknowledges the limited predictability of the Belarusian  
Rouble, it expects the currency to devalue by approximately 
10 % versus the EUR (period average) in 2018.

Based on the improved operational and financial performance 
of the Group, a new expected dividend level was agreed upon 
by América Móvil and Österreichische Bundes- und Industrie- 
beteiligungen GmbH (ÖBIB) in 2016. Starting with the finan-
cial year 2016, this dividend expectation entails the payment 
of EUR 0.20 per share to be maintained or increased on a 
sustainable basis in line with the operational and financial 
developments of the Group.

In order to ensure its financial flexibility, A1 Telekom Austria 
Group remains committed to maintaining its Baa2/BBB ratings 
from Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s.

Vienna, 30 January 2018
The Management Board

Alejandro Plater, CEO & COO

A1 Telekom Austria Group

Siegfried Mayrhofer, CFO 

A1 Telekom Austria Group
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TELEKOM AUSTRIA AG – Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income  

 

in TEUR Notes 2017 2016 

Service revenues (incl. other operating income)   3,878,051 3,761,113 

Equipment revenues   504,432 450,349 

Total revenues (incl. other operating income) (5) 4,382,483 4,211,463 

Cost of service   – 1,394,198 – 1,346,550 

Cost of equipment   – 584,243 – 521,873 

Selling, general & administrative expenses   – 994,910 – 986,117 

Other expenses   – 11,784 – 2,672 

Total cost and expenses (6) – 2,985,135 – 2,857,211 

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation - EBITDA   1,397,347 1,354,251 

Depreciation and amortisation (14)(15) – 953,435 – 865,271 

Impairment (15) 0 – 2,319 

Operating income - EBIT   443,912 486,661 

Interest income   14,329 13,841 

Interest expense   – 95,274 – 142,514 

Interest on employee benefits and restructuring  

and other financial items, net   – 11,220 – 9,739 

Foreign currency exchange differences, net   – 2,594 10,013 

Equity interest in net income of associated companies   – 678 1,427 

Financial result (7) – 95,437 – 126,972 

Earnings before income tax - EBT   348,474 359,690 

Income tax (28) – 3,006 53,515 

Net result   345,468 413,205 

        

Attributable to:       

Equity holders of the parent   319,151 387,518 

Non-controlling interests (33) 1,005 374 

Hybrid capital owners (27) 25,313 25,313 

Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the parent, in Euro (8) 0.48 0.58 

        

Other comprehensive income items:       

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:       

Effect of translation of foreign entities (4)(27) – 32,450 – 7,678 

Realised result on hedging activities, net of tax (32) 4,380 4,380 

Unrealised result on securities available-for-sale, net of tax (9)(18) 198 106 

Realised result on securities available-for-sale, net of tax (7) – 33 59 

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:       

Remeasurement of defined benefit obligations, net of tax   8,181 – 6,564 

Total other comprehensive income (loss)   – 19,724 – 9,697 

        

Total comprehensive income (loss)   325,744 403,508 

        

Attributable to:       

Equity holders of the parent   299,424 377,821 

Non-controlling interests (33) 1,008 374 

Hybrid capital owners (27) 25,313 25,313     
See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.   
The use of automated calculation systems may give rise to rounding differences. 
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TELEKOM AUSTRIA AG – Consolidated Statements of Financial Position  

 

  Notes 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 

ASSETS       

Current assets       

Cash and cash equivalents (9) 202,390 457,460 

Short-term investments (18) 0 6,733 

Accounts receivable: Subscribers, distributors and other, net (10) 679,292 636,474 

Receivables due from related parties (11) 944 925 

Inventories, net (12) 87,442 82,463 

Income tax receivable (28) 2,807 12,818 

Other current assets, net (13) 253,376 241,994 

Total current assets   1,226,251 1,438,866 

Non-current assets       

Property, plant and equipment, net (14) 2,627,919 2,550,754 

Intangibles, net (15) 2,075,878 2,321,394 

Goodwill (16) 1,276,342 1,241,823 

Investments in associated companies (17) 33,971 40,820 

Long-term investments (18) 12,891 8,383 

Deferred income tax assets (28) 327,077 286,431 

Other non-current assets, net (19) 57,947 54,723 

Total non-current assets   6,412,026 6,504,328 

TOTAL ASSETS   7,638,277 7,943,194 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY       

Current liabilities       

Short-term debt and current portion of long-term debt (20) – 566 – 500,065 

Accounts payable (21) – 784,243 – 852,619 

Accrued liabilities and current provisions (22) – 265,855 – 299,022 

Income tax payable (28) – 35,935 – 26,474 

Payables due to related parties (11) – 554 – 6,418 

Deferred revenues (23) – 156,570 – 163,218 

Total current liabilities   – 1,243,722 – 1,847,816 

Non-current liabilities       

Long-term debt (24) – 2,533,607 – 2,303,496 

Deferred income tax liabilities (28) – 41,619 – 63,073 

Deferred revenues and other non-current liabilities (25) – 38,270 – 20,000 

Asset retirement obligation and restructuring (22) – 646,852 – 731,833 

Employee benefits (26) – 196,842 – 206,251 

Total non-current liabilities   – 3,457,190 – 3,324,652 

Stockholders’ equity       

Capital stock   – 1,449,275 – 1,449,275 

Treasury shares   7,803 7,803 

Additional paid-in capital   – 1,100,148 – 1,100,148 

Hybrid capital   – 591,186 – 591,186 

Retained earnings   – 491,948 – 306,338 

Other comprehensive income (loss) items   690,137 670,409 

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent (27) – 2,934,617 – 2,768,734 

Non-controlling interests   – 2,748 – 1,993 

Total stockholders’ equity   – 2,937,365 – 2,770,727 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY   – 7,638,277 – 7,943,194     
See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.  
The use of automated calculation systems may give rise to rounding differences. 
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TELEKOM AUSTRIA AG – Consolidated Statements of Financial Position  

 

  Notes 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 

ASSETS       

Current assets       

Cash and cash equivalents (9) 202,390 457,460 

Short-term investments (18) 0 6,733 

Accounts receivable: Subscribers, distributors and other, net (10) 679,292 636,474 

Receivables due from related parties (11) 944 925 

Inventories, net (12) 87,442 82,463 

Income tax receivable (28) 2,807 12,818 

Other current assets, net (13) 253,376 241,994 

Total current assets   1,226,251 1,438,866 

Non-current assets       

Property, plant and equipment, net (14) 2,627,919 2,550,754 

Intangibles, net (15) 2,075,878 2,321,394 

Goodwill (16) 1,276,342 1,241,823 

Investments in associated companies (17) 33,971 40,820 

Long-term investments (18) 12,891 8,383 

Deferred income tax assets (28) 327,077 286,431 

Other non-current assets, net (19) 57,947 54,723 

Total non-current assets   6,412,026 6,504,328 

TOTAL ASSETS   7,638,277 7,943,194 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY       

Current liabilities       

Short-term debt and current portion of long-term debt (20) – 566 – 500,065 

Accounts payable (21) – 784,243 – 852,619 

Accrued liabilities and current provisions (22) – 265,855 – 299,022 

Income tax payable (28) – 35,935 – 26,474 

Payables due to related parties (11) – 554 – 6,418 

Deferred revenues (23) – 156,570 – 163,218 

Total current liabilities   – 1,243,722 – 1,847,816 

Non-current liabilities       

Long-term debt (24) – 2,533,607 – 2,303,496 

Deferred income tax liabilities (28) – 41,619 – 63,073 

Deferred revenues and other non-current liabilities (25) – 38,270 – 20,000 

Asset retirement obligation and restructuring (22) – 646,852 – 731,833 

Employee benefits (26) – 196,842 – 206,251 

Total non-current liabilities   – 3,457,190 – 3,324,652 

Stockholders’ equity       

Capital stock   – 1,449,275 – 1,449,275 

Treasury shares   7,803 7,803 

Additional paid-in capital   – 1,100,148 – 1,100,148 

Hybrid capital   – 591,186 – 591,186 

Retained earnings   – 491,948 – 306,338 

Other comprehensive income (loss) items   690,137 670,409 

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent (27) – 2,934,617 – 2,768,734 

Non-controlling interests   – 2,748 – 1,993 

Total stockholders’ equity   – 2,937,365 – 2,770,727 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY   – 7,638,277 – 7,943,194     
See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.  
The use of automated calculation systems may give rise to rounding differences. 

 

 

 

Consolidated Financial Statements 2017 

 

  5   

     

TELEKOM AUSTRIA AG – Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

 

  Notes 2017 2016 

Earnings before income tax - EBT   348,474 359,690 

Items not requiring the use of cash and other reconciliation:       

Depreciation (14) 532,354 546,732 

Amortisation of intangible assets (15) 421,082 318,538 

Impairment of intangibles  (15) 0 2,319 

Equity interest in net income of associated companies (17) 678 – 1,427 

Result on sale of investments (7) – 76 – 3,851 

Result on sale of property, plant and equipment (5)(6) 5,684 – 2,743 

Net period cost of labour obligations and restructuring (7)(22)(26) – 5,511 23,050 

Foreign currency exchange differences, net (7) 2,594 – 10,013 

Interest income (7) – 14,329 – 13,841 

Interest expense (7) 99,100 144,679 

Other adjustments   – 10,807 – 1,927 

Changes in financial positions:       

Accounts receivable: Subscribers, distributors and other, net (10) – 40,049 – 12,201 

Prepaid expenses (13) 6,696 5,536 

Due from related parties (11) – 19 – 46 

Inventories (12) – 5,919 – 3,640 

Other assets (13)(19) – 15,772 – 16,111 

Employee benefits and restructuring (22)(26) – 108,450 – 111,476 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (21)(22) – 264 2,900 

Due to related parties (11) – 5,864 4,590 

Deferred revenues (23)(25) – 6,629 – 517 

        

Interest received (7) 14,329 13,841 

Income taxes paid (28) – 42,491 – 48,550 

Net cash flow from operating activities   1,174,810 1,195,531 

Capital expenditures paid (31) – 705,422 – 816,463 

Dividends received from associates (17) – 0 1,264 

Proceeds from sale of plant, property and equipment (14) 15,141 18,944 

Purchase of investments (18) – 45 – 7,285 

Proceeds from sale of investment (18) 2,620 6,017 

Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired (33) – 86,731 – 26,024 

Sale of shares of associated companies (17)(33) 4,052 0 

Net cash flow from investing activities   – 770,386 – 823,546 

Long-term debt obtained (24)(31) 248,762 494,248 

Repayments of long-term debt (24)(31) – 522,000 – 1,083,305 

Interest paid (7) – 99,841 – 166,047 

Change in short-term debt (20)(31) 1,857 – 1,944 

Dividends paid (27) – 166,885 – 67,242 

Acquisition of non-controlling interest (33) – 1,235 0 

Deferred consideration paid for business combinations (33) – 120,000 0 

Net cash flow from financing activities   – 659,342 – 824,290 

Adjustment to cash flows due to exchange rate fluctuations, net (4) – 152 589 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents   – 255,070 – 451,716 

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period (9) 457,460 909,176 

Cash and cash equivalents end of period (9) 202,390 457,460     
See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.  
The use of automated calculation systems may give rise to rounding differences. 
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TELEKOM AUSTRIA AG – Consolidated Statements of Financial Position  

 

  Notes 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 

ASSETS       

Current assets       

Cash and cash equivalents (9) 202,390 457,460 

Short-term investments (18) 0 6,733 

Accounts receivable: Subscribers, distributors and other, net (10) 679,292 636,474 

Receivables due from related parties (11) 944 925 

Inventories, net (12) 87,442 82,463 

Income tax receivable (28) 2,807 12,818 

Other current assets, net (13) 253,376 241,994 

Total current assets   1,226,251 1,438,866 

Non-current assets       

Property, plant and equipment, net (14) 2,627,919 2,550,754 

Intangibles, net (15) 2,075,878 2,321,394 

Goodwill (16) 1,276,342 1,241,823 

Investments in associated companies (17) 33,971 40,820 

Long-term investments (18) 12,891 8,383 

Deferred income tax assets (28) 327,077 286,431 

Other non-current assets, net (19) 57,947 54,723 

Total non-current assets   6,412,026 6,504,328 

TOTAL ASSETS   7,638,277 7,943,194 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY       

Current liabilities       

Short-term debt and current portion of long-term debt (20) – 566 – 500,065 

Accounts payable (21) – 784,243 – 852,619 

Accrued liabilities and current provisions (22) – 265,855 – 299,022 

Income tax payable (28) – 35,935 – 26,474 

Payables due to related parties (11) – 554 – 6,418 

Deferred revenues (23) – 156,570 – 163,218 

Total current liabilities   – 1,243,722 – 1,847,816 

Non-current liabilities       

Long-term debt (24) – 2,533,607 – 2,303,496 

Deferred income tax liabilities (28) – 41,619 – 63,073 

Deferred revenues and other non-current liabilities (25) – 38,270 – 20,000 

Asset retirement obligation and restructuring (22) – 646,852 – 731,833 

Employee benefits (26) – 196,842 – 206,251 

Total non-current liabilities   – 3,457,190 – 3,324,652 

Stockholders’ equity       

Capital stock   – 1,449,275 – 1,449,275 

Treasury shares   7,803 7,803 

Additional paid-in capital   – 1,100,148 – 1,100,148 

Hybrid capital   – 591,186 – 591,186 

Retained earnings   – 491,948 – 306,338 

Other comprehensive income (loss) items   690,137 670,409 

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent (27) – 2,934,617 – 2,768,734 

Non-controlling interests   – 2,748 – 1,993 

Total stockholders’ equity   – 2,937,365 – 2,770,727 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY   – 7,638,277 – 7,943,194     
See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.  
The use of automated calculation systems may give rise to rounding differences. 
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TELEKOM AUSTRIA AG – Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity  

in TEUR 
Common stock 

Par value 
Treasury shares 

at cost 

Additional 
paid-in 
capital 

 
Hybrid 
capital 

 
Retained 
earnings   

At 1 January 2016 1,449,275 – 7,803 1,100,148 591,186 – 47,978   

Net result 0 0 0 0 412,830   

Other comprehensive income (loss) 0 0 0 0 0   

Total comprehensive income 0 0 0 0 412,830   

Distribution of dividends 0 0 0 0 – 58,515   

At 31 December 2016 1,449,275 – 7,803 1,100,148 591,186 306,338   

Net result 0 0 0 0 344,464   

Other comprehensive income (loss) 0 0 0 0 0   

Total comprehensive income 0 0 0 0 344,464   

Distribution of dividends 0 0 0 0 – 158,131   

Change in reporting entities 0 0 0 0 – 722   

At 31 December 2017 1,449,275 – 7,803 1,100,148 591,186 491,948          
See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.  
The use of automated calculation systems may give rise to rounding differences. 
The tax benefit resulting from the accrued interest attributable to hybrid capital holders is included in the distribution of dividends (see Note (27)). 
In the change in reporting entities, non-controlling interests relating to acquisitions as well as acquisitions effected within the business year are netted (see Note (33)). 
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Remeasurement of 

defined benefit plans 

 
Available-for-sale 

reserve 

 
Hedging 

reserve 

 
Translation 

reserve 
 

Total 

 
Non-controlling 

interests 

Total 
stockholders' 

equity 

  – 30,772 – 387 – 32,848 – 596,705 2,424,115 1,907 2,426,022 

  0 0 0 0 412,830 374 413,205 

  – 6,564 166 4,380 – 7,678 – 9,697 0 – 9,697 

  – 6,564 166 4,380 – 7,678 403,133 374 403,508 

  0 0 0 0 – 58,515 – 288 – 58,803 

  – 37,336 – 221 – 28,468 – 604,384 2,768,734 1,993 2,770,727 

  0 0 0 0 344,464 1,005 345,468 

  8,181 165 4,380 – 32,454 – 19,727 3 – 19,724 

  8,181 165 4,380 – 32,454 324,736 1,008 325,744 

  0 0 0 0 – 158,131 – 318 – 158,449 

  0 0 0 0 – 722 65 – 657 

  – 29,155 – 56 – 24,088 – 636,837 2,934,617 2,748 2,937,365         
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TELEKOM AUSTRIA AG – Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity  

in TEUR 
Common stock 

Par value 
Treasury shares 

at cost 

Additional 
paid-in 
capital 

 
Hybrid 
capital 

 
Retained 
earnings   

At 1 January 2016 1,449,275 – 7,803 1,100,148 591,186 – 47,978   

Net result 0 0 0 0 412,830   

Other comprehensive income (loss) 0 0 0 0 0   

Total comprehensive income 0 0 0 0 412,830   

Distribution of dividends 0 0 0 0 – 58,515   

At 31 December 2016 1,449,275 – 7,803 1,100,148 591,186 306,338   

Net result 0 0 0 0 344,464   

Other comprehensive income (loss) 0 0 0 0 0   

Total comprehensive income 0 0 0 0 344,464   

Distribution of dividends 0 0 0 0 – 158,131   

Change in reporting entities 0 0 0 0 – 722   

At 31 December 2017 1,449,275 – 7,803 1,100,148 591,186 491,948          
See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.  
The use of automated calculation systems may give rise to rounding differences. 
The tax benefit resulting from the accrued interest attributable to hybrid capital holders is included in the distribution of dividends (see Note (27)). 
In the change in reporting entities, non-controlling interests relating to acquisitions as well as acquisitions effected within the business year are netted (see Note (33)). 
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TELEKOM AUSTRIA AG – Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  

(1) Segment Reporting  

2017 (in TEUR) 
 

Austria 
 

Bulgaria 
 

Croatia 
 

Belarus   
External revenues 2,594,580 421,001 424,222 388,757   
Intersegmental revenues 27,731 10,206 10,669 1,698   
Total revenues (incl. other operating income) 2,622,311 431,207 434,891 390,456   
Segment expenses – 1,708,079 – 301,060 – 326,871 – 209,187   
EBITDA 914,232 130,147 108,020 181,269   
Depreciation and amortisation – 472,171 – 215,717 – 95,587 – 58,212   
Impairment 0 0 0 0   
Operating income - EBIT 442,061 – 85,571 12,433 123,057   
Interest income 2,244 3,178 5,123 441   
Interest expense – 20,611 – 631 – 9,358 – 3,018   
Other financial result – 9,153 – 3,972 1,156 – 4,949   
Equity interest in net income of associated companies – 277 0 0 0   
Earnings before income tax - EBT 414,264 – 86,995 9,355 115,531   
Income taxes – 100,123 10,598 – 1,835 – 19,741   
Net result 314,141 – 76,397 7,520 95,790   
            
EBITDA margin 34.9% 30.2% 24.8% 46.4%   
Capital expenditures - intangible 74,341 27,468 15,431 9,135   
Capital expenditures - tangible 361,194 53,787 69,312 37,927   
Total capital expenditures 435,536 81,255 84,742 47,062   
            
Assets by segment 4,903,251 840,842 676,234 393,977   
Property, plant and equipment 1,705,260 236,142 248,295 191,795   
Goodwill 708,211 242,691 126,041 14,146   
Brand names and patents 158,351 144,017 19,431 54,673   
Licenses and rights of use 950,634 45,249 54,217 23,525   
Other intangible assets 175,203 59,563 65,697 24,163   
Investments in associated companies 0 0 0 0   
Liabilities by segment – 2,441,252 – 138,719 – 472,477 – 100,032   

2016 (in TEUR) 
 

Austria 
 

Bulgaria 
 

Croatia 
 

Belarus   
External revenues 2,547,271 407,630 390,333 320,964   
Intersegmental revenues 24,290 4,413 8,017 8   
Total revenues (incl. other operating income) 2,571,560 412,044 398,350 320,972   
Segment expenses – 1,671,846 – 286,468 – 310,092 – 169,443   
EBITDA 899,714 125,576 88,257 151,529   
Depreciation and amortisation – 492,984 – 110,154 – 78,842 – 63,726   
Impairment – 2,319 0 0 0   
Operating income - EBIT 404,411 15,422 9,416 87,803   
Interest income 2,058 2,813 3,608 1,548   
Interest expense – 19,336 – 947 – 10,249 – 3,121   
Other financial result – 7,177 – 298 2,991 2,561   
Equity interest in net income of associated companies 1,763 0 0 0   
Earnings before income tax - EBT 381,719 16,990 5,766 88,791   
Income taxes – 47,654 – 1,381 – 1,486 – 14,271   
Net result 334,065 15,609 4,280 74,520   
            
EBITDA margin 34.8% 30.5% 22.2% 47.2%   
Capital expenditures - intangible 68,910 20,448 9,139 7,849   
Capital expenditures - tangible 391,342 52,580 67,200 65,826   
Total capital expenditures 460,252 73,028 76,339 73,675   
            
Assets by segment 4,931,469 952,644 611,695 441,438   
Property, plant and equipment 1,629,594 251,685 210,492 214,927   
Goodwill 708,211 242,691 102,203 11,018   
Brand names and patents 158,351 244,903 25,301 76,184   
Licenses and rights of use 1,025,520 43,858 59,336 32,266   
Other intangible assets 198,716 80,559 44,043 23,322   
Investments in associated companies 4,329 0 0 0   
Liabilities by segment – 2,489,071 – 174,188 – 416,041 – 101,702         
The EBITDA margin is calculated by dividing EBITDA by total revenues (including other operating income). 
Additions to assets do not include additions related to ARO, see Notes (14) and (15). 
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  Slovenia Serbia Macedonia Corporate & Other 
 

Eliminations 
 

Consolidated 
  211,562 224,193 112,019 5,729 418 4,382,483 
  4,517 6,608 2,007 6,784 – 70,219 0 
  216,079 230,801 114,025 12,513 – 69,801 4,382,483 
  – 175,514 – 192,434 – 83,966 – 53,760 65,736 – 2,985,135 
  40,565 38,368 30,059 – 41,247 – 4,065 1,397,347 
  – 30,090 – 45,131 – 36,039 – 429 – 59 – 953,435 
  0 0 0 0 0 0 
  10,475 – 6,763 – 5,980 – 41,676 – 4,124 443,912 
  2,273 801 242 36,580 – 36,554 14,329 
  – 1,306 – 1,628 – 1,391 – 93,862 36,529 – 95,274 
  1 3,220 653 715,234 – 716,005 – 13,814 
  0 0 0 – 400 0 – 678 
  11,444 – 4,370 – 6,477 615,876 – 720,154 348,474 
  – 907 – 569 269 108,600 701 – 3,006 
  10,537 – 4,939 – 6,207 724,476 – 719,453 345,468 
              
  18.8% 16.6% 26.4% n.a. n.a. 31.9% 
  22,548 9,113 3,454 1,576 – 5,494 157,572 
  19,255 25,998 17,861 1,129 – 7,169 579,294 
  41,803 35,111 21,316 2,705 – 12,663 736,866 
              
  432,967 375,932 190,198 7,910,058 – 8,085,181 7,638,277 
  70,180 82,177 81,943 1,563 10,563 2,627,919 
  147,632 0 30,060 131,025 – 123,465 1,276,342 
  990 4,873 6,429 1,907 0 390,671 
  73,305 141,633 26,544 0 – 4,116 1,310,990 
  18,390 16,742 12,965 1,520 – 28 374,217 
  0 0 0 33,971 0 33,971 
  – 73,584 – 125,992 – 74,359 – 3,239,035 1,964,537 – 4,700,912 

  Slovenia Serbia Macedonia Corporate & Other 
 

Eliminations 
 

consolidated 
  210,997 214,140 117,997 6,205 – 4,075 4,211,463 
  3,121 7,008 1,431 912 – 49,200 0 
  214,118 221,148 119,428 7,118 – 53,275 4,211,463 
  – 161,331 – 182,322 – 93,285 – 32,917 50,493 – 2,857,211 
  52,787 38,826 26,143 – 25,799 – 2,782 1,354,251 
  – 32,704 – 46,607 – 55,672 – 116 15,535 – 865,271 
  0 0 0 0 0 – 2,319 
  20,082 – 7,781 – 29,529 – 25,915 12,753 486,661 
  2,344 512 293 37,899 – 37,235 13,841 
  – 1,157 – 1,770 – 1,586 – 141,533 37,185 – 142,514 
  – 79 – 1,184 – 66 258,028 – 254,502 274 
  0 0 0 – 336 0 1,427 
  21,191 – 10,224 – 30,888 128,143 – 241,798 359,690 
  – 949 28 807 122,080 – 3,660 53,515 
  20,242 – 10,196 – 30,081 250,223 – 245,458 413,205 
              
  24.7% 17.6% 21.9% n.a. n.a. 32.2% 
  6,597 6,636 4,471 0 – 387 123,663 
  20,160 19,231 30,934 4 – 6,853 640,424 
  26,757 25,867 35,405 4 – 7,241 764,086 
              
  421,962 360,648 214,335 7,710,269 – 7,701,265 7,943,194 
  65,766 77,444 86,187 0 14,659 2,550,754 
  147,632 0 30,068 123,465 – 123,465 1,241,823 
  1,971 2,980 7,311 0 0 517,001 
  62,416 149,337 33,961 0 0 1,406,694 
  20,756 14,851 15,373 107 – 28 397,699 
  0 0 0 36,491 0 40,820 
  – 64,716 – 115,982 – 92,249 – 3,594,178 1,875,660 – 5,172,468        

  

 

 

 

Consolidated Financial Statements 2017  

 

  8   

     

TELEKOM AUSTRIA AG – Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  

(1) Segment Reporting  

2017 (in TEUR) 
 

Austria 
 

Bulgaria 
 

Croatia 
 

Belarus   
External revenues 2,594,580 421,001 424,222 388,757   
Intersegmental revenues 27,731 10,206 10,669 1,698   
Total revenues (incl. other operating income) 2,622,311 431,207 434,891 390,456   
Segment expenses – 1,708,079 – 301,060 – 326,871 – 209,187   
EBITDA 914,232 130,147 108,020 181,269   
Depreciation and amortisation – 472,171 – 215,717 – 95,587 – 58,212   
Impairment 0 0 0 0   
Operating income - EBIT 442,061 – 85,571 12,433 123,057   
Interest income 2,244 3,178 5,123 441   
Interest expense – 20,611 – 631 – 9,358 – 3,018   
Other financial result – 9,153 – 3,972 1,156 – 4,949   
Equity interest in net income of associated companies – 277 0 0 0   
Earnings before income tax - EBT 414,264 – 86,995 9,355 115,531   
Income taxes – 100,123 10,598 – 1,835 – 19,741   
Net result 314,141 – 76,397 7,520 95,790   
            
EBITDA margin 34.9% 30.2% 24.8% 46.4%   
Capital expenditures - intangible 74,341 27,468 15,431 9,135   
Capital expenditures - tangible 361,194 53,787 69,312 37,927   
Total capital expenditures 435,536 81,255 84,742 47,062   
            
Assets by segment 4,903,251 840,842 676,234 393,977   
Property, plant and equipment 1,705,260 236,142 248,295 191,795   
Goodwill 708,211 242,691 126,041 14,146   
Brand names and patents 158,351 144,017 19,431 54,673   
Licenses and rights of use 950,634 45,249 54,217 23,525   
Other intangible assets 175,203 59,563 65,697 24,163   
Investments in associated companies 0 0 0 0   
Liabilities by segment – 2,441,252 – 138,719 – 472,477 – 100,032   

2016 (in TEUR) 
 

Austria 
 

Bulgaria 
 

Croatia 
 

Belarus   
External revenues 2,547,271 407,630 390,333 320,964   
Intersegmental revenues 24,290 4,413 8,017 8   
Total revenues (incl. other operating income) 2,571,560 412,044 398,350 320,972   
Segment expenses – 1,671,846 – 286,468 – 310,092 – 169,443   
EBITDA 899,714 125,576 88,257 151,529   
Depreciation and amortisation – 492,984 – 110,154 – 78,842 – 63,726   
Impairment – 2,319 0 0 0   
Operating income - EBIT 404,411 15,422 9,416 87,803   
Interest income 2,058 2,813 3,608 1,548   
Interest expense – 19,336 – 947 – 10,249 – 3,121   
Other financial result – 7,177 – 298 2,991 2,561   
Equity interest in net income of associated companies 1,763 0 0 0   
Earnings before income tax - EBT 381,719 16,990 5,766 88,791   
Income taxes – 47,654 – 1,381 – 1,486 – 14,271   
Net result 334,065 15,609 4,280 74,520   
            
EBITDA margin 34.8% 30.5% 22.2% 47.2%   
Capital expenditures - intangible 68,910 20,448 9,139 7,849   
Capital expenditures - tangible 391,342 52,580 67,200 65,826   
Total capital expenditures 460,252 73,028 76,339 73,675   
            
Assets by segment 4,931,469 952,644 611,695 441,438   
Property, plant and equipment 1,629,594 251,685 210,492 214,927   
Goodwill 708,211 242,691 102,203 11,018   
Brand names and patents 158,351 244,903 25,301 76,184   
Licenses and rights of use 1,025,520 43,858 59,336 32,266   
Other intangible assets 198,716 80,559 44,043 23,322   
Investments in associated companies 4,329 0 0 0   
Liabilities by segment – 2,489,071 – 174,188 – 416,041 – 101,702         
The EBITDA margin is calculated by dividing EBITDA by total revenues (including other operating income). 
Additions to assets do not include additions related to ARO, see Notes (14) and (15). 
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A1 Telekom Austria Group has aligned its management structure and the resulting segment reporting on geographical markets and reports 
separately based on its seven operating segments: Austria, Bulgaria, Croatia, Belarus, Slovenia, Serbia and Macedonia.  

The Management Board of A1 Telekom Austria Group, which regularly meets in Management Board meetings, acts as the chief operating 
decision maker. Members of the Management Board are the Group CEO, the Group COO and the Group CFO (see Note (35)). The 
Management Board focuses on revenue, EBITDA and capital expenditure (CAPEX). 

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those of A1 Telekom Austria Group (see Note (3)). The segments offer the following 
services and products (for brand names, see Note (15)): 

Austria: voice telephony (mobile and fixed-line telephone services), convergent products, internet access, data and IT solutions, value-
added services, wholesale services, IP television, sale of end-user terminal equipment as well as mobile business and payment solutions 

Bulgaria: voice telephony (mobile and fixed-line telephone services), convergent products, internet access, data and IT solutions, value-
added services, wholesale services, IP and satellite television, sale of end-user terminal equipment as well as mobile business solutions 

Croatia: voice telephony (mobile and fixed-line telephone services), convergent products, internet access, value-added services, wholesale 
services, IP and satellite television, sale of end-user terminal equipment as well as mobile business solutions 

Belarus: mobile telephone services, internet access, value-added services, wholesale services, sale of end-user terminal equipment, 
convergent products as well as IP television. From 2011 to 2014, hyperinflation accounting according to IAS 29 was applied to the 
subsidiary in Belarus. All non-monetary items of the statement of financial position as well as all items of stockholders’ equity were restated 
for changes in the general price index from the date of initial recognition. These amounts were treated as the basis for the carrying amounts 
in 2015. 

Slovenia: voice telephony (mobile and fixed-line telephone services), convergent products, sale of end-user terminal equipment, internet 
access, value-added services, wholesale services as well as IP television 

Serbia: mobile telephone services, internet access, sale of end-user terminal equipment, value-added services as well as wholesale services 

Macedonia: voice telephony (mobile and fixed-line telephone services), convergent products, sale of end-user terminal equipment, DVBT, IP 
television, internet access, value-added services as well as wholesale services 

Segment revenues, segment expenses and segment results include deliveries and services between operating segments. Such deliveries 
and services are accounted for at transfer prices corresponding to competitive market prices charged to unaffiliated customers for similar 
products. These intersegmental transactions are eliminated in consolidation. 

The column Corporate & Other comprises mainly holding companies, the group financing company as well as, starting 2017, A1 Digital. In 
the first quarter 2017, the Austrian subsidiary Telekom Austria Group M2m GmbH (M2M) was renamed A1 Digital International GmbH (A1 
Digital). A1 Digital offers innovative digital products, cloud and IoT services as well as Machine-to-Machine (M2M) business. Business 
activities focus on the CEE region and Germany and will be further expanded internationally. In 2016, M2M was presented in the Segment 
Austria. Comparative figures were adjusted accordingly.  

Other financial income reported in the column Corporate & Other mainly relates to dividend income from fully consolidated subsidiaries 
which is eliminated in consolidation, thus having no impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements. The column Corporate & Other is 
reported in addition to the column Eliminations for improved transparency. 

The elimination column contains intersegment consolidation entries and the reconciliation of segment assets and liabilities to consolidated 
total assets and liabilities. Capital expenditures, as well as depreciation and amortisation, relate to property, plant and equipment and other 
intangible assets. 

None of the segments records revenues from transactions with a single external customer amounting to at least 10% or more of A1 Telekom 
Austria Group’s revenues.  

The item other financial result in the segment reporting includes interest on employee benefits and restructuring and other financial items as 
well as foreign exchange differences.  
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(2) The Company 

Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft (Telekom Austria AG) is incorporated as a joint stock corporation under the laws of the Republic of Austria 
and is located in Austria, Lassallestrasse 9, 1020 Vienna. Telekom Austria AG and its subsidiaries (A1 Telekom Austria Group, previously 
Telekom Austria Group) provide the services and products listed in the Segment Reporting (see Note (1)) in Austria, Bulgaria, Croatia, 
Belarus, Slovenia and Macedonia. In September 2017, it was decided to use the brand A1 on a group-wide basis, see Note (15). As part of the 
consistent implementation of the brand strategy, Telekom Austria AG also operates under the group brand “A1 Telekom Austria Group”. 

The ultimate parent company of A1 Telekom Austria Group is América Móvil, S.A.B. de C.V. (América Móvil), which is located in Mexico. The 
Federal Republic of Austria, through Österreichische Bundes- und Industriebeteiligungen GmbH (ÖBIB), is the second significant 
shareholder of A1 Telekom Austria Group. América Móvil’s and ÖBIB’s stakes in A1 Telekom Austria Group are disclosed in Note (27).  

In addition to the related party transactions described in Note (11), the Federal Republic of Austria regulates certain activities of A1 Telekom 
Austria Group in Austria via the Rundfunk und Telekom Regulierungs-GmbH (RTR). In addition, the government holds the taxing authority for 
the Austrian operations of A1 Telekom Austria Group and imposes taxes such as corporate income tax and value-added taxes. 

(3) Basis of Presentation 

Functional currency 
The Consolidated Financial Statements of A1 Telekom Austria Group are prepared in Euro. Unless indicated otherwise, all amounts are 
reported in thousand Euros (TEUR). The use of automated calculation systems may give rise to rounding differences. 

Financial statements of subsidiaries where the functional currency is a currency other than the Euro are translated using the functional 
currency principle. For these entities, assets and liabilities are translated using the year-end exchange rates, while revenues and expenses 
are translated using the average exchange rates prevailing during the year. The resulting foreign currency translation is recognised in other 
comprehensive income (OCI) and until the disposal of the respective subsidiary presented in stockholders’ equity. 

Gains and losses that arise from exchange rate fluctuations between the recognition of the transaction and payment date or translation at 
year-end are recognised in the financial result. 

The following table provides the exchange rates for the currencies in which A1 Telekom Austria Group conducts its transactions: 

  Exchange rates at 31 December Average exchange rates for the year 
  2017 2016 2017 2016 

Bulgarian Lev (BGN) 1.9558 1.9558 1.9558 1.9558 

Croatian Kuna (HRK) 7.5137 7.5597 7.4635 7.5332 

Czech Koruna (CZK) 25.5350 27.0210 26.3345 27.0345 

Hungarian Forint (HUF) 310.3300 309.8300 309.2175 311.4161 

Serbian Dinar (CSD) 118.4727 123.4723 121.4206 123.1089 

Swiss Franc (CHF) 1.1702 1.0739 1.1112 1.0901 

Rumanian Leu (RON) 4.6585 4.5390 4.5683 4.4903 

Turkish Lira (TRY) 4.5464 3.7072 4.1186 3.3419 

Macedonian Denar (MKD) 61.4950 61.4791 61.5748 61.5952 

Belarusian Rouble (BYN) 2.3553 2.0450 2.1816 2.2029 

US Dollar (USD) 1.1993 1.0541 1.1291 1.1070 

Great Britain Pound (GBP) 0.8872 0.8562 0.8765 0.8195 

Bosnian Convertible Mark (BAM) 1.9558 1.9558 1.9558 1.9558 

Polish Zloty (PLN) 4.1770 4.4103 4.2577 4.3630      
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A1 Telekom Austria Group has aligned its management structure and the resulting segment reporting on geographical markets and reports 
separately based on its seven operating segments: Austria, Bulgaria, Croatia, Belarus, Slovenia, Serbia and Macedonia.  

The Management Board of A1 Telekom Austria Group, which regularly meets in Management Board meetings, acts as the chief operating 
decision maker. Members of the Management Board are the Group CEO, the Group COO and the Group CFO (see Note (35)). The 
Management Board focuses on revenue, EBITDA and capital expenditure (CAPEX). 

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those of A1 Telekom Austria Group (see Note (3)). The segments offer the following 
services and products (for brand names, see Note (15)): 

Austria: voice telephony (mobile and fixed-line telephone services), convergent products, internet access, data and IT solutions, value-
added services, wholesale services, IP television, sale of end-user terminal equipment as well as mobile business and payment solutions 

Bulgaria: voice telephony (mobile and fixed-line telephone services), convergent products, internet access, data and IT solutions, value-
added services, wholesale services, IP and satellite television, sale of end-user terminal equipment as well as mobile business solutions 

Croatia: voice telephony (mobile and fixed-line telephone services), convergent products, internet access, value-added services, wholesale 
services, IP and satellite television, sale of end-user terminal equipment as well as mobile business solutions 

Belarus: mobile telephone services, internet access, value-added services, wholesale services, sale of end-user terminal equipment, 
convergent products as well as IP television. From 2011 to 2014, hyperinflation accounting according to IAS 29 was applied to the 
subsidiary in Belarus. All non-monetary items of the statement of financial position as well as all items of stockholders’ equity were restated 
for changes in the general price index from the date of initial recognition. These amounts were treated as the basis for the carrying amounts 
in 2015. 

Slovenia: voice telephony (mobile and fixed-line telephone services), convergent products, sale of end-user terminal equipment, internet 
access, value-added services, wholesale services as well as IP television 

Serbia: mobile telephone services, internet access, sale of end-user terminal equipment, value-added services as well as wholesale services 

Macedonia: voice telephony (mobile and fixed-line telephone services), convergent products, sale of end-user terminal equipment, DVBT, IP 
television, internet access, value-added services as well as wholesale services 

Segment revenues, segment expenses and segment results include deliveries and services between operating segments. Such deliveries 
and services are accounted for at transfer prices corresponding to competitive market prices charged to unaffiliated customers for similar 
products. These intersegmental transactions are eliminated in consolidation. 

The column Corporate & Other comprises mainly holding companies, the group financing company as well as, starting 2017, A1 Digital. In 
the first quarter 2017, the Austrian subsidiary Telekom Austria Group M2m GmbH (M2M) was renamed A1 Digital International GmbH (A1 
Digital). A1 Digital offers innovative digital products, cloud and IoT services as well as Machine-to-Machine (M2M) business. Business 
activities focus on the CEE region and Germany and will be further expanded internationally. In 2016, M2M was presented in the Segment 
Austria. Comparative figures were adjusted accordingly.  

Other financial income reported in the column Corporate & Other mainly relates to dividend income from fully consolidated subsidiaries 
which is eliminated in consolidation, thus having no impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements. The column Corporate & Other is 
reported in addition to the column Eliminations for improved transparency. 

The elimination column contains intersegment consolidation entries and the reconciliation of segment assets and liabilities to consolidated 
total assets and liabilities. Capital expenditures, as well as depreciation and amortisation, relate to property, plant and equipment and other 
intangible assets. 

None of the segments records revenues from transactions with a single external customer amounting to at least 10% or more of A1 Telekom 
Austria Group’s revenues.  

The item other financial result in the segment reporting includes interest on employee benefits and restructuring and other financial items as 
well as foreign exchange differences.  
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Accounting 
A1 Telekom Austria Group prepared the Consolidated Financial Statements as of 31 December 2017 in compliance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS/IAS), issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), the interpretations of the IFRS 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) and the interpretation of the former Standards Interpretation Committee (SIC), effective as of 
31 December 2017 and as endorsed by the European Union, as well as in accordance with the supplemental regulations of Section 245a of 
the Austrian Commercial Code (UGB). 

Significant accounting policies 
The general accounting policies are presented in the respective Notes to the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the Statement of 
Financial Position. 

Changes in accounting policies 
The following amendments to existing and new IFRS are effective as of 1 January 2017.  

    

IAS 12 Income Taxes - Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses 

IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows - Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to IAS 7) 

All IFRSs Annual Improvements 2014 – 2016   
 

The initial application of the standards (IAS, IFRS) mentioned above had an insignificant impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements 
since the amendments were not fully applicable. 

The following standards and interpretations were issued by the IASB, but were not effective at the reporting date. A1 Telekom Austria Group 
has not early adopted these standards and interpretations and will apply them as of their effective date. 

Der International Accounti ng Standard Boar d (IASB) hat die endg ültige Fassung von IFRS 9 'Fi nanzi nstrumente' herausgeg eben, i n dem die Ergebnisse der Phasen zu Kl assifizi erung und Bewertung, Wertmi nderung und Bilanzier ung von Sicherungsbezi ehungen, i n denen das Projekt zur Ersetzung von IAS 39 'Finanzins trumente: Ansatz  und Bewertung' abgearbeitet wurden, zusammengebracht wer den. In dieser neuen Version des  Standar ds si nd das neue M odell der  er warteten Verl uste i n Bezug auf Wertmi nderungen und begrenzte Änder ung en bei den Klassifizier ungs- und Bewer tungsvorschriften für fi nanzi elle Vermögenswerte aufg enommen worden. D er Standar d ersetzt alle fr üheren Fassung en vo n IFRS 9 und tritt  für Berichtsperioden in Kraft,  di e am oder nach dem 1. Januar 2018 beginnen.  

    Effective * Effective** 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018 1 January 2018 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018 1 January 2018 

IFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019 1 January 2019 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers - Clarifications 1 January 2018 1 January 2018 

IFRS 2 

Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions (Amendments to 

IFRS 2) 1 January 2018 

not endorsed 

All IFRSs Annual Improvements 2014 – 2016 

1 January 2017/ 

1 January 2018 not endorsed 

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration 1 January 2018 not endorsed 

IAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property (Amendments to IAS 40) 1 January 2018 not endorsed 

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Tax Treatments 1 January 2019 not endorsed 

IFRS 9 Amendments: Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation 1 January 2019 not endorsed 

All IFRSs Annual Improvements 2015 – 2017 1 January 2019 not endorsed 

IAS 28 Amendments: Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures 1 January 2019 not endorsed     
* This standard/interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or after the presented date (in accordance with IASB). 
** This standard/interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or after the presented date (in accordance with EU endorsement). 

A1 Telekom Austria Group is evaluating the impact of these standards and interpretations on the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

In May 2014, the IASB issued the new standard IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”. The new standard for revenue 
recognition aims at standardising the multitude of regulations previously included in various standards. The amount of revenue recognised 
and its timing is determined based on a five-step model. The type of transaction or the sector of the entity is not relevant. IFRS 15 contains 
additional qualitative and quantitative disclosure obligations. These are aimed at enabling users of the financial statements to understand 
the nature, amount, timing and the uncertainties of revenue and the resulting cash flows arising from contracts with customers. In 
April 2016, the IASB issued clarifications to IFRS 15 relating to identifying performance obligations, principal versus agent considerations, 
as well as licensing. As the standard itself, the European Union has endorsed these clarifications. 
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In 2016, Telekom Austria Group initiated a group-wide two-phase project for the implementation of IFRS 15. In phase I, employees were first 
trained and the main changes resulting from the initial application of IFRS 15 were analysed. In phase II, the analyses of contracts were 
continued with a special focus on the adaption of IT and system processes. A software allowing for IT-based mass data processing in the 
portfolios according to the accounting and disclosure requirements of IFRS 15 was implemented. The project for the introduction of IFRS 15 
is substantially completed. 

As of 1 January 2018, A1 Telekom Austria Group initially applies IFRS 15, electing the modified retrospective approach for the initial 
application in accordance with the transition guidance. The following table presents the expected quantitative effects of the initial 
application of IFRS 15 on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as of 1 January 2018 including detailed explanations (see 
columns a) to f)):  

in TEUR at 1 January 2018 Total a) b) c) d) e) f) 

Accounts receivable: Subscribers, 

distributors and other, net (10) 29,015 155,852 – 17,550     – 109,288   

Inventories (12) 14,959   14,959     0   

Contract assets 145,639         145,639   

Contract cost 42,316       42,316 0   

Prepaid expenses (13) – 35,562   – 35,562     0   

Other assets (13) – 17,565         – 17,565   

Instalment sales (13)(19) – 149,802 – 149,802       0   

Contract liabilities – 166,412     – 155,238   – 11,174   

Accrued liabilities (22) 19,688     18,483   1,205   

Deferred revenues (23)(25) 171,184     136,755   34,428   

Deferred taxes – 11,108         0 – 11,108 

Stockholders' equity – 42,352 – 6,050 38,152 0 – 42,316 – 43,246 11,108         
For references relating to the Notes, see brackets. 

Actual effects at 1 January 2018 may differ from expectations as the functionality of controls assuring that the amounts recognised, which 
are calculated by IT systems, are in conformity with IFRS 15 has not been completely examined yet and the requirements of revenue 
recognition according to IFRS 15 might change in the year of initial application. 

a) According to IAS 18, instalment sales receivables were recognised at the present value of the instalments. Based on the current status, 
financing components are considered insignificant according to IFRS 15 on an individual contract level. Thus instalment sales receivables 
will not be discounted anymore as long as the discounting effect continues to be insignificant. Instalment sales receivables discounted at 
31 December 2017 will be re-measured at their nominal value at 1 January 2018 and the relating accretion effect will be recognised 
directly in equity. 
 
Starting 2018, this leads to an improvement in EBITDA, as instalment sales revenues that have been recognised previously at the present 
value with the interest component reported in the financial result shall now be recognised at their full amount in revenues. In addition, 
starting 2018, the total amount of instalment sales receivables is reported in accounts receivable: subscribers, distributors and other, net. 

b) According to IAS 18, dealers reselling mobile devices acquired from A1 Telekom Austria Group to end customers have been considered 
principals. Due to the regulations of IFRS 15, hardware sales to dealers will no longer be recognised as revenue as the dealers are now 
considered agents. Revenue will be recognised only once the mobile devices are sold to end customers. The effect expected from the 
derecognition of accounts receivable and revenue relating to mobile devices in dealers’ stock at 31 December 2017 as well as the effect 
of the recognition of these mobile devices in inventory at 1 January 2018 is reported directly in equity. 
 
According to IAS 18, subsidies to dealers have been recognised in prepaid expenses at the date of sale of mobile devices and expensed 
over the minimum contractual term. According to IFRS 15, these subsidies are treated as a reduction in revenue. Thus the prepaid 
expenses are derecognised and the effect expected at 1 January 2018 is recognised directly in equity. 
 
Starting 2018, the classification of dealers as agents leads to a later recognition of equipment revenues effected via dealers. At the same 
time, the fact that subsidies are recognised as a reduction in revenue in 2018 will lead to a shift from expenses to equipment revenues. 
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Accounting 
A1 Telekom Austria Group prepared the Consolidated Financial Statements as of 31 December 2017 in compliance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS/IAS), issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), the interpretations of the IFRS 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) and the interpretation of the former Standards Interpretation Committee (SIC), effective as of 
31 December 2017 and as endorsed by the European Union, as well as in accordance with the supplemental regulations of Section 245a of 
the Austrian Commercial Code (UGB). 

Significant accounting policies 
The general accounting policies are presented in the respective Notes to the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the Statement of 
Financial Position. 

Changes in accounting policies 
The following amendments to existing and new IFRS are effective as of 1 January 2017.  

    

IAS 12 Income Taxes - Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses 

IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows - Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to IAS 7) 

All IFRSs Annual Improvements 2014 – 2016   
 

The initial application of the standards (IAS, IFRS) mentioned above had an insignificant impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements 
since the amendments were not fully applicable. 

The following standards and interpretations were issued by the IASB, but were not effective at the reporting date. A1 Telekom Austria Group 
has not early adopted these standards and interpretations and will apply them as of their effective date. 

Der International Accounti ng Standard Boar d (IASB) hat die endg ültige Fassung von IFRS 9 'Fi nanzi nstrumente' herausgeg eben, i n dem die Ergebnisse der Phasen zu Kl assifizi erung und Bewertung, Wertmi nderung und Bilanzier ung von Sicherungsbezi ehungen, i n denen das Projekt zur Ersetzung von IAS 39 'Finanzins trumente: Ansatz  und Bewertung' abgearbeitet wurden, zusammengebracht wer den. In dieser neuen Version des  Standar ds si nd das neue M odell der  er warteten Verl uste i n Bezug auf Wertmi nderungen und begrenzte Änder ung en bei den Klassifizier ungs- und Bewer tungsvorschriften für fi nanzi elle Vermögenswerte aufg enommen worden. D er Standar d ersetzt alle fr üheren Fassung en vo n IFRS 9 und tritt  für Berichtsperioden in Kraft,  di e am oder nach dem 1. Januar 2018 beginnen.  

    Effective * Effective** 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018 1 January 2018 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018 1 January 2018 

IFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019 1 January 2019 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers - Clarifications 1 January 2018 1 January 2018 

IFRS 2 

Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions (Amendments to 

IFRS 2) 1 January 2018 

not endorsed 

All IFRSs Annual Improvements 2014 – 2016 

1 January 2017/ 

1 January 2018 not endorsed 

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration 1 January 2018 not endorsed 

IAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property (Amendments to IAS 40) 1 January 2018 not endorsed 

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Tax Treatments 1 January 2019 not endorsed 

IFRS 9 Amendments: Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation 1 January 2019 not endorsed 

All IFRSs Annual Improvements 2015 – 2017 1 January 2019 not endorsed 

IAS 28 Amendments: Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures 1 January 2019 not endorsed     
* This standard/interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or after the presented date (in accordance with IASB). 
** This standard/interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or after the presented date (in accordance with EU endorsement). 

A1 Telekom Austria Group is evaluating the impact of these standards and interpretations on the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

In May 2014, the IASB issued the new standard IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”. The new standard for revenue 
recognition aims at standardising the multitude of regulations previously included in various standards. The amount of revenue recognised 
and its timing is determined based on a five-step model. The type of transaction or the sector of the entity is not relevant. IFRS 15 contains 
additional qualitative and quantitative disclosure obligations. These are aimed at enabling users of the financial statements to understand 
the nature, amount, timing and the uncertainties of revenue and the resulting cash flows arising from contracts with customers. In 
April 2016, the IASB issued clarifications to IFRS 15 relating to identifying performance obligations, principal versus agent considerations, 
as well as licensing. As the standard itself, the European Union has endorsed these clarifications. 
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c) Provisions for customer rebates and deferred income are qualified as contract liabilities according to IFRS 15 and are reclassified 
accordingly. 
 

d) According to IAS 18, discounts and provisions granted to third parties and to employees have been fully expensed. If these discounts and 
provisions are incremental costs of obtaining a customer contract, they are recognised as deferrals (contracts costs) according to IFRS 
15 and are expensed according to the expected duration of the underlying contract. The effect expected from the initial recognition of 
contract costs at 1 January 2018 is reported directly in equity. 
 
Starting 2018, this results in a later recognition of expense, yet no further significant impact on EBITDA is expected. 
 

e) As described in Note (5), A1 Telekom Austria Group has previously allocated the majority of transaction prices of multiple-element 
arrangements to goods and services based on a determination of a separable value to the customer for each deliverable on a standalone 
basis. IFRS 15 requires the identification of separate performance obligations in multiple-elements arrangements based on certain 
criteria as well as the allocation of transaction prices to the performance obligations in proportion to the fair values of the underlying 
goods and services (stand-alone selling prices). 
 
The application of the criteria for identifying performance obligations according to IFRS 15 resulted in a re-evaluation of performance 
obligations for fixed-line services. For mobile communication services, the allocation according to IFRS 15 results in a higher transaction 
price for mobile equipment and a lower transaction price for mobile services. The adjusted allocation of the transaction price has also 
insignificant effects on the amount of deferrals for customer loyalty programmes. The effect of the re-evaluation of performance 
obligations for fixed-line services as well as, in accordance with IFRS 15, the effect of the allocation of the transaction price for multiple-
elements arrangements for mobile services and on deferrals for customer loyalty programmes are recognised directly in equity at 
1 January 2018. 
 
Certain major business customers are granted, in addition to standardised multiple-element subsidies, further volume discounts on 
hardware and partly on services during the term of the service contract. According to IFRS 15, these are included in the multiple-element 
calculation as well.  
 
For the majority of the contracts, A1 Telekom Austria Group applies the practical expedient according to IFRS 15 to pool similar contracts 
into portfolios, based on contract characteristics and duration. Only a small number of complex contracts with major clients is calculated 
on individual contract basis. 
 
Starting 2018, the change in the allocation of transaction prices leads to a shift from service revenues to equipment revenues; the 
relating effect on EBITDA is not significant. For fixed-line telephone services, the application of the criteria of IFRS 15 for identifying 
performance obligations results in a later revenue recognition in 2018, which is not expected to be significant. 
 

f) The effects on equity of the changes described above are only temporary shifts of results. Thus deferred taxes were recognised for the 
effects relating to the initial application of IFRS 15. 
 

In July 2014 the IASB issued IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”, effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 and replacing IAS 39 
“Financial Instruments”. IFRS 9 introduces changes regarding the classification and measurement of financial instruments, the impairment 
of financial assets and hedge accounting. 
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A1 Telekom Austria Group initially applies IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018, electing the modified retrospective approach for initial application in 
accordance with the transition guidance. The initial application of IFRS 9 in A1 Telekom Austria Group has effects on the classification and 
measurement of financial assets which are not significant overall. The business model of A1 Telekom Austria Group is ‘hold to collect’ and 
‘hold to collect and sell’, respectively, and no derivative financial instruments are held. The contractual cash flows of non-derivative financial 
instruments mainly consist of principal and interest. A1 Telekom Austria Group elected to measure all equity instruments held as of 
31 December 2017 at fair value. Financial investments carried at cost are now recognised at their fair value, which leads to an increase in 
equity of TEUR 493 at 1 January 2018. 

The loss allowance of accounts receivable trade is measured in accordance with the simplified approach of IFRS 9 at an amount equal to 
lifetime expected losses. Due to the good credit quality of the customers, the current measurement of accounts receivable according to the 
method of incurred loss only differs insignificantly from the required method of lifetime-expected credit losses, thus the adoption of IFRS 9 
does not have a significant impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements (see Note (32)). The application of lifetime-expected credit 
loss on contractual assets according to IFRS 15 leads to a reduction in equity of TEUR 2,275 at 1 January 2018 (this effect is included in 
column (e) of the table on IFRS 15).  

As at 31 December 2017, A1 Telekom Austria Group only invests short-term with counterparties with investment grade rating, the 
requirement of IFRS 9 to recognise expected credit losses has only an insignificant impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements for all 
other financial assets (see Note (32)). 

The new requirements of IFRS 9 regarding hedge accounting do not have an effect on the Consolidated Financial Statements of A1 Telekom 
Austria Group, as hedge accounting is not applied. 

IFRS 16 introduces fundamental innovations that affect especially the lessees’ recognition of leases in the financial statements. Generally, all 
leases have to be recognised based on the “right of use approach”. For lessors, the classification of IAS 17 into operating lease and 
financing lease remains unchanged. 

The application of IFRS 16 will affect net assets, financial position and results of operations of A1 Telekom Austria Group: 

While, up to now, current payments have been recognised in rental and lease expense and future payment obligations for operating leases 
only have to be disclosed in the Notes, the majority of the resulting rights and obligations will have to be recognised as rights of use and 
lease obligations. At the initial application, A1 Telekom Austria Group expects a significant increase of the balance sheet total due to the 
increase in leasing obligations and a similarly high increase in rights of use.  

In the Statement of Comprehensive Income there will be a shift from rental and lease expenses, which is reported in EBITDA, to depreciation 
and interest expense. For future minimum lease payments for non-cancellable operating lease contracts according to IAS 17, see Note (29). 

The overall impact will be analysed in a group-wide project for the implementation of IFRS 16. Quantitative effects cannot be reliably 
estimated prior to the completion of the project. In the course of the project, a software allowing for IT-based mass data processing is 
introduced and workflow processes are adapted. A1 Telekom Austria Group plans to apply the modified retrospective approach for the initial 
application of IFRS 16. 

(4) Use of Estimates 

The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements requires Management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities reported at the end of any given period, and revenues and expenses for that reported period. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates. 
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c) Provisions for customer rebates and deferred income are qualified as contract liabilities according to IFRS 15 and are reclassified 
accordingly. 
 

d) According to IAS 18, discounts and provisions granted to third parties and to employees have been fully expensed. If these discounts and 
provisions are incremental costs of obtaining a customer contract, they are recognised as deferrals (contracts costs) according to IFRS 
15 and are expensed according to the expected duration of the underlying contract. The effect expected from the initial recognition of 
contract costs at 1 January 2018 is reported directly in equity. 
 
Starting 2018, this results in a later recognition of expense, yet no further significant impact on EBITDA is expected. 
 

e) As described in Note (5), A1 Telekom Austria Group has previously allocated the majority of transaction prices of multiple-element 
arrangements to goods and services based on a determination of a separable value to the customer for each deliverable on a standalone 
basis. IFRS 15 requires the identification of separate performance obligations in multiple-elements arrangements based on certain 
criteria as well as the allocation of transaction prices to the performance obligations in proportion to the fair values of the underlying 
goods and services (stand-alone selling prices). 
 
The application of the criteria for identifying performance obligations according to IFRS 15 resulted in a re-evaluation of performance 
obligations for fixed-line services. For mobile communication services, the allocation according to IFRS 15 results in a higher transaction 
price for mobile equipment and a lower transaction price for mobile services. The adjusted allocation of the transaction price has also 
insignificant effects on the amount of deferrals for customer loyalty programmes. The effect of the re-evaluation of performance 
obligations for fixed-line services as well as, in accordance with IFRS 15, the effect of the allocation of the transaction price for multiple-
elements arrangements for mobile services and on deferrals for customer loyalty programmes are recognised directly in equity at 
1 January 2018. 
 
Certain major business customers are granted, in addition to standardised multiple-element subsidies, further volume discounts on 
hardware and partly on services during the term of the service contract. According to IFRS 15, these are included in the multiple-element 
calculation as well.  
 
For the majority of the contracts, A1 Telekom Austria Group applies the practical expedient according to IFRS 15 to pool similar contracts 
into portfolios, based on contract characteristics and duration. Only a small number of complex contracts with major clients is calculated 
on individual contract basis. 
 
Starting 2018, the change in the allocation of transaction prices leads to a shift from service revenues to equipment revenues; the 
relating effect on EBITDA is not significant. For fixed-line telephone services, the application of the criteria of IFRS 15 for identifying 
performance obligations results in a later revenue recognition in 2018, which is not expected to be significant. 
 

f) The effects on equity of the changes described above are only temporary shifts of results. Thus deferred taxes were recognised for the 
effects relating to the initial application of IFRS 15. 
 

In July 2014 the IASB issued IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”, effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 and replacing IAS 39 
“Financial Instruments”. IFRS 9 introduces changes regarding the classification and measurement of financial instruments, the impairment 
of financial assets and hedge accounting. 
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Management has made judgments in the process of applying A1 Telekom Austria Group’s accounting policies. Additionally, at the reporting 
date, Management has made the following key assumptions concerning the future and has identified other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty which bear a significant risk of necessitating a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year. For all sensitivity analyses, the remaining parameters of the original calculation remain unchanged, thus no possible 
correlation effects are taken into account.  

a) Employee benefit plans: The measurement of the various pension and other post-employment benefit plans as well as service awards is 
based on a method that uses various parameters, such as the expected discount rate, rate of compensation increase, rate of employee 
turnover and pension and salary increase. Changes in these parameters could result in higher or lower expenses (see Note (26)). 

b) Impairments: The impairment test for goodwill, other intangible assets and property, plant and equipment is generally based upon 
discounted estimated future net cash flows from the continuing use and ultimate disposal of the assets. Changes in the discount rates 
used, in the development of revenues, in cost drivers as well as in capital expenditures could lead to impairments or, to the extent 
permitted, to reversals of impairments (see Note (16)). For more information on the carrying amounts of goodwill, other intangible assets 
and property, plant and equipment, see Notes (16), (15) and (14).  

c) The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets subject to depreciation and amortisation represent 
the estimated periods during which the assets will be in use. With respect to changes in depreciation and amortisation resulting from 
changes in the useful lives, see Note (14). 

d) Share-based compensation: Obligations under the long-term incentive programme are measured based on the fair value, which 
depends on expected target achievement and the expected share price at vesting date. Compensation expense and liabilities could differ 
from the estimated amount as of the reporting date if the underlying parameters were to change (see Note (30)).  

e) Deferred taxes: In assessing the recoverability of deferred tax assets, Management considers whether it is probable that all deferred tax 
assets will be realised. The ultimate realisation of deferred tax assets depends upon the generation of future taxable income during the 
periods in which those temporary differences will become deductible. If A1 Telekom Austria Group does not generate sufficient taxable 
income, deferred tax assets cannot be realised and therefore will not be recognised (see Note (28)). 

f) Restructuring (includes provisions for onerous contracts according to IAS 37 as well as provisions for social plans according to IAS 19): 
The provision is based on various parameters such as discount rate, salary increase, employee turnover and the probability of the 
acceptance of termination offers. Changes in these parameters could result in higher or lower expenses (see Note (22)).  

g) Allowances for doubtful accounts receivables are based on the estimated probability of default of receivables: Deviation of actual from 
the estimated payment behaviour of customers may result in higher or lower expenses (see Note (32)). 

h) Asset retirement obligation: The calculation of the provision is based on parameters such as estimated decommissioning costs, discount 
rate and inflation rate. Changes in these parameters may result in higher or lower provisions (see Note (22)). 
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(5) Revenues 

The following table sets out revenues from external customers for each product line: 

in TEUR 2017 2016 

Service revenues 2,138,992 2,146,301 

Equipment revenues 467,229 419,519 

Other operating income 102,755 86,629 

Wireless revenues 2,708,975 2,652,449 

Service revenues 1,636,304 1,528,183 

Equipment revenues 37,203 30,830 

Fixed-line and other revenues 1,673,507 1,559,013 

Total revenues (incl. other operating income) 4,382,483 4,211,463    
 
 
Operating revenues include all revenue resulting from the ordinary operations of A1 Telekom Austria Group. Operating revenues are stated 
net of value-added tax and any other taxes and fees, collected from the customer on behalf of tax and other relevant authorities. 

A1 Telekom Austria Group generates revenues from fixed-line services and mobile communication services to individuals, commercial and  
non-commercial organisations and other national and foreign carriers. 

Fixed-line services include access fees, domestic and long distance services including internet, fixed-to-mobile calls, international traffic,  
voice value-added services, interconnection, call centre services, data and ICT solutions, television services and public payphone services. 

Mobile communications services comprise digital mobile communications services including value-added services, text and multimedia 
messaging, m-commerce and information services.  

Certain arrangements that A1 Telekom Austria Group enters into provide for the delivery of multiple deliverables by A1 Telekom Austria 
Group. For the mobile communication services, these multiple-element arrangements typically include the sale of a handset, the activation 
fee, the yearly SIM card fee and the phone service contract. For fixed-line services, these arrangements typically include internet and fixed-
line and optional TV and mobile communication services. In general, A1 Telekom Austria Group determines that such arrangements are 
divided into separate ‘units of accounting’ based on a determination of a separable value to the customer for each deliverable on a 
standalone basis. The total arrangement consideration is allocated to the units of accounting based on the relative fair value and after 
taking into consideration any uncertainty of future revenues.  

A1 Telekom Austria Group recognises long distance and local service revenue based on minutes of use processed or based on contracted 
fixed fee schedules at the time the services are rendered. Revenues due from other national and foreign carriers for incoming calls from 
outside A1 Telekom Austria Group’s network are recognised in the period the call occurs.  

Access fees, monthly base fees, maintenance fees, service fees and lines leased to business customers are partly billed in advance, resulting 
in deferred revenues. These fees are recognised over the period the service is provided. Cash discounts and rebates are accounted for as 
reductions in revenues when granted.  

Revenues from the sale of merchandise and revenues generated from other services are recognised upon delivery and acceptance by the 
customers or when the services are provided in accordance with contract terms. 

Setting up customer lines is a separate service, offered by A1 Telekom Austria Group independently from other services. Revenue on such 
installation work is recognised when the setup is completed.  

A1 Telekom Austria Group has entered into a limited number of agreements with other telecommunication operators outside of Austria 
whereby A1 Telekom Austria Group has granted contractually agreed access to existing capacity within its physical network in return for 
similar access to the physical network of the counterparty. A1 Telekom Austria Group does not recognise revenue or liabilities to the 
counterparty under such agreements apart from the trade revenue arising from subscriber transactions under normal tariff plans if the 
services transacted under such agreements are equivalent. The benefits and costs of such swap agreements are reflected in A1 Telekom 
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Management has made judgments in the process of applying A1 Telekom Austria Group’s accounting policies. Additionally, at the reporting 
date, Management has made the following key assumptions concerning the future and has identified other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty which bear a significant risk of necessitating a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year. For all sensitivity analyses, the remaining parameters of the original calculation remain unchanged, thus no possible 
correlation effects are taken into account.  

a) Employee benefit plans: The measurement of the various pension and other post-employment benefit plans as well as service awards is 
based on a method that uses various parameters, such as the expected discount rate, rate of compensation increase, rate of employee 
turnover and pension and salary increase. Changes in these parameters could result in higher or lower expenses (see Note (26)). 

b) Impairments: The impairment test for goodwill, other intangible assets and property, plant and equipment is generally based upon 
discounted estimated future net cash flows from the continuing use and ultimate disposal of the assets. Changes in the discount rates 
used, in the development of revenues, in cost drivers as well as in capital expenditures could lead to impairments or, to the extent 
permitted, to reversals of impairments (see Note (16)). For more information on the carrying amounts of goodwill, other intangible assets 
and property, plant and equipment, see Notes (16), (15) and (14).  

c) The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets subject to depreciation and amortisation represent 
the estimated periods during which the assets will be in use. With respect to changes in depreciation and amortisation resulting from 
changes in the useful lives, see Note (14). 

d) Share-based compensation: Obligations under the long-term incentive programme are measured based on the fair value, which 
depends on expected target achievement and the expected share price at vesting date. Compensation expense and liabilities could differ 
from the estimated amount as of the reporting date if the underlying parameters were to change (see Note (30)).  

e) Deferred taxes: In assessing the recoverability of deferred tax assets, Management considers whether it is probable that all deferred tax 
assets will be realised. The ultimate realisation of deferred tax assets depends upon the generation of future taxable income during the 
periods in which those temporary differences will become deductible. If A1 Telekom Austria Group does not generate sufficient taxable 
income, deferred tax assets cannot be realised and therefore will not be recognised (see Note (28)). 

f) Restructuring (includes provisions for onerous contracts according to IAS 37 as well as provisions for social plans according to IAS 19): 
The provision is based on various parameters such as discount rate, salary increase, employee turnover and the probability of the 
acceptance of termination offers. Changes in these parameters could result in higher or lower expenses (see Note (22)).  

g) Allowances for doubtful accounts receivables are based on the estimated probability of default of receivables: Deviation of actual from 
the estimated payment behaviour of customers may result in higher or lower expenses (see Note (32)). 

h) Asset retirement obligation: The calculation of the provision is based on parameters such as estimated decommissioning costs, discount 
rate and inflation rate. Changes in these parameters may result in higher or lower provisions (see Note (22)). 

  

A1 TELEKOM AUSTRIA GROUP — ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2017

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

47



 

 

 

Consolidated Financial Statements 2017  

 

  18   

     

Austria Group’s results of operations in the periods in which they are realised through reduced interconnection revenues and expenses, 
respectively.  

A1 Telekom Austria Group recognises mobile and roaming service revenue based upon minutes of traffic processed or contracted fee 
schedules when the services are rendered. Revenues due from foreign carriers for international roaming calls are included in revenues in the 
period in which the call occurs.  

Certain prepaid services are billed in advance, resulting in deferred revenues. These fees are deferred and recognised over the period the 
service is provided.  

Cash discounts and rebates are accounted for as a reduction in revenues when granted. Customer acquisition costs are recognised pro-rata 
over the contract period as marketing expenses when a service contract exists.  

In the case of customer loyalty programmes, under which the customers can redeem mobile handsets or accessories against bonus points 
(award credits) granted to them as part of the sales transactions, revenue is deferred at the time of the granting of the award credits until 
the goods are redeemed or the awards expire. 

Activation revenues and related expenses are generally recognised over the minimum contract term. Activation fees do not have a 
standalone value to customers and are therefore allocated to the other components of the contract. 

Other operating income includes mainly bad debt recovery, collection fees, penalties, revenues from sale of electricity and rental income.  

In 2017 and 2016, other operating income includes research and educational tax credits amounting to TEUR 1,649 and TEUR 1,515, 
respectively.  

(6) Cost and Expenses 

The following table presents cost and expenses according to their nature: 

in TEUR 2017 2016 

Cost of equipment 584,243 521,873 

Employee expenses, including benefits and taxes 793,851 787,065 

Other operating expenses 1,607,041 1,548,273 

Total costs and expenses 2,985,135 2,857,211    
 
The cost of equipment corresponds to material expense. Employee expenses, including benefits and taxes comprise all benefits to 
employees excluding own work capitalised, which is reported on a net basis. 
 

in TEUR 2017 2016 

Own work capitalised         56,684          72,003     
 
Own work capitalised represents the work performed for own purposes consisting mainly of employee costs and direct overheads 
capitalised primarily as part of property, plant and equipment. For the capitalisation of internally developed software, see Note (15).  
 
The following table provides an allocation of the depreciation and amortisation to the items of the Statement of Comprehensive Income: 
 

in TEUR 2017 2016 

Cost of service        683,038         698,208  

Cost of equipment         27,346          27,137  

Selling, general & administrative expenses        243,052         139,925  

Depreciation and amortisation        953,436         865,271     
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The increase in selling, general & administrative expenses is basically due to the amortisation of the local brands because of the roll-out of 
the brand A1 (see Note (15)). 

At the Annual General Meeting, Ernst & Young Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft m.b.H. (EY) was appointed as group auditor for Telekom 
Austria AG. Expenses related to the group auditor amount to: 

in TEUR 2017 2016 

Audit fees 1,298 854 

Other reviews 184 284 

Other services 142 0 

Fees EY 1,623 1,138    
 
The expenses in 2017 also include charges for 2016. In 2017 and 2016, other reviews relate to expenses incurred for the issuance of bonds 
(see Note (24)). 

 
(7) Financial Result 

in TEUR 2017 2016 

Interest income on loans and receivables 13,811 13,044 

Interest income on bank deposits 387 604 

Interest income on available – for-sale financial assets 130 193 

Interest income 14,329 13,841    
 

in TEUR 2017 2016 

Interest expense on financial liabilities 88,053 132,946 

Interest capitalised – 5,833 – 6,801 

Interest expense on asset retirement obligations 4,720 4,702 

Interest expense on deferred considerations 8,333 11,667 

Interest expense 95,274 142,514    
 
Interest is recognised using the effective interest method in accordance with IAS 39. The decrease in interest expense on financial liabilities 
is mainly due to the favourable refinancing for the redemption of a bond in January 2017 as well as the premature redemption of bank debt 
in 2016 (see Note (24)). Interest expense on deferred considerations relates primarily to one.Vip in Macedonia (see Note (33)). 

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised as part of the 
cost of the asset. A qualifying asset is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to prepare for its intended use. In 2017 and 
2016, interest capitalised on internally developed software as well as on qualifying assets of property, plant and equipment (see Notes (14) 
and (15)) was based on an interest rate of 3.3% and 4.0%, respectively. In 2017 and 2016, the calculation of interest capitalised for 
licenses was based on an interest rate of 3.125%, which is derived from a specific financing facility.  
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Austria Group’s results of operations in the periods in which they are realised through reduced interconnection revenues and expenses, 
respectively.  

A1 Telekom Austria Group recognises mobile and roaming service revenue based upon minutes of traffic processed or contracted fee 
schedules when the services are rendered. Revenues due from foreign carriers for international roaming calls are included in revenues in the 
period in which the call occurs.  

Certain prepaid services are billed in advance, resulting in deferred revenues. These fees are deferred and recognised over the period the 
service is provided.  

Cash discounts and rebates are accounted for as a reduction in revenues when granted. Customer acquisition costs are recognised pro-rata 
over the contract period as marketing expenses when a service contract exists.  

In the case of customer loyalty programmes, under which the customers can redeem mobile handsets or accessories against bonus points 
(award credits) granted to them as part of the sales transactions, revenue is deferred at the time of the granting of the award credits until 
the goods are redeemed or the awards expire. 

Activation revenues and related expenses are generally recognised over the minimum contract term. Activation fees do not have a 
standalone value to customers and are therefore allocated to the other components of the contract. 

Other operating income includes mainly bad debt recovery, collection fees, penalties, revenues from sale of electricity and rental income.  

In 2017 and 2016, other operating income includes research and educational tax credits amounting to TEUR 1,649 and TEUR 1,515, 
respectively.  

(6) Cost and Expenses 

The following table presents cost and expenses according to their nature: 

in TEUR 2017 2016 

Cost of equipment 584,243 521,873 

Employee expenses, including benefits and taxes 793,851 787,065 

Other operating expenses 1,607,041 1,548,273 

Total costs and expenses 2,985,135 2,857,211    
 
The cost of equipment corresponds to material expense. Employee expenses, including benefits and taxes comprise all benefits to 
employees excluding own work capitalised, which is reported on a net basis. 
 

in TEUR 2017 2016 

Own work capitalised         56,684          72,003     
 
Own work capitalised represents the work performed for own purposes consisting mainly of employee costs and direct overheads 
capitalised primarily as part of property, plant and equipment. For the capitalisation of internally developed software, see Note (15).  
 
The following table provides an allocation of the depreciation and amortisation to the items of the Statement of Comprehensive Income: 
 

in TEUR 2017 2016 

Cost of service        683,038         698,208  

Cost of equipment         27,346          27,137  

Selling, general & administrative expenses        243,052         139,925  

Depreciation and amortisation        953,436         865,271     
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in TEUR 2017 2016 

Interest expense on employee benefit obligations 3,117 3,694 

Interest expense on restructuring provision 4,824 8,293 

Fees for unused credit lines 2,312 2,165 

Dividends received – 471 – 563 

Gain on disposal of available-for-sale securities     

transferred from other comprehensive income – 44 – 24 

Loss on disposal of available-for-sale securities     

transferred from other comprehensive income   103 

Result from other investments – 32 – 3,931 

Interest on taxes 1,514 0 

Interest on employee benefits and restructuring and other financial items, net 11,220 9,739    
Restructuring provisions contain onerous contracts in accordance with IAS 37 as well as provisions for social plans in accordance with IAS 19. 

For information on the interest rate for restructuring provisions and employee benefit obligations, see Notes (22) and (26). 

The amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI) and subsequently recognised in profit or loss are disclosed in the 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.  

In 2017, the result from other investments mainly relates to paybox Bank as, in June 2016, VISA Inc. acquired 100% of the shares in VISA 
Europe Limited from the member banks. Up to that date, paybox Bank, as a member of VISA Europe Limited, held one share which was 
exchanged for a consideration of TEUR 2,920 and 1,060 preferred shares in VISA Inc. amounting to TEUR 1,011. 

 

in TEUR 2017 2016 

Foreign exchange gains 10,359 20,986 

Foreign exchange losses – 12,953 – 10,973 

Foreign exchange differences – 2,594 10,013    
 
The foreign exchange losses 2017 mainly result from currency fluctuations of the Belarusian Rouble, which were to a large extent 
compensated by foreign exchange gains relating to the Serbian Dinar and the Croatian Kuna.  

(8) Earnings per Share 

Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net income or loss by the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding for the year: 

  2017 2016 

Net result attributable to owners of the parent in TEUR 319,151 387,518 

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 664,084,841 664,084,841 

Basic and diluted earnings per share in Euro 0.48 0.58    
For the number of shares see Note (27) 

According to IAS 33.12, the after-tax dividend on the hybrid capital is deducted from the net result attributable to owners of the parent, 
since the hybrid capital represents equity but does not constitute net result attributable to owners of the parent (see Note (27)). 

Due to Management’s decision to settle all share-based compensation plans in cash, no related dilutive effect occurred as of 31 December 
2017 and 2016.  

(9) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in banks and financial investments with remaining maturities of up to three months from the date 
of acquisition. The financial resource fund in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows is equal to cash and cash equivalents reported in 
the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. 
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(10) Accounts Receivable: Subscribers, Distributors and Other, Net 

in TEUR, at 31 December  2017 2016 

Accounts receivable, gross 898,399 848,722 

Allowances – 219,106 – 212,247 

Accounts receivable, net 679,292 636,474    
 
At 31 December 2016, accounts receivable: subscribers, distributors and other in an amount of TEUR 382 had a maturity of more than 
twelve months and were non-interest bearing. 

The roll-forward of the allowance for doubtful accounts receivable: subscribers, distributors and other as well as their ageing is presented in 
“credit risk” in Note (32). 

(11) Related Party Transactions 

The significant shareholders América Móvil and ÖBIB are considered related parties due to their stake in Telekom Austria AG allowing them 
to control and to exercise significant influence, respectively. Through América Móvil, A1 Telekom Austria Group is also related to its 
subsidiaries. Through ÖBIB, A1 Telekom Austria Group is related to the Republic of Austria and its subsidiaries, which are mainly ÖBB Group, 
ASFINAG Group and Post Group as well as Rundfunk und Telekom Regulierungs-GmbH (RTR), all of which qualify as related parties. A1 
Telekom Austria Group has determined the kind and amount of the transactions concluded with these related parties. In 2017 and 2016, 
revenues generated with these related parties were approximately 3% of the total revenues in the segment Austria. In 2017 and 2016, 
services received from the related parties mentioned above mainly relate to postage fees, transportation, commissions, roaming and fees 
to RTR and amount to approximately 6% and 7%, respectively, of total cost and expenses (excluding employee expenses) in the segment 
Austria.  

A1 Telekom Austria Group is obligated to provide communication services for disadvantaged individuals at reduced tariffs for which it is 
entitled to appropriate compensation from the government on a contractual basis. The contract with the government concluded in July 2016 
specifies the reimbursement of Euro 10.00 per customer per month for customers having a valid official notice. The total reimbursement 
recorded as revenue in the service period was TEUR 13,419 and TEUR 14,532 in 2017 and 2016, respectively. 

Regarding the transfer of civil servants to the government and the related expenses, provisions and liabilities, see Note (22).  

The revenues from and expenses charged to associated companies are set forth in the following table:  

in TEUR 2017 2016 

Revenues (incl. other operating income) 1,591 1,817 

Expenses 10,759 25,517    
 
In 2017 and 2016, the expenses relate mainly to advertising and marketing services provided by media.at-Group, which was sold on 
18 July 2017 (see Note (17)).  

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, accounts receivable due from related parties and accounts payable due to related parties, as recognised 
in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position, relate primarily to Telecom Liechtenstein and subsidiaries of América Móvil. At 
31 December 2016, accounts payable due to related parties also relate to media.at-Group (see Note (17)). 

All transactions with related parties are monitored and documented to ensure that pricing is at arm’s length. 
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in TEUR 2017 2016 

Interest expense on employee benefit obligations 3,117 3,694 

Interest expense on restructuring provision 4,824 8,293 

Fees for unused credit lines 2,312 2,165 

Dividends received – 471 – 563 

Gain on disposal of available-for-sale securities     

transferred from other comprehensive income – 44 – 24 

Loss on disposal of available-for-sale securities     

transferred from other comprehensive income   103 

Result from other investments – 32 – 3,931 

Interest on taxes 1,514 0 

Interest on employee benefits and restructuring and other financial items, net 11,220 9,739    
Restructuring provisions contain onerous contracts in accordance with IAS 37 as well as provisions for social plans in accordance with IAS 19. 

For information on the interest rate for restructuring provisions and employee benefit obligations, see Notes (22) and (26). 

The amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI) and subsequently recognised in profit or loss are disclosed in the 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.  

In 2017, the result from other investments mainly relates to paybox Bank as, in June 2016, VISA Inc. acquired 100% of the shares in VISA 
Europe Limited from the member banks. Up to that date, paybox Bank, as a member of VISA Europe Limited, held one share which was 
exchanged for a consideration of TEUR 2,920 and 1,060 preferred shares in VISA Inc. amounting to TEUR 1,011. 

 

in TEUR 2017 2016 

Foreign exchange gains 10,359 20,986 

Foreign exchange losses – 12,953 – 10,973 

Foreign exchange differences – 2,594 10,013    
 
The foreign exchange losses 2017 mainly result from currency fluctuations of the Belarusian Rouble, which were to a large extent 
compensated by foreign exchange gains relating to the Serbian Dinar and the Croatian Kuna.  

(8) Earnings per Share 

Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net income or loss by the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding for the year: 

  2017 2016 

Net result attributable to owners of the parent in TEUR 319,151 387,518 

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 664,084,841 664,084,841 

Basic and diluted earnings per share in Euro 0.48 0.58    
For the number of shares see Note (27) 

According to IAS 33.12, the after-tax dividend on the hybrid capital is deducted from the net result attributable to owners of the parent, 
since the hybrid capital represents equity but does not constitute net result attributable to owners of the parent (see Note (27)). 

Due to Management’s decision to settle all share-based compensation plans in cash, no related dilutive effect occurred as of 31 December 
2017 and 2016.  

(9) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in banks and financial investments with remaining maturities of up to three months from the date 
of acquisition. The financial resource fund in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows is equal to cash and cash equivalents reported in 
the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. 
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The following table shows the compensation of key management personnel as well as the expenses for pensions and severance for other 
employees. Key management personnel is defined as the members of the management boards and the managing directors of all significant 
operating companies of A1 Telekom Austria Group registered in the Company Register as well as the members of the Management Board of 
Telekom Austria AG. 

in TEUR 2017 2016 

Short-term employee benefits 7,393 7,544 

Pensions 538 487 

Other long-term benefits 229 1,887 

Termination benefits 685 142 

Share-based payments 1,752 630 

Compensation of key management 10,599 12,705 

      

Expenses for pensions and severance for other employees 21,142 21,116 

Expenses for pensions and severance for Management Board 235 233    
For members of the Management Board of Telekom Austria AG, see Note (35). 

Expenses for pensions and severance consist of voluntary and legal severance expenses, contributions to pension plans and other pension 
payments.  

(12) Inventories 

Inventories consist of merchandise sold in the shops of A1 Telekom Austria Group or by retailers and are measured at the lower of cost or net 
realisable value, with cost being determined on the basis of weighted average cost less allowance based on the turnover rate of the last 
twelve months. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated selling expense. 

As of 31 December 2017 and 2016, the carrying amount of merchandise measured at fair value less cost to sell amounted to TEUR 47,482 
and TEUR 43,002, respectively. The net amount relating to the valuation of merchandise that is recognised in cost of equipment is the 
following:  

in TEUR 2017 2016 

Write-down/ reversals of write-down of inventories            – 973          7,777     
Impairment loss: negative values; reversal of impairment: positive values 

(13) Other Current Assets 

Other current assets, net include prepaid expenses and other current assets.  

in TEUR, at 31 December  2017 2016 

Advances to employees 16,920 17,521 

Rent 11,106 9,498 

Marketing expenses 38,421 38,005 

Concession fees 22,559 21,596 

Other 14,777 23,804 

Prepaid expenses 103,782 110,424    
 
Prepaid marketing expenses mainly consist of subsidies for mobile handsets, which are expensed over the minimum contractual term.  
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in TEUR, at 31 December  2017 2016 

Instalment sales 116,785 93,666 

Finance lease receivables 0 161 

Other financial assets 10,077 11,224 

Financial assets 126,862 105,051 

Fiscal authorities 4,932 10,113 

Customer loyalty programme deferrals 17,565 16,155 

Advance payments 1,617 4,391 

Government grants 8,264 0 

Other non-financial assets 8,136 10,479 

Non-financial assets 40,512 41,138 

Other current assets, gross 167,374 146,189 

Less allowance for financial assets – 15,231 – 11,982 

Less allowance for non-financial assets – 2,550 – 2,637 

Other current assets 149,594 131,569    
 
Instalment sales receivables relate to mobile handsets and tablets and equal the present value of the instalments less already amortised 
amounts. As of 31 December 2017 and 2016, respectively, the instalment sales receivables relate to all segments.  

Other current non-financial assets mainly consist of claims against the Republic of Austria (see Note (11)), indemnification payments due 
from insurance companies and receivables due from employees. 

The roll-forward of the allowance for doubtful financial assets as well as their ageing is presented in “Credit risk” in Note (32). 

(14) Property, Plant and Equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, which includes certain costs that are capitalised during the installation and expansion of  
the telecommunications network, including material, payroll, direct overhead and interest costs as well as the present value of estimated 
decommissioning and restoration obligations (see Note (22)). Value-added tax (VAT), which is charged by suppliers and refunded by the tax 
authorities, is not included in cost.  

Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred, while replacements and improvements are capitalised. The cost and accumulated 
depreciation of assets sold or retired are removed from the accounts, and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in other operating 
expenses or other operating income. 
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The following table shows the compensation of key management personnel as well as the expenses for pensions and severance for other 
employees. Key management personnel is defined as the members of the management boards and the managing directors of all significant 
operating companies of A1 Telekom Austria Group registered in the Company Register as well as the members of the Management Board of 
Telekom Austria AG. 

in TEUR 2017 2016 

Short-term employee benefits 7,393 7,544 

Pensions 538 487 

Other long-term benefits 229 1,887 

Termination benefits 685 142 

Share-based payments 1,752 630 

Compensation of key management 10,599 12,705 

      

Expenses for pensions and severance for other employees 21,142 21,116 

Expenses for pensions and severance for Management Board 235 233    
For members of the Management Board of Telekom Austria AG, see Note (35). 

Expenses for pensions and severance consist of voluntary and legal severance expenses, contributions to pension plans and other pension 
payments.  

(12) Inventories 

Inventories consist of merchandise sold in the shops of A1 Telekom Austria Group or by retailers and are measured at the lower of cost or net 
realisable value, with cost being determined on the basis of weighted average cost less allowance based on the turnover rate of the last 
twelve months. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated selling expense. 

As of 31 December 2017 and 2016, the carrying amount of merchandise measured at fair value less cost to sell amounted to TEUR 47,482 
and TEUR 43,002, respectively. The net amount relating to the valuation of merchandise that is recognised in cost of equipment is the 
following:  

in TEUR 2017 2016 

Write-down/ reversals of write-down of inventories            – 973          7,777     
Impairment loss: negative values; reversal of impairment: positive values 

(13) Other Current Assets 

Other current assets, net include prepaid expenses and other current assets.  

in TEUR, at 31 December  2017 2016 

Advances to employees 16,920 17,521 

Rent 11,106 9,498 

Marketing expenses 38,421 38,005 

Concession fees 22,559 21,596 

Other 14,777 23,804 

Prepaid expenses 103,782 110,424    
 
Prepaid marketing expenses mainly consist of subsidies for mobile handsets, which are expensed over the minimum contractual term.  
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in TEUR 

Telephonic plant 
in operation  

and equipment 

Land and 
buildings &  

leasehold 
improvements Other assets 

Construction in 
progress 

and advances 

Inventories for  
operation of the 

plant 

 
 

Total 

Cost             

At 1 January 2016 9,795,792 869,576 439,124 199,746 96,417 11,400,654 

Additions 275,644 11,016 21,309 253,952 139,081 701,002 

Disposals – 373,542 – 7,808 – 27,934 – 267 – 9,466 – 419,017 

Transfers 253,670 2,825 40,189 – 220,737 – 85,315 – 9,368 

Translation adjustment 1,600 352 1,471 – 598 90 2,915 

Changes in reporting entities 18,091 176 1,474 166 253 20,160 

At 31 December 2016 9,971,254 876,137 475,633 232,261 141,061 11,696,346 

Additions 245,001 10,541 29,989 229,625 97,515 612,670 

Disposals – 305,532 – 6,873 – 61,729 – 1,037 – 7,764 – 382,935 

Transfers 319,405 4,745 21,521 – 213,683 – 104,153 27,835 

Translation adjustment – 29,298 – 3,455 – 8,266 – 3,991 273 – 44,736 

Changes in reporting entities 81,965 1,296 3,779 1,624 167 88,831 

At 31 December 2017 10,282,795 882,392 460,926 244,799 127,099 11,998,011 

              

Accumulated depreciation and impairment             

At 1 January 2016 – 7,984,453 – 618,009 – 357,029 0 – 31,729 – 8,991,220 

Additions – 464,438 – 29,163 – 39,258 0 – 13,873 – 546,732 

Disposals 362,508 6,002 27,355 0 5,050 400,915 

Transfers 282 20 – 46 0 0 257 

Translation adjustment – 1,222 – 299 413 0 57 – 1,051 

Changes in reporting entities – 6,651 – 76 – 1,034 0 0 – 7,761 

At 31 December 2016 – 8,093,974 – 641,526 – 369,598 0 – 40,495 – 9,145,592 

Additions – 452,321 – 25,977 – 43,006 0 – 11,051 – 532,354 

Disposals 295,367 4,828 60,606 0 2,929 363,730 

Transfers – 22,026 – 129 – 251 0 0 – 22,405 

Translation adjustment 16,615 521 3,537 0 – 92 20,580 

Changes in reporting entities – 51,485 – 54 – 2,511 0 0 – 54,051 

At 31 December 2017 – 8,307,823 – 662,338 – 351,223 0 – 48,708 – 9,370,092 

              

Carrying amount at             

31 December 2017 1,974,972 220,054 109,703 244,799 78,391 2,627,919 

31 December 2016 1,877,281 234,611 106,035 232,261 100,566 2,550,754        
Other assets include mainly office and business equipment as well as automobiles. 

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method. If an event or circumstance indicates that the 
assets may be impaired, they are tested for impairment (see impairment test in Note (15)). Property, plant and equipment under finance 
lease and leasehold improvements are amortised using the straight-line method over the lease term or the estimated useful life of the asset, 
whichever is shorter. The useful lives are:  

  Years 

Transmission equipment 3-20 

Cables and wires 2-20 

Communications equipment 2-20 

Buildings and leasehold improvements 3-50 

Furniture, fixtures and other 2-25 

Other assets 2-17   
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Spare parts, cables and supplies are primarily used for A1 Telekom Austria Group’s network expansion. In accordance with IAS 16.8, they 
are reported in property, plant and equipment as A1 Telekom Austria Group expects to use these items during more than one period. 

As of 31 December 2017 and 2016, the carrying amount of land amounted to TEUR 59,347 and TEUR 57,534, respectively. 

In 2016, the estimated useful lives of certain communications networks and other equipment of the merged company “ONE” in the segment 
Macedonia were reduced due to technological harmonisation, which led to an increase in depreciation of TEUR 15,655.  

Government grants for assets totalling TEUR 10,727 and TEUR 4,226 were deducted from acquisition cost in 2017 and 2016, respectively. 

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, purchase commitments for property, plant and equipment amount to TEUR 153,005 and TEUR 150,233, 
respectively. 

Sensitivity analysis  
The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment and of intangible assets represent the periods in which the assets are estimated 
to be used by A1 Telekom Austria Group. A change in the useful lives by one year would lead to the following changes in depreciation and 
amortisation. 

in TEUR 2017 2016 

Decrease due to extension by one year 243,924 187,017 

Increase due to reduction by one year 356,251 220,507    
 

Due to the amortisation of local brands (see Note (15)), the reduction of useful life by one year results in a significant increase, as brands 
may be completely amortised within a year. 

(15) Intangibles  

in TEUR 
Licenses and 
rights of use 

Brand names 
and patents 

 
Software 

Customer 
base 

Advances/ 
construction in 

progress 
 

Total 

              

Cost             

At 1 January 2016 2,471,602 653,852 1,228,799 1,127,032 47,282 5,528,567 

Additions 21,130 3,160 38,240 0 61,133 123,663 

Disposals – 346,172 – 518 – 40,991 0 – 238 – 387,919 

Transfers 3,919 – 633 52,394 0 – 46,313 9,368 

Translation adjustment – 2,736 – 954 448 – 1,110 – 320 – 4,672 

Changes in reporting entities 349 3,243 1,245 5,433 89 10,360 

At 31 December 2016 2,148,093 658,150 1,280,135 1,131,356 61,633 5,279,367 

Additions 26,216 2,234 44,549 0 84,573 157,572 

Disposals – 1,943 – 51,487 – 50,614 – 41,298 – 63 – 145,404 

Transfers – 21,467 2,994 64,243 1,906 – 75,510 – 27,835 

Translation adjustment 1,641 – 8,606 – 6,552 – 34,760 – 665 – 48,943 

Changes in reporting entities 5,768 3,907 7,232 23,830 0 40,737 

At 31 December 2017 2,158,307 607,192 1,338,995 1,081,033 69,968 5,255,494 
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in TEUR 

Telephonic plant 
in operation  

and equipment 

Land and 
buildings &  

leasehold 
improvements Other assets 

Construction in 
progress 

and advances 

Inventories for  
operation of the 

plant 

 
 

Total 

Cost             

At 1 January 2016 9,795,792 869,576 439,124 199,746 96,417 11,400,654 

Additions 275,644 11,016 21,309 253,952 139,081 701,002 

Disposals – 373,542 – 7,808 – 27,934 – 267 – 9,466 – 419,017 

Transfers 253,670 2,825 40,189 – 220,737 – 85,315 – 9,368 

Translation adjustment 1,600 352 1,471 – 598 90 2,915 

Changes in reporting entities 18,091 176 1,474 166 253 20,160 

At 31 December 2016 9,971,254 876,137 475,633 232,261 141,061 11,696,346 

Additions 245,001 10,541 29,989 229,625 97,515 612,670 

Disposals – 305,532 – 6,873 – 61,729 – 1,037 – 7,764 – 382,935 

Transfers 319,405 4,745 21,521 – 213,683 – 104,153 27,835 

Translation adjustment – 29,298 – 3,455 – 8,266 – 3,991 273 – 44,736 

Changes in reporting entities 81,965 1,296 3,779 1,624 167 88,831 

At 31 December 2017 10,282,795 882,392 460,926 244,799 127,099 11,998,011 

              

Accumulated depreciation and impairment             

At 1 January 2016 – 7,984,453 – 618,009 – 357,029 0 – 31,729 – 8,991,220 

Additions – 464,438 – 29,163 – 39,258 0 – 13,873 – 546,732 

Disposals 362,508 6,002 27,355 0 5,050 400,915 

Transfers 282 20 – 46 0 0 257 

Translation adjustment – 1,222 – 299 413 0 57 – 1,051 

Changes in reporting entities – 6,651 – 76 – 1,034 0 0 – 7,761 

At 31 December 2016 – 8,093,974 – 641,526 – 369,598 0 – 40,495 – 9,145,592 

Additions – 452,321 – 25,977 – 43,006 0 – 11,051 – 532,354 

Disposals 295,367 4,828 60,606 0 2,929 363,730 

Transfers – 22,026 – 129 – 251 0 0 – 22,405 

Translation adjustment 16,615 521 3,537 0 – 92 20,580 

Changes in reporting entities – 51,485 – 54 – 2,511 0 0 – 54,051 

At 31 December 2017 – 8,307,823 – 662,338 – 351,223 0 – 48,708 – 9,370,092 

              

Carrying amount at             

31 December 2017 1,974,972 220,054 109,703 244,799 78,391 2,627,919 

31 December 2016 1,877,281 234,611 106,035 232,261 100,566 2,550,754        
Other assets include mainly office and business equipment as well as automobiles. 

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method. If an event or circumstance indicates that the 
assets may be impaired, they are tested for impairment (see impairment test in Note (15)). Property, plant and equipment under finance 
lease and leasehold improvements are amortised using the straight-line method over the lease term or the estimated useful life of the asset, 
whichever is shorter. The useful lives are:  

  Years 

Transmission equipment 3-20 

Cables and wires 2-20 

Communications equipment 2-20 

Buildings and leasehold improvements 3-50 

Furniture, fixtures and other 2-25 

Other assets 2-17   
 

  

A1 TELEKOM AUSTRIA GROUP — ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2017

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

55



 

 

 

Consolidated Financial Statements 2017  

 

  26   

     

in TEUR 
Licenses and 
rights of use 

Brand names 
and patents 

 
Software 

Customer 
base 

Advances/ 
construction in 

progress 
 

Total 

              

Accumulated amortisation and impairment             

At 1 January 2016 – 956,047 – 130,791 – 928,254 – 1,005,619 0 – 3,020,712 

Additions – 127,968 – 11,591 – 137,656 – 41,324 0 – 318,538 

Impairment 0 – 496 – 1,685 – 138 0 – 2,319 

Disposals 342,851 0 40,777 0 0 383,628 

Transfers – 1,110 1,037 – 184 0 0 – 257 

Translation adjustment 1,004 693 – 455 – 243 0 1,000 

Changes in reporting entities – 130 – 1 – 388 – 258 0 – 776 

At 31 December 2016 – 741,399 – 141,148 – 1,027,844 – 1,047,581 0 – 2,957,973 

Additions – 127,404 – 127,442 – 142,452 – 23,784 0 – 421,082 

Impairment 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Disposals 1,780 51,468 50,481 41,298 0 145,027 

Transfers 21,960 756 – 310 0 0 22,405 

Translation adjustment 798 – 153 5,358 34,148 0 40,151 

Changes in reporting entities – 3,052 0 – 5,094 0 0 – 8,145 

At 31 December 2017 – 847,317 – 216,521 – 1,119,860 – 995,918 0 – 3,179,616 

              

Carrying amount at             

31 December 2017 1,310,990 390,671 219,135 85,114 69,968 2,075,878 

31 December 2016 1,406,694 517,001 252,291 83,775 61,633 2,321,394        
Licenses and rights of use include licenses not yet put into operation.  

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are recognised at acquisition cost and amortised over their respective useful lives. If an event or 
circumstance indicates that the intangible assets may be impaired, they are tested for impairment (see impairment test). Intangible assets 
are amortised using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives:  

  Years 

Mobile communications and fixed net licenses* 5-30 

Rights of use 2-50 

Patents 2-30 

Software 2-14 

Subscriber base 2-12   
* See also terms in the following table. 

Rights of use amortised over more than 20 years relate to indefeasible rights of use of cable fibre or wavelength over a fixed period of time. 
The indefeasible rights are amortised over the term of the contract. 

Licenses are recorded at cost and amortised on a straight-line basis. The following table sets forth the terms and total cost incurred for each 
of the major license agreements:  

  GSM licenses UMTS licenses LTE licenses 

License cost 1,028,154 316,860 640,395 

End of the term 2023-2031 2019-2031 2024-2033     
 
A1 Telekom Austria Group holds mobile telecommunication licenses provided by regulatory authorities in Austria, Croatia, Slovenia, Serbia, 
Bulgaria, Belarus and Macedonia.  

On 4 May 2016, Mtel, located in Bulgaria, acquired 2 x 5 MHz in the 1,800-MHz spectrum for TEUR 6,212. 
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The following table presents expected amortisation expense in TEUR related to intangible assets with a finite useful life for each of the 
following periods:  

in TEUR   

 2018 451,325 

 2019 230,469 

 2020 179,497 

 2021 150,923 

 2022 127,426 

Thereafter 775,980   
 

The following table presents the changes in the carrying values of brand names by segment:  

in TEUR 
 

Austria 
 

Bulgaria 
 

Croatia 
 

Belarus Slovenia Macedonia 
Corporate & 

Other 
 

Total 

At 1 January 2016 158,847 243,704 25,855 73,665 4,856 6,530 0 513,457 

Impairment – 496 0 0 0 0 0 0 – 496 

Amortisation 0 0 – 824 – 237 – 3,465 – 1,264 0 – 5,790 

Translation adjustment 0 0 271 – 487 0 10 0 – 206 

Changes in reporting 

entities 0 0 0 3,242 0 0 0 3,242 

At 31 December 2016 158,351 243,704 25,301 76,184 1,391 5,276 0 510,207 

Impairment 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Amortisation 0 – 99,697 – 7,473 – 12,983 – 1,391 – 1,664 0 – 123,207 

Translation adjustment 0 0 198 – 9,089 0 – 4 – 35 – 8,929 

Changes in reporting 

entities 0 0 1,404 561 0 0 1,942 3,907 

At 31 December 2017 158,351 144,007 19,431 54,673 0 3,609 1,907 381,978          
Regarding the changes in business combinations, see Note (33). 

 

Brand names are classified as intangible assets with an indefinite useful life based on an analysis of product life cycles, contractual and legal 
control of the asset and other pertinent factors. In the course of business combinations, brand names are recognised at fair value based on 
the “relief of royalty method”.  

If Management intends to discontinue the use of a brand name in the foreseeable future, its carrying amount is amortised over the remaining 
estimated useful life. In September 2017, Management decided to harmonise the brands in A1 Telekom Austria Group. Depending on the 
respective markets, the Austrian brand “A1” will be rolled out to all segments until the third quarter 2019 at the latest, and the local brands 
are amortised accordingly in the relevant segments (see amortisation in the table changes in the carrying values of brand names by 
segment). 
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in TEUR 
Licenses and 
rights of use 

Brand names 
and patents 

 
Software 

Customer 
base 

Advances/ 
construction in 

progress 
 

Total 

              

Accumulated amortisation and impairment             

At 1 January 2016 – 956,047 – 130,791 – 928,254 – 1,005,619 0 – 3,020,712 

Additions – 127,968 – 11,591 – 137,656 – 41,324 0 – 318,538 

Impairment 0 – 496 – 1,685 – 138 0 – 2,319 

Disposals 342,851 0 40,777 0 0 383,628 

Transfers – 1,110 1,037 – 184 0 0 – 257 

Translation adjustment 1,004 693 – 455 – 243 0 1,000 

Changes in reporting entities – 130 – 1 – 388 – 258 0 – 776 

At 31 December 2016 – 741,399 – 141,148 – 1,027,844 – 1,047,581 0 – 2,957,973 

Additions – 127,404 – 127,442 – 142,452 – 23,784 0 – 421,082 

Impairment 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Disposals 1,780 51,468 50,481 41,298 0 145,027 

Transfers 21,960 756 – 310 0 0 22,405 

Translation adjustment 798 – 153 5,358 34,148 0 40,151 

Changes in reporting entities – 3,052 0 – 5,094 0 0 – 8,145 

At 31 December 2017 – 847,317 – 216,521 – 1,119,860 – 995,918 0 – 3,179,616 

              

Carrying amount at             

31 December 2017 1,310,990 390,671 219,135 85,114 69,968 2,075,878 

31 December 2016 1,406,694 517,001 252,291 83,775 61,633 2,321,394        
Licenses and rights of use include licenses not yet put into operation.  

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are recognised at acquisition cost and amortised over their respective useful lives. If an event or 
circumstance indicates that the intangible assets may be impaired, they are tested for impairment (see impairment test). Intangible assets 
are amortised using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives:  

  Years 

Mobile communications and fixed net licenses* 5-30 

Rights of use 2-50 

Patents 2-30 

Software 2-14 

Subscriber base 2-12   
* See also terms in the following table. 

Rights of use amortised over more than 20 years relate to indefeasible rights of use of cable fibre or wavelength over a fixed period of time. 
The indefeasible rights are amortised over the term of the contract. 

Licenses are recorded at cost and amortised on a straight-line basis. The following table sets forth the terms and total cost incurred for each 
of the major license agreements:  

  GSM licenses UMTS licenses LTE licenses 

License cost 1,028,154 316,860 640,395 

End of the term 2023-2031 2019-2031 2024-2033     
 
A1 Telekom Austria Group holds mobile telecommunication licenses provided by regulatory authorities in Austria, Croatia, Slovenia, Serbia, 
Bulgaria, Belarus and Macedonia.  

On 4 May 2016, Mtel, located in Bulgaria, acquired 2 x 5 MHz in the 1,800-MHz spectrum for TEUR 6,212. 
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The following table provides a detail of the brand names recognised: 

in TEUR, at 31 December  2017 2016 

A1 Telekom Austria 144,910 144,910 

Cable Runner 491 491 

YESSS! 12,950 12,950 

Total Austria 158,351 158,351 

      

Mobiltel 144,007 243,704 

Total Bulgaria 144,007 243,704 

      

Vipnet 18,576 25,301 

Metronet 855 0 

Total Croatia 19,431 25,301 

      

velcom 54,673 73,125 

Atlant Telecom 0 3,059 

Total Belarus 54,673 76,184 

      

Si.mobil 0 1,049 

AMIS Slovenia 0 341 

Total Slovenia 0 1,391 

      

one 3,609 5,276 

Total Macedonia 3,609 5,276 

      

Exoscale 1,907 0 

Total Corporate & Other 1,907 0 

      

Total Brand Names 381,978 510,207 

      

Thereof with indefinite useful live 160,258 500,481 

Thereof with definite useful live 221,720 9,726    
 

Certain direct and indirect development costs associated with internally developed software, are capitalised once the project has reached 
the application development stage. The development costs are generally amortised using the straight-line method over a period not 
exceeding four years, beginning when the asset is substantially ready for use. Development costs requiring capitalisation include direct 
costs of materials and services as well as payroll costs. Costs incurred during the preliminary project stage, maintenance and training costs 
as well as research and development costs (with the exception of the abovementioned capitalisable development costs) are expensed as 
incurred.  

The following table provides details about self-developed software reported in line item software. 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2017 2016 

Total cost 120,965 123,957 

Accumulated amortisation – 97,531 – 100,774 

Carrying amount 23,435 23,183 

Additions 1,922 1,546    
 

In 2017 and 2016, transfers include reclassifications of advances/construction in progress to tangible and intangible assets.  
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As of 31 December 2017 and 2016, purchase commitments for intangible assets amounted to TEUR 25,852 and TEUR 31,422, 
respectively. 

Impairment test 
In the event that facts and circumstances indicate that A1 Telekom Austria Group’s property, plant and equipment or intangible assets with 
finite useful lives may be impaired, an evaluation of recoverability is performed, regardless of whether they are to be held and used or to be 
disposed of. In accordance with IAS 36, an impairment loss is recognised when an asset’s carrying amount exceeds the higher of its fair 
value less costs to sell or its value in use. Fair value is the amount obtainable from the sale of the asset in an arm’s length transaction. Value 
in use is based on the discounted cash flows expected to arise from the continued use of the asset and from its disposal at the end of its 
useful life. Impairment charges are recorded separately in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income. If there is any indication 
that the impairment recognised in prior periods no longer exists, A1 Telekom Austria Group considers the need to reverse all or a portion of 
the impairment charge. 

Brand names classified as intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment in the fourth quarter of each year in 
accordance with IAS 36, as described in Note (16). If an event or circumstance indicates that an asset may be impaired, impairment tests 
are carried out. Due to the fact that brand names do not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets, the 
value in use can be determined only for the asset’s cash-generating unit. The second step according to IAS 36.107 is to determine whether 
an impairment loss should be recognised based on the total cash-generating unit. 

In 2016, the impairment test of the cash-generating unit paybox Bank led to an impairment in the segment Austria amounting to TEUR 2,319 
as the carrying amount exceeded the discounted estimated future net cash flows approved by Management in the business plans. Brand 
name, customer base and software were written off completely (see table of intangible assets). In 2016, the value in use of paybox Bank 
amounts to TEUR 6,797. The pre-tax interest rate on which the calculation of the value in use is based amounts 7.0% in 2016. 

(16) Goodwill 

Goodwill is recognised in the course of business combinations and is measured as the difference between the aggregate of the fair value of 
the consideration transferred as of the acquisition date and the amount of any non-controlling interest less the fair value of the identifiable 
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. 

The following table illustrates the changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to the cash-generating units that are expected to 
benefit from the synergies of the business combination:  

in TEUR 
 

Austria 
 

Bulgaria 
 

Croatia 
 

Belarus Slovenia Macedonia A1 Digital 
 

Total 

At 1 January 2016 708,211 242,691 100,745 0 147,632 30,433 0 1,229,712 

Translation adjustment 0 0 1,048 250 0 56 0 1,354 

Acquisitions 0 0 410 10,768 0 – 421 0 10,757 

At 31 December 2016 708,211 242,691 102,203 11,018 147,632 30,068 0 1,241,823 

Translation adjustment 0 0 515 – 1,533 0 – 8 – 138 – 1,164 

Acquisitions 0 0 23,322 4,662 0 0 7,698 35,682 

At 31 December 2017 708,211 242,691 126,041 14,146 147,632 30,060 7,560 1,276,342          
For details of acquisitions, see Note (33). 
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The following table provides a detail of the brand names recognised: 

in TEUR, at 31 December  2017 2016 

A1 Telekom Austria 144,910 144,910 

Cable Runner 491 491 

YESSS! 12,950 12,950 

Total Austria 158,351 158,351 

      

Mobiltel 144,007 243,704 

Total Bulgaria 144,007 243,704 

      

Vipnet 18,576 25,301 

Metronet 855 0 

Total Croatia 19,431 25,301 

      

velcom 54,673 73,125 

Atlant Telecom 0 3,059 

Total Belarus 54,673 76,184 

      

Si.mobil 0 1,049 

AMIS Slovenia 0 341 

Total Slovenia 0 1,391 

      

one 3,609 5,276 

Total Macedonia 3,609 5,276 

      

Exoscale 1,907 0 

Total Corporate & Other 1,907 0 

      

Total Brand Names 381,978 510,207 

      

Thereof with indefinite useful live 160,258 500,481 

Thereof with definite useful live 221,720 9,726    
 

Certain direct and indirect development costs associated with internally developed software, are capitalised once the project has reached 
the application development stage. The development costs are generally amortised using the straight-line method over a period not 
exceeding four years, beginning when the asset is substantially ready for use. Development costs requiring capitalisation include direct 
costs of materials and services as well as payroll costs. Costs incurred during the preliminary project stage, maintenance and training costs 
as well as research and development costs (with the exception of the abovementioned capitalisable development costs) are expensed as 
incurred.  

The following table provides details about self-developed software reported in line item software. 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2017 2016 

Total cost 120,965 123,957 

Accumulated amortisation – 97,531 – 100,774 

Carrying amount 23,435 23,183 

Additions 1,922 1,546    
 

In 2017 and 2016, transfers include reclassifications of advances/construction in progress to tangible and intangible assets.  
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The acquisition cost of goodwill was as follows: 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2017 2016 

Segment Austria 712,231 712,231 

Segment Bulgaria 642,691 642,691 

Segment Croatia 131,078 107,210 

Segment Belarus 459,386 523,817 

Segment Slovenia 175,556 175,556 

Segment Macedonia 35,171 35,180 

A1 Digital 7,560 0 

Total cost 2,163,673 2,196,684    
 

Accumulated impairment charges of goodwill amount to: 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2017 2016 

Segment Austria 4,020 4,020 

Segment Bulgaria 400,000 400,000 

Segment Croatia 5,037 5,007 

Segment Belarus 445,240 512,799 

Segment Slovenia 27,924 27,924 

Segment Macedonia 5,111 5,112 

Accumulated impairment 887,332 954,861    
 

Impairment test  
Goodwill, other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and other intangible assets, which are not yet available for use, are not 
amortised, but are tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 at least once a year, in the fourth quarter, irrespective of whether there 
is any indication of impairment, by comparing their carrying amounts with their recoverable amounts. If an event or circumstance indicates 
that an asset may be impaired, impairment tests are also carried out.  

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are summarised in cash-generating units, which are the smallest identifiable group of assets 
that generate cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. Goodwill acquired in a 
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units that 
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned 
to those units or groups of units. Each unit or group of units to which goodwill is allocated shall: (a) represent the lowest level within the 
entity at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes; and (b) not be larger than an operating segment. Cash-generating 
units to which goodwill has been allocated shall be tested for impairment annually by comparing the carrying amount of the unit, including 
its goodwill, with the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit. The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the 
higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.  

A1 Telekom Austria Group performs these impairment tests by calculating the value in use based on capital-market-oriented valuation 
methodology. The weighted average cost of capital (WACC) applied corresponds to the weighted average interest on equity and debt. Value 
in use is determined by estimating the future net cash flows of the cash-generating unit based on the business plans, which were prepared 
for a detailed planning period of five years. Significant assumptions to determine the value in use comprise the development of revenues, 
cost drivers, working capital changes, capital expenditure, growth rate and discount rate.  

Assumptions used in business plans are based on actuals, industry forecasts and external economic parameters such as the development of 
gross domestic product (GDP), inflation rates, currency rates, population and other. 
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Costs and capital expenditure are based on past experience and internal expectations. 

The growth rates applied to the perpetual annuity consider the general growth rates and the company-specific revenue growth rates of prior 
periods and those used in detailed planning, respectively.  

The discount rate applied for discounting future cash flows is determined for each cash-generating unit separately based on market data 
and taking into account specific risks associated with the cash-generating unit. The cost of equity is derived from the expected return on 
investment by the investors. The cost of debt as well as beta factors and capital structure are derived from the peer group based on publicly 
available market data. 

The following parameters were used to calculate the value in use:  

  Growth rates perpetual annuity Pre-tax interest rates* 
  2017 2016 2017 2016 

Segment Austria 1.1% 0.6% 6.8% 7.0% 

Segment Bulgaria 1.6% 0.8% 7.4% 7.8% 

Segment Croatia 2.9% 2.2% 9.2% 9.6% 

Segment Belarus 9.7% 10.8% 20.0% 24.3% 

Segment Slovenia 1.2% 0.6% 8.2% 8.4% 

Segment Macedonia 0.3% – 0.3% 9.5% 10.1% 

A1 Digital 1.1% n.a. 6.5% n.a.      
* Based on a risk-free interest rate, adjusted for market, country and industry-specific risks. A standard discount rate is used for all planning periods. 

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, the value in use in the segment Austria amounts to TEUR 6,743,288 and TEUR 4,300,514, respectively, in 
the segment Bulgaria to TEUR 1,182,835 and TEUR 858,913, respectively, in the segment Croatia to TEUR 389,824 and TEUR 273,314, 
respectively, in the segment Belarus to TEUR 1,110,626 and TEUR 662,083, respectively, in the segment Slovenia to TEUR 411,851 and 
TEUR 418,159, respectively, in the segment Macedonia to TEUR 202,172 and TEUR 192,491, respectively, and in the cash generating unit 
A1 Digital the value in use amounts to TEUR 467,318. 

The value in use is compared with the carrying amount of the cash-generating units (including goodwill). Impairment charges are 
recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the cash-generating units exceeds the value in use. The impairment loss shall first be 
allocated to the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit, and then to the other assets of the cash-generating 
unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the cash-generating unit, provided that the recoverable amount is less than 
the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit. These reductions in the carrying amounts represent impairment losses on individual 
assets. 

If the value in use of the cash-generating unit exceeds its carrying amount, the cash-generating unit and the goodwill allocated to that cash-
generating unit shall be regarded as not impaired. Rather, A1 Telekom Austria Group examines if impairment losses recognised in the past 
(with the exception of goodwill) have to be reversed.  

Sensitivity analysis 
The use of the following pre-tax interest rates would lead to the carrying amount equalling the value in use at 31 December 2017 and 2016: 

Pre-tax interest rates* 2017 2016 

Segment Austria 13.3% 10.9% 

Segment Bulgaria 11.0% 8.4% 

Segment Croatia 11.1% 10.7% 

Segment Belarus 45.6% 43.7% 

Segment Slovenia 9.2% 9.7% 

Segment Macedonia 13.8% 13.6% 

A1 Digital 26.5% n.a.    
* Based on a risk-free interest rate, adjusted for market, country and industry-specific risks. 
In the segment Austria, the sensitivity analysis was only carried out for A1 Telekom Austria AG. 
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With respect to the substantial markets, the following table sets forth the changes in revenues, cost drivers and capital expenditure which 
would lead to the carrying amounts equalling the value in use at 31 December 2017 and 2016: 

2017 Revenues Cost Capital expenditures 

Segment Austria – 10.3% 17.3% 48.1% 

Segment Bulgaria – 8.3% 13.9% 43.7% 

Segment Croatia – 3.2% 5.0% 15.6% 

Segment Belarus – 25.7% 60.0% 141.1% 

Segment Slovenia – 2.6% 3.9% 18.8% 

Segment Macedonia – 7.9% 13.9% 39.6% 

A1 Digital – 18.2% 25.7% 153.6% 

2016 Revenues Cost Capital expenditures 

Segment Austria – 5.5% 9.4% 25.3% 

Segment Bulgaria – 1.6% 2.7% 8.0% 

Segment Croatia – 1.7% 2.6% 8.1% 

Segment Belarus – 14.0% 33.9% 89.3% 

Segment Slovenia – 2.8% 4.2% 18.7% 

Segment Macedonia – 5.7% 9.5% 30.1%     
In the segment Austria, the sensitivity analysis was only carried out for A1 Telekom Austria AG. 

(17) Investments in Associates  

Investments in associates accounted for using the equity method as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 as well as their allocation to the 
segments are set forth in Note (33).  

The following is a roll-forward of the investments in associates: 

in TEUR 2017 2016 

At 1 January  40,820 40,428 

Dividends received 0 – 1,264 

Recognised income – 529 1,427 

Changes in reporting entities – 4,200 0 

Translation adjustment – 2,120 230 

At 31 December 33,971 40,820    
In 2016, the investment in media.at is included in the investments in associates with the proportionate total consolidated equity of the media.at-Group.  
Dividends received are reported in the net cash flow from investing activities. 

On 18 July 2017, A1 Telekom Austria Group sold its 25.3% stake in media.at for a consideration paid in cash of TEUR 4,052 and recognised a 
loss of TEUR 148 in line item equity interest in net income of associated companies.  

The following table provides the net income of the associated companies representing the total amounts and not A1 Telekom Austria 
Group’s proportionate share:  

in TEUR 2017 2016 

Net income 690 7,135    
In 2016, the financial information of media.at-Group is based on its reporting period 1 July to 30 June.  
Net income equals total comprehensive income. 
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The following table provides the difference between the investment in associates and their proportional equity as well as their allocation to 
the segments. 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2017 2016 

Proportional equity 14,661 16,974 

Goodwill 10,882 14,043 

Purchase price allocation 8,428 9,804 

Investments in associates 33,971 40,820 

Segment Austria 0 4,329 

Corporate & Other 33,971 36,491    
 

(18) Investments 

in TEUR, at 31 December  2017 2016 

Marketable securities short-term - available-for-sale 0 6,733 

Short-term investments 0 6,733    
 

in TEUR, at 31 December  2017 2016 

Other investments carried at cost 1,546 1,468 

Other long-term investments 580 923 

Marketable securities - available-for-sale, long-term 10,765 5,992 

Long-term investments 12,891 8,383    
 

Marketable securities available-for-sale serve partially as coverage for the provision for pensions in Austria and as a cash reserve for paybox 
Bank AG according to the requirements of the Capital Requirements Regulation, the ‘Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process’ and 
contractual obligations to the licensor VISA. In accordance with IAS 39, A1 Telekom Austria Group carries these securities at fair value. 
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from the change in their fair value are recorded in other comprehensive income (OCI), net of income 
tax. 

Other investments carried at cost include investments in unquoted equity instruments (investments) which are not carried at fair value 
because their fair value cannot be reliably determined. These relate mainly to CEESEG AG. As the stake in CEESEG AG can only be disposed 
of at the initial indexed purchase price and due to the absence of an active market, this equity instrument is carried at acquisition cost.  

As of 31 December 2017 and 2016, respectively, other long-term investments comprise fixed deposits.  

(19) Other Non-current Assets  

in TEUR, at 31 December  2017 2016 

Finance lease receivables 0 2,419 

Instalment sales 49,606 43,612 

Other financial assets 1,555 1,588 

Financial assets 51,161 47,619 

Other non-financial assets 8,557 8,528 

Other non-current assets, gross 59,718 56,147 

Less allowance for financial assets – 1,771 – 1,424 

Other non-current assets 57,947 54,723    
 
For information on instalment sales receivables, see Note (13). Until November 2017, instalment sales contracts in Belarus were only 
concluded with terms of less than twelve months. As of 31 December 2016, the finance lease receivables contained a contract relating to 
indefeasible rights of use of dark fibre that was prematurely terminated in 2017. 
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With respect to the substantial markets, the following table sets forth the changes in revenues, cost drivers and capital expenditure which 
would lead to the carrying amounts equalling the value in use at 31 December 2017 and 2016: 

2017 Revenues Cost Capital expenditures 

Segment Austria – 10.3% 17.3% 48.1% 

Segment Bulgaria – 8.3% 13.9% 43.7% 

Segment Croatia – 3.2% 5.0% 15.6% 

Segment Belarus – 25.7% 60.0% 141.1% 

Segment Slovenia – 2.6% 3.9% 18.8% 

Segment Macedonia – 7.9% 13.9% 39.6% 

A1 Digital – 18.2% 25.7% 153.6% 

2016 Revenues Cost Capital expenditures 

Segment Austria – 5.5% 9.4% 25.3% 

Segment Bulgaria – 1.6% 2.7% 8.0% 

Segment Croatia – 1.7% 2.6% 8.1% 

Segment Belarus – 14.0% 33.9% 89.3% 

Segment Slovenia – 2.8% 4.2% 18.7% 

Segment Macedonia – 5.7% 9.5% 30.1%     
In the segment Austria, the sensitivity analysis was only carried out for A1 Telekom Austria AG. 

(17) Investments in Associates  

Investments in associates accounted for using the equity method as of 31 December 2017 and 2016 as well as their allocation to the 
segments are set forth in Note (33).  

The following is a roll-forward of the investments in associates: 

in TEUR 2017 2016 

At 1 January  40,820 40,428 

Dividends received 0 – 1,264 

Recognised income – 529 1,427 

Changes in reporting entities – 4,200 0 

Translation adjustment – 2,120 230 

At 31 December 33,971 40,820    
In 2016, the investment in media.at is included in the investments in associates with the proportionate total consolidated equity of the media.at-Group.  
Dividends received are reported in the net cash flow from investing activities. 

On 18 July 2017, A1 Telekom Austria Group sold its 25.3% stake in media.at for a consideration paid in cash of TEUR 4,052 and recognised a 
loss of TEUR 148 in line item equity interest in net income of associated companies.  

The following table provides the net income of the associated companies representing the total amounts and not A1 Telekom Austria 
Group’s proportionate share:  

in TEUR 2017 2016 

Net income 690 7,135    
In 2016, the financial information of media.at-Group is based on its reporting period 1 July to 30 June.  
Net income equals total comprehensive income. 
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Other non-financial assets mainly include prepayments for maintenance agreements, license fees and rent. 

The roll-forward of the allowance for doubtful non-current instalment sales receivables and other non-current financial assets as well as 
their ageing is presented in “Credit risk” in Note (32). 

(20) Short-term Debt and Current Portion of Long-term Debt  

in TEUR, at 31 December  2017 2016 

Current portion of long-term debt 0 499,953 

Short-term debt 17 35 

Current portion of lease obligations 549 77 

Short-term debt 566 500,065    
 
For further information regarding the current portion of long-term debt and lease obligations, see Notes (24) and (29). Further funding 
sources are listed in Note (32).  

(21) Accounts Payable  

Accounts payable consist of the following items: 

in TEUR, at 31 December  2017 2016 

Fiscal authorities 63,097 56,797 

Social security 10,483 10,474 

Employees 35,546 16,311 

Long-term incentive program 2,823 1,327 

Employees - transferred to government 1,249 4,084 

Prepayments from customers 11,903 13,252 

Government 142 130 

Other non-financial liabilities 4,153 4,225 

Current non-financial liabilities 129,395 106,600 

Suppliers 592,032 553,747 

Deferred consideration from business combinations 19 111,667 

Accrued interest 29,990 49,624 

Cash deposits received 9,921 8,710 

Other current financial liabilities 22,886 22,271 

Current financial liabilities 654,848 746,019 

Accounts payable 784,243 852,619    
 
Liabilities due to tax authorities mainly include value-added taxes and payroll taxes. 

Liabilities regarding social security relate to statutory contributions to the social security system. 

Liabilities due to employees mainly relate to salaries payable (including overtime and travel allowances) and one-time termination benefits 
and jubilee payments. Additionally, as of 2017 liabilities due to employees comprise unused vacation days which were reported in provision 
for employees until 2016 (see Note (22)).  

For information on the long-term incentive programme, see Note (30). 

The liabilities regarding employees – transferred to government include compensation for reductions in salaries, lump sum payments for any 
shortfall in pension payments as well as one-off payments to civil servants of A1 Telekom Austria Group (see Note (22)). 

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, accounts payable amounting to TEUR 20,788 and TEUR 8,277, respectively, have a maturity of more than 
twelve months.  
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For purchase price liabilities from business combinations, see Note (33). Accrued interest includes interest on bonds (see Note (24)). In 
2017 and 2016, other current financial liabilities include mainly customer deposits. 

(22) Accrued Liabilities and Current Provisions, Asset Retirement Obligation and Restructuring 

in TEUR 

 
 

Restructuring 

 
 

Employees 

 
Customer 

allowances 

Asset 
retirement 
obligation 

 
 

Legal 

 
 

Other 

 
 

Total 

At 31 December 2016 613,541 122,971 20,190 226,633 13,197 34,322 1,030,854 

Additions 9,146 37,943 16,992 8,240 2,390 10,959 85,669 

Changes in estimate 4,807 0 0 17,702 0 0 22,510 

Used – 97,390 – 59,052 – 16,355 – 2,557 – 645 – 18,218 – 194,217 

Released – 33,535 – 4,773 – 2,344 – 6,181 – 1,726 – 3,601 – 52,159 

Accretion expense 4,824 0 0 4,720 0 0 9,545 

Reclassifications* – 436 8,130 0 0 0 – 1,429 6,264 

Translation adjustment 0 – 126 0 – 864 8 – 320 – 1,303 

Changes in reporting entities 0 116 0 0 77 5,351 5,544 

At 31 December 2017 500,957 105,208 18,483 247,692 13,301 27,065 912,706 

                

Thereof long-term               

31 December 2017 399,159 0 0 247,692 0 0 646,852 

31 December 2016 505,200 0 0 226,633 0 0 731,833         
* Reclassification to current liabilities and short-term portion of employee benefit obligations.  

In establishing provisions, Management assesses if there is a present obligation to a third party, the payment is probable and the amount 
can be estimated reliably. A1 Telekom Austria Group records provisions based on the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the 
present obligation. 

A1 Telekom Austria Group expects that approximately 60% of the provisions and accrued liabilities, with the exception of the asset 
retirement obligation and the provision for restructuring, will be utilised during the following financial year. Even if A1 Telekom Austria Group 
does not expect an outflow of funds in the following financial year, provisions and accrued liabilities are reported as short-term as the timing 
of such outflows cannot be controlled by A1 Telekom Austria Group.  

Restructuring  
In 2008, a comprehensive restructuring programme was initiated in the segment Austria. The provision for restructuring includes future 
compensation of employees who will no longer provide services for A1 Telekom Austria Group but who cannot be laid off due to their status 
as civil servants. These employment contracts are onerous contracts under IAS 37, as the unavoidable cost related to the contractual 
obligation exceeds the future economic benefit. The restructuring programme also includes social plans for employees whose employments 
will be terminated in a socially responsible way. In 2009 and every year from 2011 to 2017, new social plans were initiated which provide for 
early retirement, special severance packages and golden handshake options. Due to their nature as termination benefits, these social plans 
are accounted for according to IAS 19. At 31 December 2017 and 2016, the corresponding liability amounts to TEUR 482,858 and 
TEUR 589,468 and includes 1,879 and 2,021 employees, respectively.  

Provisions for restructuring are recorded at their net present value. In 2017 and 2016, the rates of compensation increase used to measure 
the provisions are the same as those used for employee benefit obligations (see Note (26)). The following table provides the discount rates 
used, which are determined based on the Mercer Yield Curve Approach taking into account the respective maturities, as well as the 
fluctuation rate, which is only applied to provisions for onerous contracts according to IAS 37. 
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Other non-financial assets mainly include prepayments for maintenance agreements, license fees and rent. 

The roll-forward of the allowance for doubtful non-current instalment sales receivables and other non-current financial assets as well as 
their ageing is presented in “Credit risk” in Note (32). 

(20) Short-term Debt and Current Portion of Long-term Debt  

in TEUR, at 31 December  2017 2016 

Current portion of long-term debt 0 499,953 

Short-term debt 17 35 

Current portion of lease obligations 549 77 

Short-term debt 566 500,065    
 
For further information regarding the current portion of long-term debt and lease obligations, see Notes (24) and (29). Further funding 
sources are listed in Note (32).  

(21) Accounts Payable  

Accounts payable consist of the following items: 

in TEUR, at 31 December  2017 2016 

Fiscal authorities 63,097 56,797 

Social security 10,483 10,474 

Employees 35,546 16,311 

Long-term incentive program 2,823 1,327 

Employees - transferred to government 1,249 4,084 

Prepayments from customers 11,903 13,252 

Government 142 130 

Other non-financial liabilities 4,153 4,225 

Current non-financial liabilities 129,395 106,600 

Suppliers 592,032 553,747 

Deferred consideration from business combinations 19 111,667 

Accrued interest 29,990 49,624 

Cash deposits received 9,921 8,710 

Other current financial liabilities 22,886 22,271 

Current financial liabilities 654,848 746,019 

Accounts payable 784,243 852,619    
 
Liabilities due to tax authorities mainly include value-added taxes and payroll taxes. 

Liabilities regarding social security relate to statutory contributions to the social security system. 

Liabilities due to employees mainly relate to salaries payable (including overtime and travel allowances) and one-time termination benefits 
and jubilee payments. Additionally, as of 2017 liabilities due to employees comprise unused vacation days which were reported in provision 
for employees until 2016 (see Note (22)).  

For information on the long-term incentive programme, see Note (30). 

The liabilities regarding employees – transferred to government include compensation for reductions in salaries, lump sum payments for any 
shortfall in pension payments as well as one-off payments to civil servants of A1 Telekom Austria Group (see Note (22)). 

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, accounts payable amounting to TEUR 20,788 and TEUR 8,277, respectively, have a maturity of more than 
twelve months.  
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  2017 2016 

Employees permanently leaving the service process 1.25% 1.25% 

Social plans 0.75% 0.75% 

Civil servants transferred to the government 1.25% 1.25% 

Employee turnover rate 27.4% 34.3%    
 

Changes in the provision are recognised in employee expense and reported in the line item selling, general and administrative expenses, 
while the accretion expense is reported in the financial result in the line item interest expense on restructuring provision (see Note (7)). A 
part of the provision was released since a number of employees returned to regular operations, were transferred to the government or opted 
for schemes such as golden handshakes, special severance packages and early retirement to an extent not foreseeable at the time of the 
measurement of the provision in the previous year. The change in estimates is due to adjustments of the rate of compensation for civil 
servants released from work (see Note (26)) as well as an adjustment of the employee turnover rate. The employee turnover rate takes into 
consideration employees leaving in the future as well as temporary re-employment within A1 Telekom Austria Group and is only applicable 
to the provision for employees permanently leaving the service process and not to provisions for social plans. 

Based on the general agreement for the transfer of personnel, which was concluded with the Austrian government in 2013, employees 
transferring voluntarily to the government can apply for a permanent transfer after a probation period of six months. During this probation 
period, A1 Telekom Austria Group bears the salary expense. In case of a permanent transfer, A1 Telekom Austria Group has to compensate 
the government for any excess expense arising due to differing professional classifications of work places. Furthermore, compensation 
payments have to be effected to civil servants up to the age of 62 (optionally also one-off payments). 

As of 31 December 2017 and 2016, the provision for the transfer of civil servants to the government amounts to TEUR 18,099 and 
TEUR 24,073 and comprises 176 and 193 employees, respectively. For information on the liability for employees transferred to the 
government, see Note (21).  

Weighted average duration 
The weighted average duration of the restructuring obligations is as follows:  

in TEUR, at 31 December 2017 2016 

Employees permanently leaving the service process 7.6 8.3 

Social plans 3.4 3.6 

Civil servants transferred to the government 6.7 7.1    
 
Sensitivity analysis 
A change of one percentage point in the discount rate or in the rate of compensation would lead to the following changes in provisions 
(negative values indicate a reduction in provisions): 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2017 1 percentage point increase 1 percentage point decrease 

Change in discount rate – 20,334 19,268 

Change in rate of compensation 17,998 – 16,987 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2016     

Change in discount rate – 27,965 26,584 

Change in rate of compensation 25,258 – 23,719    
 
A change in the fluctuation rate applied to the provision for onerous contracts would lead to the following changes in provisions (negative 
values indicate a reduction in provisions): 

 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2017 2016 

5 percentage points increase – 7,595 – 9,536 

5 percentage points decrease 7,593 9,426    
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Employees 
The provisions for employees mainly contain bonuses and the short-term portion of employee benefit obligations for severance, service 
awards and pensions (see also Note (26)). At 31 December 2016, unused vacation days amounting to TEUR 20,560, which were used in 
2017, were reported in provisions for employees. In 2017, the addition to unused vacation days is included in liabilities due to employees 
(see Note (21)). 

In its judgement of 11 November 2014, the European Court of Justice (ECJ) decided that the Austrian law determining the reference date for 
salary increments for Austrian civil servants (this date determines the length of service and thus the date for being advanced into the next 
salary level) is not in conformity with European Union law. Thus, at 31 December 2017 and 2016, A1 Telekom Austria Group recognised a 
provision for back payments in its financial statements of TEUR 50,487 and TEUR 49,069, respectively.  

Customer rebates 
The provision contains rebates earned by customers but not paid as of the reporting date. 

Asset retirement obligation 
Liabilities for asset retirement obligations are measured at their net present value in accordance with IAS 37, the increase in the liability that 
reflects the passage of time is recognised in profit or loss (see Note (7)). The effects of changes in the measurement of existing 
decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities are accounted for in accordance with the provisions of IFRIC 1. Changes in the 
measurement of these liabilities resulting from changes in the estimated timing or amount of the outflow of resources or changes in the 
parameters shall be added to or deducted from the cost of the assets in the current period. The amount deducted from the asset shall not 
exceed its carrying amount. A possible exceeding amount is reported in profit or loss. If the adjustment results in an addition to the asset, it 
shall be considered whether there is an indication that the new carrying amount of the asset may not be fully recoverable. If there is such an 
indication, the asset shall be tested for impairment and any impairment losses shall be recorded. 

A1 Telekom Austria Group records asset retirement obligations for the retirement and decommissioning of wooden masts impregnated with 
tar or salt, base stations, land and buildings including rented premises. 

The asset retirement obligation for masts impregnated with tar or salt is based on estimated settlement dates and expected cash flows. 

A1 Telekom Austria Group operates base stations on land, rooftops and on other premises under various types of rental contracts. In 
estimating the fair value of the retirement obligation for its base stations, A1 Telekom Austria Group has made a range of assumptions such 
as retirement dates, timing and percentage of early cancellations, development of technology and the cost of removing network equipment 
and remediating the sites.  

Additionally, A1 Telekom Austria Group records asset retirement obligations for buildings concerning obligations for the disposal of 
hazardous substances and warfare material as well as the decontamination of land when decommissioning a building. A1 Telekom Austria 
Group records asset retirement obligations for buildings and rented premises under operating leases in accordance with the obligation to 
refurbish the sites at the expiration of the lease contracts. Furthermore, based on the Universal Service Ordinance 
(Universaldienstverordnung) an asset retirement obligation for the decommissioning of payphones was recorded in 2016. 
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  2017 2016 

Employees permanently leaving the service process 1.25% 1.25% 

Social plans 0.75% 0.75% 

Civil servants transferred to the government 1.25% 1.25% 

Employee turnover rate 27.4% 34.3%    
 

Changes in the provision are recognised in employee expense and reported in the line item selling, general and administrative expenses, 
while the accretion expense is reported in the financial result in the line item interest expense on restructuring provision (see Note (7)). A 
part of the provision was released since a number of employees returned to regular operations, were transferred to the government or opted 
for schemes such as golden handshakes, special severance packages and early retirement to an extent not foreseeable at the time of the 
measurement of the provision in the previous year. The change in estimates is due to adjustments of the rate of compensation for civil 
servants released from work (see Note (26)) as well as an adjustment of the employee turnover rate. The employee turnover rate takes into 
consideration employees leaving in the future as well as temporary re-employment within A1 Telekom Austria Group and is only applicable 
to the provision for employees permanently leaving the service process and not to provisions for social plans. 

Based on the general agreement for the transfer of personnel, which was concluded with the Austrian government in 2013, employees 
transferring voluntarily to the government can apply for a permanent transfer after a probation period of six months. During this probation 
period, A1 Telekom Austria Group bears the salary expense. In case of a permanent transfer, A1 Telekom Austria Group has to compensate 
the government for any excess expense arising due to differing professional classifications of work places. Furthermore, compensation 
payments have to be effected to civil servants up to the age of 62 (optionally also one-off payments). 

As of 31 December 2017 and 2016, the provision for the transfer of civil servants to the government amounts to TEUR 18,099 and 
TEUR 24,073 and comprises 176 and 193 employees, respectively. For information on the liability for employees transferred to the 
government, see Note (21).  

Weighted average duration 
The weighted average duration of the restructuring obligations is as follows:  

in TEUR, at 31 December 2017 2016 

Employees permanently leaving the service process 7.6 8.3 

Social plans 3.4 3.6 

Civil servants transferred to the government 6.7 7.1    
 
Sensitivity analysis 
A change of one percentage point in the discount rate or in the rate of compensation would lead to the following changes in provisions 
(negative values indicate a reduction in provisions): 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2017 1 percentage point increase 1 percentage point decrease 

Change in discount rate – 20,334 19,268 

Change in rate of compensation 17,998 – 16,987 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2016     

Change in discount rate – 27,965 26,584 

Change in rate of compensation 25,258 – 23,719    
 
A change in the fluctuation rate applied to the provision for onerous contracts would lead to the following changes in provisions (negative 
values indicate a reduction in provisions): 

 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2017 2016 

5 percentage points increase – 7,595 – 9,536 

5 percentage points decrease 7,593 9,426    
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The following table provides the parameters used for the measurement of the obligation: 

  2017 2016 

Discount rate 1.5%– 10.9% 1.5%– 13.3% 

Inflation rate 2.0%– 6.7% 1.0%– 9.9%    
 
The discount rate applied to the calculation of asset retirement obligations reflects current market expectations with regard to interest 
effects as well as specific risks of the obligation. In 2017, the discount rate in the non-eurozone is based on the risk-free interest rate of 
German federal bonds with a maturity of 30 years , adapted for country-specific risk by the Damodaran Rating based default spread. For 
those countries whose currencies are not tied to the Euro, the respective inflation differential according to the OECD is taken into account as 
well. In the eurozone, the discount rate is based on government bonds with matching maturities. In 2016, the discount rates were based on 
the risk-free interest rates of Austrian government bonds with a maturity of 30 years or the comparable applicable interest rate in the case of 
Belarus.  

The inflation rates are adapted quarterly to reflect the general development in the individual countries.  

Basically the change in these parameters as well as changes in the estimated outflow of resources resulted in an increase of the asset 
retirement obligation and an increase in the related item of property, plant and equipment (see change in estimates in the table of 
provisions). TEUR 4,626 were recognised in other operating income as the related tangible asset is already fully depreciated. 

Sensitivity analysis 
A change of one percentage point in the discount rate or in the inflation rate would lead to the following changes in provisions (negative 
values indicate a reduction in provisions): 

in TEUR at 31 December 2017 
1 percentage point 

increase 
1 percentage point 

decrease 

Change in discount rate – 23,603 29,810 

Change in inflation rate 29,643 – 23,994 

in TEUR at 31 December 2016     

Change in discount rate – 22,538 27,237 

Change in inflation rate 26,953 – 22,696    
 
Legal 
Provisions mainly relate to expenses incurred in respect of legal advice and litigation.  

Other provisions 
Other provisions mainly relate to taxes (excluding income taxes), guarantees, rents and penalties. 

(23) Current Deferred Income  

in TEUR, at 31 December  2017 2016 

Unearned income 122,142 131,799 

Customer loyalty programmes 34,428 31,419 

Deferred income, current portion 156,570 163,218    
 
Unearned income mainly relates to prepaid access fees, monthly base fees, leased lines to commercial customers, prepaid mobile fees and 
rental income from site sharing. These fees are recognised over the period the service is provided.  

According to IFRIC 13 ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes’, the award credits granted are recognised as deferred income until redeemed or 
forfeited.  
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(24) Long-term Debt 

The terms and conditions of long-term debt and its current portion are summarised in the following table:  

    At 31 December 2017 At 31 December 2016 

Currency Maturity Nominal interest rate Face value 
Carrying 
amount 

Nominal interest  
rate Face value 

Carrying 
amount 

Bonds               

TEUR 2017     0 0 fixed 4,250% 500,000 499,953 

TEUR 2021 fixed 3,125% 750,000 745,913 fixed 3,125% 750,000 744,872 

TEUR 2022 fixed 4,000% 750,000 745,077 fixed 4,000% 750,000 743,922 

TEUR 2023 fixed 3,500% 300,000 298,601 fixed 3,500% 300,000 298,347 

TEUR 2026 fixed 1,500% 750,000 743,670 fixed 1,500% 500,000 494,287 

Total Bonds   2,550,000 2,533,262     2,800,000 2,781,382 

Bank debt                

TEUR 2018     0 0 fixed 3.53% 22,000 22,000 

Leases (Note (29))   894 894     144 144 

Financial debt   2,550,894 2,534,156     2,822,144 2,803,526 

Current portion of long-term debt   – 549 – 549     – 500,030 – 500,030 

Long-term debt   2,550,346 2,533,607     2,322,114 2,303,496           
 
 
Bonds  
Bonds are recognised at the actual amount received. Discount and issue costs are amortised over the related term using the effective 
interest rate method. 

On 27 January 2017, A1 Telekom Austria Group redeemed a Eurobond with a face value of TEUR 500,000.  

In March 2012, A1 Telekom Austria Group initiated a Euro Medium Term Note (EMTN) programme with a maximum volume of 
TEUR 2,500,000. On 2 April 2012, A1 Telekom Austria Group issued a bond under the EMTN programme with a face value of TEUR 750,000, 
discount and the issue costs of TEUR 11,575, a maturity of ten years and a coupon of 4.0%.  

On 4 July 2013, A1 Telekom Austria Group issued a bond under the EMTN programme with a face value of TEUR 300,000, discount and issue 
costs of TEUR 2,574, a maturity of ten years and a coupon of 3.5%.   

On 3 December 2013, A1 Telekom Austria Group issued a bond under the EMTN programme with a face value of TEUR 750,000, discount 
and issue costs of TEUR 8,336, a maturity of eight years and a coupon of 3.125%.  

On 7 December 2016, A1 Telekom Austria Group issued a bond with a face value of TEUR 500,000, a maturity of ten years and a coupon of 
1.5%. On 14 July 2017, a tap issuance with a volume of TEUR 250,000 was settled. In August 2017, the outstanding bond and the tap were 
consolidated and have the same terms in all respect. Discount and issue costs amount to TEUR 6,990.  

Bank debt 
In 2017 and 2016, bank debt amounting to TEUR 22,000 and TEUR 330,642 was redeemed prematurely.  
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The following table provides the parameters used for the measurement of the obligation: 

  2017 2016 

Discount rate 1.5%– 10.9% 1.5%– 13.3% 

Inflation rate 2.0%– 6.7% 1.0%– 9.9%    
 
The discount rate applied to the calculation of asset retirement obligations reflects current market expectations with regard to interest 
effects as well as specific risks of the obligation. In 2017, the discount rate in the non-eurozone is based on the risk-free interest rate of 
German federal bonds with a maturity of 30 years , adapted for country-specific risk by the Damodaran Rating based default spread. For 
those countries whose currencies are not tied to the Euro, the respective inflation differential according to the OECD is taken into account as 
well. In the eurozone, the discount rate is based on government bonds with matching maturities. In 2016, the discount rates were based on 
the risk-free interest rates of Austrian government bonds with a maturity of 30 years or the comparable applicable interest rate in the case of 
Belarus.  

The inflation rates are adapted quarterly to reflect the general development in the individual countries.  

Basically the change in these parameters as well as changes in the estimated outflow of resources resulted in an increase of the asset 
retirement obligation and an increase in the related item of property, plant and equipment (see change in estimates in the table of 
provisions). TEUR 4,626 were recognised in other operating income as the related tangible asset is already fully depreciated. 

Sensitivity analysis 
A change of one percentage point in the discount rate or in the inflation rate would lead to the following changes in provisions (negative 
values indicate a reduction in provisions): 

in TEUR at 31 December 2017 
1 percentage point 

increase 
1 percentage point 

decrease 

Change in discount rate – 23,603 29,810 

Change in inflation rate 29,643 – 23,994 

in TEUR at 31 December 2016     

Change in discount rate – 22,538 27,237 

Change in inflation rate 26,953 – 22,696    
 
Legal 
Provisions mainly relate to expenses incurred in respect of legal advice and litigation.  

Other provisions 
Other provisions mainly relate to taxes (excluding income taxes), guarantees, rents and penalties. 

(23) Current Deferred Income  

in TEUR, at 31 December  2017 2016 

Unearned income 122,142 131,799 

Customer loyalty programmes 34,428 31,419 

Deferred income, current portion 156,570 163,218    
 
Unearned income mainly relates to prepaid access fees, monthly base fees, leased lines to commercial customers, prepaid mobile fees and 
rental income from site sharing. These fees are recognised over the period the service is provided.  

According to IFRIC 13 ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes’, the award credits granted are recognised as deferred income until redeemed or 
forfeited.  
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(25) Deferred Revenues and Other Non-current Liabilities  

in TEUR, at 31 December  2017 2016 

Cash deposits received 745               810  

Deferred consideration from business combinations 5,532 0 

Sundry other non-current financial liabilities 13,665                 19  

Other non-current financial liabilities 19,942               829  

      

Long-term incentive program 2,561 2,400 

Sundry other non-current non-financial liabilities 5,970 7,621 

Deferred revenues, other 9,796            9,149  

Other non-current non-financial liabilities 18,328           19,170  

      

Deferred revenues and other non-current liabilities 38,270           20,000     
 
For deferred considerations from business combinations, see Note (33). Other non-current non-financial liabilities include liabilities for 
pension contributions. Regarding the long-term incentive programme, see Note (30). Other deferred revenues mainly relate to rental 
revenue. 

(26) Employee Benefits 

A1 Telekom Austria Group records employee benefit obligations under defined contribution and defined benefit plans. 

In the case of defined contribution plans, A1 Telekom Austria Group pays contributions to publicly or privately administered pension or 
severance insurance plans on a mandatory or contractual basis. Once the contributions have been paid, which are recognised in employee 
expenses in the respective functional area, A1 Telekom Austria Group has no further payment obligations.  

All other employee benefit obligations are unfunded defined benefit plans for which A1 Telekom Austria Group records provisions which are 
calculated using the projected unit credit method in accordance with IAS 19. 

in TEUR, at 31 December  2017 2016 

Service awards 62,477 67,294 

Severance 129,277 132,964 

Pensions 5,088 5,994 

Long-term employee benefit obligations 196,842 206,251    
 
According to IAS 19.133, A1 Telekom Austria Group chooses to distinguish between current and non-current liabilities arising from 
employee benefit obligations (see also Note (22)). 

For severance and pensions, A1 Telekom Austria Group recognises actuarial gains and losses in other comprehensive income (OCI), 
whereas re-measurement gains and losses for service awards are immediately recognised in profit or loss. The re-measurement of defined 
benefit plans relates to actuarial gains and losses only, as A1 Telekom Austria Group holds no plan assets. Interest expense related to 
employee benefit obligations is reported in the financial result, while service cost is reported in employee expenses in the respective 
functional area. 
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Actuarial assumptions 
The actuarial assumptions used to measure the obligations for service awards, severance payments and pensions are as follows: 

  2017 2016 

Discount rate service awards 1.00% 1.00% 

Discount rate severance 2.00% 1.75% 

Discount rate pensions 1.50% 1.50% 

Rate of compensation increase – civil servants 4.40% 4.40% 

Rate of compensation increase – other employees 3.00% 3.00% 

Rate of compensation increase – civil servants released from work 3.50% 3.90% 

Rate of increase of pensions 1.60% 1.60% 

Employee turnover rate* 0.0%– 1.72% 0.0%– 1.88%    
* Depending on years of service. 

As in the prior year, the determination of the discount rate is based on the Mercer Yield Curve Approach, taking into account the respective 
maturities.  

Life expectancy in Austria is based on ‘AVÖ 2008-P – Rechnungsgrundlagen für die Pensionsversicherung – Pagler & Pagler’. The obligation 
relating to the international subsidiaries was measured on the same actuarial basis due to their insignificant amount. 

Weighted average duration 
The weighted average duration of the obligations is as follows:  

in TEUR, at 31 December 2017 2016 

Service awards 5.9 6.4 

Severance 15.0 15.8 

Pensions 11.7 9.4    
 

Service awards 
Civil servants and certain employees (together ‘employees’) are eligible to receive service awards. Under these plans, eligible employees 
receive a cash bonus of two months’ salary after 25 years of service and four months’ salary after 40 years of service. Employees with at least 
35 years of service when retiring (at the age of 65) or who are retiring based on specific legal regulations are eligible to receive four monthly 
salaries. The compensation is accrued as earned over the period of service, taking into account the employee turnover rate. The risk A1 
Telekom Austria Group is exposed to is mainly the risk of development of salary increases and changes of interest rates.  
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(25) Deferred Revenues and Other Non-current Liabilities  

in TEUR, at 31 December  2017 2016 

Cash deposits received 745               810  

Deferred consideration from business combinations 5,532 0 

Sundry other non-current financial liabilities 13,665                 19  

Other non-current financial liabilities 19,942               829  

      

Long-term incentive program 2,561 2,400 

Sundry other non-current non-financial liabilities 5,970 7,621 

Deferred revenues, other 9,796            9,149  

Other non-current non-financial liabilities 18,328           19,170  

      

Deferred revenues and other non-current liabilities 38,270           20,000     
 
For deferred considerations from business combinations, see Note (33). Other non-current non-financial liabilities include liabilities for 
pension contributions. Regarding the long-term incentive programme, see Note (30). Other deferred revenues mainly relate to rental 
revenue. 

(26) Employee Benefits 

A1 Telekom Austria Group records employee benefit obligations under defined contribution and defined benefit plans. 

In the case of defined contribution plans, A1 Telekom Austria Group pays contributions to publicly or privately administered pension or 
severance insurance plans on a mandatory or contractual basis. Once the contributions have been paid, which are recognised in employee 
expenses in the respective functional area, A1 Telekom Austria Group has no further payment obligations.  

All other employee benefit obligations are unfunded defined benefit plans for which A1 Telekom Austria Group records provisions which are 
calculated using the projected unit credit method in accordance with IAS 19. 

in TEUR, at 31 December  2017 2016 

Service awards 62,477 67,294 

Severance 129,277 132,964 

Pensions 5,088 5,994 

Long-term employee benefit obligations 196,842 206,251    
 
According to IAS 19.133, A1 Telekom Austria Group chooses to distinguish between current and non-current liabilities arising from 
employee benefit obligations (see also Note (22)). 

For severance and pensions, A1 Telekom Austria Group recognises actuarial gains and losses in other comprehensive income (OCI), 
whereas re-measurement gains and losses for service awards are immediately recognised in profit or loss. The re-measurement of defined 
benefit plans relates to actuarial gains and losses only, as A1 Telekom Austria Group holds no plan assets. Interest expense related to 
employee benefit obligations is reported in the financial result, while service cost is reported in employee expenses in the respective 
functional area. 
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The following table provides the components and a reconciliation of the changes in the provisions for service awards: 

in TEUR 2017 2016 

At 1 January  72,816 76,176 

Service cost 2,193 2,351 

Interest cost 707 923 

Actuarial gain/loss based on experience adjustment – 1,645 – 1,324 

Actuarial gain/loss from changes in demographic assumptions – 4 – 0 

Actuarial gain/loss from changes in financial assumptions – 201 357 

Recognised in profit or loss 1,050 2,306 

Benefits paid – 5,410 – 5,665 

Change in reporting entities 0 – 1 

Other – 5,410 – 5,666 

Obligation at 31 December 68,456 72,816 

Less short-term portion – 5,979 – 5,522 

Non-current obligation 62,477 67,294    
 
Of the defined benefit obligations for service awards, less than 1% relate to foreign subsidiaries as of 31 December 2017 and 2016, 
respectively. 

Severance 
Defined contribution plans 
Employees starting to work for A1 Telekom Austria Group in Austria on or after 1 January 2003 are covered by a defined contribution plan. 
A1 Telekom Austria Group paid TEUR 2,157 and TEUR 2,028 (1.53% of the salary) into this defined contribution plan (BAWAG Allianz 
Mitarbeitervorsorgekasse AG) in 2017 and 2016, respectively. 

Defined benefit plans 
Severance benefit obligations for employees hired before 1 January 2003, excluding civil servants, are covered by defined benefit plans. 
Upon termination by A1 Telekom Austria Group or retirement, eligible employees receive severance payments equal to a multiple of their 
monthly compensation which comprises fixed compensation plus variable elements such as overtime or bonuses. Maximum severance is 
equal to a multiple of twelve times the eligible monthly compensation. In case of death, the heirs of eligible employees receive 50% of the 
severance benefits. A1 Telekom Austria Group is exposed to the risk of development of salary increases and changes of interest rates. 

The following table provides a detailed reconciliation of the changes in severance benefit obligations: 

in TEUR 2017 2016 

At 1 January  134,433 119,886 

Service cost 5,230 5,209 

Interest cost 2,316 2,681 

Recognised in profit or loss 7,546 7,890 

Actuarial gain/loss based on experience adjustment – 4,295 – 185 

Actuarial gain/loss from changes in demographic assumptions – 1,034 – 556 

Actuarial gain/loss from changes in financial assumptions – 4,795 9,836 

Recognised in other comprehensive income – 10,125 9,095 

Benefits paid – 1,321 – 2,439 

Change in reporting entities 0 7 

Foreign currency adjustments 22 – 6 

Other – 1,299 – 2,438 

Obligation at 31 December 130,555 134,433 

Less short-term portion – 1,279 – 1,469 

Non-current obligation 129,277 132,964    
 
Approximately 2% of the defined benefit obligations for severance relate to foreign subsidiaries as of 31 December 2017 and 2016.  
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Pensions 
Defined contribution pension plans  
In Austria, pension benefits generally are provided by the social security system, for employees, and by the government, for civil servants. 
A1 Telekom Austria Group contributed for its employees 12.55% to social security amounting to TEUR 31,223 and TEUR 30,159 in 2017 and 
2016, respectively. Contributions for active civil servants amount to 12.55% and 15.75%. In 2017 and 2016, these contributions to the 
government amounted to TEUR 30,053 and TEUR 38,373, respectively. 

Additionally, A1 Telekom Austria Group sponsors a defined contribution plan for employees of some of its Austrian subsidiaries. A1 Telekom 
Austria Group’s contributions to this plan are based on a percentage of the compensation not exceeding 5%. The annual expenses for this 
plan amounted to TEUR 12,006 and TEUR 11,874 in 2017 and 2016, respectively.  

Defined benefit pension plans 
A1 Telekom Austria Group provides defined benefits for certain former employees in Austria. All such employees are retired and were 
employed prior to 1 January 1975. This unfunded plan provides benefits based on a percentage of salary and years employed, not 
exceeding 80% of the salary before retirement, and taking into consideration the pension provided by the social security system. A1 Telekom 
Austria Group is exposed to the risk of development of life expectancy and inflation because the benefits from pension plans are lifetime 
benefits.  

The following table provides a detailed reconciliation of the changes in pension benefit obligations: 

in TEUR 2017 2016 

At 1 January  6,595 7,483 

Interest cost 94 89 

Recognised in profit or loss 94 89 

Actuarial gain/loss based on experience adjustment – 720 – 225 

Actuarial gain/loss from changes in financial assumptions 0 – 151 

Recognised in other comprehensive income – 720 – 376 

Benefits paid – 501 – 601 

Change in reporting entities 97 0 

Foreign currency adjustments – 5 0 

Other – 408 – 601 

Obligation at 31 December 5,562 6,595 

Less short-term portion – 474 – 602 

Non-current obligation 5,088 5,994    
 
Sensitivity analysis 
The following table summarises the short and long-term provisions recorded: 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2017 2016 

Service awards 68,456 72,816 

Severance 130,555 134,433 

Pensions 5,562 6,595    
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The following table provides the components and a reconciliation of the changes in the provisions for service awards: 

in TEUR 2017 2016 

At 1 January  72,816 76,176 

Service cost 2,193 2,351 

Interest cost 707 923 

Actuarial gain/loss based on experience adjustment – 1,645 – 1,324 

Actuarial gain/loss from changes in demographic assumptions – 4 – 0 

Actuarial gain/loss from changes in financial assumptions – 201 357 

Recognised in profit or loss 1,050 2,306 

Benefits paid – 5,410 – 5,665 

Change in reporting entities 0 – 1 

Other – 5,410 – 5,666 

Obligation at 31 December 68,456 72,816 

Less short-term portion – 5,979 – 5,522 

Non-current obligation 62,477 67,294    
 
Of the defined benefit obligations for service awards, less than 1% relate to foreign subsidiaries as of 31 December 2017 and 2016, 
respectively. 

Severance 
Defined contribution plans 
Employees starting to work for A1 Telekom Austria Group in Austria on or after 1 January 2003 are covered by a defined contribution plan. 
A1 Telekom Austria Group paid TEUR 2,157 and TEUR 2,028 (1.53% of the salary) into this defined contribution plan (BAWAG Allianz 
Mitarbeitervorsorgekasse AG) in 2017 and 2016, respectively. 

Defined benefit plans 
Severance benefit obligations for employees hired before 1 January 2003, excluding civil servants, are covered by defined benefit plans. 
Upon termination by A1 Telekom Austria Group or retirement, eligible employees receive severance payments equal to a multiple of their 
monthly compensation which comprises fixed compensation plus variable elements such as overtime or bonuses. Maximum severance is 
equal to a multiple of twelve times the eligible monthly compensation. In case of death, the heirs of eligible employees receive 50% of the 
severance benefits. A1 Telekom Austria Group is exposed to the risk of development of salary increases and changes of interest rates. 

The following table provides a detailed reconciliation of the changes in severance benefit obligations: 

in TEUR 2017 2016 

At 1 January  134,433 119,886 

Service cost 5,230 5,209 

Interest cost 2,316 2,681 

Recognised in profit or loss 7,546 7,890 

Actuarial gain/loss based on experience adjustment – 4,295 – 185 

Actuarial gain/loss from changes in demographic assumptions – 1,034 – 556 

Actuarial gain/loss from changes in financial assumptions – 4,795 9,836 

Recognised in other comprehensive income – 10,125 9,095 

Benefits paid – 1,321 – 2,439 

Change in reporting entities 0 7 

Foreign currency adjustments 22 – 6 

Other – 1,299 – 2,438 

Obligation at 31 December 130,555 134,433 

Less short-term portion – 1,279 – 1,469 

Non-current obligation 129,277 132,964    
 
Approximately 2% of the defined benefit obligations for severance relate to foreign subsidiaries as of 31 December 2017 and 2016.  
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A change in the discount rate of half a percentage point would lead to the following changes in provisions (negative values indicate a 
reduction in provisions): 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2017 0.5 percentage point decrease 0.5 percentage point increase 

Service awards 2,033 – 1,943 

Severance 9,855 – 8,992 

Pensions 332 – 296 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2016     

Service awards 2,354 – 2,243 

Severance 10,839 – 9,844 

Pensions 308 – 283    
 
A change in the rate of compensation of one percentage point would lead to the following changes in provisions (negative values indicate a 
reduction in provisions): 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2017 1 percentage point decrease 1 percentage point increase 

Service awards – 3,690 3,953 

Severance – 17,193 20,216 

Pensions – 445 588 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2016     

Service awards – 3,919 4,293 

Severance – 18,738 22,225 

Pensions – 549 635    
 
A change in the employee turnover rate of half a percentage point would lead to the following changes in provisions (negative values 
indicate a reduction in provisions): 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2017 0.5 percentage point decrease 0.5 percentage point increase 

Service awards 47 – 2,016 

Severance 3,927 – 5,028 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2016     

Service awards 54 – 2,325 

Severance 3,300 – 5,665    
No employee turnover rate is applied to the calculation of the provision for pensions as all eligible employees have already retired. The calculation of a 0.5% decrease is 
limited to a maximum of 0.0% of the employee turnover rate. 

(27) Stockholders’ Equity  

Capital management 
The capital structure of A1 Telekom Austria Group consists of financial liabilities and equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent 
company, comprising common stock, treasury shares, additional paid-in capital, hybrid capital, retained earnings, remeasurement of 
defined benefit plans, available-for-sale reserve, hedging reserve and translation reserve.  

A1 Telekom Austria Group manages its capital structure to safeguard its strong capital base in order to maintain investor, creditor and 
market confidence as well as to provide sustainable support to the future operational development of A1 Telekom Austria Group.  

Maintaining its investment grade rating of Baa2 by Moody’s and BBB by Standard & Poor’s is the number one priority of A1 Telekom Austria 
Group’s finance strategy. This will allow A1 Telekom Austria Group to obtain the financial flexibility required for strategically important 
projects. A transparent dividend policy ensures the balance between shareholder remuneration and the utilisation of cash to redeem 
outstanding debt.  

Share capital  
As of 31 December 2017 and 2016, the common stock of Telekom Austria AG amounts to TEUR 1,449,275, and is divided into 664.5 million 
bearer shares. As of 31 December 2017 and 2016, América Móvil indirectly holds a stake of 51.00% through its 100% subsidiary América 

A1 TELEKOM AUSTRIA GROUP — ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2017

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

74



 

 

 

Consolidated Financial Statements 2017 

 

  45   

     

Móvil B.V., Netherlands (América Móvil B.V., formerly Carso Telecom B.V.), ÖBIB holds a stake of 28.42% and free floated shares including 
treasury shares amount to 20.58%. The shares have no par value. 

On 23 April 2014, ÖBIB entered into a syndicate agreement, effective since 27 June 2014, with América Móvil B.V. and América Móvil, by 
which the parties have agreed to jointly pursue a long-term policy with regard to the management of Telekom Austria AG, by exercising 
voting rights on a concerted basis. Furthermore, the syndicate agreement contains rules on the uniform exercise of voting rights in the 
corporate bodies of Telekom Austria AG, nomination rights for members of the Supervisory and Management Boards and share transfer 
restrictions. 

The Supervisory Board of Telekom Austria AG consists of ten shareholder representatives, eight of which are nominated by América Móvil 
B.V. and two are nominated by ÖBIB. ÖBIB has the right to nominate the chairman of the Supervisory Board. América Móvil B.V. has the right 
nominate the deputy chairman. 

On 24 July 2015, the function of the Chief Executive Officer of Telekom Austria AG was transferred to a management board member 
nominated by América Móvil B.V., namely Alejandro Plater, based on the proposal of the parties of the syndicate contract. Since 1 August 
2015, the Management Board of Telekom Austria AG therefore consists of two members. In the extraordinary shareholders’ meeting of 
14 August 2014, the Articles of Association of Telekom Austria were amended: As long as the Republic of Austria directly or indirectly holds 
at least 25% plus one share in the registered share capital, resolutions on capital increases and on the issuance of instruments which 
contain a conversion right or a conversion obligation into shares of Telekom Austria AG as well as changes to this provision of the Articles of 
Association shall require a majority of at least three quarters of the share capital present at the vote. 

According to the Austrian Banking Act and the Capital Requirements Regulation, a regulation for banks by the European Union, the 
subsidiary paybox Bank AG has to fulfil regulatory minimum equity requirements regarding bank-related risks, notably credit risk and 
operational risks as well as liquidity coverage requirements. On 31 December 2017 and 2016, these requirements were fulfilled.  

The number of authorised, issued and outstanding shares and shares in treasury is presented below: 

At 31 December 2017 2016 

Shares authorised 664,500,000 664,500,000 

Shares issued 664,500,000 664,500,000 

Shares in treasury – 415,159 – 415,159 

Shares outstanding 664,084,841 664,084,841    
The shares issued are fully paid. 
 

Dividend payment 
The following dividends were approved by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and paid by Telekom Austria AG. Regarding the 
coupon payments on the hybrid capital, see hybrid capital: 

  2017 2016 

Date of Annual General Meeting 9 June 2017 25 May 2016 

Dividend per share in Euro 0,20 0,05 

Total dividend paid in TEUR 132.817 33.204 

Date of payment 20 June 2017 3 June 2016    
 
The net income of Telekom Austria AG according to Austrian GAAP amounts to: 

  2017 2016 

Net income    1,060,490         802,919  

Allocation to reserves reported in retained earnings – 995,373 – 649,286 

Profit carried forward from prior year       280,383         259,568  

Unappropriated retained earnings       345,500         413,200     
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A change in the discount rate of half a percentage point would lead to the following changes in provisions (negative values indicate a 
reduction in provisions): 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2017 0.5 percentage point decrease 0.5 percentage point increase 

Service awards 2,033 – 1,943 

Severance 9,855 – 8,992 

Pensions 332 – 296 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2016     

Service awards 2,354 – 2,243 

Severance 10,839 – 9,844 

Pensions 308 – 283    
 
A change in the rate of compensation of one percentage point would lead to the following changes in provisions (negative values indicate a 
reduction in provisions): 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2017 1 percentage point decrease 1 percentage point increase 

Service awards – 3,690 3,953 

Severance – 17,193 20,216 

Pensions – 445 588 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2016     

Service awards – 3,919 4,293 

Severance – 18,738 22,225 

Pensions – 549 635    
 
A change in the employee turnover rate of half a percentage point would lead to the following changes in provisions (negative values 
indicate a reduction in provisions): 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2017 0.5 percentage point decrease 0.5 percentage point increase 

Service awards 47 – 2,016 

Severance 3,927 – 5,028 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2016     

Service awards 54 – 2,325 

Severance 3,300 – 5,665    
No employee turnover rate is applied to the calculation of the provision for pensions as all eligible employees have already retired. The calculation of a 0.5% decrease is 
limited to a maximum of 0.0% of the employee turnover rate. 

(27) Stockholders’ Equity  

Capital management 
The capital structure of A1 Telekom Austria Group consists of financial liabilities and equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent 
company, comprising common stock, treasury shares, additional paid-in capital, hybrid capital, retained earnings, remeasurement of 
defined benefit plans, available-for-sale reserve, hedging reserve and translation reserve.  

A1 Telekom Austria Group manages its capital structure to safeguard its strong capital base in order to maintain investor, creditor and 
market confidence as well as to provide sustainable support to the future operational development of A1 Telekom Austria Group.  

Maintaining its investment grade rating of Baa2 by Moody’s and BBB by Standard & Poor’s is the number one priority of A1 Telekom Austria 
Group’s finance strategy. This will allow A1 Telekom Austria Group to obtain the financial flexibility required for strategically important 
projects. A transparent dividend policy ensures the balance between shareholder remuneration and the utilisation of cash to redeem 
outstanding debt.  

Share capital  
As of 31 December 2017 and 2016, the common stock of Telekom Austria AG amounts to TEUR 1,449,275, and is divided into 664.5 million 
bearer shares. As of 31 December 2017 and 2016, América Móvil indirectly holds a stake of 51.00% through its 100% subsidiary América 
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The unappropriated retained earnings according to Austrian GAAP are not subject to a dividend limitation apart from the restrictions of 
Section 235 (2) UGB relating to deferred tax assets recognised. The Management Board plans to propose to the shareholders at the Annual 
General Meeting to distribute a dividend of Euro 0.20 per share from unappropriated retained earnings. 

Treasury shares 
At the Annual General Meeting of Telekom Austria AG held on 29 May 2013, the Management Board was empowered to:  
(a) use these treasury shares to settle obligations under the share-based compensation plans described in Note (30) and/or to transfer 
them for or without a consideration to employees, managers and members of the Management Board/management of Telekom Austria AG 
and of its affiliated companies;  
(b) use them as consideration for acquisitions, or  
(c) sell treasury shares at any time via the stock exchange or by public offer for a period of five years from the day of the resolution in any 
manner permitted by law, also other than via the stock exchange, whereby the Management Board is entitled to exclude the general 
purchase opportunity. 

Shares held in treasury as of 31 December 2017 2016 

Number of treasury shares 415,159 415,159 

Average price per share in Euro           18,80            18,80  

Deduction in equity in TEUR 7,803 7,803    
 
Additional paid-in capital 
The additional paid-in capital results from the incorporation of A1 Telekom Austria Group as well as subsequent reorganisation of the 
group. Furthermore, effects relating to the employee participation plan and the retirement of treasury shares are reported in additional paid-
in capital.  

Hybrid capital 
On 24 January 2013, A1 Telekom Austria Group issued a hybrid bond with a volume of TEUR 600,000. The hybrid bond is a subordinated 
bond with indefinite maturity which, based on its conditions, is classified as stockholders’ equity according to IFRS. Accordingly, related 
discount and issue cost in the amount of TEUR 11,752 were recorded net of a tax benefit of TEUR 2,938 in stockholders’ equity. Therefore, 
stockholders’ equity was increased by TEUR 591,186. The bond can be redeemed at par at the earliest after a period of five years. 
Additionally, Telekom Austria AG has an early termination right subject to certain conditions. The annual coupon amounts to 5.625% until 
the first reset date, 1 February 2018. Subsequently, there will be a reset date every five years. The coupon is established two days prior to 
the respective reset dates. Coupon payments of TEUR 33,750 each effected in February 2017 and 2016 are recognised as distribution of 
dividends in stockholders’ equity. See also Note (37). 

In the local financial statements, coupon payments are recognised as interest expense in profit or loss according to Austrian GAAP. While 
the tax benefit resulting from the accrued interest is recognised in profit or loss according to local GAAP, it is recognised in stockholders’ 
equity as ‘distribution of dividend’ in the Consolidated Financial Statements according to IAS 12. The net result attributable to hybrid capital 
holders is presented in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income in the allocation of the net result and equals interest 
recognised in profit or loss according to local GAAP in both years reported, amounting to TEUR 33,750, net of the relating tax benefit of 
TEUR 8,438, which is recognised in stockholders’ equity in 2017 and 2016. 

Other comprehensive income (loss) items (OCI) 
The other comprehensive income (loss) contains the remeasurement of severance and pension obligations, the available-for-sale reserve, 
the hedging reserve as well as the translation reserve. Their development is presented in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive 
Income and the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity. The foreign currency translation adjustment mainly relates to 
the consolidation of velcom in Belarus and Vip mobile in the Republic of Serbia.  

(28) Income Taxes  

Income taxes are calculated for each taxable entity based on the expected actual income tax rate applicable. For the purpose of calculating 
deferred tax assets and liabilities, A1 Telekom Austria Group uses the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognised in the period the tax rate is effectively 
enacted. The distribution of dividends by Telekom Austria AG has no effect on the tax rate. Investment tax credits are recognised as a 
reduction in income taxes in the period in which these credits are granted.  
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Income tax attributable to income before income taxes consists of the following (negative values indicate an income tax benefit): 

in TEUR 2017 2016 

Current income tax 61,098 27,790 

Deferred income tax – 58,092 – 81,305 

Income tax 3,006 – 53,515    
 
The table below provides information about the allocation of total income tax in the Consolidated Financial Statements: 

in TEUR 2017 2016 

Continuing operations 3,006 – 53,515 

Income tax on realised result on hedging activities* 1,460 1,460 

Income tax on unrealised result on securities available-for-sale* 58 47 

Income tax on realised result on securities available-for-sale* – 11 20 

Income tax on remeasurement of defined benefit obligations* 2,664 – 2,154 

Tax benefit relating to hybrid capital** – 8,438 – 8,438 

Total income tax – 1,260 – 62,580    
* Recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI) 
**See Note (27). 

The following table shows the major reconciling items between the reported income taxes and the amount of income taxes that would have 
resulted by applying the Austrian statutory income tax rate of 25% to pre-tax income: 

in TEUR 2017 2016 

Income tax expense at statutory rate 87,119 89,922 

Foreign tax rate differential 5,610 – 3,692 

Tax-non-deductible expenses 10,288 4,183 

Tax incentives and tax-exempted income – 6,281 – 7,190 

Tax-free income (loss) from investments 216 – 496 

Change in tax rate 0 – 576 

Tax benefit/expense previous years – 3,352 – 8,268 

Changes in deferred tax assets not recognised  – 185,221 – 89,307 

Impairments (reversals of impairments) of investments in subsidiaries and other intragroup transactions 94,500 – 38,060 

Other 128 – 31 

Income tax 3,006 – 53,515 

Effective income tax rate 0.86% – 14.88%    
 
In 2017 and 2016, non-deductible expenses mainly consist of withholding taxes on dividends and representation expenses as well as non-
deductible remuneration of managers in Austria.  

Tax incentives and tax-exempted income relate mainly to investment incentives in Slovenia and to tax incentives within the group taxation 
regime in Austria. Additionally, they relate mainly to a tax incentive in Belarus, which allows for the tax-neutral revaluation of carrying 
amounts of property, plant and equipment for tax purposes in order to increase the future basis of depreciation, as well as to research, 
education and investment incentives and other government grants. 

In 2016, the change in tax rate relates mainly to an increase of the corporate tax rate from 17% to 19% in Slovenia, starting 2017, partly 
compensated by the reduction of the corporate tax rate from 20% to 18% in Croatia, starting 2017. 

The tax benefit for prior periods recognised in 2016 results mainly from the final tax calculation 2015 in Austria. 
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The unappropriated retained earnings according to Austrian GAAP are not subject to a dividend limitation apart from the restrictions of 
Section 235 (2) UGB relating to deferred tax assets recognised. The Management Board plans to propose to the shareholders at the Annual 
General Meeting to distribute a dividend of Euro 0.20 per share from unappropriated retained earnings. 

Treasury shares 
At the Annual General Meeting of Telekom Austria AG held on 29 May 2013, the Management Board was empowered to:  
(a) use these treasury shares to settle obligations under the share-based compensation plans described in Note (30) and/or to transfer 
them for or without a consideration to employees, managers and members of the Management Board/management of Telekom Austria AG 
and of its affiliated companies;  
(b) use them as consideration for acquisitions, or  
(c) sell treasury shares at any time via the stock exchange or by public offer for a period of five years from the day of the resolution in any 
manner permitted by law, also other than via the stock exchange, whereby the Management Board is entitled to exclude the general 
purchase opportunity. 

Shares held in treasury as of 31 December 2017 2016 

Number of treasury shares 415,159 415,159 

Average price per share in Euro           18,80            18,80  

Deduction in equity in TEUR 7,803 7,803    
 
Additional paid-in capital 
The additional paid-in capital results from the incorporation of A1 Telekom Austria Group as well as subsequent reorganisation of the 
group. Furthermore, effects relating to the employee participation plan and the retirement of treasury shares are reported in additional paid-
in capital.  

Hybrid capital 
On 24 January 2013, A1 Telekom Austria Group issued a hybrid bond with a volume of TEUR 600,000. The hybrid bond is a subordinated 
bond with indefinite maturity which, based on its conditions, is classified as stockholders’ equity according to IFRS. Accordingly, related 
discount and issue cost in the amount of TEUR 11,752 were recorded net of a tax benefit of TEUR 2,938 in stockholders’ equity. Therefore, 
stockholders’ equity was increased by TEUR 591,186. The bond can be redeemed at par at the earliest after a period of five years. 
Additionally, Telekom Austria AG has an early termination right subject to certain conditions. The annual coupon amounts to 5.625% until 
the first reset date, 1 February 2018. Subsequently, there will be a reset date every five years. The coupon is established two days prior to 
the respective reset dates. Coupon payments of TEUR 33,750 each effected in February 2017 and 2016 are recognised as distribution of 
dividends in stockholders’ equity. See also Note (37). 

In the local financial statements, coupon payments are recognised as interest expense in profit or loss according to Austrian GAAP. While 
the tax benefit resulting from the accrued interest is recognised in profit or loss according to local GAAP, it is recognised in stockholders’ 
equity as ‘distribution of dividend’ in the Consolidated Financial Statements according to IAS 12. The net result attributable to hybrid capital 
holders is presented in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income in the allocation of the net result and equals interest 
recognised in profit or loss according to local GAAP in both years reported, amounting to TEUR 33,750, net of the relating tax benefit of 
TEUR 8,438, which is recognised in stockholders’ equity in 2017 and 2016. 

Other comprehensive income (loss) items (OCI) 
The other comprehensive income (loss) contains the remeasurement of severance and pension obligations, the available-for-sale reserve, 
the hedging reserve as well as the translation reserve. Their development is presented in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive 
Income and the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity. The foreign currency translation adjustment mainly relates to 
the consolidation of velcom in Belarus and Vip mobile in the Republic of Serbia.  

(28) Income Taxes  

Income taxes are calculated for each taxable entity based on the expected actual income tax rate applicable. For the purpose of calculating 
deferred tax assets and liabilities, A1 Telekom Austria Group uses the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognised in the period the tax rate is effectively 
enacted. The distribution of dividends by Telekom Austria AG has no effect on the tax rate. Investment tax credits are recognised as a 
reduction in income taxes in the period in which these credits are granted.  
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Impairments (reversals of impairments) of investments relate to write-downs and reversals of write-downs of investments in affiliated 
companies in Austria, which are recognised over a period of seven years for tax purposes and for which deferred tax is calculated (according 
to the respective guidance in ‘Effects of tax write-downs according to Section 12 (3) No 2 of the Austrian Corporate Tax Act on the 
accounting of income taxes according to IAS 12 in consolidated or single IFRS financial statements’ issued by the Austrian Financial 
Reporting and Auditing Committee).  

In accordance with IAS 12, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities in the Consolidated Financial Statements and their tax bases, for current-year tax losses and tax losses carried 
forward as well as certain impairment losses on investments for which recognition for tax purposes is deferred over a specified period. The 
tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities are set out below: 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2017 2016 

Deferred tax assets     

Deferred deduction for impairments of investments in subsidiaries 62,946 135,612 

Loss carry-forwards 270,839 149,888 

Accounts receivable: Subscribers, distributors and other 8,423 7,510 

Deferred income and other liabilities 839 658 

Other current assets and prepaid expenses 1,501 1,480 

Provisions, long-term 58,730 61,945 

Employee benefit obligations 25,737 28,480 

Property, plant and equipment 5,903 2,838 

Other 11,860 8,635 

Deferred tax assets 446,778 397,047 

      

Deferred tax liabilities     

Property, plant and equipment – 39,040 – 37,371 

Other intangible assets – 118,256 – 133,644 

Write down of treasury shares for tax purposes – 1,427 – 1,427 

Other – 2,597 – 1,246 

Deferred tax liabilities – 161,320 – 173,689    
 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2017 2016 

Deferred tax assets 327,077 286,431 

Deferred tax liabilities – 41,619 – 63,073 

Deferred taxes, net 285,458 223,358    
 
Impairments of investments in subsidiaries relate to impairments for which the recognition of expense is deferred over seven years 
according to Austrian tax law.  

Deferred tax assets on long-term provisions basically relate to the provision for the asset retirement obligation, which is only partly 
recognised for tax purposes, as well as to differences in the IFRS and tax value of the restructuring provision in Austria (see Note (22)). 

Deferred tax assets on employee benefit obligations result from the difference between the amount recognised in accordance with Section 
14 of the Austrian Income Tax Act (EStG) and the amount of the projected unit credit method in accordance with IAS 19 (see Note (26)). 

Deferred tax liabilities on other intangible assets are due to purchase price allocations according to IFRS in the course of acquisitions. 

Deferred tax liabilities on property, plant and equipment are basically due to differences in the carrying value of assets with retirement 
obligations, which are not recognised for tax purposes. 
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In Austria, A1 Telekom Austria Group established a tax group according to Section 9 of the Austrian Corporate Tax Act (KStG), with Telekom 
Austria AG as the head of the tax group. Deferred tax assets and liabilities for the members of the tax group (currently all significant Austrian 
subsidiaries) are reported on a net basis since the tax group is treated as one taxable entity. 

Amortisation of tax goodwill according to Section 9 (7) KStG is treated as a temporary difference on investments in subsidiaries for tax 
purposes. According to IAS 12.39, no deferred tax liabilities are recorded in that case, thus there are no differences in deferred tax liabilities 
in 2017 and 2016. 

The following deferred tax assets were not recognised as the realisation in the near future is not probable according to tax planning. 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2017 2016 

Net operating loss carry-forwards 329,875 463,469 

Temporary differences related to impairments of investments in consolidated subsidiaries 87,157 139,443 

Deferred tax assets not recognised 417,032 602,911    
 
In assessing the recoverability of deferred tax assets, Management considers whether it is probable that all deferred tax assets will be 
realised. The realisation of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which these 
temporary differences become deductible. These are based on business plans with a detailed planning period of five years. Management 
considers the scheduled release of deferred tax liabilities and projected future taxable income when making this assessment.  

At 31 December 2017, the loss carry-forwards and the years these will expire are the following: 

Year in TEUR 

2018 107,056 

2019 120,771 

2021 9,319 

2022 146 

2023 1,224 

2024 1,242 

2027 519 

Carry forward indefinitely 2,383,848 

Total 2,624,125   
 
The loss carry-forwards expiring in the years listed above mainly relate to the Republic of Serbia. Due to tax relief according to Article 50a of 
the Serbian Corporate Tax Act, the tax rate applicable at 31 December 2017 amounts to 1.6%. 

The remaining net operating loss carry-forwards mainly relate to companies located in Austria and can be carried forward indefinitely. In 
Austria, the annual usage is generally limited to 75% of the taxable income for a year.  

No deferred taxes are recognised on temporary differences relating to shares in subsidiaries, as it is not probable that these temporary 
deferred taxes will be reversed in the foreseeable future. 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2017 2016 

Temporary differences 52,218 42,278    
 

(29) Leases 

Lessee 
Lease agreements in which A1 Telekom Austria Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership as a lessee are classified 
as finance leases; otherwise, they are classified as operating leases.  
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Impairments (reversals of impairments) of investments relate to write-downs and reversals of write-downs of investments in affiliated 
companies in Austria, which are recognised over a period of seven years for tax purposes and for which deferred tax is calculated (according 
to the respective guidance in ‘Effects of tax write-downs according to Section 12 (3) No 2 of the Austrian Corporate Tax Act on the 
accounting of income taxes according to IAS 12 in consolidated or single IFRS financial statements’ issued by the Austrian Financial 
Reporting and Auditing Committee).  

In accordance with IAS 12, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities in the Consolidated Financial Statements and their tax bases, for current-year tax losses and tax losses carried 
forward as well as certain impairment losses on investments for which recognition for tax purposes is deferred over a specified period. The 
tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities are set out below: 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2017 2016 

Deferred tax assets     

Deferred deduction for impairments of investments in subsidiaries 62,946 135,612 

Loss carry-forwards 270,839 149,888 

Accounts receivable: Subscribers, distributors and other 8,423 7,510 

Deferred income and other liabilities 839 658 

Other current assets and prepaid expenses 1,501 1,480 

Provisions, long-term 58,730 61,945 

Employee benefit obligations 25,737 28,480 

Property, plant and equipment 5,903 2,838 

Other 11,860 8,635 

Deferred tax assets 446,778 397,047 

      

Deferred tax liabilities     

Property, plant and equipment – 39,040 – 37,371 

Other intangible assets – 118,256 – 133,644 

Write down of treasury shares for tax purposes – 1,427 – 1,427 

Other – 2,597 – 1,246 

Deferred tax liabilities – 161,320 – 173,689    
 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2017 2016 

Deferred tax assets 327,077 286,431 

Deferred tax liabilities – 41,619 – 63,073 

Deferred taxes, net 285,458 223,358    
 
Impairments of investments in subsidiaries relate to impairments for which the recognition of expense is deferred over seven years 
according to Austrian tax law.  

Deferred tax assets on long-term provisions basically relate to the provision for the asset retirement obligation, which is only partly 
recognised for tax purposes, as well as to differences in the IFRS and tax value of the restructuring provision in Austria (see Note (22)). 

Deferred tax assets on employee benefit obligations result from the difference between the amount recognised in accordance with Section 
14 of the Austrian Income Tax Act (EStG) and the amount of the projected unit credit method in accordance with IAS 19 (see Note (26)). 

Deferred tax liabilities on other intangible assets are due to purchase price allocations according to IFRS in the course of acquisitions. 

Deferred tax liabilities on property, plant and equipment are basically due to differences in the carrying value of assets with retirement 
obligations, which are not recognised for tax purposes. 
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Plant and equipment acquired by way of finance leasing is stated at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the 
minimum lease payments at the inception of the lease, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

The operating lease contracts will expire on various dates through 2028 and mainly comprise leases of base stations, property and vehicles. 

Future minimum lease payments for non-cancellable operating lease contracts as well as finance lease contracts as of 31 December 2017 
are: 

in TEUR 
Other 

finance leases 
Operating 

leases 

 2018 549 83,135 

 2019 144 59,806 

 2020 98 38,391 

 2021 81 30,070 

 2022 61 24,024 

after 2022 0 71,161 

Total minimum lease payments 933 306,588 

Less amount representing interest – 39   

Present value of lease payments 894   

Less current portion – 549   

Non-current lease obligations 346      
 
In 2017 and 2016, the rental and leasing expenses recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income amount to TEUR 162,026 and 
TEUR 165,318, respectively. 
 
Assets under finance leases relate to automobiles and indefeasible rights of use. At 31 December 2017 and 2016, respectively, the carrying 
value amounts to TEUR 569 and TEUR 233 and is included in other assets and rights of use (see Notes (14) and (15)).  

Lessor 
If, substantially, all risks and rewards are attributable to A1 Telekom Austria Group as a lessor, the leased asset is recognised by A1 Telekom 
Austria Group. Measurement of the leased asset is then based on the accounting policies applicable to that asset in accordance with IAS 16. 
A1 Telekom Austria Group receives minimum lease payments for non-cancellable operating lease contracts that mainly relate to indefeasible 
right of use contracts, private automatic branch exchange equipment (PABX) as well as set-top boxes.  

These payments are recognised as revenue on a straight-line basis over the terms of the contracts and, at 31 December 2017, they amount 
to:  

in TEUR Operating leases 

 2018 6,350 

 2019 3,535 

 2020 2,242 

 2021 1,683 

 2022 1,515 

after 2022 1,402 

Total minimum lease payments 16,728   
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(30) Share-based Compensation  

Long-term incentive (LTI) programme  
A1 Telekom Austria Group introduced a long-term incentive programme (LTI) in 2010. In accordance with IFRS 2, share-based payments are 
measured at fair value at the grant date. The expense is recognised over the vesting period. Due to the Management Board’s decision to 
settle bonus shares granted in the course of the long-term incentive programme in cash (subsequently called fictitious bonus shares), the 
share-based payments are recorded as a liability. 

Participants of this programme are required to invest an amount depending on the annual gross basic salaries and the management level of 
the entitled employee in Telekom Austria shares and to hold these shares until the end of the holding period (at least three years). For each 
tranche, the number of fictitious bonus shares granted is calculated based on the average Telekom Austria stock price for a defined period. 
The performance period for meeting the performance targets was determined to be three years. 

On 1 July 2014, the fifth tranche (LTI 2014) was granted. Net income, relative total shareholder return and EBITDA were defined as key 
performance indicators. The relative total shareholder return is determined based on a balanced peer group of nine European 
telecommunications providers. The target values for these key indicators were determined by the Supervisory Board. The actual 
performance and the bonus shares allocated are summarised in the subsequent table, settlement will be in cash. 

On 1 September 2015, the sixth tranche (LTI 2015) was granted. EBITDA comparable, free cash flow and a revenue-based key figure were 
defined as key performance indicators. The target values for these key indicators were determined by the Supervisory Board. At the vesting 
date (at the earliest three years after the grant date), fictitious bonus shares will be allocated to the participants and will be settled in cash. If 
the targets are fully met, fictitious bonus shares equal to the double personal investment will be allocated to the participants. If the targets 
are exceeded, proportionally additional fictitious bonus shares will be allocated up to a maximum of 350% of the shares on a pro rata basis. 
This maximum amount of fictitious bonus shares is allocated if the targets are overachieved by 175% or more. In case of a significant 
underperformance, no bonus shares will be allocated. 

On 1 September 2016, the seventh tranche (LTI 2016) was granted. Return on Invested Capital (ROIC) and the market revenue share of A1 
Telekom Austria Group (weighted with 50% each) were defined as key performance indicators. The target values for these key indicators 
were determined by the Supervisory Board. At the vesting date (at the earliest three years after the grant date), fictitious bonus shares will 
be allocated to the participants and will be settled in cash. If the targets are fully met, fictitious bonus shares equal to the double personal 
investment will be allocated to the participants. If the targets are exceeded, proportionally additional fictitious bonus shares will be allocated 
up to a maximum of 350% of the shares on a pro rata basis. This maximum amount of fictitious bonus shares is allocated if the targets are 
overachieved by 175% or more. In case of a significant underperformance, no bonus shares will be allocated. 

On 1 June 2017, the eight tranche (LTI 2017) was granted. Return on Invested Capital (ROIC) and the market revenue share of A1 Telekom 
Austria Group (weighted with 50% each) were defined as key performance indicators. The target values for these key indicators were 
determined by the Supervisory Board. The LTI 2017 was only granted to the members of the Management Board of Telekom Austria AG, 
Alejandro Plater and Siegfried Mayrhofer. At the vesting date (at the earliest three years after the grant date) and if targets are fully met, 
fictitious bonus shares equal to the double personal investment will be allocated to the participants and will be settled in cash. If the targets 
are exceeded, proportionally additional fictitious bonus shares will be allocated up to a maximum of 350% of the shares on a pro rata basis. 
This maximum amount of fictitious bonus shares is allocated if the targets are overachieved by 175% or more. In case of a significant 
underperformance, no bonus shares will be allocated. 

 

 

 

Consolidated Financial Statements 2017  

 

  50   

     

Plant and equipment acquired by way of finance leasing is stated at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the 
minimum lease payments at the inception of the lease, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

The operating lease contracts will expire on various dates through 2028 and mainly comprise leases of base stations, property and vehicles. 

Future minimum lease payments for non-cancellable operating lease contracts as well as finance lease contracts as of 31 December 2017 
are: 

in TEUR 
Other 

finance leases 
Operating 

leases 

 2018 549 83,135 

 2019 144 59,806 

 2020 98 38,391 

 2021 81 30,070 

 2022 61 24,024 

after 2022 0 71,161 

Total minimum lease payments 933 306,588 

Less amount representing interest – 39   

Present value of lease payments 894   

Less current portion – 549   

Non-current lease obligations 346      
 
In 2017 and 2016, the rental and leasing expenses recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income amount to TEUR 162,026 and 
TEUR 165,318, respectively. 
 
Assets under finance leases relate to automobiles and indefeasible rights of use. At 31 December 2017 and 2016, respectively, the carrying 
value amounts to TEUR 569 and TEUR 233 and is included in other assets and rights of use (see Notes (14) and (15)).  

Lessor 
If, substantially, all risks and rewards are attributable to A1 Telekom Austria Group as a lessor, the leased asset is recognised by A1 Telekom 
Austria Group. Measurement of the leased asset is then based on the accounting policies applicable to that asset in accordance with IAS 16. 
A1 Telekom Austria Group receives minimum lease payments for non-cancellable operating lease contracts that mainly relate to indefeasible 
right of use contracts, private automatic branch exchange equipment (PABX) as well as set-top boxes.  

These payments are recognised as revenue on a straight-line basis over the terms of the contracts and, at 31 December 2017, they amount 
to:  

in TEUR Operating leases 

 2018 6,350 

 2019 3,535 

 2020 2,242 

 2021 1,683 

 2022 1,515 

after 2022 1,402 

Total minimum lease payments 16,728   
 

  

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A1 TELEKOM AUSTRIA GROUP — ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2017

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

81



 

 

 

Consolidated Financial Statements 2017  

 

  52   

     

The following table summarises the significant terms and conditions for each tranche not yet settled:  

  LTI 2017 LTI 2016 LTI 2015 LTI 2014 

Start of the programme 1 January 2017 1 January 2016 1 January 2015 1 January 2014 

Grant date  1 June 2017 1 September 2016 1 September 2015 1 July 2014 

End of vesting period 31 December 2019 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 

Vesting date 1 June 2020 1 September 2019 1 September 2018 1 July 2017 

          

Personal investment at grant date 54,271 204,334 240,835 299,239 

Personal investment at reporting date* 54,271 183,390 168,945 192,817 

Expected performance** 121.90% 129.00% 104.30% 60.20% 

Expected bonus shares*** 132,311 456,912 352,420 0 

Maximum bonus shares*** 189,947 641,865 591,309 0 

Fair value of programme in TEUR 987 3,435 2,778 0 

Allocated bonus shares 0 0 0 222,154 

Average stock price at end of vesting period in Euro 0 0 0 5.23 

Share-based compensation in TEUR 0 0 0 1,162      
* For LTI 2014, personal investment at the end of the vesting period. 
** For LTI 2014, actual performance at the end of the vesting period. 
*** Taking into account the allocation of fictitious bonus shares equal to the double personal investment. 
 
As of the reporting date, a liability measured at fair value for the portion of the expected future expense of the LTI programme, which has 
already vested, has been recognised. The fair value of the liability is measured based on the expected target achievement and the expected 
share price, as determined by applying a binomial calculation model generally used for share price analysis, taking into account expected 
dividends. The liability is recognised over the vesting period (see Notes (21) and (25)). The following personnel expense is recognised in the 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (negative values indicate income): 

  2017 2016 

Personnel expense LTI          2,803           2,583     
 

Sensitivity analysis 
A change of one Euro in the average stock price expected at the end of the vesting period would result in the following changes in fair values 
(negative values indicate a reduction): 

in TEUR, at 31 December 1 Euro increase 1 Euro decrease 

Fair value of LTI 2016 457 – 457 

Fair value of LTI 2017 132 – 132    
 

(31) Cash Flow Statement 

The following table provides a reconciliation of capital expenditures paid to total capital expenditures: 

in TEUR 2017 2016 

Capital expenditures paid        705,422  816,463 

Reconciliation of additions in accounts payable 39,707 – 52,377 

Reconciliation of government grants – 8,264 0 

Total capital expenditures        736,866  764,086    
The reconciliation of additions in accounts payable includes the adjustment of capital expenditures of the current period not yet paid as well as capital expenditures of prior 
periods paid in the current period in accordance with IAS 7.43. The reconciliation of government grants contains grants not yet paid, which have already been deducted 
from capital expenditures (see Notes (13) and (14)). 

  

A1 TELEKOM AUSTRIA GROUP — ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2017

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

82



 

 

 

Consolidated Financial Statements 2017 

 

  53   

     

Total capital expenditures include interest capitalised (see Note (7)), but do not include additions related to asset retirement obligations. At 
31 December 2017 and 2016, TEUR 161,275 and TEUR 125,840, respectively, of the additions to intangible assets and property, plant and 
equipment of the current year are unpaid (see Notes (14) and (15)). 

In the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 2017, other adjustments in the items not requiring the use of cash and other reconciliation 
relate to non-cash effects of the asset retirement obligation, which are recognised in other operating income (see Note (22)). 

The dividends received in 2017 and 2016 and recognised in the financial result (see Note (7)) had already been settled in cash as of 
31 December and are reported in cash flow from operating activities. In 2017 and 2016, dividends paid include dividends paid to the non-
controlling interests of subsidiaries in the amount of TEUR 318 and TEUR 288, respectively (see Note (33)). 

In 2017 and 2016, cash and cash equivalents acquired totalled TEUR 624 and TEUR 720, respectively (see Note (33)).  

The following table provides a reconciliation of the development of debt (see Notes (20) and (24)): 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2017 2016 Change 

Short-term debt 566 500,065 – 499,499 

Long-term debt 2,533,607 2,303,496 230,112 

Total debt 2,534,173 2,803,561 – 269,388 

        

Change in debt     2017 

Issuance of bonds     248,762 

Repayments of bonds     – 500,000 

Repayments of long-term debt     – 22,000 

Change in short-term debt     1,857 

Total cashflows     – 271,381 

Acquisitions     1,993 

Non-cash changes     1,993     
 

The following table provides a reconciliation of deferred consideration from business combinations (see Notes (7), (21), (25), and (33)): 

in TEUR, at 31 December 2017 2016 Change 

Deferred consideration from business combinations 5,551 111,667 – 106,116 

        

      2017 

Deferred consideration one.vip at 1 January 2017     – 111,667 

Interest expense on deferred considerations     – 8,333 

Deferred consideration paid for business combinations     – 120,000 

Acquisitions     5,565 

Foreign exchange differences     – 14 

Non-cash changes     5,551     
 

(32) Financial Instruments  

A1 Telekom Austria Group classifies its financial assets and financial liabilities in accordance with IAS 39. Management determines the 
classification of its financial assets and financial liabilities at initial recognition. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when A1 Telekom Austria Group becomes a party to a financial instrument. A1 
Telekom Austria Group uses the settlement date for recording regular purchases and sales of financial assets. Derivative financial 
instruments are recognised at the trade date and derecognised when settled. Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised 
at the fair value of the consideration given or received. Transaction costs are included in the initial measurement, except for financial 
instruments, which are recognised at their fair value through profit or loss. 
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The following table summarises the significant terms and conditions for each tranche not yet settled:  

  LTI 2017 LTI 2016 LTI 2015 LTI 2014 

Start of the programme 1 January 2017 1 January 2016 1 January 2015 1 January 2014 

Grant date  1 June 2017 1 September 2016 1 September 2015 1 July 2014 

End of vesting period 31 December 2019 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 

Vesting date 1 June 2020 1 September 2019 1 September 2018 1 July 2017 

          

Personal investment at grant date 54,271 204,334 240,835 299,239 

Personal investment at reporting date* 54,271 183,390 168,945 192,817 

Expected performance** 121.90% 129.00% 104.30% 60.20% 

Expected bonus shares*** 132,311 456,912 352,420 0 

Maximum bonus shares*** 189,947 641,865 591,309 0 

Fair value of programme in TEUR 987 3,435 2,778 0 

Allocated bonus shares 0 0 0 222,154 

Average stock price at end of vesting period in Euro 0 0 0 5.23 

Share-based compensation in TEUR 0 0 0 1,162      
* For LTI 2014, personal investment at the end of the vesting period. 
** For LTI 2014, actual performance at the end of the vesting period. 
*** Taking into account the allocation of fictitious bonus shares equal to the double personal investment. 
 
As of the reporting date, a liability measured at fair value for the portion of the expected future expense of the LTI programme, which has 
already vested, has been recognised. The fair value of the liability is measured based on the expected target achievement and the expected 
share price, as determined by applying a binomial calculation model generally used for share price analysis, taking into account expected 
dividends. The liability is recognised over the vesting period (see Notes (21) and (25)). The following personnel expense is recognised in the 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (negative values indicate income): 

  2017 2016 

Personnel expense LTI          2,803           2,583     
 

Sensitivity analysis 
A change of one Euro in the average stock price expected at the end of the vesting period would result in the following changes in fair values 
(negative values indicate a reduction): 

in TEUR, at 31 December 1 Euro increase 1 Euro decrease 

Fair value of LTI 2016 457 – 457 

Fair value of LTI 2017 132 – 132    
 

(31) Cash Flow Statement 

The following table provides a reconciliation of capital expenditures paid to total capital expenditures: 

in TEUR 2017 2016 

Capital expenditures paid        705,422  816,463 

Reconciliation of additions in accounts payable 39,707 – 52,377 

Reconciliation of government grants – 8,264 0 

Total capital expenditures        736,866  764,086    
The reconciliation of additions in accounts payable includes the adjustment of capital expenditures of the current period not yet paid as well as capital expenditures of prior 
periods paid in the current period in accordance with IAS 7.43. The reconciliation of government grants contains grants not yet paid, which have already been deducted 
from capital expenditures (see Notes (13) and (14)). 
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Financial assets include, in particular, cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable: subscribers, distributors and other, net as well as 
other receivables, receivables due from related parties and available-for-sale investments. 

Financial liabilities include, in particular, accounts payable trade, issued bonds, other financial liabilities and payables due to related parties 
and are recognised initially in the amount corresponding to the financial inflow. Differences between the amount received and the amount to 
be repaid are recognised over the term of the liability in the financial result (amortised cost) using the effective interest rate method. For 
financial liabilities carried at amortised cost, gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the financial liability is derecognised. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is presented in the Statements of Financial Position only when A1 
Telekom Austria Group has a contractual right to offset the recognised amounts and intends to settle on a net basis.  

Concentration of risks  
At the reporting dates, A1 Telekom Austria Group does not have any significant concentration of business transacted with a particular 
supplier or creditor or customer. Furthermore, A1 Telekom Austria Group does not have any concentration of risk with respect to 
contractors, other services, franchises or other rights which could, if suddenly eliminated, severely impact operations. A1 Telekom Austria 
Group invests its cash with various institutions with appropriate credit standings. 

A1 Telekom Austria Group operates in markets in the Central Eastern European (CEE) region. Operations in the CEE region involve 
uncertainties, including transfer, currency and tax uncertainties that may affect business activities. The accompanying Consolidated 
Financial Statements reflect the Management Board’s assessment of the impact of the CEE business environment on the operations and the 
financial position of A1 Telekom Austria Group. The actual development of the future business environment may differ from Management’s 
assessment. 

Financial risk management  
Overview 
A1 Telekom Austria Group is exposed to market risks, including liquidity risk, interest rate and foreign currency exchange rate risk and credit 
risk associated with underlying financial assets, liabilities and anticipated transactions. 

The financial risk management is centrally organised. The guideline establishing policies, responsibilities and competences is valid for both 
the Group Treasury and the financial departments of the subsidiaries. The existing risks are regularly monitored and, if necessary, A1 
Telekom Austria Group responds to changes in market conditions. A1 Telekom Austria Group neither holds nor issues derivative financial 
instruments for trading or speculative purposes.  

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that A1 Telekom Austria Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. A1 Telekom Austria 
Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that A1 Telekom Austria Group will always have sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities 
when due, under both normal and stressed conditions. For this purpose a monthly rolling consolidated liquidity planning is drawn up, which 
serves as the basis for determining the liquidity requirement. Furthermore there is a liquidity reserve in the form of committed credit lines. 

Funding sources 
A1 Telekom Austria Group’s treasury department acts as an internal financial services provider, realising potential synergies in financing the 
operations of A1 Telekom Austria Group’s subsidiaries. Its primary goal is to assure liquidity in a cost-effective manner by applying the 
pooling of cash flows and the clearing of A1 Telekom Austria Group’s accounts to enable the management of short-term investments and 
borrowings at optimal interest rates with minimal administrative effort. 
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Cash flow from operations is the basis for securing sufficient liquidity of A1 Telekom Austria Group. Principal sources of external funding are 
bank loans and capital markets. For details of outstanding long-term debt and a description of the different classes of the debt as of the 
reporting date, see Note (24). 

In order to diversify its short-term funding sources, A1 Telekom Austria Group implemented a multi-currency short-term treasury notes 
programme (multi-currency notes) with a maximum volume of TEUR 300,000 in 2007. The programme was concluded for an indefinite 
period. As of 31 December 2017 and 2016, no multi-currency notes were issued.  

As of 31 December 2017 and 2016, A1 Telekom Austria Group had total credit lines of TEUR 1,265,000 and TEUR 1,000,000, respectively. 
These credit lines were not utilised. The credit line commitment of TEUR 250,000 has a term until January 2018, the remaining credit lines 
commitments have a maximum term until November 2019.  

Exposure to liquidity risk 
The following table sets forth the contractual (undiscounted) interest and redemption payments of financial liabilities. At 31 December 2017 
and 2016, no variable interest-rate liabilities existed. Foreign currencies were translated at the rates valid on the reporting date. 

in TEUR 
Contractual 

cash flow 
6 months 

or less 
6 to 12 
months 

1 to 2 
years 

2 to 5 
years 

more than 
5 years 

At 31 December 2017             

Bonds 2,958,000 30,000 45,188 75,188 1,702,125 1,105,500 

Bank debt  17 17 0 0 0 0 

Accounts payable - trade 592,032 562,527 8,718 6,997 13,403 388 

Lease obligations 933 532 17 144 240 0 

Other financial liabilities 71,453 50,294 2,971 2,749 5,668 9,772 

              

At 31 December 2016             

Bonds 3,266,917 551,250 41,438 71,438 964,313 1,638,479 

Bank debt  23,724 608 198 22,918 0 0 

Accounts payable - trade 553,806 533,449 12,080 3,586 4,181 510 

Lease obligations 147 53 34 47 13 0 

Other financial liabilities 172,006 46,489 124,089 593 0 836        
 
It is not expected that the cash flows of the financial liabilities included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at 
significantly different amounts. 

Market risks  
Market risk is the risk of changes in market prices. A1 Telekom Austria Group faces the risk of market price changes in interest rates and 
foreign exchange rates. 

Interest rate risk 
Since all of A1 Telekom Austria Group’s long-term debt has fixed interest rates, no cash flow exposure due to fluctuating interest rates exists 
(see Note (24)). However, the fair value of fixed rate debt increases when market rates are below the rates fixed on these loans. 

Exposure to interest rate risk 
The risk of changes in interest rates related to investment activities is considered low due to the short-term nature of financial assets.  

Fair value sensitivity analysis for financial instruments  
One measure used to express the potential change in the value of a portfolio of financial liabilities in response to a change in interest rates is 
the modified duration. Modified duration (sensitivity measure) follows the concept that interest rates and the price of fixed-rate financial 
instruments move in opposite directions. The sensitivity is based on the assumption of a one-percentage-point parallel shift in market 
interest rates for all terms occurring at the reporting date. The methods and assumptions used remained unchanged to those used in prior 
years. The modified duration (sensitivity) is set forth in the following table (negative amounts represent decreases in financial liabilities):  
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Financial assets include, in particular, cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable: subscribers, distributors and other, net as well as 
other receivables, receivables due from related parties and available-for-sale investments. 

Financial liabilities include, in particular, accounts payable trade, issued bonds, other financial liabilities and payables due to related parties 
and are recognised initially in the amount corresponding to the financial inflow. Differences between the amount received and the amount to 
be repaid are recognised over the term of the liability in the financial result (amortised cost) using the effective interest rate method. For 
financial liabilities carried at amortised cost, gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the financial liability is derecognised. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is presented in the Statements of Financial Position only when A1 
Telekom Austria Group has a contractual right to offset the recognised amounts and intends to settle on a net basis.  

Concentration of risks  
At the reporting dates, A1 Telekom Austria Group does not have any significant concentration of business transacted with a particular 
supplier or creditor or customer. Furthermore, A1 Telekom Austria Group does not have any concentration of risk with respect to 
contractors, other services, franchises or other rights which could, if suddenly eliminated, severely impact operations. A1 Telekom Austria 
Group invests its cash with various institutions with appropriate credit standings. 

A1 Telekom Austria Group operates in markets in the Central Eastern European (CEE) region. Operations in the CEE region involve 
uncertainties, including transfer, currency and tax uncertainties that may affect business activities. The accompanying Consolidated 
Financial Statements reflect the Management Board’s assessment of the impact of the CEE business environment on the operations and the 
financial position of A1 Telekom Austria Group. The actual development of the future business environment may differ from Management’s 
assessment. 

Financial risk management  
Overview 
A1 Telekom Austria Group is exposed to market risks, including liquidity risk, interest rate and foreign currency exchange rate risk and credit 
risk associated with underlying financial assets, liabilities and anticipated transactions. 

The financial risk management is centrally organised. The guideline establishing policies, responsibilities and competences is valid for both 
the Group Treasury and the financial departments of the subsidiaries. The existing risks are regularly monitored and, if necessary, A1 
Telekom Austria Group responds to changes in market conditions. A1 Telekom Austria Group neither holds nor issues derivative financial 
instruments for trading or speculative purposes.  

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that A1 Telekom Austria Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. A1 Telekom Austria 
Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that A1 Telekom Austria Group will always have sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities 
when due, under both normal and stressed conditions. For this purpose a monthly rolling consolidated liquidity planning is drawn up, which 
serves as the basis for determining the liquidity requirement. Furthermore there is a liquidity reserve in the form of committed credit lines. 

Funding sources 
A1 Telekom Austria Group’s treasury department acts as an internal financial services provider, realising potential synergies in financing the 
operations of A1 Telekom Austria Group’s subsidiaries. Its primary goal is to assure liquidity in a cost-effective manner by applying the 
pooling of cash flows and the clearing of A1 Telekom Austria Group’s accounts to enable the management of short-term investments and 
borrowings at optimal interest rates with minimal administrative effort. 
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    Change in financial portfolio 
in TEUR, at 31 December Capital amounts Increase Decrease 

2017       

Fixed rate financial liabilities           2,550,000      

Sensitivity at a modified duration of 4.344%   – 110,761 110,761 

        

2016       

Fixed rate financial liabilities           2,822,000      

Sensitivity at a modified duration of 4.478%   – 126,369 126,369     
 

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable-rate financial instruments  
Since all of A1 Telekom Austria Group’s long-term debt have fixed interest rates at 31 December 2017 and 2016, no sensitivity analysis is 
provided. 

Information with respect to hedging reserve  
The hedging reserve results from the three forward-starting interest rate swap contracts (pre-hedges) concluded in 2011 with a face value 
of TEUR 100,000 each. The relating hedging reserve is released in profit or loss in accordance with the recognition of interest expense on the 
bond, which was issued on 4 July 2013, as the interest rate risk on that bond was hedged. In the years reported, the release of the hedging 
reserve through other comprehensive income resulted in interest expense amounting to TEUR 5,840 and a tax benefit amounting to 
TEUR 1,460, respectively.  

Exchange rate risk 
As of 31 December 2017 and 2016, of all accounts receivable: subscribers, distributors and other, net as well as accounts payable trade, 
only the following are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the reporting entities (for foreign exchange rates, see 
Note (3)): 

in TEUR, at 31 December  2017   2016   
Denominated in EUR USD Other EUR USD Other 

Accounts receivable: Subscribers, distributors and other 2,095 9,587 37,647 1,867 7,617 6,312 

Accounts payable - trade 70,486 15,832 4,878 62,945 12,204 3,754        
 
In 2017 and 2016, a change of 10% in the exchange rate of the Euro to the currencies listed below (see Note (3)) would increase/decrease 
foreign exchange rate differences as follows: 

in TEUR 2017 2016 

Croatian Kuna (HRK)          2,282           2,739  

Serbian Dinar (CSD)          1,792           1,655  

Belarusian Rouble (BYN)             400              577     
No sensitivity analysis was performed for other accounts receivable or for accounts payable denominated in foreign currencies, as there is 
no significant risk due to diversification. 

Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and 
arises principally from accounts receivable trade and investment activities. Due to internal guidelines and counterparty limits there is neither 
significant credit risk nor concentration.  

Financial investments and cash and cash equivalents 
A1 Telekom Austria Group’s investments are generally of a short-term nature and only concluded with counterparties holding investment 
grade ratings. If no such external rating is available, an internal rating based on quantitative ratios is carried out. Therefore, there is no 
exposure of financial investments and cash and cash equivalents to any significant credit risk. 

A1 TELEKOM AUSTRIA GROUP — ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2017

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

86



 

 

 

Consolidated Financial Statements 2017 

 

  57   

     

The carrying amount of financial assets and cash and cash equivalents represents the maximum credit risk exposure (see Notes (9) and 
(18)): 

in TEUR, at 31 December  2017 2016 

Available-for-sale investments 11,345 13,647 

Financial investments valued at cost 1,546 1,468 

Cash and cash equivalents 202,390 457,460 

Carrying amount 215,281 472,575    
 

Loans and receivables 
A1 Telekom Austria Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer or group of 
customers. The demographics of A1 Telekom Austria Group’s customer base, including the default risk of the industry and country in which 
customers operate, have less of an influence on credit risk. 

Within the framework of the applicable legal regulations, each new customer is analysed individually for creditworthiness. Credit risk or the 
risk of default in payment by contractual partners is monitored via credit checks, credit limits and verification routines. Due to the large 
number of customers and the high level of diversification of the portfolios, the default of any single debtor would not entail grave 
consequences (low concentration risk) in respect of the Consolidated Financial Statements. Within A1 Telekom Austria Group, operative 
credit risk management functions are performed at the operating company level. 

The following table sets forth the maximum exposure to credit risk for other financial assets and accounts receivable: subscribers, 
distributors and other, net, which equals the carrying amount (see Notes (10), (13) and (19)): 

in TEUR, at 31 December  2017 2016 

Accounts receivable: Subscribers, distributors and other 679,292 636,474 

Financial assets 161,022 139,264 

Carrying amount 840,314 775,738    
Accounts receivable from related parties are not included. 

As a result of the low concentration of credit risk described above, A1 Telekom Austria Group has no insurance for its accounts receivable. 
However, based on the credit assessment of retail and wholesale customers, A1 Telekom Austria Group requires bank guarantees, comfort 
letters and cash deposits (see Notes (21) and (25)).  

in TEUR, at 31 December  2017 2016 

Cash deposits 10,666          9,520  

Guarantees 9,165          9,284     
 

The following table sets forth the ageing of other financial assets and accounts receivable: subscribers, distributors and other: 

  Gross Allowance Gross Allowance 
in TEUR, at 31 December  2017 2017 2016 2016 

unbilled & not yet due 733,633 21,137 675,065 12,181 

Past due 0-30 days 52,166 5,249 52,286 3,384 

Past due 31-60 days 26,504 6,537 22,986 4,751 

Past due 61-90 days 16,798 5,700 12,119 3,997 

More than 90 days 247,321 197,485 238,935 201,342 

Total 1,076,422 236,108 1,001,392 225,654      
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    Change in financial portfolio 
in TEUR, at 31 December Capital amounts Increase Decrease 

2017       

Fixed rate financial liabilities           2,550,000      

Sensitivity at a modified duration of 4.344%   – 110,761 110,761 

        

2016       

Fixed rate financial liabilities           2,822,000      

Sensitivity at a modified duration of 4.478%   – 126,369 126,369     
 

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable-rate financial instruments  
Since all of A1 Telekom Austria Group’s long-term debt have fixed interest rates at 31 December 2017 and 2016, no sensitivity analysis is 
provided. 

Information with respect to hedging reserve  
The hedging reserve results from the three forward-starting interest rate swap contracts (pre-hedges) concluded in 2011 with a face value 
of TEUR 100,000 each. The relating hedging reserve is released in profit or loss in accordance with the recognition of interest expense on the 
bond, which was issued on 4 July 2013, as the interest rate risk on that bond was hedged. In the years reported, the release of the hedging 
reserve through other comprehensive income resulted in interest expense amounting to TEUR 5,840 and a tax benefit amounting to 
TEUR 1,460, respectively.  

Exchange rate risk 
As of 31 December 2017 and 2016, of all accounts receivable: subscribers, distributors and other, net as well as accounts payable trade, 
only the following are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the reporting entities (for foreign exchange rates, see 
Note (3)): 

in TEUR, at 31 December  2017   2016   
Denominated in EUR USD Other EUR USD Other 

Accounts receivable: Subscribers, distributors and other 2,095 9,587 37,647 1,867 7,617 6,312 

Accounts payable - trade 70,486 15,832 4,878 62,945 12,204 3,754        
 
In 2017 and 2016, a change of 10% in the exchange rate of the Euro to the currencies listed below (see Note (3)) would increase/decrease 
foreign exchange rate differences as follows: 

in TEUR 2017 2016 

Croatian Kuna (HRK)          2,282           2,739  

Serbian Dinar (CSD)          1,792           1,655  

Belarusian Rouble (BYN)             400              577     
No sensitivity analysis was performed for other accounts receivable or for accounts payable denominated in foreign currencies, as there is 
no significant risk due to diversification. 

Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and 
arises principally from accounts receivable trade and investment activities. Due to internal guidelines and counterparty limits there is neither 
significant credit risk nor concentration.  

Financial investments and cash and cash equivalents 
A1 Telekom Austria Group’s investments are generally of a short-term nature and only concluded with counterparties holding investment 
grade ratings. If no such external rating is available, an internal rating based on quantitative ratios is carried out. Therefore, there is no 
exposure of financial investments and cash and cash equivalents to any significant credit risk. 
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in TEUR, at 31 December  2017 2016 

Financial assets past due gross 342,789 326,327 

Allowance financial assets – 214,971 – 213,473 

Financial assets past due net 127,818 112,854    
 

The following table shows the development of the allowance for other financial assets and accounts receivable: subscribers, distributors and 
other, net: 

in TEUR 2017 2016 

At 1 January  225,654 212,190 

Foreign currency adjustment – 763 498 

Change in reporting entities 1,035 110 

Reversed – 6,353 – 3,639 

Charged to expenses 60,419 47,356 

Amounts written-off – 43,883 – 30,861 

At 31 December 236,108 225,654    
 
Accounts receivable: subscribers, distributors and other as well as other financial receivables are measured at amortised cost or the lower 
recoverable amount. 

A1 Telekom Austria Group has grouped accounts receivable according to their exposure to different risks. Corresponding to the risk involved 
and based on historic experience, a certain percentage of valuation allowance is determined for each category of accounts receivable 
(general allowance for groups of similar assets). All accounts receivable past due are therefore impaired by a certain percentage.  

The accounts receivable not past due and not impaired mainly relate to deferred marketing expenses related to customer loyalty 
programmes, roaming credits and access fees invoiced in advance. 

If there is objective evidence that A1 Telekom Austria Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms, an 
impairment is recorded (specific allowance). Serious financial difficulties of the debtor, the probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy 
or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments are considered to be indicators that the receivable is impaired. 

Impairment losses and reversal of impairment losses for trade and other receivables classified as loans and receivables are recognised in 
bad debt expenses in selling, general and administrative expenses. Bad debt expenses mainly relate to accounts receivable: subscribers, 
distributors and other. When a receivable is considered to be irrecoverable, the amount is written off against the receivable. 

The maximum credit risk of accounts receivable: subscribers, distributors and other, net by geographic region as well as the split of the 
allowance are: 

in TEUR, at 31 December  2017 2016 

Domestic 818,399 758,242 

Foreign 80,000 90,479 

Allowances – 219,106 – 212,247 

Accounts receivable: Subscribers, distributors and other 679,292 636,474 

Thereof     

Specific allowance 6,799 7,537 

General allowance 212,307 204,710    
 
Accounts receivable: subscribers, distributors and other from A1 Telekom Austria Group’s most significant customer amount to 
TEUR 1,749 and TEUR 2,979 as of 31 December 2017 and 2016, respectively. Thus, no major concentration of credit risk exists.  
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Fair value of financial instruments 
According to IFRS 13, the fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability. The hierarchy categorises 
the inputs used in valuation techniques into three levels. Level 1 contains financial assets and liabilities based on quoted prices in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 contains financial assets and liabilities based on inputs other than quoted market prices 
included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. Level 3 contains financial assets and liabilities 
based on inputs that are unobservable. When determining the fair value, the risk of non-fulfilment is taken into account as well. 

The following table shows the carrying amounts and the fair values of the financial instruments per class of financial assets: 

  Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value 
in TEUR, at 31 December  2017 2016 

Financial assets         

Cash and cash equivalents 202,390 202,390 457,460 457,460 

          

Accounts receivable: Subscribers, distributors and other 679,292 679,292 636,474 636,474 

Receivables due from related parties 944 944 925 925 

Other current financial assets 111,631 111,631 93,068 93,068 

Other non-current financial assets 49,390 49,390 46,195 46,195 

Loans and receivables 841,258 841,258 776,663 776,663 

          

Long-term investments 11,345 11,345 6,914 6,914 

Short-term investments 0 0 6,733 6,733 

Available-for-sale investments 11,345 11,345 13,647 13,647      
 
Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable: subscribers, distributors and other as well as receivables due from related parties have 
maturities shorter than one year. As their carrying amounts reported approximate their fair values, no further information on the 
classification in the fair value hierarchy is provided.  

Other financial assets essentially relate to instalment sales receivables (see Notes (13) and (19)), the fair values correspond to the present values 
of the payments related to the assets, taking into account the current interest rates that reflect market and partner-based changes to terms, 
conditions and expectations and are thus classified as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. 

The fair values of available-for-sale investments are based on market prices.  

The following table shows the carrying amounts and the fair values of the financial instruments per class of financial liabilities: 

  Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value 
in TEUR, at 31 December  2017 2016 

Financial liabilities         

Liabilities to financial institutions 17 17 35 35 

Bonds 2,533,262 2,818,434 2,781,382 3,093,835 

Other current financial liabilities 51,309 51,309 162,838 162,846 

Non-current liabilities to financial institutions 0 0 22,000 23,573 

Lease obligations 894 894 144 144 

Other non-current liabilities 19,942 19,942 829 829 

Accounts payable - trade 592,032 592,032 553,747 553,747 

Payables due to related parties 554 554 6,418 6,418 

Accrued interest 29,990 29,990 49,624 49,624 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 3,228,000 3,513,172 3,577,017 3,891,052      
Non-current liabilities to financial institutions include their short-term portion. 
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in TEUR, at 31 December  2017 2016 

Financial assets past due gross 342,789 326,327 

Allowance financial assets – 214,971 – 213,473 

Financial assets past due net 127,818 112,854    
 

The following table shows the development of the allowance for other financial assets and accounts receivable: subscribers, distributors and 
other, net: 

in TEUR 2017 2016 

At 1 January  225,654 212,190 

Foreign currency adjustment – 763 498 

Change in reporting entities 1,035 110 

Reversed – 6,353 – 3,639 

Charged to expenses 60,419 47,356 

Amounts written-off – 43,883 – 30,861 

At 31 December 236,108 225,654    
 
Accounts receivable: subscribers, distributors and other as well as other financial receivables are measured at amortised cost or the lower 
recoverable amount. 

A1 Telekom Austria Group has grouped accounts receivable according to their exposure to different risks. Corresponding to the risk involved 
and based on historic experience, a certain percentage of valuation allowance is determined for each category of accounts receivable 
(general allowance for groups of similar assets). All accounts receivable past due are therefore impaired by a certain percentage.  

The accounts receivable not past due and not impaired mainly relate to deferred marketing expenses related to customer loyalty 
programmes, roaming credits and access fees invoiced in advance. 

If there is objective evidence that A1 Telekom Austria Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms, an 
impairment is recorded (specific allowance). Serious financial difficulties of the debtor, the probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy 
or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments are considered to be indicators that the receivable is impaired. 

Impairment losses and reversal of impairment losses for trade and other receivables classified as loans and receivables are recognised in 
bad debt expenses in selling, general and administrative expenses. Bad debt expenses mainly relate to accounts receivable: subscribers, 
distributors and other. When a receivable is considered to be irrecoverable, the amount is written off against the receivable. 

The maximum credit risk of accounts receivable: subscribers, distributors and other, net by geographic region as well as the split of the 
allowance are: 

in TEUR, at 31 December  2017 2016 

Domestic 818,399 758,242 

Foreign 80,000 90,479 

Allowances – 219,106 – 212,247 

Accounts receivable: Subscribers, distributors and other 679,292 636,474 

Thereof     

Specific allowance 6,799 7,537 

General allowance 212,307 204,710    
 
Accounts receivable: subscribers, distributors and other from A1 Telekom Austria Group’s most significant customer amount to 
TEUR 1,749 and TEUR 2,979 as of 31 December 2017 and 2016, respectively. Thus, no major concentration of credit risk exists.  
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Accounts payable trade and other liabilities have predominantly maturities below one year. Thus their carrying amounts approximate their 
fair values and no further information on the classification in the fair value hierarchy is provided.  

The fair values of the quoted bonds (EMTN bonds and Eurobonds) equal the face value multiplied by the price quotations at the reporting 
date and are thus classified as Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. 

The fair values of bank and leasing liabilities and of other financial liabilities are measured at the present values of the cash flows associated 
with the debt, based on the applicable yield curve and credit spread curve for specific currencies, and are thus classified as Level 2 of the 
fair value hierarchy.  

Fair value hierarchy of financial instruments 
The following table shows the fair value hierarchy (per class of financial instrument) of financial instruments measured at fair value that 
reflects the market proximity of the inputs in such fair value measurements: 

in TEUR Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

At 31 December 2017         

Available-for-sale & other investments 10,765 580 0 11,345 

Financial assets measured at fair value 10,765 580 0 11,345 

          

At 31 December 2016         

Available-for-sale & other investments 12,725 923 0 13,647 

Financial assets measured at fair value 12,725 923 0 13,647      
 

(33) Companies and Business Combinations  

Name and company domicile 
Share in capital as of 

31 December 2017 in % 
Method of 

consolidation* 
Share in capital as of 

31 December 2016 in % 
Method of 

consolidation* 

Segment Austria         

A1 Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

Telekom Austria Personalmanagement GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

Telekom Austria Beteiligungen GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

CableRunner GmbH, Vienna 76.00 FC 76.00 FC 

CableRunner Austria GmbH & Co. KG, Vienna 76.00 FC 76.00 FC 

World-Direct eBusiness solutions Gesellschaft m.b.H., Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

paybox Bank AG, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

paybox Service GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

3G Mobile Telecommunications GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

mk Logistik GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

JetStream Hungary Kft., Budapest 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

JetStream Slovakia s.r.o., Bratislava 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

JetStream RO s.r.l., Bucharest 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

JetStream TR Telekomünikasyon Hizmetleri Ve Ticaret Limited Sirketi, 
Istanbul 

100.00 
FC 

100.00 FC 

JetStream Switzerland GmbH, Zurich 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

JetStream Poland Spolka Z Ograniczona Odpowiedzialnoscia, Warsaw 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

JetStream Germany GmbH, Frankfurt on the Main 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

JetStream Italy S.r.l., Milan 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

TA CZ sítě s.r.o., Prague 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

JetStream BH d.o.o. drustvo za telekomunikacije, Sarajevo 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

JetStream England Limited, London 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

media.at GmbH, Vienna SO - 25.3228 EQ 

Segment Bulgaria         

Mobiltel EAD, Sofia 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

Blizoo Media and Broadband EAD, Sofia ME - 100.00 FC 

Cabletel-Prima AD, Nessebar 51.00 FC 51.00 FC 

Citynet TV OOD, Aytos 51.00 FC 51.00 FC 
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Name and company domicile 
Share in capital as of 

31 December 2017 in % 
Method of 

consolidation* 
Share in capital as of 

31 December 2016 in % 
Method of 

consolidation* 

Cable Information System AD, Russe 87.55 NC 87.55 NC 

Evrocom Sofia Cable EOOD, Sofia LIQ - 100.00 NC 

Vereia Cable AD, Sofia LIQ - 100.00 NC 

Segment Croatia         

Vipnet d.o.o., Zagreb 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

Vipnet usluge d.o.o., Zagreb 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

CATV-047 d.o.o. Kabelska televizija, Karlovac ME - 100.00 FC 

Metronet Telekomunikacije d.d., Zagreb 100.00 FC - - 

Segment Belarus         

Unitary enterprise velcom, Minsk 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

Unitary enterprise TA-Engineering, Minsk 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

Adelfina Ltd., Minsk 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

Unitary enterprise Solar Invest, Bragin town 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

Limited Liability Company velcom ADC, Minsk ME - 100.00 FC 

Limited Liability Company TeleSet, Gomel ME - 100.00 FC 

Gomel Regional Technological Trade Center “Garant” Open Joint-Stock 
Company, Gomel 

98,697 FC - - 

Segment Macedonia         

one.Vip DOOEL, Skopje-Zentar 100.00 FC 55.00 FC 

Vip operator uslugi DOOEL, Skopje-Zentar 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

Astra Plus DOOEL, Kocani 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

Digi plus Multimedia DOOEL, Skopje 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

Segment Serbia         

Vip mobile d.o.o., Belgrade 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

Amis Telekomunikacije d.o.o., Belgrade 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

Segment Slovenia         

A1 Slovenija d.d., Ljubljana** 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

Corporate & Other         

Telekom Projektentwicklungs GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

Telekom Finanzmanagement GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

Mobilkom Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

mobilkom Bulgarien BeteiligungsverwaltungsgmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

mobilkom CEE Beteiligungsverwaltung GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

mobilkom Mazedonien Beteiligungsverwaltung GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

mobilkom Belarus Beteiligungsverwaltung GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

Kroatien Beteiligungsverwaltung GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

SB Telecom Ltd., Limassol 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

A1 Digital International GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

A1 Digital Deutschland GmbH, Munich 100.00 FC - - 

Akenes S.A., Lausanne 100.00 FC - - 

Akenes GmbH, Berlin 100.00 NC - - 

Telecom Liechtenstein AG, Vaduz                        24.90 EQ 24.90  EQ      
* FC – full consolidation, EQ – equity method, LIQ – liquidation, ME – merged, NC – not consolidated because not material, SO – sold 
All affiliated companies have 31 December as their reporting date except for media.at-Group which has 30 June as its reporting date. 
** 2016: Si.mobil telekomunikacijske storitve d.d., Ljubljana 

According to IFRS 3, business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method at the acquisition date, which is the date when 
the acquirer obtains control over the acquiree. Goodwill is measured as the difference between the aggregate of the fair value of the 
consideration transferred as of the acquisition date, the amount of any non-controlling interest, and, in a business combination achieved in 
stages, the fair value of the acquirer’s previously-held equity interest in the acquiree less the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and 
the liabilities assumed. Non-controlling interests are not measured at fair value but at their share of the fair value of identified net assets of the 
acquiree. In accordance with IFRS 3.45, goodwill may be adjusted for subsequent changes in the estimated purchase price. If the fair value of 
the assets acquired exceeds the consideration transferred, the resulting gain is recognised in profit or loss. Transaction costs are expensed as 
incurred. In case of an acquisition achieved in stages, the previously held interest is restated at fair value and any resulting difference is 
recognised in profit or loss. All transactions with non-controlling interest holders are directly recognised in stockholder’s equity. In the course 
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Accounts payable trade and other liabilities have predominantly maturities below one year. Thus their carrying amounts approximate their 
fair values and no further information on the classification in the fair value hierarchy is provided.  

The fair values of the quoted bonds (EMTN bonds and Eurobonds) equal the face value multiplied by the price quotations at the reporting 
date and are thus classified as Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. 

The fair values of bank and leasing liabilities and of other financial liabilities are measured at the present values of the cash flows associated 
with the debt, based on the applicable yield curve and credit spread curve for specific currencies, and are thus classified as Level 2 of the 
fair value hierarchy.  

Fair value hierarchy of financial instruments 
The following table shows the fair value hierarchy (per class of financial instrument) of financial instruments measured at fair value that 
reflects the market proximity of the inputs in such fair value measurements: 

in TEUR Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

At 31 December 2017         

Available-for-sale & other investments 10,765 580 0 11,345 

Financial assets measured at fair value 10,765 580 0 11,345 

          

At 31 December 2016         

Available-for-sale & other investments 12,725 923 0 13,647 

Financial assets measured at fair value 12,725 923 0 13,647      
 

(33) Companies and Business Combinations  

Name and company domicile 
Share in capital as of 

31 December 2017 in % 
Method of 

consolidation* 
Share in capital as of 

31 December 2016 in % 
Method of 

consolidation* 

Segment Austria         

A1 Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

Telekom Austria Personalmanagement GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

Telekom Austria Beteiligungen GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

CableRunner GmbH, Vienna 76.00 FC 76.00 FC 

CableRunner Austria GmbH & Co. KG, Vienna 76.00 FC 76.00 FC 

World-Direct eBusiness solutions Gesellschaft m.b.H., Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

paybox Bank AG, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

paybox Service GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

3G Mobile Telecommunications GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

mk Logistik GmbH, Vienna 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

JetStream Hungary Kft., Budapest 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

JetStream Slovakia s.r.o., Bratislava 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

JetStream RO s.r.l., Bucharest 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

JetStream TR Telekomünikasyon Hizmetleri Ve Ticaret Limited Sirketi, 
Istanbul 

100.00 
FC 

100.00 FC 

JetStream Switzerland GmbH, Zurich 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

JetStream Poland Spolka Z Ograniczona Odpowiedzialnoscia, Warsaw 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

JetStream Germany GmbH, Frankfurt on the Main 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

JetStream Italy S.r.l., Milan 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

TA CZ sítě s.r.o., Prague 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

JetStream BH d.o.o. drustvo za telekomunikacije, Sarajevo 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

JetStream England Limited, London 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

media.at GmbH, Vienna SO - 25.3228 EQ 

Segment Bulgaria         

Mobiltel EAD, Sofia 100.00 FC 100.00 FC 

Blizoo Media and Broadband EAD, Sofia ME - 100.00 FC 

Cabletel-Prima AD, Nessebar 51.00 FC 51.00 FC 

Citynet TV OOD, Aytos 51.00 FC 51.00 FC 
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of purchase price allocations, fair values of assets and liabilities acquired are determined based on state-of-the-art discounted cash flow 
methods. The input factors used are categorised as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy defined by IFRS 13.  

On 15 February 2017, A1 Telekom Austria Group acquired 97.68% of Metronet telekomunikacije via the Croatian subsidiary Vipnet. 
Metronet is one of the leading alternative fixed business solutions provider in Croatia and offers a wide range of products, focussed on 
delivering services to the business segment. The fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date are 
reported in the segment Croatia: 

Acquisition of Metronet  
in TEUR 

Fair values on acquisition 
date 

Property, plant and equipment 28,906 

Intangible assets 28,673 

Other assets and receivables 9,617 

Cash and cash equivalents 130 

Bank debt and Leases – 1,993 

Deferred tax liabilities – 2,700 

Accounts payable – 11,014 

Debt due to related parties – 34,147 

Net assets acquired 17,471 

Non-controlling interests – 405 

Goodwill 23,322 

Debt paid on behalf of Metronet 34,147 

Total purchase consideration 74,536 

Purchase price not yet paid – 2,454 

Cash and cash equivalents acquired – 130 

Net cash outflow 71,951   
 

The factors contributing to goodwill are expectations of positive returns due to a favourable development of the market share in Croatia and 
cost synergies. Since the acquisition date, Metronet has contributed revenues of TEUR 26,515 and a net income of TEUR 2,201. The gross 
contractual amounts of acquired receivables are TEUR 5,896. Management’s best estimate at the acquisition date of the contractual cash 
flows not expected to be collected is TEUR 724, thus the fair value amounts to TEUR 5,172.  

In the second quarter 2017, the non-controlling interest of Metronet of 2.32% amounting to TEUR 405 was acquired for a consideration of 
TEUR 972. The excess of the purchase price over the book value of the non-controlling interest is recorded in retained earnings. In the 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity, the disposal of the carrying amount of the non-controlling interest is netted 
with the original addition to non-controlling interest from the business combination. 

On 1 August 2017, A1 Telekom Austria Group acquired 96.50% of Gomelsky OTTC Garant, Gomel (Garant) via the Belarusian subsidiary 
velcom. Gomel is the third largest broadband operator in Belarus providing services mainly for residential customers in Gomel, the second 
largest city in Belarus, and other six cities in the region. The fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date 
are reported in the segment Belarus: 
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Acquisition of Garant  
in TEUR 

Fair values on acquisition 
date 

Property, plant and equipment 5,136 

Intangible assets 1,976 

Other assets and receivables 316 

Cash and cash equivalents 407 

Deferred tax liabilities – 100 

Accounts payable – 2,755 

Net assets acquired 4,980 

Non-controlling interests – 174 

Goodwill 3,707 

Total purchase consideration 8,512 

Cash and cash equivalents acquired – 407 

Net cash outflow 8,106   
 

The factors contributing to goodwill are expectations of positive returns due to regional synergies, upselling of cable TV customers and 
further cost synergies. Since the acquisition date, Garant has contributed revenues of TEUR 4,837 and a net loss of TEUR 142.  

In the fourth quarter 2017, the non-controlling interest in Garant of 2.20% amounting to TEUR 108 was acquired for a consideration of 
TEUR 263. The excess of the purchase price over the book value of the non-controlling interest is recorded in retained earnings. In the 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity, the disposal of the carrying amount of the non-controlling interest is netted 
with the original addition to non-controlling interest from the business combination. 

On 30 November 2016, A1 Telekom Austria Group acquired 100% of the Belarusian fixed-line operator Atlant Telecom, renamed velcom 
ACS after the acquisition, and its subsidiary TeleSet. In 2017, the final purchase consideration was determined. As a result of the final 
allocation of the purchase consideration, goodwill increased by TEUR 954, other assets were reduced by TEUR 492 and a payment in cash of 
TEUR 462 was effected. 

On 30 November 2017, the Belarusian subsidiaries velcom ADC and TeleSet were merged into velcom. Furthermore, Garant was split into 
Garant Telecom South, containing the core business, and into Gomel Regional Technological Trade Center “Garant”, containing the non-
core business. Subsequently, Garant Telecom South was merged into velcom. These transactions do not have an impact on the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 

On 4 August 2017, A1 Telekom Austria Group acquired 88.83 % of Akenes S.A. (Akenes), Lausanne, via the subsidiary A1 Digital 
International GmbH. Akenes offers pure-play Infrastructure as a Service (IaaS) open cloud with clear customer focus on Software as a 
Service (SaaS) providers and Big Data operators. The share purchase agreement includes a put and call option for the exit of the remaining 
shareholders. The total purchase consideration includes the fair value of the option. Based on the put option and other terms of the contract 
no non-controlling interest is recorded. The fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date are reported in 
Corporate, Other & Eliminations: 
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Metronet is one of the leading alternative fixed business solutions provider in Croatia and offers a wide range of products, focussed on 
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Total purchase consideration 74,536 

Purchase price not yet paid – 2,454 

Cash and cash equivalents acquired – 130 

Net cash outflow 71,951   
 

The factors contributing to goodwill are expectations of positive returns due to a favourable development of the market share in Croatia and 
cost synergies. Since the acquisition date, Metronet has contributed revenues of TEUR 26,515 and a net income of TEUR 2,201. The gross 
contractual amounts of acquired receivables are TEUR 5,896. Management’s best estimate at the acquisition date of the contractual cash 
flows not expected to be collected is TEUR 724, thus the fair value amounts to TEUR 5,172.  

In the second quarter 2017, the non-controlling interest of Metronet of 2.32% amounting to TEUR 405 was acquired for a consideration of 
TEUR 972. The excess of the purchase price over the book value of the non-controlling interest is recorded in retained earnings. In the 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity, the disposal of the carrying amount of the non-controlling interest is netted 
with the original addition to non-controlling interest from the business combination. 

On 1 August 2017, A1 Telekom Austria Group acquired 96.50% of Gomelsky OTTC Garant, Gomel (Garant) via the Belarusian subsidiary 
velcom. Gomel is the third largest broadband operator in Belarus providing services mainly for residential customers in Gomel, the second 
largest city in Belarus, and other six cities in the region. The fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date 
are reported in the segment Belarus: 
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Acquisition of Akenes 
in TEUR 

Fair values on acquisition 
date 

Property, plant and equipment 739 

Intangible assets 1,942 

Deferred tax assets 152 

Other assets and receivables 107 

Cash and cash equivalents 87 

Accounts payable – 1,316 

Net assets acquired 1,712 

Goodwill 7,698 

Consideration transferred 9,410 

Purchase price not yet paid – 3,111 

Cash and cash equivalents acquired – 87 

Net cash outflow 6,212   
 

The factors contributing to goodwill are expectations of positive returns due to a favourable development of the market share and cost 
synergies. The goodwill was allocated to the cash-generating unit A1 Digital. Since the acquisition date, Akenes has contributed revenues of 
TEUR 972 and a net loss of TEUR 241.  

Since the effect of the acquired entities on the Consolidated Financial Statements of A1 Telekom Austria Group is not considered significant, 
no pro-forma information is presented. Acquisition-related costs totalling TEUR 683 are reported in selling, general and administrative 
expenses. 

On 1 October 2015, Vip operator, a Macedonian subsidiary of A1 Telekom Austria Group, was merged with Telekom Slovenije’s subsidiary 
ONE, both operating in Macedonia. A1 Telekom Austria Group held 55% and had sole control over the newly created entity one.Vip, whereas 
Telekom Slovenije Group held 45%. Based on call and put options of the share purchase agreement and Telekom Slovenije’s exclusion from 
dividend rights, no non-controlling interest was recognised. On 9 November 2017, the call and put options for the exit of Telekom Slovenije 
Group were exercised at the amount of TEUR 120,000. A1 Telekom Austria Group now holds 100% of one.Vip. At 31 December 2016, the 
fair value of the option was reported in short-term financial liabilities (see Note (21)).  

(34) Commitments and Contingent Assets and Liabilities 

In June 2014, Mobiltel EAD (Mobiltel) received the tax assessment act related to the taxation treatment of amortisation of brand name and 
customer base in 2007. Mobiltel appealed to the highest tax authority in Sofia. In December 2014, this appeal was rejected. Mobiltel 
appealed to the Supreme Administrative Court in Sofia. On 22 February 2017, the Supreme Administrative Court decided in favour of 
Mobiltel regarding the amortisation of customer base of TEUR 15,060 including interest and rejected the appeal of Mobiltel in the amount of 
TEUR 7,801 relating to the amortisation of brand name including interest for the year 2007.  

Furthermore Mobiltel received tax assessments in 2017 for the years 2008, 2009 and 2010, which once again included brand name and 
customer base not to be tax deductible totalling TEUR 62,391 including interest calculated as per 31 December 2017. On 14 July 2017, 
Mobiltel filed an appeal at the Administrative Court in Sofia concerning the tax assessments for 2008 and 2009 and will appeal 
subsequently at the Supreme Administrative Court, if necessary. On 26 September 2017, Mobiltel filed an appeal at the competent 
administrative authority regarding the tax assessment for the year 2010. The decision of the administrative authority was received on 
27 November 2017, the decision being negative, thus Mobiltel filed its appeal at the Administrative Court in Sofia on 7 December 2017. A 
negative decision will be appealed at the Supreme Administrative Court, if necessary. As of 31 December 2017, Mobiltel has issued bank 
guarantees covering up to TEUR 62,988 covering the tax assessment acts for the financial years 2008, 2009 and 2010 to secure the 
possible tax claims and interest.  

The subsequent tax audit covering the years 2011 to 2013 was finalised with tax audit reports received on 29 December 2017. The decision 
of the Supreme Administrative Court for the year 2007 was not taken into consideration and additional corporate income tax due to non-
deductible tax amortisations on both brand name and customer base until 2012 was imposed by the tax authorities as follows: TEUR 15,916 
covering corporate income tax 2011 including interest and TEUR 11,936 covering corporate income tax 2012 to 2013 including interest. 
Tax and interest for brand name for the years 2008 to 2012 is provided for.  
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In the normal course of business, A1 Telekom Austria Group is subject to proceedings, lawsuits and other claims, including proceedings 
under laws and regulations related to network access. Such matters are subject to many uncertainties, and the outcomes are not 
predictable with certainty. Consequently, Management is unable to ascertain the ultimate aggregate amount of the monetary liability or the 
impact on the financial position of A1 Telekom Austria Group with respect to these matters at 31 December 2017. These matters could 
materially affect the operating results or cash flows of any quarter when resolved in future periods. However, Management believes that, 
after final settlement, any monetary liability or financial impact on A1 Telekom Austria Group, beyond such provided for at year-end, would 
not be material to its Consolidated Financial Statements. 

(35) Remuneration Paid to the Management Board and Supervisory Board  

As of 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Management Board of Telekom Austria AG is composed of Alejandro Plater, as Chief Executive 
Officer (CEO) and at the same time Chief Operating Officer (COO), as well as Siegfried Mayrhofer, as Chief Financial Officer (CFO). Since 
6 March 2015, Alejandro Plater has been a member of the Management Board and, since 1 August 2015, CEO. Since 1 June 2014, Siegfried 
Mayrhofer has been a member of the Management Board.  

The following table summarises the remuneration of members of the Management Board and Supervisory Board: 

in TEUR 2017 2016 

Basic remuneration (fixed salary incl. remuneration in kind) 1,026 1,026 

Variable remuneration  1,087 1,214 

Share-based compensation (Long Term Incentive Program)* 110 263 

Total 2,224 2,503 

      

Compensation Supervisory Board 358 204    
* See Note 0 

Hannes Ametsreiter resigned from his function as CEO as per 31 July 2015 and his employment relationship was terminated at the same 
date. In the table above, the variable remuneration in 2016 includes the payment of variable remuneration for the year 2015 until the 
resignation amounting to TEUR 208 as well as the share-based compensation for LTI 2013 of TEUR 104. The share-based compensation for 
LTI 2014 amounting to TEUR 71 and paid in 2017 is not included in the table. 

Günther Ottendorfer’s CTO contract with a term until 31 August 2016 was prematurely terminated as per 5 March 2015. The table above 
includes, in 2016 share-based compensation for LTI 2013 of TEUR 98. The share-based compensation for LTI 2014 amounting to TEUR 102 
and paid in 2017 is not included in the table. 

Hans Tschuden’s CFO contract with a term until 31 March 2015 was prematurely terminated as per 31 March 2014. The share-based 
compensation for LTI 2014 and LTI 2013 of TEUR 49 and TEUR 96, respectively, paid in 2016 and 2017, is not included in the table. 

(36) Employees 

The average number of employees during the years 2017 and 2016 was 18,659 and 17,717, respectively. As of 31 December 2017 and 
2016, A1 Telekom Austria Group employed 18,957 and 18,203 employees (full-time equivalents). 
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Acquisition of Akenes 
in TEUR 

Fair values on acquisition 
date 

Property, plant and equipment 739 
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Cash and cash equivalents 87 

Accounts payable – 1,316 

Net assets acquired 1,712 

Goodwill 7,698 

Consideration transferred 9,410 

Purchase price not yet paid – 3,111 

Cash and cash equivalents acquired – 87 

Net cash outflow 6,212   
 

The factors contributing to goodwill are expectations of positive returns due to a favourable development of the market share and cost 
synergies. The goodwill was allocated to the cash-generating unit A1 Digital. Since the acquisition date, Akenes has contributed revenues of 
TEUR 972 and a net loss of TEUR 241.  

Since the effect of the acquired entities on the Consolidated Financial Statements of A1 Telekom Austria Group is not considered significant, 
no pro-forma information is presented. Acquisition-related costs totalling TEUR 683 are reported in selling, general and administrative 
expenses. 

On 1 October 2015, Vip operator, a Macedonian subsidiary of A1 Telekom Austria Group, was merged with Telekom Slovenije’s subsidiary 
ONE, both operating in Macedonia. A1 Telekom Austria Group held 55% and had sole control over the newly created entity one.Vip, whereas 
Telekom Slovenije Group held 45%. Based on call and put options of the share purchase agreement and Telekom Slovenije’s exclusion from 
dividend rights, no non-controlling interest was recognised. On 9 November 2017, the call and put options for the exit of Telekom Slovenije 
Group were exercised at the amount of TEUR 120,000. A1 Telekom Austria Group now holds 100% of one.Vip. At 31 December 2016, the 
fair value of the option was reported in short-term financial liabilities (see Note (21)).  

(34) Commitments and Contingent Assets and Liabilities 

In June 2014, Mobiltel EAD (Mobiltel) received the tax assessment act related to the taxation treatment of amortisation of brand name and 
customer base in 2007. Mobiltel appealed to the highest tax authority in Sofia. In December 2014, this appeal was rejected. Mobiltel 
appealed to the Supreme Administrative Court in Sofia. On 22 February 2017, the Supreme Administrative Court decided in favour of 
Mobiltel regarding the amortisation of customer base of TEUR 15,060 including interest and rejected the appeal of Mobiltel in the amount of 
TEUR 7,801 relating to the amortisation of brand name including interest for the year 2007.  

Furthermore Mobiltel received tax assessments in 2017 for the years 2008, 2009 and 2010, which once again included brand name and 
customer base not to be tax deductible totalling TEUR 62,391 including interest calculated as per 31 December 2017. On 14 July 2017, 
Mobiltel filed an appeal at the Administrative Court in Sofia concerning the tax assessments for 2008 and 2009 and will appeal 
subsequently at the Supreme Administrative Court, if necessary. On 26 September 2017, Mobiltel filed an appeal at the competent 
administrative authority regarding the tax assessment for the year 2010. The decision of the administrative authority was received on 
27 November 2017, the decision being negative, thus Mobiltel filed its appeal at the Administrative Court in Sofia on 7 December 2017. A 
negative decision will be appealed at the Supreme Administrative Court, if necessary. As of 31 December 2017, Mobiltel has issued bank 
guarantees covering up to TEUR 62,988 covering the tax assessment acts for the financial years 2008, 2009 and 2010 to secure the 
possible tax claims and interest.  

The subsequent tax audit covering the years 2011 to 2013 was finalised with tax audit reports received on 29 December 2017. The decision 
of the Supreme Administrative Court for the year 2007 was not taken into consideration and additional corporate income tax due to non-
deductible tax amortisations on both brand name and customer base until 2012 was imposed by the tax authorities as follows: TEUR 15,916 
covering corporate income tax 2011 including interest and TEUR 11,936 covering corporate income tax 2012 to 2013 including interest. 
Tax and interest for brand name for the years 2008 to 2012 is provided for.  
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(37) Subsequent Events 

On 3 January 2018, the Management Board of Telekom Austria AG decided to call and redeem the hybrid bond amounting to TEUR 600,000, 
according to Section 5 (3) of the terms and conditions of the bond, at its nominal value plus all interest on 1 February 2018, the first call 
date (see Note (27)).  

In January 2018, A1 Telekom Austria Group entered into committed credit lines with a total volume of TEUR 540,000 and a maturity of up to 
twelve months. On 30 January 2018, the amount of TEUR 240,000 was drawn.  

(38) Release for Publication 

On 30 January 2018, the Management Board approved the Consolidated Financial Statements for submission to the Supervisory Board. The 
Supervisory Board will review the Consolidated Financial Statements and report its decision on approval.  

 

Vienna, 30 January 2018 

 

 

 

 CEO and COO Alejandro Plater  CFO Siegfried Mayrhofer   
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(38) Release for Publication 

On 30 January 2018, the Management Board approved the Consolidated Financial Statements for submission to the Supervisory Board. The 
Supervisory Board will review the Consolidated Financial Statements and report its decision on approval.  
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Auditor’s Report1) 
Report on the Consolidated  
Financial Statements

Audit Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of  
Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna, and of its  
subsidiaries (the Group) comprising the consolidated state-
ment of financial position as of December 31, 2017, the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the con- 
solidated statement of changes in equity and the consoli- 
dated statement of cash flows for the fiscal year then ended 
and the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Based on our audit the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements were prepared in accordance with the legal regu- 
lations and present fairly, in all material respects, the assets 
and the financial position of the Group as of December 31, 
2017 and its financial performance for the year then ended  
in accordance with the International Financial Reportings 
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by EU, and the additional require-
ments under Section 245a Austrian Company Code UGB.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with the regulation  
(EU) no. 537/2014 (in the following “EU regulation”) and 
in accordance with Austrian Standards on Auditing. Those 
standards require that we comply with International Standards 
on Auditing (ISA). Our responsibilities under those regula- 
tions and standards are further described in the “Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of  
the Group in accordance with the Austrian General Accepted 
Accounting Principles and professional requirements and  
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accord-
ance with these requirements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the con-
solidated financial statements of the fiscal year. These matters 
were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidat- 
ed financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 
matters.

We considered the following matters as key audit matters  
for our audit:

▸  1. Valuation of property, plant and equipment  
and intangible assets, including goodwill 

▸  2. Revenues and related IT systems
▸  3. Restructuring accruals
▸  4. Valuation of deferred tax assets

1. Valuation of property, plant  
and equipment and intangible  
assets, including goodwill 
Description
Telekom Austria shows significant amounts of goodwill  
(mEUR 1,276.3), intangible assets (mEUR 2,075.9) and  
property, plant and equipment (mEUR 2,627.9) in its con- 
solidated financial statements as of December 31, 2017. 

Under IFRS, an entity is required to annually test the amount  
of goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite life for 
impairment. For intangible assets with a definite life as well  
as property, plant and equipment, it is required to assess  
on each balance sheet date whether impairment indicators 
exist and if they exist, an impairment test is required for  
these assets. 

Telekom Austria’s disclosures about goodwill, intangibles 
assets and property, plant and equipment and related impair-
ment testing are included in Note 4 (Estimations), Note 14 
(Property, plant and equipment), Note 15 (Intangibles) and 
Note 16 (Goodwill) in the consolidated financial statements. 

We considered the impairment testing of property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets, including goodwill, as a  
key audit matter as the related asset amounts are significant 
and the assessment process itself is complex and requires 
judgment. The impairment tests include assumptions that  
are affected by future market or economic conditions.

How our audit addressed the matter
Our audit procedures included, among others, the following:

We assessed the design and implementation of the controls 
over the impairment testing process.

1) This report is a translation of the original report in German, which is solely  
 valid. Publication or sharing with third parties of the consolidated financial  
 statements together with our auditor’s opinion is only allowed if the con- 
 solidated financial statements and the management report for the Group  
 are identical with the German audited version. This audit opinion is only  
 applicable to the German and complete consolidated financial statements  
 with the management report for the Group. Section 281 paragraph 2 UGB  
 (Austrian Company Code) applies to alternated versions.
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Furthermore, we evaluated the composition of cash generating 
units (CGU’s) and the assets allocated to each CGU. 

We compared forecasted revenues and EBITDA margins as  
well as capital expenditure and changes in working capital  
for all CGU’s with the Telekom Austria plans submitted to  
the audit committee and analyzed the main drivers for the 
future development included in the business plan to de- 
termine the appropriateness of the projections. We also  
verified the assumptions made in relation to discount rates  
and growth rates.

EY valuation specialists assisted us in performing the audit 
procedures relating to impairment. 

We also evaluated the adequacy of disclosures made  
regarding impairment testing and related assumptions. 

2. Revenues and related IT systems

Description
Telekom Austria’s revenues in 2017 resulted from various  
revenue streams and IT systems processing millions of  
records per day.

Telekom Austria’s disclosures about revenues are included in 
Note 5 (Revenues) in the consolidated financial statements.

Revenues and related IT systems were important for our  
audit as there is an industry inherent risk around the accuracy  
of revenues recorded given the complexity of systems and  
the large volume of data processed as well as the impact  
of changing pricing models to revenue recognition (tariff  
structures, incentive arrangements, discounts etc.).

How our audit addressed the matter
Our audit procedures included, among others, the following:

We assessed the accounting policies relating to revenue  
recognition (including multiple element contracts as well  
as customer loyalty programs) and the impact of new  
business models. 

Furthermore, we assessed the design and implementation of 
the controls over the revenue processes including the revenue 
related IT systems (rating, billing and other support systems) 
and IT general controls with involvement of EY IT specialists. 

We performed substantive audit procedures on revenues to 
corroborate the results of the design and implementation  
assessment of controls over revenue related processes and  
IT systems.

3. Restructuring accruals

Description
Telekom Austria shows significant amounts of restructuring  
accruals (mEUR 501.0 as of December 31, 2017) which 
consist of accruals for employees, who will no longer provide 
services but who cannot be laid off due to their status  
as civil servants, accruals for social plans and accruals for  
employees transferring voluntarily to the government. 

Telekom Austria’s disclosures about restructuring accruals  
are included in Note 4 (Estimations) and Note 22 (Accrued  
liabilities and current provisions, asset retirement obligation 
and restructuring) in the consolidated financial statements.

We considered restructuring accruals as a key audit matter as 
the related amounts are significant, the determination process 
itself requires judgment and a change in the assumptions can 
have a significant impact on the financial statements.

How our audit addressed the matter
Our audit procedures included, among others, the following:

We assessed the legal and contractual basis for the  
restructuring accruals.

Furthermore, we assessed the design and implementation  
of the controls over the determination of the Company’s  
restructuring accruals.

We recalculated the computations of the restructuring accru-
als and verified the main assumptions (discount rate, rate of 
compensation increase, participant data as well as employee 
turnover rate for accruals for employees, who will no longer 
provide services but who cannot be laid off due to their status 
as civil servants) used in the calculations. 

EY actuaries assisted us in performing the audit procedures 
relating to restructuring accruals. 

We also evaluated the adequacy of disclosures made  
regarding restructuring accruals and related assumptions.
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4. Valuation of deferred tax assets

Description
Telekom Austria shows significant deferred tax assets  
(mEUR 327.1 as of December 31, 2017) in its consolidated 
financial statements, a further amount of mEUR 417.0 has  
not been recognized as the realization is not probable in the 
near future according to the assessment of the entity based  
on its tax planning.

Telekom Austria’s related disclosures are included in Note 4 
(Estimations) and Note 28 (Income Taxes) of the consolidated 
financial statements. Deferred tax assets and tax loss carry- 
forwards mainly relate to the operations in Austria.

The valuation of deferred tax assets was important for our 
audit as the assessment process is complex and requires 
judgement. It is based on assumptions that are affected by 
future market or economic conditions.

How our audit addressed the matter
Our audit procedures included, among others, the following: 

We assessed the design and implementation of the controls 
over the determination of the Company’s deferred tax assets.

We compared forecasted revenue and profit margins as well  
as capital expenditure for all cash generating units with the  
Telekom Austria plans submitted to the audit committee  
and analyzed the main drivers for the future development  
included in the business plan (to determine the appropriate- 
ness of the projections. We also verified the treatment of  
differences between IFRS and tax law in the planning of future  
taxable income. We assessed whether the deferred tax assets 
may be recoverable before the tax loss carryforwards expire. 

EY tax specialists assisted us in performing the audit  
procedures relating to deferred tax assets. 

We also evaluated the adequacy of disclosures made  
regarding deferred tax assets and related assumptions.

Responsibilities of Management 
and of the Audit Committee 
for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of the con- 
solidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS as 
adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements under 
Section 245a Austrian Company Code UGB for them to present 
a true and fair view of the assets, the financial position and  
the financial performance of the Group and for such internal 
controls as management determines are necessary to enable 
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that  
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud  
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, manage-
ment is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to con-
tinue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis  
of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate 
the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alterna-
tive but to do so. 

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s 
financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for  
the Audit of the Consolidated  
Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not 
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the 
EU regulation and in accordance with Austrian Standards on 
Auditing, which require the application of ISA, always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the EU regulation and 
in accordance with Austrian Standards on Auditing, which re-
quire the application of ISA, we exercise professional judgment 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
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We also:

▸  identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence  
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for  
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstate-
ment resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, inten-
tional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

▸  obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to  
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are  
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose  
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

▸  evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and relat-
ed disclosures made by management.

▸  conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use  
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertain-
ty exists related to events or conditions that may cast sig-
nificant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial state-
ments or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 
to continue as a going concern.

▸  evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content  
of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial state-
ments represent the underlying transactions and events  
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

▸  obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding  
the financial information of the entities or business activ-
ities within the Group to express an opinion on the con-
solidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. 
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit  
and significant audit findings, including any significant defi-
ciencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that  
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relation-
ships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,  
we determine those matters that were of most significance  
in the audit of the financial statements of the current period 
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation  
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in  
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the  
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be  
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such  
communication.

Report on Other Legal and  
Regulatory Requirements

Comments on the Management  
Report for the Group
Pursuant to Austrian Generally Accepted Accounting Princi-
ples, the management report for the Group is to be audited 
as to whether it is consistent with the consolidated financial 
statements and as to whether the management report for  
the Group was prepared in accordance with the applicable 
legal regulations.

Management is responsible for the preparation of the man-
agement report for the Group in accordance with Austrian 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles and other legal  
or regulatory requirements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Austrian  
Standards on Auditing for the audit of the management  
report for the Group.

Opinion
In our opinion, the management report for the Group was pre-
pared in accordance with the valid legal requirements, com-
prising the details in accordance with Section 243a Austrian 
Company Code UGB, and is consistent with the consolidated 
financial statements.

Statement
Based on the findings during the audit of the consolidated  
financial statements and due to the thus obtained under- 
standing concerning the Group and its circumstances no  
material misstatements in the management report for the 
Group came to our attention.
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Mag. Erich Lehner mp

Wirtschaftsprüfer / Certified  

Public Accountant

Mag. (FH) Severin Eisl mp 

Wirtschaftsprüfer / Certified  

Public Accountant

Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. The 
other information comprises the information included in the 
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial 
statements, the management report for the Group and the 
auditor’s report thereon. The annual report is estimated to  
be provided to us after the date of the auditor’s report. Our 
opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not 
cover the other information and we do not express any form  
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information, 
as soon as it is available, and, in doing so, to consider whether – 
based on our knowledge obtained in the audit – the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.

Additional information in accordance 
with article 10 EU regulation
We were elected as auditor by the ordinary general meeting at 
June 9, 2017. We were appointed by the Supervisory Board on 
October 5, 2017. We are auditors without cease since 2015.

We confirm that the audit opinion in the Section “Report on 
the consolidated financial statements” is consistent with the 
additional report to the audit committee referred to in article 
11 of the EU regulation.

We declare that no prohibited non-audit services (article 5 
par. 1 of the EU regulation) were provided by us and that we 
remained independent of the audited company in conducting 
the audit.

Responsible Austrian Certified  
Public Accountant
The engagement partner is Mr. Erich Lehner, Certified  
Public Accountant.

Vienna, January 30, 2018

Ernst & Young
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft m.b.H.
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We confirm to the best of our knowledge that the consolidated 
financial statements prepared according to the applicable 
accounting standards give a true and fair view of the assets, 
liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Group and 
that the Group management report describes the develop-
ment and performance of the business and the position of the 
Group in a way that it gives a true and fair view of the assets, 
liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Group and 
the Group management report describes the principal risks 
and uncertainties the Group faces.

The Management Board

Declaration of the 
Management Board

Alejandro Plater, CEO & COO

A1 Telekom Austria Group

Siegfried Mayrhofer, CFO 

A1 Telekom Austria Group
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Telekom Austria AG  
Financial Statements 2017
Separate Financial Statements according  
to Austrian Commercial Code – UGB

Annex

I Statement of Financial Position as of 31 December 2017

 with prior year’s comparative figures
 in thousands of Euro (TEUR)

II Statement of Profit or Loss for the year 2017

 with prior year’s comparative figures
 in thousands of Euro (TEUR)

III Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year 2017

 (including
 Exhibit 1 – Development of Long-term Assets
 Exhibit 2 – Composition of Shares in Affiliated Companies)

IV Management Report of Telekom Austria AG

 for the Year 2017

V Auditor’s Report (Translation)
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    31.12.17 31.12.16 

A. Long-term assets EUR TEUR

 Financial assets
 1. Investments in affiliated companies 7,834,701,994.96 6,818,921

 2. Other investments 543,341.86 543

    7,835,245,336.82 6,819,464
B. Current assets  
 I. Receivables
  1. Accounts receivable – trade  316,734.42 2

   thereof with a remaining maturity of > 1 year: EUR 0.00 
    previous year: TEUR 0

  2. Receivables – affiliated companies 146,841,753.26 287,341

   thereof with a remaining maturity of > 1 year: EUR 0.00 
    previous year: TEUR 0

  3. Receivables – associated companies 16,418.66 64

   thereof with a remaining maturity of > 1 year: EUR 0.00 
    previous year: TEUR 0

  4. Other accounts receivable 543,750.65 13,036

   thereof with a remaining maturity of > 1 year: EUR 0.00 
    previous year: TEUR 0

    147,718,656.99 300,443
 II. Cash and cash equivalents 192.14 01)

    147,718,849.13 300,443
C. Prepaid expenses 7,808,158.11 10,015
D. Deferred tax assets 64,786,560.23 144,919
    8,055,558,904.29 7,274,841

1) small amount

Assets

Annex I/1 
Statement of Financial Position as of 31 December 2017
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    31.12.17 31.12.16 

A. Stockholders' equity EUR TEUR

 I. Common stock issued
   Common stock 1,449,274,500.00 1,449,275

   less Treasury shares -905,461.78 -905

    1,448,369,038.22 1,448,369
 II. Additional paid-in capital
  1. Appropriated 1,582,004,573.67 1,582,005

  2. Appropriated for treasury shares 905,461.78 905

    1,582,910,035.45 1,582,910
 III. Retained earnings 
  1. Other reserves (unrestricted reserves) 2,051,552,147.46 1,056,179

 IV. Net income 345,500,000.00 413,200
   thereof carried forward: EUR 280,383,031.80

    previous year: TEUR 259,568

    5,428,331,221.13 4,500,658
B. Provisions
 1. Provisions for severance obligations 5,566,817.96 5,544

 2. Tax provisions  17,075,846.80 1,538

 3. Other provisions  7,508,086.40 6,148

    30,150,751.16 13,230
C. Liabilities 
 1. Subordinated capital/hybrid bond 600,000,000.00 600,000

  thereof with a remaining maturity of < 1 year: EUR 600,000,000.00 
   previous year: TEUR 0

  thereof with a remaining maturity of > 1 year: EUR 0.00 
   previous year: TEUR 600,000

 2. Liabilities to banks  30,791,095.89 30,799

  thereof with a remaining maturity of < 1 year: EUR 30,791,095.89 
   previous year: TEUR 30,799

  thereof with a remaining maturity of > 1 year: EUR 0.00; previous year: TEUR 0

 3. Accounts payable – trade  3,332,862.88 3,264

  thereof with a remaining maturity of < 1 year: EUR 3,332,862.88 
   previous year: TEUR 3,264

  thereof with a remaining maturity of > 1 year: EUR 0.00; previous year: TEUR 0

 4. Liabilities due to affiliated companies  1,962,036,488.22 2,126,034

  thereof with a remaining maturity of < 1 year: EUR 162,036,488.22 
   previous year: TEUR 576,034

  thereof with a remaining maturity of > 1 year: EUR 1,800,000,000.00   
   previous year: TEUR 1,550,000

 5. Other liabilities  916,485.01 856

  thereof with a remaining maturity of < 1 year: EUR 916,485.01 
   previous year: TEUR 856 

  thereof with a remaining maturity of > 1 year: EUR 0.00; previous year: TEUR 0

   thereof from taxes: EUR 0.00; previous year: TEUR 0

    thereof with a remaining maturity of < 1 year: EUR 0.00; previous year TEUR 0

    thereof with a remaining maturity of > 1 year: EUR 0.00; previous year TEUR 0

   thereof to social security: EUR 597,754.82; previous year: TEUR 506

    thereof with a remaining maturity of < 1 year: EUR 597,754.82 
     previous year: TEUR 506

    thereof with a remaining maturity of > 1 year: EUR 0.00; previous year: TEUR 0

Total liabilites  2,597,076,932.00 2,760,953
  thereof with a remaining maturity of < 1 year: EUR 797,076,932.00 
   previous year: TEUR 610,953

  thereof with a remaining maturity of > 1 year: EUR 1,800,000,000.00 
   previous year: TEUR 2,150,000 

    8,055,558,904.29 7,274,841

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity

Annex I/2
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 2017 2016
     EUR EUR TEUR TEUR

1. Revenues    32,687,583.44  27,089

2. Other operating income

 a) Income from the reversal of accruals 1,494,883.50  0

  b) Other   211,481.59 1,706,365.09 111 111

3. Personnel expenses 

 a) Salaries   -27,871,679.21  -24,092 

 b) Social security contributions, -7,334,277.78  -6,806 

  thereof pension expense 
  EUR 826,096.29; previous year: TEUR 831

  aa) Expenses for severance  
   payments and payments  
   to staff contribution plans 
   EUR 553,608.36; previous year: TEUR 1,031

  bb) Expenses for statutory social 
   security and payroll related 
   taxes and contributions 
   EUR 5,866,361.77; previous year: TEUR 4,891  -35,205,956.99  -30,898

4. Other operating expenses   -32,182,218.46  -24,358

  thereof other business taxes EUR 140,213.95;  
  previous year: TEUR 227   

5. Subtotal from line 1 to 4 (operating result)  -32,994,226.92  -28,055
6. Income from investments   318,298,123.22  332,514

  thereof from affiliated companies: 
  EUR 317,833,043.22; previous year: TEUR 331,954

7. Other interest income  2,408,091.40  1,170

  thereof from affiliated companies:  
  EUR 0.00; previous year TEUR 0 

8. Income or expenses from the  
 impairment or the reversal of

 impairment losses on long-term financial assets   873,781,301.66  538,861

9. Expenses for long-term financial assets   0.00  -333,830

  thereof: a) impairment losses:  
     EUR 0.00; previous year: TEUR 318,020 
    b) expenses from affiliated companies: 
     EUR 0.00; prev.year: TEUR 333,830

10. Interest and similar expenses   -94,926,047.18  -110,544

  thereof related to affiliated companies: 
  EUR 59,827,295.01; previous year: TEUR 75,001

11. Subtotal from line 6 to 10 (financial result)  1,099,561,469.10  428,171
12. Result before income taxes (Subtotal from line 5 and line 11) 1,066,567,242.18  400,116
13. Income taxes   -6,076,882.90  402,802

  thereof deferred taxes:  
  EUR -80,132,801.16; previous year: TEUR 357,390

  thereof additional charges to group parent: 
  EUR 94,633,110.25; previous year: TEUR 41,450

14. Earnings/loss after income taxes   1,060,490,359.28  802,918
15. Transfer from net income to other reserves   -995,373,391.08  -649,286

16. Profit carried forward from prior year  280,383,031.80  259,568

17. Retained Profit  345,500,000.00  413,200

Statement of Profit or Loss for 2017

Annex II
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1 Accounting Principles

1.1
 
General Principles

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with the provisions of the Austrian Commercial Code (UGB), 
taking into account Austrian generally accepted accounting 
principles and in compliance with the general principle  
of providing a true and fair view of the net assets, financial 
position and result of operations of the Company.

The financial statements were prepared by adhering to the 
principle of completeness. 

The principles of individual measurement and going concern 
were complied with in measuring assets and liabilities.

The principle of prudence was observed in that only profits  
realised as of the reporting date were recognised. All identifi- 
able risks and contingent losses were taken into account.

The statement of operations was prepared in accordance with 
the total cost format. The figures presented in the notes to the 
financial statements are shown in thousands of Euros (TEUR). 
The reporting date is 31 December.

1.2 Long-term Assets

Investments in affiliated companies and Other investments  
are measured at acquisition cost. Impairment losses are  
recognised if the fair value at the reporting date is lower  
than the carrying amount of the asset and is expected to  
be permanent in duration. Impairment losses are reversed  
if the reason for the impairment no longer exists.

The determination of fair values is based on the Discounted 
Cash-Flow method. Significant assumptions of the calculation 
were made for: sales development, cost drivers, adjustment of 
the Working Capital, asset additions, growth rate and discount 
rate. The applied discount rates before taxes were between 
6.5 % and 20 %. These rates derive from market data for each 
valuation unit, considering risks related to the valuation unit.  
The applied growth rates for the perpetual annuity were be-  
tween 0.3 % and 9.7. These growth rates are based on the  
general growth rate, the company’s past revenue growth and 
detail plans. Cash-Flow estimates are based on a five years 
business plan. 

1.3 Current Assets

Receivables are measured at their nominal value unless the 
lower net realizable value is recognised in the event of identifi-
able individual risks. Specific valuation allowances are recog-
nised to account for default risks. Receivables denominated 
in foreign currencies are measured at the Euro reference rate 
of the European Central Bank at the date of accrual or at the 
lower rate of the Euro reference rate of the European Central 
Bank at the reporting date.

1.4 Provisions

In the previous year, long-term provisions for taxes were  
discounted by 1.84%. In the current financial year, no long-
term provisions were shown. 

Provisions for severance obligations are recognised for  
the legal and contractual obligations to members of the  
Management Board and for employees, whose employment 
with Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft started before  
1 January 2003. The calculation is based on the principles  
of actuarial mathematics using the projected unit credit meth-
od according to the basis of actuarial calculation of retirement 
insurance for employees issued by the Austrian Actuarial  
Association (Tafelwerk AVÖ 2008 P Angestellte – Rechnungs-
grundlagen für die Pensionsversicherung – Pagler & Pagler) 
applying an interest rate of 2.00% (previous year: 1.75 %), 
based on a future pay increase of 3 % (previous year: 3 %)  
and an employee turnover rate of 0.5 % (previous year: 0.5 %). 
The retirement age was calculated in compliance with the 
retirement age according to the Austrian Ancilliary Budget  
Act (Budgetbegleitgesetz) 2011, using 62 years for female 
and male employees considering the transitional provisions. 
Provisions for anniversary bonuses are similar to those for 
severance obligations and are measured in the same way as 
the provision for severance obligations, calculated with an  
interest rate of 1.00 % (previous year: 1.25 %), based on a  
future pay increase of 3 % for employees or rather 4.4 % for 
civil servants (previous year: 3 % for employees or rather  
4.4 % for civil servants). A duration for provisions for sever- 
ance obligations of 11.14 years (previous year: 11.66 years) 
and for provisions for anniversary bonuses of 5.04 years  
(previous year: 5.49 years) was assumed. 

Other provisions are recognised in the estimated amount  
of the obligation and take identifiable risks into account as  
well as uncertain amounts regarding liabilities incurred. Like  
in the previous year, no long-term provisions were shown. 

1.5 Liabilities 

Liabilities are recognised at settlement amount taking into 
account the prudence principle. Foreign currency liabilities are 
valued at the rate of the Euro reference rate of the European 
Central Bank on the date of accrual or at the higher rate of 
the Euro reference rate of the European Central Bank at the 
reporting date. Roaming liabilities are valued at the settlement 
rate for special drawing rights or the higher rate of the Euro 
reference rate of the European Central Bank.
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2 Notes on Statement  
of Financial Position

2.1 Long-term Assets

The development of the individual fixed asset items is shown  
in the schedule of long-term assets (Appendix 1).

The composition of investments in affiliated companies  
is shown in the schedule of investments (Appendix 2).

Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft (Telekom Austria AG), 
which holds 99 % in Telekom Projektentwicklungs GmbH 
(TPEG), concluded a profit and loss exclusion contract with 
the Telekom Finanzmanagement GmbH (TFG) and Telekom 
Projetentwicklungs GmbH (TPEG), the sole shareholder of  
Telekom Finanzmanagement GmbH TFG, with the consent of 
A1 Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft (A1 Telekom Austria 
AG), which holds 1 % in Telekom Projektentwicklungs GmbH 
TPEG. This contract became effective on 1 January 2009  
and can be terminated in writing by either contractual party  
at the end of each financial year with a notice period of  
three months.

2.2 Receivables

Receivables – associated companies contain trade receivables 
in the amount of TEUR 4,086 (previous year: TEUR 5,146),  
finance receivables in the amount of TEUR 4,815 (previous 
year: TEUR 208,287) and other receivables in the amount of 
TEUR 137,941 (previous year: TEUR 73,907). Receivables –  
affiliated companies contain trade receivables in the amount 
of TEUR 16 (previous year: TEUR 64).

As in the previous year, other receivables do not include  
any material earnings for which payment will be received  
after the reporting date.

2.3 Prepaid Expenses

Prepaid expenses mainly comprise discounts for the  
placement of a hybrid bond in 2013 and of intra-company 
loans resulting from the issue of a bond by Telekom  
Finanzmanagement GmbH (TFG) in 2016 and 2017.

2.4 Deferred Tax Assets

According to Section 198 (9) of the Austrian Commercial code 
large corporations are obliged to recognize a deferred tax asset 
if differences arise. The most important differences causing 
a deferred tax asset are partial depreciations of investments, 
costs for the procurement of funds as well as employee benefit 
obligations. Deferred tax assets are recognized with a tax rate 
of 25 % as stipulated in the Austrian Corporate Tax Law (Körper-
schaftssteuergesetz), as in relation to the Austrian Tax Authority 
every tax saving has an impact of 25 % on Telekom Austria.  
In the financial period, the deferred tax assets decreased to 

TEUR 64,787 (prior year: TEUR 144,919), with the highest 
amount in the partial depreciations of investments. The optional 
right to capitalize tax losses carried forward was not executed. 

As a profit and loss exclusion contract was concluded between 
the company and TPEG as well as between TPEG and TFG, the 
settlement of the tax allocation between these companies re-
mains undone. According to AFRAC expert opinion 30 (AFRAC 
Fachgutachten 30) the deferred tax assets of TFG are recog-
nized in the parent company Telekom Austria AG (controlling 
company of the treaty of exclusion of all profits and losses). 
The deferred tax assets were also recognized with a tax rate  
of 25 %. The most notable differences of TFG for deferred  
tax assets are due to costs for the procurement of funds and 
partial depreciations of investments.

In the financial year 2017, the deferred tax assets changed  
as follows:

  2017 2016 
  TEUR TEUR

Deferred tax asset  
Telekom Austria AG 64,726 143,691

Deferred tax asset Telekom  
Finanzmanagement GmbH 60 1,228

Total tax income 64,787 144,919

2.5 Share Capital

The share capital of Telekom Austria AG amounts to TEUR 
1,449,275 and is divided into 664,500,000 no-par shares. 
ÖBIB holds 28.42%, América Móvil holds 51%, 20.52% of  
the shares are attributable to the free float and the remaining 
0.06% are held as treasury shares. Treasury shares amount  
to TEUR 905 of the share capital, equal to 415,159 shares  
and were acquired in September 2007.

Pursuant to the resolution of the Annual General Meeting  
on 29 May 2013, the Management Board is authorised to  
use treasury shares for the issue to employees, senior staff  
and members of the Management Board/management of  
the Company and its affiliated companies and/or to service 
stock options from performance share programs either in  
return for payment or gratuitously. The Management Board 
was also authorised to use treasury shares as consideration 
for the acquisition of companies, business operations, busi-
ness units or shares in one or more companies, both in the 
home country and abroad. The Management Board was also 
authorised to sell treasury shares in accordance with Section 
65 (1b) of the Austrian Stock Corporation Act (AktG) via the 
stock exchange at any time or by public offer for a period of 
five years in any other legally admissible manner, including 
off-market, whereby the Management Board may also decide 
to exclude the public from buying.
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2.6 Dividends

The Management Board will propose the Supervisory  
Board to distribute a dividend of EUR 0.20 per eligible share. 
The remaining net income shall be carried forward.

2.7 Provisions

Other provisions include provisions for:

  31.12.2017 31.12.2016 
  TEUR TEUR

Personal  4,303 3,807

Long Term Incentive Program (LTI) 2,969 1,868

Other 236 473

  7,508 6,148

On 27 January 2005, TFG issued a EUR 500 million Eurobonds 
with a fixed interest rate of 4.250 % and terms of twelve  
years, respectively, under the Euro Medium Term Note (EMTN) 
Program. Telekom Austria AG und A1 Telekom AG signed  
irrevocable and unconditional guarantees for all payments 
related to the bond. The bond was repaid as scheduled on  
27 January 2017.

In March 2012, Telekom Austria AG and Telekom  
Finanzmanagement GmbH initiated a new Euro Medium Term 
Note (EMTN) Program with a volume of TEUR 2,500,000. All 
payments from bonds issued by Telekom Finanzmanagement 
GmbH under this program are irrevocably and unconditionally 
guaranteed by Telekom Austria AG.

On 2 April 2012, TFG issued a TEUR 750,000 bond with a fixed 
interest rate of 4 % and a term of ten years under the EMTN 
Program. Telekom Austria AG has signed an irrevocable and 
unconditional guarantee in favour of the bondholder.

On 4 July 2013, TFG issued a TEUR 300,000 bond with a fixed 
interest rate of 3.5 % and a term of ten years under the EMTN 
Program. Telekom Austria AG has signed an irrevocable and 
unconditional guarantee in favour of the bondholder. 

On 3 December 2013, TFG issued a TEUR 750,000 bond with 
a fixed interest rate of 3.125 % and a term of eight years under 
the EMTN Program. Telekom Austria AG has signed an irrevoca-
ble and unconditional guarantee in favour of the bondholder.

On 7 December 2016, TFG issued a TEUR 500,000 bond with 
a fixed interest rate of 1.5 % and a term of ten years. Telekom 
Austria AG has signed an irrevocable and unconditional guar-
antee in favour of the bondholder.

On 14 July 2017 a tap issuance in the amount of EUR 250 million  
relating to Telekom Austria Group’s benchmark bond issued 
in December 2016, maturing in 2026 with a coupon of 1.5 % 
p. a., was settled. In August 2017 the outstanding bond and 
the tap were consolidated and have the same terms in all re-
spect. The total volume of the bond amounts to TEUR 750,000. 
Telekom Austria AG has signed an irrevocable and uncondi-
tional guarantee in favour of the bondholder.

All contingent liabilities are, as in the previous year, due to  
affiliated companies. Bank warranty declarations contain  
guarantees in the amount of TEUR 1,550,000 (previous year: 
TEUR 1,355,000) for TFG.

On 10 November 2008, the company signed a guarantee  
due to Telekom Austria Personalmanagement GmbH (TAP), 
which ensures TAP that A1 Telekom Austria AG will perform  
its respective duties, according to the profit and loss elimi- 
nation agreement. Furthermore the company guarantees  
in the case of non-fulfillment of the duties of A1 Telekom  
Austria AG to provide Telekom Austria Personalmanagement 
GmbH with sufficient liquidity to meet all its financial liabilities.

2.8
 
Liabilities

On 24 January 2013, Telekom Austria AG placed an interest- 
bearing, perpetual hybrid bond with a volume of over EUR 600 
million and a coupon of 5.625 %. The bond was placed at a 
reoffer price of 98.943 % and the first reset date was stipulated 
on 1 February 2018 (see section 4.4 Subsequent Events).

In the financial period as well as in the previous year no  
liabilities with a maturity of more than 5 years are recognized 
in neither accounts payable – trade nor in other liabilities.

Liabilities due to affiliated companies contain accounts paya-
ble – trade in the amount of TEUR 3,285 (previous year: TEUR 
2,921), financial liabilities in the amount of TEUR 1,957,725 
(previous year: TEUR 2,107,162) and other liabilities in the 
amount of TEUR 1,026 (previous year: TEUR 15,951). In the 
financial period 2017 the financial liabilities contain liabilities 
due to affiliated companies in the amount of TEUR 1,050,000 
(previous year: TEUR 1,550,000) with a maturity of more than 
5 years. In the financial period as well as in the previous year 
no liabilities with a maturity of more than 5 years are recog-
nized in neither accounts payable – trade nor in other liabilities.

As in the previous year, other liabilities do not include  
any material expenses for which payment is made after the 
reporting date. 

  31.12.2017 31.12.2016 
  TEUR TEUR

Guarantees as part  
of the EMTN Programs 1,800,000 2,300,000

Guarantee as part  
of the 2016 bond 500,000 500,000

Guarantee as part of the  
tap issuance of the 2016 bond 250,000 0

Bank guarantees 1,555,945 1,367,169

  4,105,945 4,167,169

Contingent Liabilities
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3 Notes on the Statement  
of Profit or Loss

3.1
 
Revenues

Revenues of TEUR 32,688 (previous year: TEUR 27,089) relate 
mainly to services such as public relations and communica-
tions work, coordinating product development and the tech-
nical infrastructure, legal and tax advice and investment con-
trolling, services in conjunction with the Department of Human 
Resource and Civil Service Regulations (Beamtendienstrecht) 
together with salary and collective agreement negotiations 
that are predominantly charged to A1 Telekom Austria AG,  
A1 Digital International GmbH (formerly Telekom Austria Group 
M2M GmbH), Telekom Austria Personalmanagement GmbH, 
MobilTel EAD, A1 Slovenija (formerly Si.mobil d.d.), Vip mobile 
d.o.o., one.VIP DOOEL, VIPnet d.o.o. and Unitary enterprise 
Velcom by Telekom Austria AG on the basis of intercompany 
agreements.

3.2
 
Personnel Expenses

Personnel Expenses were as follows:

3.3
 
Severance expenses  

and pension expenses
Severance expense and payments to staff contribution plans 
as well as pension expenses were as follows:

  2017 2016 
  TEUR TEUR

Salaries 27,872 24,092

Expenses for statutory  
social security 5,866 4,891

 and payroll related taxes  
and contributions 
Severance expense 266 792

Pension expenses 826 831

Other social benefits 88 53

Payments to staff  
contributions plans 288 238

  35,206 30,898

  2017 2016 
  TEUR TEUR

Members of the Management Board 24 233

Senior staff  46 54

Other employees 1,310 1,575

  1,380 1,862

Salaries include expenses of TEUR 10 (previous year: TEUR 26 
expenses) resulting from changes in the anniversary benefit 
obligation.

Changes in provisions are presented in the statement  
of profit and loss in the following items:
▸  Anniversary benefit obligation and other provisions  

in salaries
▸  Severance obligation in severance expenses  

and payments to staff contribution plans
▸  Pension expenses in other social benefits
▸  Payroll related expenses for other provisions  

in expenses for statutory social security  
and payroll related taxes and contributions

The average number of full-time employees was 259  
(previous year: 208). The average number of full-time civil 
servants was 11 (previous year: 10).

3.4
 
Other Operating Expenses

  2017 2016 
  TEUR TEUR

Other operative taxes 140 227

Other charges 7,335 3,836

Intercompany charges 12,598 9,783

Legal and other consulting 2,537 3,090

Other 9,572 7,422

  32,182 24,358

Other operating expenses include expenses related to services 
of A1 Telekom Austria AG amounting to TEUR 14,795 (previous 
year: TEUR 10,179).

3.5
 
Income from Investments

Income from investments includes dividend income from  
A1 Telekom Austria AG of TEUR 302,000 (previous year:  
TEUR 260,000) as well as dividend income from mobilkom  
Belarus Geschäftsentwicklungs GmbH of TEUR 66,000 and 
from Mobilkom Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH of TEUR 5,954. 

Due to the profit and loss elimination agreement with  
TPEG an income in the amount of TEUR 15,833 (previous  
year: TEUR 15,810 expenses) was generated.

Futhermore Income from Other investments includes  
dividend income from CEESEG Aktiengesellschaft amounting 
to TEUR 465 (previous year: TEUR 560).

3.6
 
Income from the Reversal  

of Impairment Losses  
and Long-Term Financial Assets
Pursuant to Section 208 (1) of the Austrian Commercial Code 
(UGB) the reversal of previously recognised impairment losses 
of TEUR 873,781 (previous year: TEUR 538,000) was required 
to be recognised based on current company valuations. Rever-
sals of the impairment losses were recognised in an amount of  
TEUR 116,700 (prior year: TEUR 33,300) related to A1 Kroatien  
Beteiligungsverwaltung GmbH, in the amount of TEUR 350,021  
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(prior year: 504,700) for A1 Telekom Austria AG, in the amount 
of TEUR 129,540 for mobilkom Bulgarien Beteiligungsver-
waltungsgmbH, in the amount of TEUR 69,100 for mobilkom CEE  
Beteiligungsverwaltungs GmbH, in the amount of TEUR 150 
for mobilkom Mazedonien Beteiligungsverwaltungs GmbH and 
in the amount of TEUR 208,270 for mobilkom Belarus Beteili-
gungsverwaltungs GmbH. 

In the previous year, an income of TEUR 861 originated from 
the liquidation of Amisco.

3.7
 
Expenses for Long-Term  

Financial Assets
In the previous year, expenses from affiliated companies  
resulted from expenses incurred under the profit and loss  
elimination agreement with Telekom Projektentwicklungs 
GmbH (TPEG) in the amount of TEUR 15,810.

In the previous year, impairment losses were recognised for 
mobilkom Belarus Beteiligungsverwaltungs GmbH in the 
amount of TEUR 197,700, for mobilkom Mazedonien Beteili-
gungsverwaltungs GmbH in the amount of TEUR 58,120,  
for mobilkom CEE Beteiligungsvewaltungs GmbH in the amount 
of TEUR 55,000 and for mobilkom Bulgarien Beteiligungsver-
waltungs GmbH in the amount of TEUR 7,200. 

3.8
 
Income taxes

The Company is the head of a tax group as defined in Section 9 
of the Austrian Corporation Tax Act (KStG) and has concluded 
a group and tax allocation agreement with 3G Mobile Telecom-
munications GmbH, Telekom Austria Personalmanagement 
GmbH, A1 Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft, Telekom Pro-
jektentwicklungs GmbH (TPEG), Telekom Finanzmanagement 
GmbH (TFG), World-Direct eBusiness solutions Gesellschaft 
m.b.H., Telekom Austria Beteiligungen GmbH, paybox Bank 
AG, mk Logistik GmbH and paybox Service GmbH as members 
of the tax group.

As of 1 January 2017 all group members have to pay to the 
head of the tax group for all profits allocated to the head  
of the tax group a linear tax rate of 23 %, independent of the 
actual tax paid by the head of the tax group. 

Tax group members transferring a tax loss to the head of the 
group receive no compensation, but can carry forward this 
tax loss as an intra-group tax loss carry forward and offset 
the entire amount with future taxable profit within the group. 
Therefore, tax allocation is not required for intragroup loss  
carry forward. Intragroup loss carry forwards not yet offset at 
the time the group member leaves the tax group are compen-
sated to the extent required by company law upon termination 
of the agreement. 

The total tax income in the amount of TEUR 6,077 (previous 
year: 402,802) contains in the financial period 2017 an in-
come of the tax group allocation in the amount of TEUR 94,633 
(previous year: 46,432) which results from the current result. 

  2017 2016 
  TEUR TEUR

Corporate tax (other) current -20,541 -4,593

Corporate tax (group) current 94,633 46,432

Corporate tax (other)  
previous periods -37 8,556

Corporate tax (group)  
previous periods 0 -4,983

Corporate tax group 74,056 45,412
Provisions for deferred taxes 0 212,471

Total tax income 74,056 257,883
Changes in deferred tax assets  -80,133 144,919

Total tax -6,077 402,802

Details to Income Tax 2017

Due to the change in deferred tax assets, a tax expense of 
TEUR 80.133 (previous year: income of TEUR 144,919) was 
booked in the financial period.

Intragroup loss carry forward for which no provisions were 
recognised amounted to TEUR 37,839 (previous year:  
TEUR 36,690). For all companies with a valid profit and  
loss exclusion contract with a group member no provisions  
for intragroup loss carry forwards were recognised. 

In the current financial year, the head of the group was  
required to use tax loss carry forwards in the amount of  
TEUR 246,424 (previous year: TEUR 54,442).

4 Other Information

4.1
 
Remuneration of the Management 

and Supervisory Board of the Company
In 2017, remuneration of the members of the Management 
Board amounted to TEUR 2,114 (previous year: TEUR 2,032). 
Benefits paid under the Long Term Incentive Program are not 
included in the amount of remuneration of members of the  
Management Board. These benefits are included in section 4.2.

In 2017, remuneration of former members of the Management  
Board after resignation amounted to TEUR 0 (previous year: 
TEUR 208). In the current financial year remuneration of mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board amounted to TEUR 358 (previ-
ous year: TEUR 204).

4.2
 
Long Term Incentive (LTI) Program

On December 9, 2009, the Supervisory Board of Telekom Austria 
AG approved the LTI Program, in particular the first tranche of 
2010, and announced further tranches. The second tranche was 
approved on 21 February 2011. The third tranche was approved 
on 7 May 2012. A fourth tranche was approved on 6 May 2013.  
A fifth tranche was approved on 1 July 2014. The sixth tranche 
was approved on 21 April 2015. The seventh tranche was  
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approved on 26 April 2016 and allocated on 1 September 2016. 
The eight tranche was approved on 26 April 2017 and allocated 
on 1 June 2017. Participants are required to make a personal 
investment in Telekom Austria shares in an amount depending on 
the annual gross basic salaries and the management level of the 
entitled employee and to hold these shares until the end of the 
holding period. For each tranche, the number of shares granted 
is calculated based on the average Telekom Austria stock price 
for a defined period. This right is not transferrable.

The performance period for meeting the performance targets 
was determined to be three years. Net income, total shareholder  
return and EBITDA were defined as key performance indica-
tors. The target values for these key indicators are determined 
at the beginning of each tranche. 

For the tranches of the years 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016 and 
2017 a performance period of three years was defined. For  
the tranches of the years 2013, 2014 and 2015 net income, 
EBITDA and relative total shareholder return (determined on  
a basis of a weighted comparison group of nine European  
telecommunications providers) were defined. For the tranches  
2016 and 2017 return on invested capital (ROIC) and the  
revenue market share of Telekom Austria Group (each weight-
ed at 50 %) were defined as key performance indicators. At  
the beginning of a tranche the key performance indicators 
are set. At the vesting date, if the targets are reached, bonus 

shares double to the personal investment will be allocated to 
the participants, settlement will be in cash. If the targets are 
exceeded, additional shares will be allocated proportionally  
up to a maximum of 175 % of the shares or a maximum of  
350 % based on meeting the targets with 100 %. In case of 
significant underperformance, no shares are allocated.

  Personal investment
LTI 2014 in shares as exercised

Dipl.Ing. Siegfried Mayrhofer 18,825

Alejandro Douglass Plater 0

leitende Angestellte 6,950

sonstige Angestellte 82,164

Total Company 107,939
 

Members of Management and Supervisory  
Boards and entitled employees of subsidiaries 84,878

  LTI 2017 LTI 2016 LTI 2015
Program start 1 January 2017 1 January 2016 1 January 2015

Grant date 1 June 2017 1 September 2016 1 September 2015

End of vesting period 31 December 2019 31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Vesting date 1 June 2020 1 September 2019 1 September 2018
 

Personal investment in shares as of 31 December 2017 LTI 2017 LTI 2016 LTI 2015

Members of Management Board   
Dipl.Ing. Siegfried Mayrhofer 24,750 24,750 24,134

Alejandro Douglass Plater 29,521 33,638 14,650

Senior staff 0 3,200 6,950

Other employees 0 27,989 53,322

Total Company 54,271 89,577 99,056
   

Members of Management and entitled employees of subsidiaries 0 93,813 69,889
 

LTI 2015 2017 2016 2015
Expected bonus shares 206,630 214,289 184,873

Maximum bonus shares 346,694 378,175 389,183

Fair value in TEUR 1,629 1,164 917
 

LTI 2016 2017 2016 
Expected bonus shares 223,179 258,571 

Maximum bonus shares 313,520 371,882 

Fair value in TEUR 1,678 1,352 
 

LTI 2017 2017  
Expected bonus shares 132,311  

Maximum bonus shares 189,947  

Fair value in TEUR 987  

Expenses for the LTI Program in the amount of TEUR 1,748 (previous year: TEUR 1,503) are recognised in the income statement.

The Program LTI 2014 was exercised in the financial year 
2017. 1,204 bonus shares per share of personal investment 
were allocated at a share price of 5.23. The settlement was  
in cash.
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Vienna, January 30, 2018
The Management Board

Alejandro Douglass Plater Chairman of the  
  Management Board

Dipl.Ing. Siegfried Mayrhofer

Dr. Wolfgang Ruttenstorfer Chairman of the  
  Supervisory Board

PhD. Carlos García Moreno Elizondo Deputy Chairman

Silvia Bauer

Dr. Karin Exner-Wöhrer

Dr. Peter Hagen 

Ing. Walter Hotz

M.Sc.Ph.D. Carlos M. Jarque 

Alejandro Cantú Jiménez

Ing. Gottfried Kehrer

Dr. Peter F. Kollmann since 20 September 2017

Mag. Reinhard Kraxner 

Werner Luksch

Ronny Pecik until 9 June 2017

Mag. Stefan Pinter 

Mag. (FH) Alexander Sollak

Oscar Von Hauske Solís

Management Board

Supervisory Board

Alejandro Douglass Plater Dipl.Ing. Siegfried Mayrhofer

On the reporting date, a provision is recognised for the share 
of the future anticipated expense of the LTI program already 
earned, which was measured at fair value. The fair value is 
determined by using the expected achievement of the perfor-
mance criteria and the expected share price, which is based 
on the binomial tree process. Expected dividends were also 
considered in measuring the fair value. The provision is recog-
nized over the service period.

4.3
 
Other Information

Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft has a group relationship 
with América Móvil, S.A.B. de C.V., Mexico City, and its affili-
ated companies and is fully consolidated in its consolidated 
financial statements since 1 July 2014, which is the largest 
group of companies for which group financial statements are 
prepared. América Móvil Group is listed on the Mexican Stock 
Exchange, the NASDAQ New York and on the New York Stock 
Exchange. Consolidated financial statements of América  
Móvil, S.A.B. de C.V. are filed with the SEC (U.S. Securities  
and Exchange Commission) in Washington, D.C.

The Company is a parent company required to prepare con- 
solidated financial statements in accordance with Section 244 
Austrian Commercial Code (UGB). The consolidated financial 
statements are filed with the commercial register at the Com-
mercial Court in Vienna.

Related party transactions were always effected at arm’s-
length. In accordance with the last sentence of Section 238 
paragraph 1 No. 18 UGB, the Company exercises the right  
not to disclose information on expenses for the auditor.

The Company is a company of public interest in accordance 
with Section 189a UGB. Therefore it is a large corporation in 
accordance with Section 221 UGB.

4.4
 
Subsequent Events

The Management Board decided on 3 January 2018 to termi-
nate the hybrid bond as of 1 February 2018 (the earliest date 
possible according to section 5 paragraph 3 of the terms  
and conditions of the bond) and pay back the nominal value  
of EUR 600 million plus interest.

On 22 January 2017 Telekom Finanzmanagement GmbH took 
out a new credit facility with a total volume of EUR 300 million 
and a maturity until the end of 2018, with no loans being  
taken out yet. Telekom Austria signed an irrevocable and un-
conditional guarantee.

On 24 January 2017 Telekom Austria took out a new credit 
facility with a total volume of EUR 240 million and a matu- 
rity of 12 months. The credit facility was fully drawn as of  
30 January 2018. 

No further significant events occurred after the reporting date.

5 Members of the Management 
Board and Supervisory Board
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Movement Schedule of Investments for the Fiscal Year 2017

 Purchase price Accumulated depreciation  
          Carrying Carrying
 Balance at Accesses Disposals Balance at Balance at Additions Balance at amount as of amount as of
 01.01.17   31.12.17 01.01.17  31.12.17 31.12.17 31.12.16
Financial assets TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR    TEUR TEUR

1. Shares in capital of affiliated companies

Telekom Projekt-
entwicklungs GmbH 4,157 0 0 4,157 2,766 0 2,766 1,391 1,391

mobilkom Bulgarien
Beteiligungs-
verwaltungsgmbH 988,682 0 0 988,682 129,540 129,540 0 988,682 859,142

mobilkom Mazedonien 
Beteilungsverwaltung 
GmbH  127,040 133,000 0 260,040 58,120 150 57,970 202,070 68,920

Mobilkom Beteili-
gungsgesellschaft mbH  378,832 9,000 0 387,832 0 0 0 387,832 378,832

mobilkom CEE Beteili-
gungsverwaltung GmbH 392,131 0 0 392,131 134,800 69,100 65,700 326,431 257,331

mobilkom Belarus 
Beteiligungs-
verwaltung GmbH 974,700 0 0 974,700 208,270 208,270 0 974,700 766,430

Kroatien Beteiligungs-
verwaltung GmbH 698,790 0 0 698,790 458,500 116,700 341,800 356,990 240,290

A1 Telekom Austria 
Aktiengesellschaft 4,596,606 0 0 4,596,606 350,021 350,021 0 4,596,606 4,246,585

 8,160,938 142,000 0 8,302,938 1,342,017 873,781 468,236 7,834,702 6,818,921

2. Other investments

CEESEG 
Aktiengesellschaft 543 0 0 543 0 0 0 543 543

 8,161,481 142,000 0 8,303,481 1,342,017 873,781 468.236 7,835,245 6,819,464

Attachment 1
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    Shareholders’  Net income/ 
 Investment Currency equity  loss for the year 

Shares in capital of affiliated companies    
Telekom Projektentwicklungs GmbH, Vienna 99,0 % TEUR 1,399 15,833

Kroatien Beteiligungsverwaltung GmbH, Vienna 100,0 % TEUR 356,980 116,680

A1 Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna 100,0 % TEUR 1,280,065 317,811

Mobilkom Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Vienna 100,0 % TEUR 318,292 8,422

mobilkom CEE Beteiligungsverwaltung GmbH, Vienna 100,0 % TEUR 326,473 69,096

mobilkom Belarus Beteiligungsverwaltung GmbH, Vienna 100,0 % TEUR 1,289,580 523,102

mobilkom Mazedonien Beteilungsverwaltung GmbH, Vienna 100,0 % TEUR 202,064 1,130

mobilkom Bulgarien BeteiligungsverwaltungsgmbH, Vienna 100,0 % TEUR 968,374 109.204

Schedule of Shares in Affiliated Companies as of 31 December 2017

Attachment 2
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Annex IV

General economic environment 1)

In 2017, the economic situation in Europe improved. In a 
forecast published in November of the year under review, the 
European Commission estimated that economic growth in  
the European Union would be 2.3 % in 2017 and raised thereby 
its previous forecast from spring significantly due to the posi-
tive economic situation with a 2.1 % growth expected in 2018. 
The Austrian economy is expected to grow by 2.6 % in 2017.  
In Bulgaria, the increase in GDP is estimated at 3.9 % in 2017. 
In Croatia, the economy is set to have expanded by 3.2 % in the 
same period. After two years of negative growth rates, a slight 
increase in economic output of 0.7 % is expected for Belarus 
in 2017. Based on European Commission estimates, Slovenia, 
the Republic of Serbia and the Republic of Macedonia are ex-
pected to have seen an increase in economic output of 4.7 %, 
2.0 % and 1.7 % respectively in 2017.

The European Central Bank (ECB) continued with its policy 
of monetary easing using its bond buying programme in the 
year under review. Within the framework of this programme 
launched in March 2015, in the year under review the ECB was 
buying securities in the amount of EUR 80 bn per month until 
March 2017, reducing this volume to EUR 60 bn as of April 
2017. In October 2017, approval was granted for the bond 
buying programme due to expire at the end of 2017 to be  
extended through to the end of September 2018 at the earli-
est. At the same time, the ECB announced that it would halve 
the amount of securities bought to EUR 30 bn per month as  
of January 2018. The ECB kept its key interest rate at 0.00 %  
during the year under review. Meanwhile, the US Federal  
Reserve raised its key interest rate from 0.50–0.75 % to 1.25–
1.50 % in three stages in March, June and December 2017.

Industry trends and competition
The business performance of the A1 Telekom Austria Group  
is significantly influenced by a number of external factors.  
The macroeconomic recovery in recent years continued in 
2017, although some countries continued to experience a 
slower rate of growth with an impact on purchasing power.  
In 2017, the market environment in both the fixed-line and  
the mobile communications markets proved to be highly  
competitive once again, particularly in mature markets. Further- 
more, it remains to be seen how the takeover of Tele2 Austria 
by Hutchinson Drei Austria and the planned acquisition of UPC 
Austria by T-Mobile Austria will affect the market environment. 
In the no-frills segment, there was sustained pressure on  
prices due to the aggressive pricing policy of mobile virtual 
network operators (MVNOs). Furthermore, regulatory provi-
sions continued to negatively impact revenues and earnings.  
In particular, the stepwise abolition of retail roaming in the  
EU as of 30 April 2016 and 15 June 2017 affected the Group’s 
results. Further termination rate cuts in Bulgaria, Croatia, the 
Republic of Serbia and the Republic of Macedonia also had a 
negative impact in 2017. The A1 Telekom Austria Group coun-
ters these factors through the systematic implementation of  
its convergence strategy, a clear focus on high-value custom-
ers, innovative products and services as well as strict cost 
management. In the year under review, the A1 Telekom Austria 
Group agreed to harmonise the brand within the Group. The 

Management Report
of Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft for  
the period 1 January to 31 December 2017

1) Sources: GDP for Belarus: IMF https://www.imf.org/~/media/Files/ 
Publications/WEO/2017/October/pdf/main-chapter/text.ashx? 
la=en, dated October 2017, page 66; European Union, Austria, Bulgaria,  
Croatia, Slovenia, Republic of Serbia and Republic of Macedonia:  
https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/info/files/economy-finance/ip063_en.pdf,  
dated November 2017, pages 160, 187

Development of real GDP  
in the markets of A1 Telekom  
Austria Group (in %)

   2016 2017e 2018e

Austria 1.5 2.6 2.4

Bulgaria 3.9 3.9 3.8

Croatia 3.0 3.2 2.8

Belarus -2.6 0.7 0.7

Slovenia 3.1 4.7 4.0

Republic of Serbia 2.8 2.0 3.3

Republic of Macedonia 2.9 1.7 2.7

Sources: IMF for Belarus; European Commission for all other countries
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1) https://www.rtr.at/de/inf/TK_Monitor_Q2_2017/RTR_Telekom_Monitor_ 
 Q2_2017.pdf; A1 Telekom Austria Group calculations
2) http://www.statistik.at/web_de/statistiken/informationsgesellschaft/ 
 index.html
3) http://www.nsi.bg/sites/default/files/files/pressreleases/ICT_ 
 hh2017_en_ZW9AP4W.pdf; http://www.nsi.bg/sites/default/files/files/ 
 pressreleases/ICT_hh2016_en_TSVV05D.pdf
4) https://www.hakom.hr/UserDocsImages/2017/e_trziste/KVA%20ENG% 
 20Q3%202017%20Fixed%20broadband%20penetration.pdf;  
 https://www.hakom.hr/UserDocsImages/2017/e_trziste/KVA%20ENG% 
 20Q3%202017%20Mobile%20broadband%20penetration.pdf
5) http://www.belstat.gov.by/en/ofitsialnaya-statistika/real-sector-of- 
 the-economy/communication-and-ict/communication/annual-data/ 
 main-indicators-of-general-use-communications-development/; 
 Statistical Yearbook of the Republic of Belarus, 2017:  
 http://www.belstat.gov.by/en/ofitsialnaya-statistika/publications/ 
 statistical-publications-data-books-bulletins/public_compilation/ 
 index_8145/, page 342; note: only figures for 2016 are available  
 for Belarus.
6) http://pxweb.stat.si/pxweb/Dialog/viewplus.asp?ma=H087E&ti= 
 &path=../Database/Hitre_Repozitorij/&lang=1; A1 Telekom Austria  
 Group calculations
7) http://webrzs.stat.gov.rs/WebSite/repository/documents/00/02/59/ 
 78/Saopstenje_2017_engl.pdf
8) http://www.stat.gov.mk/pdf/2017/8.1.17.33.pdf;  
 http://www.stat.gov.mk/pdf/2016/8.1.16.30.pdf

‘A1’ brand will be introduced incrementally throughout the 
Group according to local market circumstances. During  
the course of the systematic implementation of its single  
brand strategy, the Group is operating as A1 Telekom  
Austria Group since November 2017.

In Austria, the A1 Telekom Austria Group offers a comprehen-
sive and convergent product portfolio comprising both fixed-
line and mobile communications solutions under its A1 brand. 
The latest market report issued by the regulatory authority, 
which tracked the most recent market data in Austria up to the 
end of the second quarter of 2017, underlines the high degree 
of maturity of the Austrian market and describes the following 
average trends across all operators: 1)

▸  Average monthly revenues generated per mobile customer 
decreased from EUR 14.3 in the first half of 2016 to EUR 
13.4 in the first half of 2017, while total end customer 
revenues rose by 0.7 % year-on-year. The amount of airtime 
increased by 5.4 % in comparison to the first half of 2016. 
The rapid growth in data volume in the first half of the year 
2017 continued with an increase of 95.5 % year-on-year. 
As previously, the strongest stimulus for this trend came 
from smartphone users, where an increase of 12.5 % to 
more than 4.8 million users was recorded. 

▸  In the Austrian fixed-line market, the number of fixed 
access lines in the first half of the year decreased by 1.6 % 
year-on-year. The amount of airtime via the domestic fixed-
line network also decreased by 8.5 % in the first half of the 
year 2017 in comparison to the previous year. The strong 
demand for broadband solutions continued in 2017 and 
resulted in an overall rise of 17.0 % to 10.8 million mobile 
and fixed-line broadband connections. While fixed-line 
broadband exhibited a moderate increase of 1.1 %, mobile 
broadband connections experienced a dynamic growth of 
22.8 % year-on-year.

According to Statistics Austria, the share of Austrian house-
holds with Internet access rose from 85 % in 2016 to 89 % in 
2017. Broadband lines in households increased from 85 % to 
88 % in the same period, while lines at companies remained 
constant at 98 %.2)

In Bulgaria, the trend of previous years continued and the 
Internet penetration rate across all households increased year-
on-year from 63.5 % to 67.3 % in 2017. 85.3 % of these people 
with Internet access also used a mobile device to access the 
web (2016: 70.4 %).3)

The positive development of the Croatian ICT market and the 
macroeconomic situation continued in the year under review. 
Broadband penetration in the fixed-line business increased 
to 25.3 % in the third quarter of 2017 (Q3 2016: 23.9 %), 
while mobile broadband penetration increased from 79.0 % to 
81.2 % in the same period.4)

In Belarus, the ICT market has developed strongly in recent 
years, which has led to a steady increase in the number of 
Internet customers and the number of mobile telephone users. 
While the number of mobile network users stagnated in 2016, 

Source: RTR

Up- and download volume 
Austrian retail market
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the number of Internet users increased. At the end of 2016, 
the proportion of households with Internet access was 62.5 % 
(2015: 59.1 %).5)

In Slovenia, the Internet penetration rate increased from 78.4 % 
in the previous year to 81.7 % in the year under review. 85.1 % 
of these users with Internet access also utilised a mobile device 
to access the web (2016: 67.5 %).6)

In the Republic of Serbia, the increase in the number of Inter-
net connections continued, whereby 68.0 % of households had 
Internet access in 2017 (2016: 64.7 %). Meanwhile, 90.5 % 
of all Serbian households also own mobile telephones (2016: 
90.2 %) and 68.1 % have a computer (2016: 65.8 %).7)

According to the Statistical Office of the Republic of Macedonia,  
73.6 % of all Macedonian households had Internet access  
in the first quarter of 2017 (2016: 75.3 %), thereof 82.5 %  
also used a mobile device to access the web (2016: 81.0%).8)

Financial Key Performance  
Indicators

Total assets as of 31 December 2017, amounted to  
EUR 8,055.6 million compared to EUR 7,274.8 million in  
the previous year, representing an increase of 10.7 %.

Long-term assets increased by 14.9 %, from EUR 6,819.5 
million to EUR 7,835.2 million. As shown in the tables below, 
current company valuations resulted in various reversals of 
impairment losses in long-term financial assets of affiliated 
companies:

The significant decrease in current assets from EUR 300.4 
million to EUR 147.7 million as of 31 December 2017 resulted 
most notably from lower cash-pooling receivables. 

As of 31 December 2017, shareholders’ equity amounted 
to EUR 5,428.3 million (31 December 2016: EUR 4,500.7 
million). The increase is mostly based on the annual result of 
2017 in conjunction with retained earnings.

The decrease in liabilities by EUR 163.9 million to EUR 2,597.1 
million is most notably due to the repayment of loans (set-off) 
to Telekom Finanzmanagement GmbH.

The services rendered by the management holding led to an 
increase in revenues up to EUR 32.7 million in 2017 compared 
to EUR 27.1 million in 2016. The increase is most notably due 
to an increase in personnel expenses charged to A1 Digital 
International GmbH.

Personnel expenses increased from EUR 30.9 million in the 
previous year to EUR 35.2 million in 2017, most notably due 
to an increasing number of personnel working for A1 Digital 
International GmbH. 

Other operating expenses also contained other services from 
A1 Telekom Austria AG presented in other charges, intercom-
pany charges and other expenses.

As a result of the developments described above, the operat-
ing loss amounted to EUR -33.0 million in 2017 compared to 
EUR -28.1 million in 2016.

Income from investments decreased from EUR 332.5 million 
in 2016 to EUR 318.3 million in 2017, above all due to lower 
dividends distributed within the Group in 2017.

Income from reversal of impairment losses on long-term  
financial assets amounting to EUR 873.8 million (2016:  
EUR 538.9 million) is shown in more detail in the table above. 
There were no expenses form long-term financial assets  
in 2017. In 2016, expenses from long-term financial assets 
amounting to EUR 333.8 million were primarily due to the 
impairment losses shown in the table above. Interest expense, 
predominantly attributable to affiliated companies, decreased

Reversal of impairment losses from 
assets of affiliated companies
in EUR million

 2017 2016

A1 Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft 350.0 504.7

Kroatien Beteiligungsverwaltung GmbH 116.7 33.3

mobilkom Belarus  
Beteiligungsverwaltungs GmbH 208.3 0.0

mobilkom Bulgarien  
Beteiligungsverwaltungs GmbH 129.5 0.0

mobilkom Mazedonien  
Beteiligungsverwaltungs GmbH 0.2 0.0

mobilkom CEE  
Beteiligungsverwaltungs GmbH 69.1 0.0

Total 873.8 538.0

Impairment losses from assets  
of affiliated companies
in EUR million

 2017 2016

mobilkom Belarus  
Beteiligungsverwaltungs GmbH 0.0 197.7

mobilkom Mazedonien  
Beteiligungsverwaltungs GmbH 0.0 58.1

mobilkom CEE  
Beteiligungsverwaltungs GmbH 0.0 55.0

mobilkom Bulgarien  
Beteiligungsverwaltungs GmbH 0.0 7.2

Total 0.0 318.0
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by EUR 15.6 million from EUR 110.5 million in the previous  
year to EUR 94.9 million in 2017.

Due to the factors described above, the income before  
income taxes amounted to EUR 1,066.6 million, compared  
to EUR 400.1 million in 2016.

Income tax expenses for 2017 amount to EUR 6.1 million.  
In 2016 income tax gains amounted to EUR 402.8 million, 
most notably due to the release of a provision for deferred 
taxes in the amount of EUR 212.5 million and corporate  
tax income in the amount of EUR 45.4 million. In the 2016 
financial year this income was also influenced by the first- 
time creation of a deferred tax asset in the amount of  
EUR 144.9 million.

Overall, these developments result in a net income in  
the amount of EUR 1,060.5 million for the 2017 financial  
year (2016: EUR 802.9 million). In 2017 an amount of  
EUR 995.4 million was allocated from net income to other 
reserves (2016: EUR 649.3 million). 

The Management Board plans, with the approval of the  
Supervisory Board, to propose at the Annual General Meeting 
a dividend of EUR 0.20 per eligible share, to be distributed 
from net income.

The following section briefly explains the main financial and 
operational KPIs.

▸  In accordance with section 23 of the Company Reorgan- 
isation Act (URG), the equity ratio amounted to 67.4 %  
as of 31 December 2017 (31 December 2016: 61.9 %). 
This ratio is calculated by dividing equity by total assets.

▸  The notional debt repayment period as set out in Section 
24 URG amounted as of 31 December 2017 as well as  
of 31 December 2016 to more than 15 years. The notional 
debt repayment rate indicates the number of years until 
all debts are repaid on the basis of earnings/loss before 
income taxes.

▸  The earnings before interest and income tax (EBIT)  
corresponds to the earnings/loss before income taxes 
adjusted by interest income and interest expense.  
The EBIT increased from EUR 509.5 million in 2016 to  
EUR 1,159.1 million in this financial year. This is mainly  
due to the reversal of impairment losses in the amount  
of EUR 873.8 million mentioned above, compared to  
EUR 220.0 million in the previous year.

▸  As a result of the developments described above the  
return on equity (ratio of EBIT to stockholders’ equity)  
increased from 11.3 % in 2016 to 21.4 % in 2017. The re-
turn on assets (ratio of EBIT to liabilities and stockholders’ 
equity) increased from 7.0 % in 2016 to 14.4 % in 2017.

▸  The net debts comprise interest-bearing liabilities less  
cash and cash equivalents. Net debt as of 31 December 
2017 remained stable with EUR 2,589.5 million compared 
to EUR 2,535.4 million in the previous year. 

▸  The cash flow from operating activities remained stable at 
EUR 220.8 million compared to EUR 218.8 million in 2016.

▸  Cash flow from investing activities amounts to EUR -142.0 
million most notably due to grants given to subsidiaries 

compared to EUR 24.7 million in 2016. The amount of  
the previous year was primarily the result of the liquidation  
and the thereof resulting cash inflow of 100 % of Amisco  
NV (Amis).

▸  Cash flow from financing activities changed from  
EUR -58.0 million in 2016 to EUR -282.3 million in 2017. 
The cash flow from financing activities (set-off) derived  
for the most part from the repayment of financial liabilities 
which were due to Telekom Finanzmanagement GmbH.

Equity Investments
In addition to Austria, A1 Telekom Austria Group is success- 
fully positioned in another six European Countries as of  
31 December 2017. At the end of 2017, the Group provid-
ed mobile communication services to around 20.7 million 
customers ) (2016: 20.7 million); in the fixed-line business 
revenue generating units (RGUs) amounted to around  
6.0 million, representing an increase of 2.3 % compared  
to the previous year.

In 2017, A1 Telekom Austria AG experienced a slight decrease 
of its overall customer base for mobile communication by 
1.9 % to about 5.3 million customers. Its mobile market share 
declined slightly to 38.8 % (2016: 39.4 %). Mobile penetration 
was 156.2 % (2016: 158.7 %). Average revenues per mobile 
communication customer decreased from EUR 15.8 in the year 
2016 to EUR 15.6 in 2017. In the fixed-line business RGUs  
declined by 3.0 % to about 3.4 million. Average revenues per 
fixed access line amounted to EUR 29.3 (2016: EUR 28.0).

Mobiltel EAD saw a decrease in the number of mobile cus- 
tomers by 3.2 % to 4.0 million. Mobiltel, Bulgaria’s leading 
communication provider, saw its market share rise from  
38.4 % to 38.7 % in the reporting period. The mobile pene- 
tration rate was at 145.6 % in Bulgaria (2016: 150.5 %).  
The number of RGUs in the segment Bulgaria declined  
slightly by 1.4 % to 1.0 million per end of 2017.

At VIPnet d.o.o., Croatia’s second largest mobile communi- 
cation provider, the number of mobile customers rose by 3.1 % 
in 2017 to 1.8 million customers. At the end of 2017, VIPnet 
held a market share of 36.5 % (2016: 36.1 %). The mobile 
penetration rate in Croatia at the end of the year was 117.5 % 
(2016: 114.3 %). RGUs rose in 2017 by 5.5 % to 654,100.

In 2017, Unitary Enterprise velcom, experienced a decrease 
by 1.6 % in its mobile customer base to 4.9 million customers 
compared to the previous year. As at the end of December 
2017 velcom, the second largest mobile communication pro-
vider in Belarus, held a market share of 42.5 % (2016: 43.2 %). 
The mobile penetration rate in Belarus was 120.5 % (2016: 
120.3 %). Following the acquisition of the fixed-line operator 
Garant (Gomel) the segment Belarus recorded 463,400 RGUs 
as per year-end 2017 (2016: 279.400).

As of the end of 2017, A1 Slovenija d.d., the second largest 
mobile communication provider in Slovenia, had 1.5 % less 
customers, lowering the total to 703,300. The market share 
lessened to 29.1 % (2016: 30.1 %). At the end of 2017, the 
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mobile penetration rate in Slovenia was 116.0 % compared to 
115.1 % in 2016. The number of RGUs increased by 6.4 % to 
183,000 in 2017.

Vip mobile d.o.o., the third largest mobile communication 
provider in the Republic of Serbia, saw the number of mobile 
customers rose by 1.7 % to 2.2 million customers, holding a 
market share of 24.1 % at the end of 2017 (2016: 22.4 %).  
By the end of 2017 the mobile penetration rate in the Republic 
of Serbia was at 128.6 % (2016: 135.0 %).

one.Vip DOOEL had 1.1 million customers per year-end 2017, 
representing a decline of 2.8 %. The market share decreased 
from 49.5 % at the end of 2016 to 47.8 % at the end of 2017. 
As of 31 December 2017, the mobile penetration rate in the 
Republic of Macedonia was at 108.1 % (2016: 107.7 %). In the 
fixed-line business RGUs rose by 8.4 % to 340,700 in 2017.

Changes to the Management 
Board and the Supervisory Board

At the Annual General Meeting on 9 June 2017, the Super- 
visory Board mandates of Stefan Pinter and Reinhard Kraxner 
were extended. In the Extraordinary General Meeting on  
20 September 2017, Peter F. Kollmann was elected as a  
member of the Supervisory Board, following Ronny Pecik’s 
resignation from the Supervisory Board on 9 June 2017.

Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft: Members of the Supervisory Board

   End of current term of office/ 
Name (year of birth) Date of first appointment leaving date

Alejandro Cantú Jiménez (1972) 14.08.2014 20192)

Karin Exner-Wöhrer (1971) 27.05.2015 20203)

Carlos García Moreno Elizondo, first Deputy Chairman (1957) 14.08.2014 20181)

Peter Hagen (1959) 25.05.2016 20192)

Carlos M. Jarque (1954) 14.08.2014 20181)

Peter F. Kollmann (1962) 20.09.2017 20214)

Reinhard Kraxner (1970) 14.08.2014 20181)

Ronny Pecik (1962) 23.05.2012 09.06.2017

Stefan Pinter (1978) 14.08.2014 20181)

Wolfgang Ruttenstorfer, Chairman (1950) 27.05.2010 to 14.08.2014,  
  reappointed on 27.05.2015 20203)

Oscar Von Hauske Solís (1957) 23.10.2012 20181)

  
Members of the Supervisory Board delegated by the Staff Council 

Silvia Bauer (1968) 30.01.2009 to 03.11.2010,  
  re-delegated on 26.07.2012

Walter Hotz (1959) Re-delegated on 06.05.2011

Werner Luksch (1967) 03.08.2007 to 20.10.2010,  
  re-delegated on 11.01.2011

Alexander Sollak (1978) 03.11.2010

Gottfried Kehrer (1962) 27.10.2010

1) The term of office ends at the Annual General Meeting for the 2017 financial year (30 May 2018).
2) The term of office ends at the Annual General Meeting for the 2018 financial year (provisionally May 2019).
3) The term of office ends at the Annual General Meeting for the 2019 financial year (provisionally May 2020).
4) The term of office ends at the Annual General Meeting for the 2020 financial year (provisionally May 2021).

There were no changes in the Management Board of Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft in 2017.
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Non-financial performance  
indicators

In addition to the information below we refer to the separate 
consolidated non-financial report in accordance with Section 
267a (6) UGB.

Corporate social responsibility
Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft and its subsidiaries, here-
inafter referred to as the A1 Telekom Austria Group, strive to 
increase enterprise value in a sustainable manner, while taking 
into account all relevant economic, ecological and social 
aspects. This goal is supported by the Group’s commitment to 
the Austrian Corporate Governance Code and the application 
of all the requirements of the internal control system, the Code 
of Conduct and the compliance guidelines. An integrated 
CSR management system, defined standards and processes, 
group-wide environmental management, compliance with the 
principles of the UN Global Compact and regard for human 
rights ensure the development of strategies and goals oriented 
towards sustainability and the involvement of all business units 
and hierarchies.

The environmental management system at A1 Telekom Austria 
Aktiengesellschaft, A1 Slovenija d.d., Vip mobile d.o.o. and 
one.Vip DOOEL is certified in accordance with ISO 14001. 
Furthermore, EMAS (eco management and audit scheme) 
requirements in Austria and Slovenia are met. Energy man-
agement at A1 Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft is also ISO 
50001 certified. Since 2014, A1 Telekom Austria Aktienge-
sellschaft has been the first carbon neutral network in Austria 
to be assessed and validated by TÜV SÜD in line with the PAS 
2060 international standard.

Employees
The A1 Telekom Austria Group had 18,957 employees at the 
end of 2017 (2016:18,203). Headcount in the Austrian seg-
ment was reduced by around 1 % to 8,246 employees as part 
of the ongoing restructuring measures. Around 47 % of exist-
ing employees have civil servant status. The segments outside 
of Austria saw an increase of 7.8 % to 10,366 employees. This 
increase was mainly driven by M&A activities in Croatia and 
Belarus, as well as higher salesforce numbers.

To further expand its competitiveness and innovative drive, the 
A1 Telekom Austria Group invests in sound professional train-
ing for its employees on an ongoing basis and is increasingly 
using a central e-learning platform to provide training to all 
its employees throughout the company wherever and when-
ever. Furthermore, employee skills are also developed using a 
group-wide collaborative tool that ensures virtual teamwork 
within the company. The A1 Learning Hub (formerly the A1 Tel-
ekom Austria Group Business School) functions as a platform 
for in-person training. It developed and organised more than 
30 training opportunities for 500 participants in the course  
of 2017. In addition to this central training, the A1 Telekom 

Austria Group subsidiaries have also developed their own 
training programmes tailored to the needs of their respective 
markets. To meet future requirements for experts and man-
agers, the A1 Telekom Austria Group in Austria is particularly 
committed to apprenticeship training and offers university and 
college graduates a twelve-month graduate programme.

Innovation and technology
The dynamic growth of the data volumes transported via the 
networks of the A1 Telekom Austria Group will be accounted for 
by extensive development activities. To prepare for future re-
quirements and enable the development of new products and 
services, the further development of network infrastructure will 
be the focus of the Group’s innovation strategy. A central point 
of the A1 Telekom Austria Group is the digital transformation 
of its network infrastructure, which it successfully continued in 
2017 as well.

In this context, the convergence of fixed-line and mobile  
networks is playing an instrumental role. Furthermore,  
data centres are increasingly relevant as part of the network  
infrastructure. This is because the next 5G communication 
standard, the Internet of Things (IoT) and cloud-based  
services for the B2B market all require high computing  
capacity. In 2017, the A1 Telekom Austria Group laid the  
ground-work for an ultra-modern data centre in Vienna  
and success-fully concluded the construction of a data  
centre with cutting-edge technology in Belarus. 

In Austria, the fixed-line broadband expansion continues to be 
driven forward by the accelerated fibre roll-out in the form of 
FTTC (fibre to the curb), FTTB (fibre to the building) and FTTH 
(fibre to the home). While fibre is being brought closer and 
closer to the customers, the capacity of existing copper lines 
is also being increased. This is being done with a combina-
tion of vectoring – a technology for suppressing interfering 
signals – with transmission technologies such as VDSL2 and G.
fast. In this case, the target transmission rates are several 100 
Mbps for medium line distances. On line lengths in the region 
of 200 metres, G.fast data rates provide up to 500 Mbps. In lab 
experiments, several Gbps could already be transmitted with 
further development of G.fast. With the hybrid modem, mobile 
and fixed-line infrastructure are brought together in order to 
enable higher speeds. The undivided bandwidth and high ca-
pacity of a DSL fixed broadband line is combined with the peak 
data rates of the A1 LTE network and provided to customers for 
home internet access. 
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The A1 Telekom Austria Group offers the LTE (long-term evo-
lution) mobile communication standard in Austria, Bulgaria, 
Croatia, Slovenia, the Republic of Serbia and the Republic of 
Macedonia. The accelerated roll-out of 4G LTE Advanced in 
2017 led to a significant improvement in the supply of fast 
mobile internet in Austria, Slovenia, Croatia, the Republic of 
Serbia and the Republic of Macedonia. The A1 Telekom Austria 
Group is using LTE carrier aggregation with 256 QAM at se-
lected locations in Austria, Croatia and the Republic of Serbia, 
enabling data rates of up to 300 Mbps. In reporting year 2017, 
the use of 4x4 MIMO (multiple input multiple output) during a 
field test produced data transmission rates of over 850 Mbps 
in Slovenia. MIMO is a process in which the radio connection 
is improved with severally antennas used in parallel. Carrier 
aggregation, complex modulation techniques and massive 
MIMO, a further development of 4x4 MIMO will also play a key 
role in the 5G standard since these serve as a technological 
basis for high bandwidths and the particularly efficient use of 
available frequency bands. 

Disclosure in accordance with  
Section 243a of the Austrian  
business enterprise code (‘UGB’)

Shareholder structure and  
capital disclosures
At the end of 2017, a total of 51.00 % or 338,895,000 shares 
of Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft were held by América 
Móvil B.V., Netherlands (‘América Móvil B.V.’; formerly Carso 
Telecom B.V.), a wholly-owned subsidiary of América Móvil, 
S.A.B. de C.V. (‘América Móvil’). The Republic of Austria holds 
28.42 % via Österreichische Bundes- und Industriebeteiligun-
gen GmbH (‘ÖBIB’), while the remaining 20.58 % of the shares 
are in free float. 0.1 % or 0.4 million shares of the latter were 
held by the company itself. Employee shares that are being 
held in a collective custody account are also part of the free 
float. The associated voting rights are exercised by a custodian 
(notary). The total number of no-par value shares remains at 
664,500,000.

    Change 
  2017 2016 in %

Treasury Shares 415,159 415,159 0.0

Further details on treasury shares are provided in Section 2.5  
of the Notes.

Standard change-of-control clauses that could ultimately lead 
to the termination of contracts affect the majority of financing 
agreements. None of these clauses came into effect in the 
2017 financial year or up until the date of this report.

The following information concerning the shareholders’ 
agreement is based solely on publicly available information1). 
The company has no additional information. The shareholders’ 
agreement between ÖBIB, América Móvil and América Móvil 
B.V., Netherlands (‘América Móvil B.V.’; formerly ‘Carso Telecom 
B.V.’) came into force on 27 June 2014. Under the terms of the  
shareholders’ agreement, the parties have undertaken to jointly  
pursue a long-term policy with regard to the management of 
Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft by exercising their voting 
rights on a concerted basis. The shareholders’ agreement also  
contains provisions on the joint exercise of voting rights in the 
committees of the company for the election of Supervisory 
Board and Management Board members and restrictions on 
the sale of shares. The Supervisory Board of the company con- 
sists of ten shareholder representatives, of which eight mem-
bers are nominated by América Móvil B.V. and two by ÖBIB. ÖBIB  
has the right to nominate the chairman of the Supervisory  
Board. América Móvil B.V. has the right to nominate the deputy 

1) Information on the takeover offer (9 May 2014):  
 https://www.a1.group/en/ir/12474
 Information on the capital increase as of 7 November 2014:  
 https://www.a1.group/en/ir/14887
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chairman. The Management Board of the company consists  
of three members. Two members are nominated by América 
Móvil B.V., while one member of the Management Board, 
namely the Chief Executive Officer (CEO), is nominated by 
ÖBIB. On 24 July 2015, the Chief Executive Officer responsi- 
bilities of Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft were allocated  
to Alejandro Plater per 1 August 2015, as proposed by the  
two majority shareholders América Móvil and ÖBIB. The Ex-
traordinary General Meeting on 14 August 2014 also amend- 
ed the Articles of Association to state that, as long as the  
Republic of Austria directly or indirectly holds at least 25 %  
plus one share of the share capital of the company, resolutions 
on capital increases and the issue of instruments containing 
a conversion right or a conversion obligation for shares of the 
company and amendments to the provisions of the Articles  
of Association relating to capital increases and such instru-
ments shall require a majority of at least three quarters of  
the share capital represented at the vote on the resolution.

ÖBIB and América Móvil B.V. have agreed that at least 24 % 
of the shares of the company should be in free float while the 
shareholders’ agreement is in place. This minimum free float 
requirement is based on ÖBIB’s maximum equity interest of 
25 % plus one share. If ÖBIB holds more than 25 % plus one 
share of the share capital of the company, the minimum free 
float requirement decreases accordingly so that América Móvil 
can retain an equity interest in the company of 51 %. If the 
number of shares in free float falls below the minimum while 
the shareholders’ agreement is in place, (i) América Móvil  
B.V. undertakes to sell shares within the next 24 months and 
(ii) América Móvil undertakes to ensure that neither it nor  
its subsidiaries purchase any additional shares until the mini-
mum free float requirement is restored.

As long as ÖBIB holds 25 % plus one share or more of the  
share capital of Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft, ÖBIB  
shall have the following rights of codetermination in accord-
ance with the voting rights agreement: the right to veto  
capital increases of Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft and  
its subsidiaries, the issue of certain convertible instruments, 
the appointment of the auditor of the financial statements, 
related party transactions, the relocation of the registered  
office of the company and material business functions, includ-
ing research and development, the disposal of the company’s 
core business, and changes to the name of Telekom Austria 
Aktiengesellschaft and the brands of Telekom Austria Aktieng-
esellschaft, among other things. ÖBIB shall also be granted 
the blocking minority rights accruing by law to a minority 
shareholder with an equity interest of 25 % plus one share. 
ÖBIB’s veto rights in connection with capital increases and  
the issue of certain convertible instruments are also set out 
in the Articles of Association of the company. If ÖBIB’s equity 
interest falls below 20 % but remains above 10 %, ÖBIB shall 
retain certain veto rights. The voting rights agreement shall 
expire automatically if the equity interest held by one of the 
parties falls below 10 %.

Risk management

Principles and methods

As one of the leading telecommunications companies in 
Austria as well as Central and Eastern Europe, the A1 Telekom 
Austria Group is exposed to a wide range of risks and chang-
es in market circumstances. The A1 Telekom Austria Group’s 
risk management system analyses risk areas systematically, 
assesses the potential impact, improves existing risk avoid-
ance and risk elimination measures, and reports on the status 
and developments in the Supervisory Board. In this process, 
the A1 Telekom Austria Group relies on close cooperation 
between Group officers and the local risk officers. The risk 
management system is made up of seven risk categories. 
‘1. Market and strategic risks’ (business risks in budget and 
business plan, risk from disruptive business models, compet-
itive risks) are handled by the Group Controlling division. ‘2. 
Compliance risks’ (anti-corruption, capital market compliance) 
are monitored by the Group Compliance division. The part ‘3. 
Physical risks’ contains risks that may influence the guaran-
teed availability and security of the services offered, such as 
technical or topographical risks, which are covered by busi-
ness interruption management. ‘4. Cyber risks’ are countered 
both technologically and procedurally by expert teams. Under 
‘5. Operational risks’, matters such as invoicing processes, 
collection of receivables and securing critical human resources 
are managed. ‘6. Financial risks’, such as liquidity, credit, for-
eign currency exchange rate, transfer and interest rate risks, 
are handled by Treasury. ‘7. Political, legal and regulatory risks’ 
come under the responsibility of the legal experts and the reg-
ulatory departments at corporate and national level.

Risk management is performed by analysing risks and oppor-
tunities in connection with the short-term and medium-term 
planning and ongoing business operations. One key element for 
risk management is to develop effective measures for reducing 
and perceiving risks. These are continuously updated by way of 
monthly performance calls (MPC) and leadership team meetings 
(LTM) and by analysing critical deviations and initiated measures. 
The overall risk situation of this risk category is derived from the 
sum of the individual risks. In addition to the fixed-line and mo-
bile communications market in Austria, the A1 Telekom Austria 
Group holds leading positions in six other telecommunications 
markets abroad. This ensures diversification in terms of both 
sectors and geographical regions. The risk sets of the respective 
markets vary, which is why risk management is the responsibility 
of the local operational units. Risk management is controlled by 
the holding company. In addition to the regular operating meet-
ings (MPC) and strategic meetings (LTM), a multi-year plan will 
also be created. This close integration of business planning and 
risk management ensures appropriate risk control.

A1 Telekom Austria Group’s risk management is monitored by 
the Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board.

The most important risk categories and individual risks that 
could materially influence the net assets, financial position 
and results of operations of the A1 Telekom Austria Group are 
explained below.
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Risks

1. Market and strategic risks
High competitive intensity in A1 Telekom Austria Group’s 
markets is leading to sharp price reductions in both mobile 
communications and data traffic. Additional competition is 
arising from innovative and efficient over-the-top players 
(OTTs), which are able to offer their services without owning 
a network. Accordingly, there is a risk that growth in traffic 
volumes will not be sufficient to offset these price declines. In 
addition, the monitoring of key macroeconomic indicators in 
order to assess any changes in consumer behaviour is an im-
portant aspect of risk management as well as strategic pricing 
and product design. 

The telecommunications sector is facing the challenge of 
being able to offer new services and products at increas-
ingly faster rates. Cloud services, over-the-top services and 
machine-to-machine are only a few examples of new business 
areas where the A1 Telekom Austria Group is convinced of  
their growth potential. In addition, the growing importance  
of digitalisation is taken into account with A1 Digital Interna-
tional GmbH. However, shorter innovation cycles are also asso-
ciated with innovation risks. Within the América Móvil Group, 
the A1 Telekom Austria Group is involved in the discussion on 
innovations.

2. Compliance risks
The annual compliance risk assessment process – which is an 
essential element of the A1 Telekom Austria Group’s compli-
ance management system – identifies relevant compliance 
risks on the basis of structured management interviews and 
workshops and defines risk-mitigating measures. The A1 Tele-
kom Austria Group focuses on prevention by means of training 
and uncompromising application of internal and external 
guidelines – such as capital market compliance and a focus on 
compliance at management level (tone at the top).

Data protection risks are a relevant section of compliance 
risks. The products and services of the A1 Telekom Austria 
Group are subject to data protection and data security risks, 
particularly with regard to unauthorised access to customer, 
partner or employee data. Violations of the EU General Data 
Protection Regulation (GDPR), which comes into force on 25 
May 2018, may result in considerable legal and financial risks. 
To minimise potential risk, the EU General Data Protection 
Regulation has been implemented in interdisciplinary projects 
within the A1 Telekom Austria Group since early 2016. Techni-
cal and organisational measures have also been implemented 
on the basis of risk assessments. All companies of the A1 Tele-
kom Austria Group undertake to comply with the most stringent 
data protection and data security standards.

3. Physical risks
Technical and topographical risks
Maintaining a high level of availability and reliability of the 
services and products offered is a key aspect of operational 
risk management, as different threats such as natural dis-
asters, major technical disruptions, third-party construction 
work, hidden faults or criminal activities can all impair their 
quality. Long-term planning takes technological developments 
into account, while the redundancy of critical components 
ensures failure safety, and efficient organisational structures 
for operations and security serve to secure high standards 
of quality. Furthermore, a separate Group guideline ensures 
uniform methods for the recognition and management of the 
most important risks. The ongoing identification and assess-
ment of risks flows into the decision-making process in terms 
of the implementation of risk minimisation measures and the 
self-sustaining ability of the A1 Telekom Austria Group. In every 
major disruption, causes will be clarified and conclusions will 
be drawn on ways to reduce the risks of repeating the same 
causes of error. A central approach of insurance against phys-
ical damage will also help to minimise the financial effects of 
damage caused by extraordinary events.

Environmental risks
Climate change can give rise to risks for the A1 Telekom Austria 
Group’s network infrastructure (ranging from rising average 
temperatures and high rainfall levels through to flooding, 
mudslides, etc.). The A1 Telekom Austria Group is actively 
committed to climate protection and continuously observes 
developments in this area in order to ensure that it can initiate 
measures to protect its infrastructural facilities as necessary.

4. Cyber risks
The A1 Telekom Austria Group places great emphasis on the 
implementation of cyber security standards. These are covered 
by a series of internal guidelines and procedures that are con-
trolled, implemented and monitored for effectiveness in critical 
situations by means of defined responsibilities. Prevention 
of possible risks is the primary focus in critical and important 
network elements as well as business and operational support 
systems (BSS & OSS). The A1 Telekom Austria Group uses the 
international IT standards for security techniques (ISO 27001) 
as a basis and has defined uniform and state-of-the-art securi-
ty information standards and security information policies.

Essential elements in managing cyber risks are continuous 
assessments and software updates to the infrastructure to be 
protected as well as employee training. The A1 Telekom Austria 
Security Committee is made up of highly qualified security 
experts from all countries of the A1 Telekom Austria Group 
and regularly exchanges information about the latest local, 
regional and global cyber risks and cyber attacks. This working 
group also discusses and coordinates cross-country protective 
measures in critical situations.
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5. Operational risks
In addition to the operational management of business-critical 
systems (billing, call servers, gateways, etc.) that are per-
formed by means of redundancies, standard processes and 
authorisation as well as access management, personnel risks 
are included in this category.

The A1 Telekom Austria Group counters personnel-related 
risks in various ways. For example, young talents are recruit-
ed as part of the ‘1A Career’ programme, which focuses on 
graduates, students, trainees and apprentices and ensures 
diversity in the company. The risk of losing key employees is 
counteracted by means of forward-looking skill management 
and succession planning and Group-wide talent management. 
Managers operate in accordance with Group-wide corporate 
values with the dimensions ‘Team’, ‘Trust’ and ‘Agility’. The 
internal A1 Learning Hub development platform (formerly the 
A1 Telekom Austria Business School) develops employees’ 
skills and abilities and serves as a platform for the Group-wide 
transfer of expertise. A central e-learning platform provides 
training at any time and in any place throughout the Group. 
In addition to business-plan-oriented cost planning, human 
resources planning includes measures aimed at encouraging 
employee mobility. Managers are faced with the challenge of 
getting more out of fewer resources while preventing burnout.

In 1996, civil servants of the Republic of Austria were allocated 
to Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft or predecessor com-
panies until their retirement in accordance with the Austrian 
Postal Services Structure Act (‘Poststrukturgesetz’). Transfers 
within and outside the A1 Telekom Austria Group are limit-
ed. Civil servants are employed according to public law. The 
rights and duties associated with their employment status are 
exclusively based on provisions under public law, particularly 
the Public Sector Employment Law of 1979 (‘Beamten-Diens-
trechtsgesetz 1979’).

Civil servants cannot be laid off. Therefore, their employment 
contract cannot be unilaterally terminated if the need for their 
employment no longer exists. In the event of a breach of duty, 
performance deficiencies, or a permanent incapacity to work, 
complex administrative procedures are necessary. Due to their 
remuneration scheme, civil servants normally move to the next 
remuneration level every two years.

Around 47 % of employees in the Austrian segment have civil 
servant status. This corresponds to around 20 % at Group 
level. To address the structure of employee costs, the Aus-
trian segment has developed not only several social plans in 
cooperation with employee representatives, but also models 
which enable employees with civil servant status to transfer 
to government ministries. Civil servants are also encouraged 
to take part in internal mobility initiatives within the context of 
integrated skill management.

6. Financial risks
A1 Telekom Austria Group is exposed to market risks, including 
liquidity risk, interest rate and foreign currency exchange rate 
risk and credit risk associated with underlying financial assets, 
liabilities and anticipated transactions.

Liquidity risk is the risk that A1 Telekom Austria Group will  
not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  
A1 Telekom Austria Group’s approach to managing liquidity  
is to ensure that A1 Telekom Austria Group will always have  
sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities when due, under both  
normal and stressed conditions. For this purpose a month-
ly rolling consolidated liquidity planning is drawn up, which 
serves as the basis for determining the liquidity requirement. 
Furthermore there is a liquidity reserve in the form of com- 
mitted credit lines.

Interest rate and foreign currency exchange rate risk is the risk 
that the income of A1 Telekom Austria Group or the value of a 
financial instrument held by A1 Telekom Austria Group is influ-
enced by changing foreign exchange rates and interest rates. 
The objective of risk management is to manage and control 
these risk exposures within acceptable parameters.

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or coun-
terparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations, and arises principally from accounts receivable 
trade and investment activities. Due to internal guidelines and 
counterparty limits there is neither significant credit risk nor 
concentration. 

Investment risks
In general, the Telekom Austria Group counters investment 
risks with measures such as the active management of equity 
investments through target requirements, coordination pro-
cesses and, where acquisitions of equity interests are con-
cerned, thorough due diligence and enterprise valuation.

It should also be mentioned that there is a profit and loss elimi-
nation agreement in place between A1 Telekom Austria AG and 
Telekom Austria Personalmanagement GmbH. Based on this 
agreement, A1 Telekom Austria AG takes on the profit or loss 
of Telekom Austria Personalmanagement GmbH and ensures 
its liquidity. In addition, there is a profit and loss elimination 
agreement in place between Telekom Austria AG and Telekom 
Projektentwicklungs GmbH (TPG) and Telekom Finanzman-
agement GmbH (TFG), on the basis of which TFG must transfer 
its profit or loss to TPG, which must accept the profit or loss of 
TFG, and TPG must transfer its profit or loss to Telekom Austria 
AG, which must accept the profit or loss of TPG.
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7. Political, legal and regulatory risks
Telecommunications services offered by a provider with sig-
nificant market power are subject to extensive network access 
and price regulations. In Austria, the A1 Telekom Austria Group 
is classified as this kind of provider in several sub-markets. 
Regulation at wholesale level restricts operational flexibility 
with regard to products. There is also an obligation to provide 
access to infrastructure and fixed-line services to alternative 
providers. The foreign subsidiaries are also subject to regula-
tory frameworks. Additional regulatory rulings, such as a re-
duction in mobile and fixed-line termination rates as a result of 
the European Commission’s recommendation on termination 
rates, could negatively affect the A1 Telekom Austria Group’s 
earnings development.

The new regulation on net neutrality and roaming (‘Connected 
Continent’ or the ‘Telecom Single Market’ package) came into 
force in 2016, with extensive consequences for A1 and other 
subsidiaries within the EU. In accordance with the regulation, 
internet access service providers will be obliged to treat data 
traffic overall in an equal manner, regardless of the transmitter, 
receiver, application, or device in question. In addition to inter-
net access services, specialised services could also be offered 
although this has certain limitations. The Body of European 
Regulators has issued guiding principles on net neutrality in 
order to specify how the regulation should be applied in more 
detail. The regulation and the guiding principles are open 
to interpretation on the subjects of both net neutrality and 
roaming, whereby harmonised, uniform implementation within 
the EU is not guaranteed. Therefore the extent of their effects 
cannot be fully predicted and may vary between member 
states. In turn, this gives rise to legal, regulatory and financial 
uncertainty.

As far as roaming in EU member states is concerned, the aboli-
tion of retail roaming surcharges as of 15 June 2017 has been 
implemented. From 30 April 2016 to 14 June 2017, there was 
a transition period in which network operators were allowed 
to apply roaming surcharges in the amount of wholesale caps 
in addition to domestic prices. Following the Communica-
tions Committee’s (COCOM) approval of the implementing 
regulation to be adopted on fair use limits for roaming on 12 
December 2016, this was formally adopted by the European 
Commission by the end of 2016 as planned. The named pro-
visions apply to the mobile communications companies of the 
A1 Telekom Austria Group in the EEA member states of Austria, 
Bulgaria, Croatia and Slovenia and will have a negative impact 
on current and future roaming revenues.

In 2016, the European Commission presented the draft of a 
new directive revising the current framework, access, authori-
sation and universal service directives and introducing a range 
of new regulations (European Electronic Communications 
Code). This initial proposed legislation is being negotiated in 
the European Parliament and at the level of the EU member 
states. An agreement shall be made by mid-2018 at the latest. 
The European Parliament has again brought forward a previ-
ous proposal for the abolition of surcharges for international 
calls within the EU. Policy objectives for a ‘gigabit society’ and 
a 5G plan of action were also presented. This will involve both 
legal and regulatory risks as well as financial risks in future. 
The frequency allocation of the 3.4–3.8 GHz band is also immi-
nent in Austria. The auction is likely to take place in the second 
half of the year 2018.

The A1 Telekom Austria Group and its subsidiaries are party  
to a number of legal proceedings both in and out of court  
with public authorities, competitors and other parties. An 
ongoing dialogue with the stakeholders involved and a regular 
exchange of information on controversial issues that could 
pose a threat to the company enable the Group to identify 
problems at an early stage and develop measures to counter-
act them in a targeted manner if need be.

Internal control system  
for financial reporting
The Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft has an internal  
control system (ICS) over the financial reporting process, as 
required by law. The ICS is intended to provide reasonable  
assurance regarding the reliability, completeness and accu-
racy of external financial reporting in compliance with inter-
national and national accounting standards. Regular internal 
reporting to Management and the review of the internal  
control system by Internal Audit also ensure that weaknesses 
are identified promptly, and reported and eliminated accord-
ingly. The most important content and principles apply to  
all A1 Telekom Austria Group subsidiaries. The effectiveness  
of the ICS is reviewed, analysed and assessed at regular  
intervals. At the end of each year, the Group’s Management 
carries out an assessment of the relevant companies with  
the involvement of the respective business units. Based on  
the findings of this assessment and the defined criteria,  
Management stated the internal control system to be effec- 
tive as of 31 December 2017.

Due to the listing of the ultimate parent América Móvil on  
the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE), the implementation  
of the U.S. Sarbanes-Oxley Act (SOX) is required (again).  
To this end, an adjustment and amendment of the internal 
control system to reflect this standard was implemented  
in the 2015 financial year.
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Outlook

In 2017, A1 Telekom Austria Group managed to grow reve- 
nues and EBITDA via a clear focus on high-value customers 
and attractive fixed-line propositions, both on a reported  
and proforma basis. This was achieved despite the fact that 
most of the Group’s mobile markets continued to be charac-
terised by intense competition and regulatory burdens. The 
macroeconomic headwinds slowed down further in most 
segments. Results were negatively impacted by the stepwise 
abolition of retail roaming in the EU during the last two years. 
The Belarusian Rouble showed in contrast to the forgone  
years a stable development versus the Euro (+1.0 % year-on-
year based on period average). Cost efficiencies enabled 
the translation of the solid revenue growth into an EBITDA 
increase. Moreover, results profited from acquisitions in the 
fixed-line business.

In the reporting year, the A1 Telekom Austria Group decided  
to harmonise its brands throughout the Group and to roll out 
the ‘A1’ brand in a gradual manner throughout the Group  
depending on local circumstances. This triggered the amor-
tisation of local brand values, which had reached a total of 
around EUR 350 mn by the end of 2016. The respective com-
panies will amortise the brand values until the phase-out of  
the old brands, which is expected to have a negative impact  
on the net result until the financial year 2019, with more than 
half of the impact in 2017 and Q1 2018. In 2017, the brand 
value amortisation resulting thereof amounted to EUR 121.8 mn  
and stemmed primarily from the segment Bulgaria as well as  
to a lesser extent from the segments Belarus, Croatia and 
Republic of Macedonia.

For the full year 2018, most of the market dynamics  
mentioned above are expected to remain. 

Both in Austria and in the CEE markets, the competitive  
environment in mobile markets is anticipated to continue, 
while the demand for fixed-line services is expected to  
remain a positive driver across all markets. In the CEE seg-
ments, operational results are expected to benefit increas- 
ingly from measures taken in the past as well as from the  
macroeconomic improvements with GDP growth forecasted  
in all markets.

The negative roaming impact is anticipated to amount to 
approximately 1.0 % to 1.5 % of Group EBITDA for the full year 
2018. Contrary to the supportive FX development in 2017,  
the operational performance in Belarus is expected to be  
negatively affected by a devaluation of the Belarusian Rouble.

In this business environment, the Management of A1 Telekom 
Austria Group remains committed to its growth strategy and 
is concentrating on the following focus areas: exceling in the 
core business, expansion of products and services as well  
as value-accretive mergers and acquisitions. As in the previ- 
ous year, results should gain support from ongoing efforts  
to continuously increase operating efficiency.

Vienna, 30 January 2017
The Management Board

Alejandro Douglass Plater Dipl.Ing. Siegfried Mayrhofer
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Auditor’s Report1)

Report on the Financial  
Statements 

Audit Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Telekom Austria 
Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna,

These financial statements comprise the balance sheet as of 
December 31, 2017, the income statement for the fiscal year 
then ended and the notes.

Based on our audit the accompanying financial statements 
were prepared in accordance with the legal regulations and 
present fairly, in all material respects, the assets and the  
financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2017 
and its financial performance for the year then ended in 
accordance with Austrian Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with the regulation  
(EU) no. 537/2014 (in the following “EU regulation”) and 
in accordance with Austrian Standards on Auditing. Those 
standards require that we comply with International Standards 
on Auditing (ISA). Our responsibilities under those regula-
tions and standards are further described in the “Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” 
section of our report. We are independent of the Company in 
accor¬dance with the Austrian General Accepted Accounting 
Principles and professional requirements and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the  
financial statements of the fiscal year. These matters were  
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial state-
ments as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and  
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

We considered the following matter as key audit matter for  
our audit:

1. Valuation of investments
Description
Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft shows significant invest-
ments in subsidiaries (mEUR 7,834.7) in its single financial 
statements as of December 31, 2017 according to Austrian 
GAAP and recorded significant amounts for reversals of  
impairments (mEUR 873.8) in the 2017 income statement.

Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft’s disclosures related to  
investment in subsidiaries as well as the corresponding 
reversal of impairments are included in Note 1.2 (Long-term 
Assets), Note 2.1 (Long-term Assets) and Note 3.7 (Income 
from the Liquidation and Reversal of Impairment Losses on 
Long-Term Financial Assets). 

1) This report is a translation of the original report in German, which is solely 
valid. Publication or sharing with third parties of the financial statements  
together with our auditor's opinion is only allowed if the financial statements 
and the management report are identical with the German audited version. 
This audit opinion is only applicable to the German and complete financial  
statements with the management report. Section 281 paragraph 2 UGB  
(Austrian Company Code) applies to alternated versions.
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We considered the valuation of investments as a key audit 
matter as the related asset amounts are significant and the 
assessment process itself is complex and requires judgment. 
The impairment tests include assumptions that are affected  
by future market and economic conditions.

How our audit addressed the matter
Our audit procedures included, among others, the following: 

We assessed the design and implementation of the controls 
over the impairment process.

Furthermore, we compared forecasted revenue and profit 
margins as well as capital expenditure and changes in working 
capital for all entities with the Telekom Austria Group plans 
submitted to the audit committee and analyzed the main  
drivers for the future development included in the business 
plan to determine the appropriateness of the projections.  
We also verified the assumptions made in relation to discount 
rates and growth rates. 

EY valuation specialists assisted us in performing the audit 
procedures relating to impairment. 

We also evaluated the adequacy of disclosures made  
regarding impairment.

Responsibilities of Management 
and of the Audit Committee for 
the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Austrian Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles, for them to present a true and fair  
view of the assets, the financial position and the financial  
performance of the Company and for such internal controls  
as management determines are necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is respon- 
sible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a  
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related  
to going concern and using the going concern basis of  
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate  
the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic  
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Compa-
ny’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities  
for the Audit of the Financial  
Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from ma- 
terial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with the EU regula-
tion and in accordance with Austrian Standards on Auditing, 
which require the application of ISA, always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements. 
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As part of an audit in accordance with the EU regulation and 
in accordance with Austrian Standards on Auditing, which re-
quire the application of ISA, we exercise professional judgment 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.

We also:
▸  identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 

the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrep-
resentations, or the override of internal control.

▸  obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to  
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are  
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the  
Company’s internal control.

▸  evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and  
related disclosures made by management.

▸  conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of 
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast signifi-
cant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report  
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or,  
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Company to cease  
to continue as a going concern.

▸  evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficien-
cies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that  
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding  
independence, and to communicate with them all relation-
ships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,  
we determine those matters that were of most significance  
in the audit of the financial statements of the current period 
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation pre-
cludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in ex- 
tremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should 
not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and  
Regulatory Requirements

Comments on the Management Report

Pursuant to Austrian Generally Accepted Accounting Princi-
ples, the management report is to be audited as to whether it 
is consistent with the financial statements and as to whether 
the management report was prepared in accordance with the 
applicable legal regulations.

Management is responsible for the preparation of the man-
agement report in accordance with Austrian Generally Accept-
ed Accounting Principles.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Austrian Stand-
ards on Auditing for the audit of the management report.

Opinion
In our opinion, the management report for the Company was 
prepared in accordance with the valid legal requirements, 
comprising the details in accordance with Section 243a Aus-
trian Company Code UGB, and is consistent with the financial 
statements.

Statement
Based on the findings during the audit of the financial state-
ments and due to the thus obtained understanding concerning 
the Company and its circumstances no material misstatements 
in the management report came to our attention.
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Mag. Erich Lehner mp

Wirtschaftsprüfer / Certified Public 

Accountant

Mag. (FH) Severin Eisl mp 

Wirtschaftsprüfer / Certified Public 

Accountant

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The 
other information comprises the information included in the 
annual report, but does not include the financial statements, 
the management report and the auditor’s report thereon. The 
annual report is estimated to be provided to us after the date 
of the auditor’s report. Our opinion on the financial statements 
does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other information, as soon as it is 
available, and, in doing so, to consider whether – based on our 
knowledge obtained in the audit – the other information is ma-
terially inconsistent with the financial statements or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated.

Additional information in accord-
ance with Article 10 EU regulation

We were elected as auditor by the ordinary general meeting at 
June 9, 2017. We were appointed by the Supervisory Board on 
October 5, 2017. We are auditors without cease since 2015.

We confirm that the audit opinion in the Section “Report on 
the financial statements” is consistent with the additional 
report to the audit committee referred to in Article 11 of the 
EU regulation.

We declare that no prohibited non-audit services (article 5 
par. 1 of the EU regulation) were provided by us and that we 
remained independent of the audited company in conducting 
the audit.

Responsible Austrian  
Certified Public Accountant

The engagement partner is Mr. Erich Lehner,  
Certified Public Accountant.

Vienna, January 30, 2018

Ernst & Young
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft m.b.H.
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Declaration of the  
Management Board

We confirm to the best of our knowledge that the separate 
financial statements prepared according to the applicable 
accounting standards give a true and fair view of the assets, 
liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the company  
and that the management report describes the development 
and performance of the business and the position of the com-
pany in a way that it gives a true and fair view of the assets, 
liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the company 
and the management report describes the principal risks and 
uncertainties of the company.

The Management Board

Alejandro Douglass Plater Dipl.Ing. Siegfried Mayrhofer
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Report by the  
Supervisory Board

Dear shareholders, 
The 2017 financial year was again shaped by systematic  
implementation of the Group strategy and by strategic 
course-setting in this age of digitalisation. 

Establishing a clear focus on an outstanding customer experi-
ence combined with innovative products and services and  
adhering to a strict cost management policy allowed the Group 
to get back on track to growth – despite the persistently chal- 
lenging competitive environment and regulatory interven-
tion. In the year under review, the A1 Telekom Austria Group 
increased its total revenues and EBITDA by 4.1 % and 3.2 %  
respectively and demonstrated an improvement in its operat-
ing business not only on the domestic market of Austria, but 
also in the CEE markets. M&A transactions in Croatia and  
Belarus made an additional positive contribution. In September  
2017, the A1 Telekom Austria Group took a further step in 
strengthening its brand profile and announced its decision  
to introduce the A1 brand gradually in all countries according 
to local conditions and thereby harmonise its brands throug- 
out the Group. A1 Digital is also expected to open up new 
potential in the area of digital services.

Telekom Austria shares closed the year at EUR 7.72, up  
37.8 % on the previous year and clearly outperforming the 
sector (-3.6 %).

In the 2017 financial year, the Supervisory Board held six  
Supervisory Board meetings and numerous committee meet-
ings to discuss in detail the strategic orientation, investment 
and financing decisions as well as the business performance 
of the A1 Telekom Austria Group and its subsidiaries. After  
an extensive discussion on strategic opportunities and 
challenges as well as potential courses of action to optimise 
business performance, the budget for 2018 was approved  
in December 2017. 

At the Annual General Meeting on 9 June 2017, the Super- 
visory Board mandates of Stefan Pinter and Reinhard Kraxner 
were each extended by one year. In the Extraordinary General 

Meeting on 20 September 2017, Peter F. Kollmann was elected 
as a member of the Supervisory Board, following Ronny Pecik’s 
resignation from the Supervisory Board as of 9 June 2017.  
I would like to take this opportunity to thank Ronny Pecik as  
a resigned member of the Supervisory Board for his high  
commitment and good cooperation.

Ernst & Young Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft m.b.H. was 
also reappointed as the auditor at the Annual General Meeting 
on 9 June 2017. The Supervisory Board and the Audit Com- 
mittee discussed the selection of the auditor in detail and 
made a corresponding recommendation to the Annual General  
Meeting to appoint Ernst & Young Wirtschaftsprüfungs-GmbH. 

The Supervisory Board of Telekom Austria AG is committed 
to compliance with the Austrian Corporate Governance Code 
(ACGC) and to responsible corporate management and  
control aimed at generating sustainable enterprise value. All 
ten shareholder representatives have declared their indepen- 
dence within the meaning of Rule 53 of the ACGC. Due to the 
open discussion culture within the Supervisory Board, the 
self-evaluation of the Supervisory Board as stipulated in Rule 
36 of the ACGC is performed every two years. The most recent 
self-evaluation was performed in the 2016 financial year.

In accordance with Rule 62 of the ACGC, the A1 Telekom Austria  
Group’s compliance with the provisions of the ACGC and the 
accuracy of its public reporting in association with this are 
assessed externally every three years. The most recent eval- 
uation, which was performed by Ernst & Young Wirtschafts- 
prüfungs-GmbH at the beginning of 2017, found no facts 
that conflicted with the declaration made by the Management 
Board and the Supervisory Board in the 2016 financial year 
concerning observance of and compliance with the ‘comply  
or explain’ rules or the recommendations of the ACGC.

In 2017, the Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board held 
five meetings to address financial reporting within the scope  
of preparing its Annual and Quarterly Financial Statements, 
and also performed its supervisory duties to monitor the  
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effectiveness of the internal control system, the risk manage-
ment system and internal auditing. As part of its reporting, 
Ernst & Young Wirtschaftsprüfungs-GmbH credibly demon-
strated its impartiality to the Audit Committee in accordance 
with Section 270 (1a) of the Austrian Business Enterprise 
Code (UGB). The findings of the Audit Committee meetings 
were reported to the Supervisory Board on an ongoing basis. 

At its meeting in February 2017, the Staff and Nomination 
Committee dealt with the extension option of two additional 
years in the Management Board contracts, which were  
executed in 2017: the contracts of Alejandro Plater and  
Siegfried Mayrhofer are thus due to end on 5 March 2020  
and 31 May 2020 respectively.

The Annual Financial Statements of Telekom Austria AG and 
the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ending  
31 December 2017 were issued with unqualified audit opin- 
ions by Ernst & Young Wirtschaftsprüfungs-GmbH. The Man- 
agement Report and the Group Management Report are con-
sistent with the Annual Financial Statements and the Consol-
idated Financial Statements respectively. After prior consul-
tation with the Audit Committee and following an extensive 
discussion and review, the Supervisory Board approved the 
Annual Financial Statements for 2017, which have therefore 
been adopted in accordance with Section 96 (4) of the Austrian  
Stock Corporation Act (AktG). After prior consultation with the 
Audit Committee and following an extensive discussion and 
review, it also approved the Consolidated Financial Statements 
prepared in accordance with IFRS as prescribed by Section 
245a UGB, the Management Report, the Group Management 
Report and the Corporate Governance Report. Telekom Austria 
Aktiengesellschaft publishes a separate consolidated non- 
financial report in accordance with Section 267a UGB.

The Supervisory Board approves the Management Board’s 
proposal for the distribution of profit, namely the distribution 
of a dividend of 20 Euro cents per eligible share for the  
2017 financial year, with the remaining amount being carried  
forward to new account. 

I would like to conclude by thanking the management and 
all employees. Their exceptional dedication enabled the A1 
Telekom Austria Group to successfully hold its own in what was 
a challenging market environment in 2017. I would also like 
to clearly state to the shareholders of Telekom Austria AG that 
the Supervisory Board will continue to actively support and 
press ahead with the strategic development of the A1 Telekom 
Austria Group going forward. 

Wolfgang Ruttenstorfer 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
Vienna, February 2018

REPORT BY THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

A1 TELEKOM AUSTRIA GROUP — ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2017 135



Consolidated non-financial report 1) of Telekom Austria 
Aktiengesellschaft in accordance with Section 267a (6) 
of the Austrian Company Code (UGB) on environmental, 
social and employee matters, as well as combating  
corruption and bribery

A1 Telekom Austria Group, listed on the Vienna Stock Exchange,  
is a leading provider of digital services and communications 
solutions in Central and Eastern Europe with more than  
24 million customers, currently operating in seven countries:  
Austria and Slovenia (A1), Bulgaria (Mobiltel), Belarus  
(velcom), Croatia (Vipnet), the Republic of Serbia (Vip mobile) 
and the Republic of Macedonia (one.Vip). More information  
on the business activity can be found in the Group Manage-
ment Report 2017.

Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft and its subsidiaries,  
hereinafter referred to as the A1 Telekom Austria Group, strive  
to increase enterprise value in a sustainable manner, while  
taking into account all relevant economic, ecological and 
social aspects. This goal is supported by the Group’s com- 
mitment to the Austrian Corporate Governance Code and  
the application of all the requirements of the internal control 
system, the Code of Conduct and the compliance guidelines. 
An integrated CSR management system, defined standards 
and processes, group-wide environmental management, 

compliance with the principles of the UN Global Compact and 
regard for human rights ensure the development of strategies 
and goals oriented towards sustainability and the involvement 
of all business units and hierarchies.

A materiality analysis was conducted with the help of various 
interest groups to identify central sustainability issues and 
material impacts. Goals, which will be reviewed on an annual 
basis and adjusted if necessary, were derived from the results 
of the materiality analysis.

1) The German text of the signed statement, which refers to the German 
 version of the Report, is the only binding one. The English translation is not 
 binding and shall not be used for the interpretation.

Consolidated  
non-financial  
report
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Materiality matrix

Bubble size represents business relevance for A1 Telekom Austria Group.

Internal experts, external 
experts from the fields 
of science, research and 
from NGOs

Involved stakeholders

  Evaluation of potential impact of selected topics in the course of a workshop and 
in talks with external and internal experts (on a scale of 1 to 4 depending on impact 
magnitude)

  Assessment of relevant initiatives’ contribution in the light of the UN’s Sustainable 
Development Goals

2. Impact evaluation

  Assessment of the 21 selected topic groups by internal and external stakeholders 
in the course of an online survey (response: 700 participants)

  Selection and rating of top 10 topics in order of importance

3. Online survey

  Identifying 68 relevant topics considering the requirements of the GRI 
Reporting Standard (topics, indicators, sector supplement). Topics determined 
in the course of the ongoing stakeholder dialogue as well as sector-specific 
topics were also covered in the process.

  Two-stage evaluation process resulting in 21 summarised topic groups

  Topic validation by external and internal experts

1. Topic identification

Employees, customers, suppliers, the 
economy, politicians & special interest 
groups, media, the scientific, research 
& education communities

Identifying topics in the context of sustainability
in accordance with the GRI Standard for Sustainability Reports: 102-46
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1 Risks
Unless otherwise stated the significant risks and how to deal 
with them can be found in the risk report of the A1 Telekom 
Austria Group’s Group Management Report 2017.

2 Information on the material 
topics derived for the A1 Telekom 
Austria Group
in accordance with the GRI Standards for Sustainability  
Reporting: 103-1, 103-2, 103-3

A topic’s importance (see the graphic ‘identifying topics in the 
context of sustainability context’) is based on its impacts on 
the environment, society, economy as well as how interesting  
it is to A1 Telekom Austria Group’s stakeholders. Thus, the  
topics most important to A1 Telekom Austria Group are those 
that have the biggest impact and those that are most relevant 
to the stakeholders. As an additional dimension, the topics 
were assessed with regards to their business relevance for 
A1 Telekom Austria Group. This allows for a perspective that 
takes into account the topics’ sustainability context and their 
economical significance for the company. 

In the following, the A1 Telekom Austria Group reports on its 
own activities and measures with regard to all topics consid-
ered material, which are listed below. Within the A1 Telekom 
Austria Group, responsibilities for all of these topics have  
been defined in one or several departments.

a) Security and data protection 

The topic of security and data protection was identified as 
material by all stakeholder groups in the materiality analysis 
2017. Through its business operations, the A1 Telekom Austria 
Group directly contributes to data protection in its markets. 

Included in the management approaches applied are certifica-
tions such as ISO 27001, the security information policy and 
business continuity plans. These aim to guarantee state-of-
the-art data protection and a high security standard in order  
to avoid negative impacts within and outside the company  
as best as possible. Also used for this purpose are the security 
information policies and the security information standards 
(see also Group Management Report 2017) and the imple-
mentation of teams that respond professionally to cyber inci-
dents (e. g. A1 CERT = computer emergency response team). 
Important security aspects are coordinated group-wide,  
such as the implementation of the EU General Data Protection 
Regulation (DSGVO) – supported by sharing experiences in na-
tional (e. g. cyber security platform of the Chancellor’s Office) 
and international security associations (e. g. ETIS). The service 
lines, employees in shops, support communities and contact 
forms on the websites are available as complaint mechanisms 
to all stakeholders. The position of data officer has also been 
created within the A1 Telekom Austria Group in response to the 
broader requirements for companies imposed by the General 

Data Protection Regulation of the European Union. At the  
core of this regulation is the protection of personal data. The 
EU General Data Protection Regulation will enter into force on  
25 May 2018, and since 2016, the A1 Telekom Austria Group 
has been working to gradually enact it in the countries covered 
by the regulation. Furthermore, the A1 Telekom Austria Group 
encourages training and further education regarding security 
and data protection.

Management systems are evaluated regularly. For example,  
the ISO certifications are evaluated annually and these were 
also carried out in 2017. Effectiveness is reviewed and mon-
itored regularly on the basis of predefined key figures, which 
are not disclosed for competitive reasons. Adjustments are 
made on an intra-year basis, if necessary. In addition, a total 
of 32,246 different e-learning modules on the topic of data 
protection were completed group-wide in 2017.

b) Communication infrastructure 

In the materiality analysis 2017, the topic ‘communication 
infrastructure’ was identified as material both by stakeholders 
(particularly business representatives, customers and the  
media) and with regard to impacts. The A1 Telekom Austria 
Group makes a direct contribution in its markets by means  
of its business operations, which include the installation of 
communication infrastructure. 

The A1 Telekom Austria Group is pursuing demand-oriented  
infrastructure expansion with the goal of driving forward 
digitalisation in its markets. The infrastructure expansion is 
an important part of A1 Telekom Austria Group’s technology 
strategy. The strategy takes the approach of ensuring a secure 
and stable network with a high level of system stability and the 
best possible transmission rates. Complaint mechanisms for 
products such as shops, service lines and contact forms on the 
websites are available to all stakeholders.

The dynamic growth of the data volumes transported via the 
networks of the A1 Telekom Austria Group will be accounted  
for by extensive development activities. To prepare for future 
requirements and enable the development of new products 
and services, the further development of network infrastruc-
ture will be the focus of the Group’s innovation strategy.  
A central point of the A1 Telekom Austria Group is the digital 
transformation of its network infrastructure, which it success-
fully continued in 2017 as well. Management systems such  
as ISO 9001 support this development.

In this context, the convergence of fixed-line and mobile  
networks is playing an instrumental role. Furthermore,  
data centres are increasingly relevant as part of the network  
infrastructure. In 2017, the A1 Telekom Austria Group laid  
the groundwork for an ultra-modern data centre in Vienna  
and successfully concluded the construction of a data  
centre with cutting-edge technology in Belarus. 
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In Austria, the fixed-line broadband expansion continues to be 
driven forward by the accelerated fibre roll-out in the form of 
FTTC (fibre to the curb), FTTB (fibre to the building) and FTTH 
(fibre to the home). While fibre is being brought closer and 
closer to the customers, the capacity of existing copper lines  
is also being increased. This is being done with a combination 
of vectoring – a technology for suppressing interfering signals –  
with transmission technologies such as VDSL2 and G.fast. In 
this case, the target transmission rates are several 100 Mbps 
for medium line distances. G.fast data rates provide up to 
500 Mbps. In lab experiments, several Gbps could already be 
transmitted with further development of G.fast. With hybrid 
modems, mobile and fixed-line infrastructure are brought 
together in order to enable higher speeds. The undivided 
bandwidth and high capacity of a DSL fixed broadband line  
is combined with the peak data rates of the A1 LTE network 
and provided to customers for home internet access. 

The A1 Telekom Austria Group offers the LTE (long-term  
evolution) mobile communication standard in Austria, Bulgaria,  
Croatia, Slovenia, the Republic of Serbia and the Republic of 
Macedonia. The accelerated roll-out of 4G LTE Advanced in 
2017 led to a significant improvement in the supply of fast 
mobile internet in Austria, Slovenia, Croatia, the Republic of 
Serbia and the Republic of Macedonia. The A1 Telekom Austria 
Group is using LTE carrier aggregation with 256 QAM at se-
lected locations in Austria, Croatia and the Republic of Serbia, 
enabling data rates of up to 300 Mbps. In reporting year 2017, 
the use of 4x4 MIMO (multiple input multiple output) during  
a field test produced data transmission rates of over 850 Mbps 
in Slovenia. MIMO is a process in which the radio connection 
is improved with severally antennas used in parallel. Carrier 
aggregation, complex modulation techniques and massive 
MIMO, a further development of 4x4 MIMO will also play a key 
role in the 5G standard since these serve as a technological 
basis for high bandwidths and the particularly efficient use of 
available frequency bands. 

Management systems are evaluated regularly. For example,  
the ISO certifications are evaluated annually and were also 
carried out successfully in 2017. Effectiveness is reviewed  
and monitored regularly, as well as adjusted if necessary, on 
the basis of predefined key figures, which are not disclosed  
for competitive reasons.

c) Digitalisation and promoting  
 innovation 
The materiality analysis 2017 determined that the topic of 
digitalisation and promoting innovation is considered as ma-
terial – both to stakeholders (particularly those in science and 
education, business representatives and the media) and  
with regard to the impacts. Digitalisation is promoted primarily 
by telecommunications companies, whereby the A1 Telekom 
Austria Group has a direct and indirect impact on society,  
the environment and the economy with regards to this issue. 

A1 Telekom Austria Group sees itself as an enabler of digitali- 
sation and is driving it forward in its markets. The growing sig-
nificance of digitalisation is taken into account with A1 Digital  
International GmbH. A1 Digital International GmbH offers  
digital services to actively support companies in the digitali- 
sation process. A1 Digital International GmbH focuses on  
two areas in particular: Internet of Things (IoT) and cloud-
based ICT solutions. In the first case, the company is able to 
look back on many years’ worth of experience because the 
pre-existing Machine-to-Machine-(M2M) business is part of  
the new company. The IoT product portfolio comprises solu-
tions such as smart metering, fleet management, managed 
connectivity and asset tracking. In the second case, software  
solutions are offered predominantly to small and medium- 
sized enterprises, which then help to make their communica-
tion, sales or infrastructure requirements more cost-efficient 
and flexible. With the Infrastructure-as-a-Service (IaaS) solu-
tions, complex and costly acquisition and modernisation of 
hardware, such as servers, is reduced and thereby resources 
are also conserved. 

Innovation is encouraged by supporting new companies as 
part of the “A1 Start Up Campus” initiative by the Austrian 
subsidiary. By 2017, 12 start-ups had already been promoted 
since the initiative started in 2011. Research partnerships  
with notable scientific and industrial partners and joint pro-
jects with national and international institutions are supporting  
the A1 Telekom Austria Group in the launch of technologies  
of the future for market and customer-oriented communica-
tions solutions. The A1 Telekom Austria Group is also a partner 
of the Industry 4.0 platform and is addressing the interoper-
ability of IoT platforms within the Europe-wide H2020 project 
symbIoTe.

The effectiveness of management systems used is reviewed 
and monitored regularly, as well as adjusted if necessary. 

d) Customer orientation

In the materiality analysis 2017, the topic of customer orienta-
tion was identified as material by stakeholders (especially by 
customers, suppliers, business representatives and employ-
ees). An impact on the A1 Telekom Austria Group’s business 
and private customers is provided. The A1 Telekom Austria 
Group directly contributes to the impact through its business 
operations.
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The A1 Telekom Austria Group’s objective is, in addition to 
providing high-performance fixed-line and mobile infrastruc-
ture, to become the first point of contact and key partner for 
the digital transformation of companies in order to unlock new 
potential in digital services, such as cloud and ICT solutions.  
A variety of management approaches are used for this purpose 
in order to offer customers the best possible service. Com-
plaint mechanisms such as service lines, e-mails and contact 
form on the company websites are available to all stakeholders 
in the A1 Telekom Austria Group. 

The effectiveness of the management system is reviewed reg- 
ularly basis and then measures are taken and adjustments  
are made if necessary, based on predefined key figures, which 
are not published for competitive reasons.

    2017 2016 Change
RGUs1) ( ̓000)    reported reported in %

in Austria 3,390.4 3,495.5 -3.0

in Bulgaria 1,005.0 1,018.9 -1.4

in Croatia 654.1 620.1 5.5

in Belarus 463.4 279.4 65.9

in Slovenia 183.0 172.0 6.4

in the Republic of Macedonia 340.7 314.3 8.4

Total 6,036.5 5,900.2 2.3
 

 of which broadband RGUs in Austria 1,447.3 1,481.0 -2.3

 of which broadband RGUs in Bulgaria 434.8 429.3 1.3

 of which broadband RGUs in Croatia 250.0 234.4 6.7

 of which broadband RGUs in Belarus 212.0 132.0 60.6

 of which broadband RGUs in Slovenia 70.4 70.2 0.2

 of which broadband RGUs in the Republic of Macedonia 114.6 102.0 12.3

   

TV RGUs 1,421.4 1,284.3 10.7
 
Mobile communication customers (̓000)     
in Austria 5,335.2 5,438.7 -1.9

in Bulgaria 3,977.1 4,108.1 -3.2

in Croatia 1,772.7 1,720.0 3.1

in Belarus 4,864.2 4,944.9 -1.6

in Slovenia 703.3 714.3 -1.5

in the Republic of Serbia 2,182.8 2,145.3 1.7

in the Republic of Macedonia 1,072.3 1,103.6 -2.8

Total 20,657.7 20,707.8 -0.2

1) Revenue generating unit

e) Energy demand and ecological  
 network design
In the materiality analysis 2017, the topic of energy demand 
was identified as material with regard to impacts and by stake-
holders (especially business representatives, politicians and 
the media). The A1 Telekom Austria Group has a direct impact 
primarily through operating the communication infrastructure 
as part of its business operations. The topic of ecological net- 
work design, which includes the activities and measures for 
sustainably creating the company’s own infrastructure, was 
identified as being material in the materiality analysis 2017 
with regard to the impacts. The A1 Telekom Austria Group has 
a direct impact on the environment through the installation 
and operation of the communication infrastructure.
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Direct and indirect energy (in MWh)

   Heating  District   Total energy 
2017 Electricity 1) fuels 2) heating Fuels 3)  consumption

Austria 298,853 16,572 29,321 48,297 393,044

Bulgaria 108,380 126 298 12,170 120,973

Croatia 59,643 3,798 3,861 4,602 71,904

Belarus 75,548 0 3,346 4,809 83,703

Slovenia 32,381 0 278 626 33,284

Republic of Serbia 43,772 81 1,452 2,797 48,102

Republic of Macedonia 36,778 2,085 0 1,917 40,780

A1 Telekom Austria Group 655,355 22,662 38,556 75,218 791,790
 
2016          
Austria 298,986 16,227 28,869 49,532 393,614

Bulgaria 86,175 128 407 10,758 97,469

Croatia 57,742 3,694 3,671 4,203 69,309

Belarus 75,715 0 3,235 4,280 83,230

Slovenia 28,403 0 276 530 29,208

Republic of Serbia 37,732 0 1,071 2,721 41,524

Republic of Macedonia 35,939 1,484 0 2,032 39,455

A1 Telekom Austria Group 620,692 21,533 37,530 74,056 753,810
 
Change in 2017 compared with 2016 (in %)        
Austria 0.0 2.1 1.6 -2.5 -0.1

Bulgaria 25.8 -2.1 -26.8 13.1 24.1

Croatia 3.3 2.8 5.2 9.5 3.7

Belarus -0.2 n. m. 3.4 12.4 0.6

Slovenia 14.0 n. m. 0.5 18.1 14.0

Republic of Serbia 16.0 n. m.  35.5 2.8 15.8

Republic of Macedonia 2.3 40.5 n. m. -5.7 3.4

A1 Telekom Austria Group 5.6 5.2 2.7 1.6 5.0

In accordance with the GRI Standard for Sustainability Reports: 302-1, 302-4

The rise in electricity consumption in Bulgaria by 26 % between 
2016 and 2017 is due to the merger with the cable network 
operator blizoo. On the contrary “district heating” for Bulgaria  

At the time of preparation, the environmental indicators for the 2017 financial year were not yet available. In the table above, the figures include  
the period from 1 November 2016 to 31 October 2017, which can be considered a representative comparison period for the 2017 financial year.  
There were no significant requirement changes wherefore no fluctuations are assumed. Tables are subject to rounding differences.  
1 joule = 2.77777778 x 10-10 MWh
1) Acquisition and own production, as well as diesel for emergency power generator
2) Oil and gas, not climatically adjusted
3) Diesel, petrol, CNG, LPG and natural gas without diesel for emergency power generator

The A1 Telekom Austria Group has set itself the goal of stabilising  
or rather reducing energy demand and, at the same time, 
reducing CO2 emissions. The Austrian subsidiary is doing this 
with the help of recognised management systems such as  
ISO 50001 for energy management and ISO 14001 for envi-
ronmental management. The network design should be carried 
out as ecologically as possible, depending on the framework 
conditions. The A1 Telekom Austria Group has summarised 
its commitment in a group-wide environment policy. It has set 
itself the goal of reducing energy demand per transferred data 
volume by 30 % from 2015 to 2018 (based on 2015, meas-
ured by MWh per terabyte) and reduce CO2 emissions by 25 % 
by 2020 (based on 2012). From 2015 to 2017, the energy 

requirement for transported data volumes had already been 
reduced by 61 %.

Management systems are evaluated regularly intervals. For 
example, the ISO certifications are evaluated annually and  
was successfully acquired for 2017. Effectiveness is reviewed 
and monitored regularly on the basis of predefined key figures. 
Adjustments are made throughout the year if necessary.

2016 already includes blizoo: Due to the closure of blizoo 
shops “district heating” dropped by 27 % between 2016  
and 2017.
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Direct and indirect greenhouse gas emissions (CO 2 equivalent in t)

 Indirect  Total Total
 (Scope 2) (Scope 1+2) (Scope 1+2+complete)

 Direct location market location market location market
2017  (Scope 1) based  based  based  based  based based

Austria 17,090 100,311 8,777 117,401 25,867 101,483 9,949

Bulgaria 4,443 61,705 61,705 66,148 66,148 66,148 66,148

Croatia 2,319 27,300 27,300 29,619 29,619 29,619 29,619

Belarus 1,744 20,352 20,352 22,097 22,097 22,097 22,097

Slovenia 174 13,617 7,812 13,791 7,986 13,791 7,986

Republic of Serbia 982 38,174 38,174 39,156 39,156 39,156 39,156

Republic of Macedonia 1,115 26,501 26,501 27,615 27,615 27,615 27,615

A1 Telekom Austria Group 27,867 287,960 190,621 315,827 218,488 299,909 202,570
  
2016 
Austria 17,587 100,136 8,733 117,723 26,320 101,353 9,950

Bulgaria 4,049 48,947 48,947 52,995 52,995 52,995 52,995

Croatia 2,183 26,411 26,411 28,593 28,593 28,593 28,593

Belarus 1,497 29,429 29,429 30,926 30,926 30,926 30,926

Slovenia 141 11,952 6,065 12,093 6,206 12,093 6,206

Republic of Serbia 978 32,785 32,785 33,763 33,763 33,763 33,763

Republic of Macedonia 985 25,669 25,669 26,653 26,653 26,653 26,653

A1 Telekom Austria Group 27,419 275,328 178,038 302,747 205,457 286,377 189,087
  
Change in 2017 compared with 2016 (in %)
Austria -2,8 % 0,2 % -2,3 % -0,3 % -2,6 % -1,0 % -11,2 %

Bulgaria 9,7 % 26,1 % 25,8 % 24,8 % 25,2 % 24,8 % 25,2 %

Croatia 6,3 % 3,4 % 3,3 % 3,6 % 3,4 % 3,6 % 3,4 %

Belarus 16,5 % -30,8 % -31,0 % -28,6 % -29,8 % -28,6 % -29,8 %

Slovenia 23,6 % 13,9 % 29,0 % 14,0 % 28,9 % 14,0 % 28,9 %

Republic of Serbia 0,4 % 16,4 % 16,2 % 16,0 % 16,0 % 16,0 % 16,0 %

Republic of Macedonia 13,2 % 3,2 % 3,2 % 3,6 % 3,4 % 3,6 % 3,4 %

A1 Telekom Austria Group 1,6 % 4,6 % 7,1 % 4,3 % 6,7 % 4,3 % 6,8 %

In accordance with the GRI Standard for Sustainability Reports: 305-1, 305-2, 305-5

At the time of preparation, the environmental indicators for the 2017 financial year were not yet available. In the table above, the figures include the 
period from 1 November 2016 to 31 October 2017, which can be considered a representative comparison period for the 2017 financial year. There were 
no significant requirement changes wherefore no fluctuations are assumed. 
According to GHG protocol, “location-based scope 2” figures refer to the average emissions factors in the area in which the energy consumption 
takes place. The average value at national level is used.
According to GHG protocol, “market-based scope 2” figures refer to energy suppliers’ emissions factors, insofar as these are available, or an 
individual energy product.

f) Media literacy 

In the materiality analysis 2017, the topic of media literacy  
was identified as material with regard to the impact. Secure 
and competent dealings with new media is essential for em-
ployment and therefore also contributes to closing the digital 
gap. The A1 Telekom Austria Group’s “A1 Internet for All”  
media literacy initiative offers free courses for everyone for  
encouraging dealing with digital media. This has a direct  
impact on society and the economy. Regarding media literacy 
no risks for the A1 Telekom Austria Group are known.

The A1 Telekom Austria Group has set itself the goal to make 
a contribution to closing the digital gap. With the help of the 
group-wide “A1 Internet for All” initiative, it promotes media 
literacy in the countries in which it operates. The A1 Telekom 
Austria Group set itself the goal of reaching 150,000 partici-
pations in free internet trainings by 2018. As of year-end 2017 
the “A1 Internet for All” initiative has already had more than 
153,000 participations since 2011 so the goal had already 
been achieved.
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Performance is reviewed and monitored regularly based on 
predefined key figures. In Austria, the initiative is supported 
and evaluated scientifically by the NPO Centre of the Vienna 
University of Economics. In 2017, it was reconfirmed that  

Media literacy training: “A1 Internet for All”
    2017 2016 Change 
    Participations Participations in %

Austria    26,615 23,549 13.0

Bulgaria    2,087 1,625 28.4

Croatia    42 75 -44.0

Belarus    20 n. a. n. a.

Slovenia    13 150 -91.3

Republic of Serbia    40 100 -60.0

Republic of Macedonia    n. a. n. a. n. a.

A1 Telekom Austria Group   28,817 25,499 13.0

g) ICT products providing  
 ecological value
Included among ICT products providing ecological value are 
products and services that make a significant contribution to 
more efficient use of resources and enable the user to reduce 
their environmental footprint. In the materiality analysis 2017, 
the topic was identified as material with regard to the impact. 
A direct impact within and outside the company is caused by 
the development of relevant products. Regarding ICT products 
providing ecological value no risks for the A1 Telekom Austria 
Group are known.

ICT products with environmental added value are developed 
through regular evaluation of client requirements and inno- 
vation management and can contribute to reducing CO2  
emissions and preserving resources. Complaint mechanisms 
for products such as shops, service lines and contact forms  
on the websites are available to all stakeholders.

Management systems are evaluated regularly. Effectiveness  
is reviewed and monitored regularly, as well as adjusted if  
necessary, on the basis of predefined key figures, which are 
not published for competitive reasons.

3 Environmental issues
In terms of environmental issues, the significant impact by 
the A1 Telekom Austria Group is energy consumption. Ap-
proximately 80 % of its total energy consumption is made up 
by operating its network. This includes the most important 
environmental measures to achieve maximum efficiency in 
this regard and reduce the energy demand. See also material 
topics: Energy demand and ecological network design.

The environmental management system at A1 Telekom Austria 
Aktiengesellschaft, A1 Slovenija d.d., Vip mobile d.o.o. and 
one.Vip DOOEL is certified in accordance with ISO 14001. 
Furthermore, EMAS (eco management and audit scheme) 
requirements in Austria and Slovenia are met. Energy man- 
agement at A1 Telekom Austria Aktiengesellschaft is also  
ISO 50001 certified. Since 2014, A1 Telekom Austria Aktien- 
gesellschaft has been the first carbon neutral network in  
Austria to be assessed and validated by TÜV SÜD in line with 
the PAS 2060 international standard. 

4 Social issues and  
 employee matters

The A1 Telekom Austria Group had 18,957 employees at the 
end of 2017 (2016:18,203). Headcount in the Austrian seg-
ment was reduced by around 1 % to 8,246 employees as part 
of the ongoing restructuring measures. Around 47 % of exist-
ing employees have civil servant status. The segments outside 
of Austria saw an increase of approximately 8 % to 10,366 
employees. This increase was mainly driven by M&A activities 
in Croatia and Belarus, as well as higher salesforce numbers.

“A1 Internet for All” makes a contribution to closing the  
digital gap in Austria. Adjustments are made throughout  
the year if necessary.
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Employees 1) as of 31 December 2017

Proportion of female employees and proportion  
of female managers as of 31 December 2017

   Change 
 2017 2016 in %

Austria 8,246 8,352 -1.3

Bulgaria 3,751 3,808 -1.5

Croatia 1,680 1,288 30.4

Belarus 2,575 2,248 14.6

Slovenia 565 532 6.2

Republic of Serbia 977 917 6.5

Republic of Macedonia 819 822 -0.4

Holding & Other (incl. A1 Digital) 345 238 45.2

A1 Telekom Austria Group 18,957 18,203 4.1

 2017 (in %) 2016 (in %)  2017 (in %)  2016 (in %) 
 Proportion of Proportion of Proportion of Proportion of
 female employees female employees  female managers 1)  female managers

Austria 26 26 19 19

Bulgaria 49 48 50 54

Croatia 41 41 39 43

Belarus 53 67 46 40

Slovenia 44 40 45 39

Republic of Serbia 58 53 49 46

Republic of Macedonia 45 45 40 50

A1 Telekom Austria Group 38 39 36 36

1) Full-time employees

1) Managers includes all persons with staff responsibility for at least one employee. 

To further expand its competitiveness and innovative drive,  
the A1 Telekom Austria Group invests in sound professional 
training for its employees on an ongoing basis and is increas-
ingly using a central e-learning platform to provide training  
to all its employees throughout the company wherever and 
whenever. The platform currently comprises 14 learning pro- 
viders and 894 online courses and virtual classes. In 2017, 
employees completed online courses. Furthermore, employee 
skills are also developed using a group-wide collaborative  
tool that ensures virtual teamwork within the company. The  
A1 Learning Hub (formerly the A1 Telekom Austria Group Busi-
ness School) functions as a platform for in-person training.  
It developed and organised more than 30 training opportuni-
ties for 500 participants in the course of 2017. In addition to 
this central training, the A1 Telekom Austria Group subsidiaries 
have also developed their own training programmes tailored  
to the needs of their respective markets. To meet future require- 
ments for experts and managers, the A1 Telekom Austria 
Group in Austria is particularly committed to apprenticeship 
training and offers university and college graduates a twelve-
month graduate programme.

Another core element of the opportunities of social and 
employee matters is presented in the topic of fair and flexible 
working conditions within the company, which came up in the 
materiality analysis. Fair and flexible working means creating 
framework conditions that make flexible work in terms of time 
and location possible, whilst meeting all statutory require-
ments. In this sense, virtual collaboration and flexible working 
time models are encouraged to enable work that is independ-
ent of time and location. In addition, up-to-date performance 
management is used, which increasingly focuses on further 
training for employees. 

Diversity among employees is seen as the central driver of the 
company vision “Empowering digital life” and encourages the 
guiding principles of “Team, Trust and Agility” through com-
munication. Supporting women is one of the core elements of 
promoting diversity. A1 Telekom Austria Group has set itself the 
goal of increasing the proportion of women in management 
positions at the company to 38 % by 2018. At the end of 2017, 
the proportion was 36 %.
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Proportion of locals in leadership teams and proportion of women  
in senior management positions as of 31 December 2017

 2017 (in %) 2016 (in %)  2017 (in %)  2016 (in %) 
 Proportion of Proportion of Proportion of Proportion of
 locals in locals in women in senior women in senior
 leadership  leadership management management
 teams 1) teams  positions 2)  positions

Austria 100 100 40 57

Bulgaria 89 89 22 22

Belarus 57 27 0 0

Cluster Croatia/ Macedonia 78 86 11 14

Cluster Serbia/ Slovenia 100 44 38 33

A1 Telekom Austria Group 84 70 21 24

1) Locals includes all those who have citizenship for the country in which they work. A leadership team consists of Senior Directors and  
 the respective Chief Executive Officers. 
2) Persons in senior management positions are part of the local leadership team.

In addition to central innovation and training offers, the  
A1 Telekom Austria Group subsidiaries have also devel- 
oped their own training and health initiatives tailored to  
the needs of their respective markets. For example, this  
includes company physicians, health days and blood drives.

5 Compliance and combating  
 corruption

Acting with honesty, fairness and transparency operation  
is an important component of the corporate culture at the  
A1 Telekom Austria Group. In order to achieve this standard  
of integrity, the company has a comprehensive compliance 
management system. The example set by top management 
and the responsibility of all employees for their own actions  
are increasingly important, in particular. In order to avoid  
misconduct, the A1 Telekom Austria Group has determined 
clear rules for acting in a manner complying with the law  
and with integrity in all business relationships. In addition, 
appropriate controls have been integrated within its busi- 
ness processes. With its admission to UN Global Compact,  
A1 Telekom Austria Group has been committed to implement-
ing fundamental requirements in the areas of human rights, 
work, environment and combating corruption. 

The group-wide Code of Conduct was revised in 2017 and 
adapted to the new guiding principles. In addition to the Code 
of Conduct, which is available in every national language of 
the subsidiaries, as well as in English, there are also detailed 
compliance guidelines providing assistance on specific topics. 
This includes the Anti-Corruption and Conflicts of Interest guide-
lines, which were also revised in 2017 and correspond to the 
ISO 37001 international standard. The compliance guidelines 
provide support in ensuring that acting with integrity is a natural 
part of daily work. Furthermore, the effectiveness of the com-
pliance management system is supported by regular communi-
cation measures and training, the “ask.me” helpdesk, internal 
audits and the anonymous whistleblowing platform “tell.me”.

The needs-based further development of the compliance 
program is ensured by the annual compliance risk assessment. 
In 2016 and 2017, essential elements of the group-wide com-
pliance management system were reviewed for effectiveness 
by Group Internal Audit and Group Compliance with a success-
ful outcome. Communication measures for promoting acting 
with integrity and compliance-relevant measures in hiring 
new managers and employees were also audited. Process and 
documentation requirements in conjunction with donations 
and sponsorship were also reviewed, as was compliance with 
internal regulations for gifts and invitations.

In order to again highlight the importance of compliance 
across the entire company, a group-wide e-learning was  
rolled out in 2017. In 2017, 1,206 managers and employees 
took part in 143 anti-corruption training courses.

Vienna, 30 January 2018
The Management Board

Alejandro Plater, CEO & COO

A1 Telekom Austria Group

Siegfried Mayrhofer, CFO 

A1 Telekom Austria Group

A1 TELEKOM AUSTRIA GROUP — ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2017

CONSOLIDATED NON-FINANCIAL REPORT

145



2017 Consolidated Corporate 
Governance Report

Commitment of the A1 Telekom 
Austria Group to the Corporate 
Governance Code
The shares of Telekom Austria AG have been listed on the Vienna  
Stock Exchange since November 2000, where the Austrian 
Corporate Governance Code (ACGC) is generally accepted. 
The current version of this Code (January 2018) can be  
viewed at www.corporate-governance.at or www.a1.group.

The Corporate Governance Code pursues the goal of responsible  
management and control of companies geared towards a 
sustainable and long-term creation of enterprise value. It aims 
to ensure a high degree of transparency for all stakeholders 
and to serve as an important guideline for investors. The Code 
is based on the provisions of Austrian stock company, stock 
exchange and capital market law, EU recommendations and 
the OECD Principles of Corporate Governance. The A1 Telekom 
Austria Group has been committed to voluntary compliance 
with the ACGC since 2003. The Group complies with all the 
legal requirements set out by the ACGC in what are referred  
to as the ‘L’ rules.

To explain the deviations from the ACGC’s ‘C’ rules, the  
A1 Telekom Austria Group has made the following statement 
regarding Rule 36, Rule 42 and Rule 54 of the ACGC: 

▸  Ad C Rule 36: Due to the open discussion culture within the 
Supervisory Board, the self-evaluation of the Supervisory 
Board as stipulated in Rule 36 of the ACGC is performed 
every two years. The most recent self-evaluation was per-
formed for the 2016 financial year.

▸  Ad C Rule 42: The shareholder representatives on the  
Supervisory Board are appointed in line with the terms  
of the shareholders’ agreement between the controlling 
shareholder América Móvil and Österreichische Bundes- 
und Industriebeteiligungen GmbH (ÖBIB). The Nomination 
Committee or the entire Supervisory Board submit  
nomination proposals to the Annual General Meeting  
as stipulated by these terms, where required by law.

▸  Ad C Rule 54: The free float of the company (including 
treasury shares) is 20.58 %. The shareholder representa-
tives on the Supervisory Board are appointed in line with 
the terms of the shareholders’ agreement between the 
controlling shareholder América Móvil and Österreichische 
Bundes- und Industriebeteiligungen GmbH (ÖBIB).

In accordance with Rule 62 of the ACGC, the A1 Telekom Aus-
tria Group’s compliance with the provisions of the ACGC and 
the accuracy of its public reporting in association with this are 

evaluated externally every three years. The last evalua-
tion was performed in the first half of 2017 by Ernst & 
Young Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft m.b.H., which 
found that the Consolidated Corporate Governance  
Report of Telekom Austria AG for the 2016 financial 
year ending 31 December 2016 meets the legal  
regulations set out in Section 243b UGB and Section 
267a UGB in addition to the requirements of the ACGC 
and the statements made therein.

Composition of executive  
bodies of the company and 
executive body remuneration

The Management Board

The members of the Management Board of Telekom 
Austria AG as of the end of 2017 were Alejandro Plater, 
Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chief Operating 
Officer (COO), and Siegfried Mayrhofer, Chief Financial 
Officer (CFO).

Alejandro Plater
Management Board member (Chief Operating Officer, 
COO) since 6 March 2015, Chairman of the Management  
Board (Chief Executive Officer, CEO) and COO since 1 
August 2015, with a contract term until 5 March 2020. 

Alejandro Plater, born in 1967, has had a long inter- 
national career in the telecommunications industry.  
He started at Ericsson in 1997 as Sales Director for  
Argentina and shortly thereafter took on the respon- 
sibility of Head of Business Development. In 2004,  
he moved to the group’s global headquarters in  
Stockholm, Sweden, to take up the position of Sales 
Director for the Latin America region. Two years later, 
Plater was appointed Sales Director for Mexico and,  
in the following year, he was appointed Vice President 
and Key Account Manager. Alejandro Plater studied 
Business Administration at the University of Buenos  
Aires and has completed several post-graduate  
management studies at Columbia University and  
the Wharton School in the USA and at the London  
Business School in the UK.

Alejandro Plater holds Supervisory Board mandates  
at the following subsidiaries: A1 Telekom Austria AG 
(Austria), Mobiltel EAD (Bulgaria), Vipnet d.o.o.  
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(Croatia), Unitary enterprise velcom (Belarus), A1 Slovenija 
d.d. (Slovenia), Vip mobile d.o.o. (Republic of Serbia),  
one.Vip DOO (Republic of Macedonia). Alejandro Plater  
does not hold any supervisory board mandates outside  
the A1 Telekom Austria Group.

Siegfried Mayrhofer
Chief Financial Officer (CFO): Management Board member 
since 1 June 2014, with a contract term until 31 May 2020. 

Siegfried Mayrhofer, born in 1967, studied Industrial and  
Mechanical Engineering at the Graz University of Technology.

He began his professional career in 1994 at Voest Alpine  
Eisenbahnsysteme in the international division for the  
acquisition of investments. From 1998 to 2000, he served  
as a consultant to Constantia Corporate Finance for mergers 
and acquisitions in various industries.

Siegfried Mayrhofer joined Telekom Austria AG in March 2000. 
After holding various management positions (including  
Head of Corporate Planning and Group Controlling, Fixed- 
Line Controlling, Fixed-Line Accounting), he became CFO  
of Telekom Austria TA AG in July 2009. Siegfried Mayrhofer  
was the Chief Financial Officer of A1 Telekom Austria AG  
from 8 July 2010 to 31 May 2015.

Siegfried Mayrhofer holds Supervisory Board mandates at  
the following subsidiaries: A1 Telekom Austria AG (Austria), 
Mobiltel EAD (Bulgaria), Vipnet d.o.o. (Croatia), Unitary  
enterprise velcom (Belarus), A1 Slovenija d.d. (Slovenia),  
Vip mobile d.o.o. (Republic of Serbia), one.Vip DOO (Republic 
of Macedonia). Siegfried Mayrhofer does not hold any super- 
visory board mandates outside the A1 Telekom Austria Group. 

Report on Management  
Board remuneration

The Remuneration Committee of the Supervisory Board is 
responsible for structuring Management Board remuneration. 
In addition to basic remuneration (fixed salary including  
remuneration in kind), a variable performance-based com-
ponent was agreed with the Management Board members 
Alejandro Plater and Siegfried Mayrhofer. This performance- 
based component is contingent upon the achievement of  
defined targets and is limited to a maximum of 150% of the  
basic remuneration. The targets for the reporting year  
consist of 70 % financial figures (revenue (weighting 35 %)  
and operating free cash flow (weighting 35 %)) and 30 %  
strategic objectives. The Remuneration Committee decides 
on the degree of target achievement and the amount of the 
variable salary component on the basis of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements and the implementation of strategy. 
Performance-based remuneration becomes payable after 
the result for the financial year in question has been resolved, 
while an advance in the amount of 60% of the fixed salary  
is paid in 14 instalments over the current financial year.

Members of the Management Board also participate in  
the long-term incentive programme (LTI). The multi-year 
share-based incentive programme introduced in 2010  
continued in the 2017 reporting year with the issue of the 
2017 tranche. 

The fifth tranche of the LTI programme (LTI 2014) was paid  
out in 2017, following the end of the three-year performance 
period and the determination by the Remuneration Committee 
of the degree of achievement. The degree of target achieve-
ment for LTI 2014 was 60.2 %. Detailed information about this 
can be found in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial State-
ments and the section on the remuneration of the individual 
members of the Management Board.

The total expense for basic remuneration, including remu- 
neration in kind, of members of the Management Board in  
2017 amounted to EUR 1.026 mn (2016: EUR 1.026 mn),  
and variable remuneration amounted to EUR 1.087 mn  
(2016: EUR 1.214 mn). EUR 0.11 mn was spent on LTI 2014  
for Management Board members in the 2017 reporting  
year (amount spent on LTI 2013 in 2016: EUR 0.263 mn). 

Assuming 100 % target achievement, the members of the 
Management Board were provisionally allocated the following 
numbers of notional bonus shares in the context of the new  
LTI 2017 tranche issued in June 2017: 59,041 shares for  
Alejandro Plater, 49,500 shares for Siegfried Mayrhofer. Any  
actual cash settlement will occur after the end of the three-
year performance period, i.e. not before 1 June 2020,  
commensurate with the level of achievement of objectives  
as determined by the Remuneration Committee.

In terms of old-age provisions, the Management Board  
members Alejandro Plater and Siegfried Mayrhofer receive a 
contribution to their voluntary pension plans, which is paid 
into a corporate pension fund by the company and amounts 
to 20 % of their respective fixed salaries (excluding expense 
allowances). Members will receive an eventual payout from  
the corporate pension fund only when they are over 55 years  
of age and are no longer in a contractual relationship with  
the company.

The amount of the severance payment to be paid in the  
event of the termination of a Board member’s appointment  
is based on the length of their employment and is capped  
at one year’s total remuneration for Siegfried Mayrhofer. The 
Mitarbeiter- und Selbstständigenvorsorgegesetz (BMSVG – Aus-
trian Corporate Employee and Entrepreneur Pension Law) 
applies to Alejandro Plater.

Furthermore, the members of the Management Board are  
entitled to a company car, and casualty insurance provides 
cover in the event of death or invalidity. There is also supple-
mentary health insurance cover for Management Board  
members. The members of the Management Board are in- 
cluded in the D&O insurance policy entered into and paid  
for by Telekom Austria AG.
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For the companies included in the scope of consolidation,  
the following applies with regard to the key principles of the 
remuneration policy: The Chairman of the Supervisory Board  
of the respective subsidiary is responsible for structuring  
Management Board remuneration. In addition to basic remu- 
neration (fixed salary including remuneration in kind), a  
variable performance-based component has been agreed  
with the Management Board members of the respective  
consolidated subsidiaries. This performance-based compo-
nent is contingent upon the achievement of defined targets 
and is limited to an average of 60 % of the basic remuneration. 
The targets for the reporting year consist of 70 % financial 
figures and 30 % strategic objectives. The Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board of the respective subsidiary decides on  

the degree of target achievement and therefore on the  
amount of the variable salary component on the basis of  
the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Annual Financial 
Statements of the respective company and the implemen- 
tation of strategy. Performance-based remuneration becomes 
payable after the result for the financial year in question has 
been resolved. 

Members of the Management Board of the key consolidated 
subsidiaries participated in the long-term incentive pro-
gramme (LTI) until the LTI 2016 tranche (issued in the 2016 
financial year with a term of 1 January 2016 to 31 December 
2018). A new incentive scheme for CEOs of the key consoli- 
dated subsidiaries is planned for 2018.

Remuneration of the individual members of the Management Board

Management Board   Basic remuneration  Variable  Multi-year  Total
remuneration in EUR ’000  (fixed salary incl.  remuneration1) share-based  remuneration 4), 5)

  remuneration in kind)  remuneration (LTI)

 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Alejandro Plater 559 558 591 321 – – 1,149 879

Siegfried Mayrhofer 468 468 497 685 110 62 1,075 1,214

Hannes Ametsreiter2) – – – 208 – 104 – 312

Günther Ottendorfer3) – – – – – 98 – 98

Total 1,026 1,026 1,087 1,214 110 263 2,224 2,503

Long-term incentive programme (LTI)

The A1 Telekom Austria Group’s multi-year share-based 
long-term incentive programme (LTI) introduced in the 2010 
financial year continued in 2017, with eligible participants 
restricted to the company’s Management Board. LTI 2017  
was issued on 1 June 2017 and has a term of three years.

The LTI is based on the performance-based allocation of  
notional bonus shares. During the programme, participants 
must hold shares in Telekom Austria AG, the number of which 
is determined by the defined number of notional bonus shares 
for each entitled beneficiary. Any payment is made in cash, 
not in shares. The amount of the payment depends on the 
achievement of targets in the form of key figures defined by  
the Supervisory Board within a three-year performance period, 
ranging from 0 % to a maximum of 350 % of the participant’s 
investment, with a maximum target achievement of 175 %.

The A1 Telekom Austria Group’s long-term incentive programme  
is consistent with the requirements of the Austrian Corporate 
Governance Code. The relevant target performance indicators 
are based on the long-term development of the company. The 
targets and key performance indicators are determined by  
the Supervisory Board at the beginning of each tranche. Each  
performance period is three years long. The following targets 
and key performance indicators were set for the LTI 2015 
tranche issued in the 2015 reporting year: EBITDA (weighting 
35 %), free cash flow (weighting 30 %) and a revenue-based  
indicator (weighting 35 %). The following targets were set 
for the LTI 2016 and LTI 2017 tranches issued in the 2016 
and 2017 reporting years: Return on invested capital (ROIC) 
(weighting 50 %) and revenue market share (weighting 50 %) 
of the A1 Telekom Austria Group.

1) The figures for the variable remuneration for 2016 and 2017 respectively also include the variable remuneration for the years 2015 and 2016, which  
 was paid out in the reporting years 2016 and 2017. (Note: The variable remuneration paid to Alejandro Plater in 2016 did not include any payments  
 for previous years and hence is lower than the remuneration paid to Siegfried Mayrhofer.)
2) Hannes Ametsreiter resigned from his function as CEO as of 31 July 2015 and his employment relationship was terminated at the same date by mutual  
 agreement. In the table above, the variable remuneration in 2016 includes the payment of variable remuneration for the year 2015 until the resigna- 
 tion amounting to EUR 208,000 as well as the share-based remuneration for LTI 2013 of EUR 104,000. The share-based remuneration for LTI 2014 of  
 EUR 71,000 paid in 2017 is not included in the table.
3) Günther Ottendorfer’s contract with a term until 31 August 2016 was prematurely terminated as of 5 March 2015. The share-based remuneration for  
 LTI 2014 of EUR 102,000 paid in 2017 is not included in the table.
4) Hans Tschuden’s contract with a term until 31 March 2015 was prematurely terminated as of 31 May 2014. The share-based remuneration for  
 LTI 2014 and LTI 2013 of EUR 49,000 and EUR 96,000 respectively paid in 2017 and 2016 is not included in the table.
5) There are deviations in the totals due to rounding.
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Benefits under the LTI programme  
in the 2017 reporting year
The fifth LTI tranche (LTI 2014), which had been granted on  
1 July 2014, was paid out to the entitled employees of the 
Group in July 2017 after the end of the three-year performance 
period and three years after the grant date. The tranche was 
paid out in line with the target achievement of 60.2 % as  
determined by the Remuneration Committee of the Super- 
visory Board at the value of 222,154 notional bonus shares  
in total (measured using the average price of the company’s 
shares for the fourth quarter of 2016 of EUR 5.23, and  
therefore EUR 1.16 mn (2016: EUR 1.17 mn)). Of this total, 
Siegfried Mayrhofer received 21,045 shares or EUR 0.11 mn  
(2016: EUR 0.062 mn). The following amounts were paid  
to former Management Board members: 13,604 shares or 
EUR 0.071 mn to Hannes Ametsreiter (2016: EUR 0.104 mn), 
19,510 shares or EUR 0.102 mn to Günther Ottendorfer 
(2016: EUR 0.098 mn), and 9,348 shares or EUR 0.049 mn  
to Hans Tschuden (2016: EUR 0.097 mn).

A detailed description of the long-term incentive programme can 
be found in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

As of 31 December 2016, the members of the Management 
Board hold the following shares, some of which serve to satisfy 
LTI programme participation requirements:

Ronny Pecik resigned from his position on the Supervisory 
Board of Telekom Austria AG effective from 9 June 2017. 

At the Annual General Meeting on 9 June 2017, the Supervisory  
Board mandates of Reinhard Kraxner and Stefan Pinter were 
also each extended by one year. 

Peter Kollmann was elected to the Supervisory Board at the 
Extraordinary General Meeting on 20 September 2017. 

Independence of the Supervisory Board 

The guidelines set out by the Supervisory Board in 2006 to 
determine the independence of its members were adjusted  
in 2009 to comply with the modified provisions of the Austrian 
Corporate Governance Code and are consistent with Annex  
1 of the current version of the Code. According to these pro-
visions, the members of the Supervisory Board are deemed to 
be independent if they have no business or personal relations 
with the company or its Management Board that could result  
in a material conflict of interest and thus influence the members’  
behaviour. 

The free float of the company (including treasury shares) is 
20.58 %. The shareholder representatives on the Supervisory 
Board are appointed in line with the terms of the shareholders’ 
agreement between the controlling shareholder América Móvil 
and ÖBIB.

   of which for LTI
  Shares participation

Alejandro Plater  39,520 33,638

Siegfried Mayrhofer  24,750 24,750 

The entry into force of the Market Abuse Regulation on  
3 July 2016 means that directors’ dealings are no longer  
disclosed by the Financial Market Authority (FMA) but by  
the issuer. 

Telekom Austria AG operates in accordance with the legal  
provisions and reports transactions by Management Board 
and Supervisory Board members and their related parties 
involving Telekom Austria shares on the company’s website. 

There were no directors’ dealings disclosures in the 2017 
reporting year.

Supervisory Board 

The Supervisory Board of Telekom Austria AG comprises  
ten members elected by the Annual General Meeting. The  
Central Works Council of A1 Telekom Austria AG delegates  
four members and one member is delegated by the Staff  
Council of Telekom Austria AG. Employee co-determination  
on the Supervisory Board is a legally regulated aspect of  
the corporate governance system in Austria. 
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Supervisory Board members

  Other Supervisory Board   End of current term of  
  mandates and similar functions   office on Supervisory  
  at other listed companies  Board of Telekom Austria AG  Independence as per

Name (year of birth) Profession (as per the ACGC) First appointed or date of departure  Rule 53 of the ACGC

Wolfgang Ruttenstorfer, Chairman (1950)  Flughafen Wien AG,  27.05.2010 to 14.08.2014   
  RHI AG, NIS a.d. (Republic of Serbia) Reappointed on 27.05.2015 2020 1) yes

Carlos García Moreno Elizondo, Vice Chairman (1957) CFO América Móvil, S.A.B. de C.V. (Mexiko) Royal KPN N.V. (Netherlands) 14.08.2014 2018 2) yes

Alejandro Cantú Jiménez (1972) General Counsel América Móvil, S.A.B. de C.V. (Mexiko)  14.08.2014 2019 3) yes

Karin Exner-Wöhrer (1971) CEO Salzburger Aluminium AG  27.05.2015 2020 1) yes

Peter Hagen (1959) Business Consultant VOEST Alpine AG 25.05.2016 2019 3) yes

Carlos M. Jarque (1954) Executive Director of International Affairs, Government Relations 
 and Corporate Affairs, América Móvil, S.A.B. de C.V. (Mexiko)  14.08.2014 2018 2) yes

Peter F. Kollmann (1962) CFO Verbund AG  20.09.2017 2021 4) yes

Reinhard Kraxner (1970) Assistant General Counsel Treasury/Finance,  
 Philip Morris International Inc. (USA)  14.08.2014 2018 2) yes

Ronny Pecik (1962) Businessman  14.08.2014 09.06.2017  yes

Stefan Pinter (1978) Member of the Management Board, GlaxoSmithKline Pharma GmbH  14.08.2014 2018 2) yes

Oscar Von Hauske Solís (1957) CEO Telmex Internacional (Mexiko),  
 Chief Fixed-Line Operations Officer América Móvil, S.A.B. de C.V. (Mexiko)  23.10.2012 2018 2) yes
 
 

Members of the Supervisory Board delegated by the Staff Council 
Silvia Bauer (1968) Member of the Central Works Council of A1 Telekom Austria AG  30.01.2009 to 03.11.2010, 
 Member of the European Works Council of A1 Telekom Austria Group  Re-delegated on 26.07.2012  

Walter Hotz (1959) Chairman of the Central Works Council of A1 Telekom Austria AG 
 Chairman of the European Works Council of A1 Telekom Austria Group  Re-delegated on 06.05 2011  

Werner Luksch (1967) Vice Chairman of the Central Works Council of A1 Telekom Austria AG  03.08.2007 to 20.10.2010, 
 Member of the European Works Council of A1 Telekom Austria Group  Re-delegated on 11.01.2011  

Alexander Sollak (1978) Chairman of the Staff Council Committee of Telekom Austria AG 
 Secretary-General of the European Works Council of A1 Telekom Austria Group  03.11.2010  

Gottfried Kehrer (1962) Member of the Central Works Council of A1 Telekom Austria AG  27.10.2010  

1) Term of office ends at the Annual General Meeting dealing with the 2019 financial year (provisionally May 2020). 
2) Term of office ends at the Annual General Meeting dealing with the 2017 financial year (30 May 2018).
3) Term of office ends at the Annual General Meeting dealing with the 2018 financial year (provisionally May 2019).
4) Term of office ends at the Annual General Meeting dealing with the 2020 financial year (provisionally May 2021).
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  Other Supervisory Board   End of current term of  
  mandates and similar functions   office on Supervisory  
  at other listed companies  Board of Telekom Austria AG  Independence as per

Name (year of birth) Profession (as per the ACGC) First appointed or date of departure  Rule 53 of the ACGC

Wolfgang Ruttenstorfer, Chairman (1950)  Flughafen Wien AG,  27.05.2010 to 14.08.2014   
  RHI AG, NIS a.d. (Republic of Serbia) Reappointed on 27.05.2015 2020 1) yes

Carlos García Moreno Elizondo, Vice Chairman (1957) CFO América Móvil, S.A.B. de C.V. (Mexiko) Royal KPN N.V. (Netherlands) 14.08.2014 2018 2) yes

Alejandro Cantú Jiménez (1972) General Counsel América Móvil, S.A.B. de C.V. (Mexiko)  14.08.2014 2019 3) yes

Karin Exner-Wöhrer (1971) CEO Salzburger Aluminium AG  27.05.2015 2020 1) yes

Peter Hagen (1959) Business Consultant VOEST Alpine AG 25.05.2016 2019 3) yes

Carlos M. Jarque (1954) Executive Director of International Affairs, Government Relations 
 and Corporate Affairs, América Móvil, S.A.B. de C.V. (Mexiko)  14.08.2014 2018 2) yes

Peter F. Kollmann (1962) CFO Verbund AG  20.09.2017 2021 4) yes

Reinhard Kraxner (1970) Assistant General Counsel Treasury/Finance,  
 Philip Morris International Inc. (USA)  14.08.2014 2018 2) yes

Ronny Pecik (1962) Businessman  14.08.2014 09.06.2017  yes

Stefan Pinter (1978) Member of the Management Board, GlaxoSmithKline Pharma GmbH  14.08.2014 2018 2) yes

Oscar Von Hauske Solís (1957) CEO Telmex Internacional (Mexiko),  
 Chief Fixed-Line Operations Officer América Móvil, S.A.B. de C.V. (Mexiko)  23.10.2012 2018 2) yes
 
 

Members of the Supervisory Board delegated by the Staff Council 
Silvia Bauer (1968) Member of the Central Works Council of A1 Telekom Austria AG  30.01.2009 to 03.11.2010, 
 Member of the European Works Council of A1 Telekom Austria Group  Re-delegated on 26.07.2012  

Walter Hotz (1959) Chairman of the Central Works Council of A1 Telekom Austria AG 
 Chairman of the European Works Council of A1 Telekom Austria Group  Re-delegated on 06.05 2011  

Werner Luksch (1967) Vice Chairman of the Central Works Council of A1 Telekom Austria AG  03.08.2007 to 20.10.2010, 
 Member of the European Works Council of A1 Telekom Austria Group  Re-delegated on 11.01.2011  

Alexander Sollak (1978) Chairman of the Staff Council Committee of Telekom Austria AG 
 Secretary-General of the European Works Council of A1 Telekom Austria Group  03.11.2010  

Gottfried Kehrer (1962) Member of the Central Works Council of A1 Telekom Austria AG  27.10.2010  
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Report on Supervisory Board  
remuneration 

The Annual General Meeting on 9 June 2017 resolved to 
increase Supervisory Board remuneration starting from the 
2016 financial year. It approved remuneration of EUR 40,000 
for the Chairman of the Supervisory Board, EUR 30,000 for  
the Deputy Chairman and EUR 20,000 for all other members  
of the Supervisory Board. Members of a committee are each 
paid EUR 10,000, and the Chairman of the committee re- 
ceives EUR 12,000. (Remuneration for committee members  
is limited to a committee mandate. This stipulates that  
committee members are each entitled to only one lot of re- 
muneration, even if they sit on more than one committee.)  
From 1 January 2017, attendance fees were also increased  
to EUR 400 per meeting.

In the year under review, no member of the Supervisory Board 
personally attended fewer than 50 % of the Supervisory Board 
meetings.

Remuneration for the Supervisory Board for 2016 was paid  
out following the approval of the actions of the Supervisory 
Board members by the Annual General Meeting in July 2017. 
Total remuneration, including attendance fees of EUR 0.358 mn,  
was paid to members of the Supervisory Board in the 2017  
financial year (2016: EUR 0.204 mn). In addition, the members  
of the Supervisory Board are reimbursed for expenses incurred 
for travel and accommodation in connection with Supervisory 
Board meetings. 

The members of the Supervisory Board are included  
in the D&O insurance policy taken out and paid for by  
Telekom Austria AG.

1) Supervisory Board remuneration for the period from 1 January 2016 to 25 May 2016.
2) Supervisory Board remuneration for the period from 25 May 2016 to 31 December 2016.
3) Attendance fee for the period 20 September 2017 to 31 December 2017.
4) Supervisory Board remuneration for 2016 and attendance fee for the period 1 January 2017 to 9 June 2017.

Remuneration of Supervisory Board members

 Supervisory Board remuneration awarded 2017 attendance
Name for 2016 and paid in 2017 (in EUR) fees (in EUR)

Wolfgang Ruttenstorfer 52,000 5,200

Carlos García Moreno Elizondo 42,000 5,200

Alejandro Cantú Jiménez 30,000 2,000

Elisabetta Castiglioni1) 11,967 –

Karin Exner-Wöhrer 20,000 2,000

Peter Hagen2) 18,115 3,600

Carlos M. Jarque 30,000 4,400

Peter Kollmann3) – 400

Reinhard Kraxner 20,000 2,400

Ronny Pecik4) 30,000 2,000

Stefan Pinter 20,000 2,400

Oscar Von Hauske Solís 32,000 4,400

Walter Hotz – 4,800

Silvia Bauer – 4,400

Werner Luksch – 2,000

Alexander Sollak – 4,800

Gottfried Kehrer – 2,000

Information concerning the work-
ing methods of the Management 
Board and the Supervisory Board 
The A1 Telekom Austria Group complies with established  
principles to ensure sustainable, value-enhancing corporate 
development and is committed to the principles of transparency  
and a policy of open communication. The Group-wide areas 
of competence and responsibility are clearly regulated by the 

Articles of Association of Telekom Austria AG and the relevant 
statutory provisions. In addition, the duties, responsibilities 
and working methods are also described in greater detail  
in the Rules of Procedure for the Management Board and the 
Supervisory Board.

The Management Board defines the strategic focus of the 
Group in consultation with the Supervisory Board and provides 
the latter with regular reports on the implementation of the 
strategy as well as on the company’s current situation,  
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including its risk situation. Furthermore, the Supervisory  
Board is authorised to demand reports from the Management 
Board at any time on matters concerning the A1 Telekom  
Austria Group.

The Supervisory Board has set up three committees, which 
provide effective support by carrying out preparatory work on 
selected tasks and issues on behalf of the Supervisory Board.

▸  As of the end of 2017, the Remuneration Committee con-
sisted of Wolfgang Ruttenstorfer (Chairman), Carlos García 
Moreno Elizondo (Deputy Chairman) and Oscar Von Hauske 
Solís. This committee is responsible for regulating relation-
ships between the company and the members of the Man-
agement Board, including granting approval for additional 
occupation. Resolutions concerning the appointment of 
Management Board members (or revocation thereof) and 
granting stock options in the company are resolved by the 
Supervisory Board as a whole. There was one such commit-
tee meeting during the year.

▸  In line with the statutory provisions, at five committee meet-
ings the Audit Committee dealt primarily with the audit of 
and preparation for the adoption of the Annual Financial 
Statements, the audit of the Consolidated Financial State-
ments, the proposal for the distribution of profit, the Man-
agement Report, the Group Management Report and the 
Corporate Governance Report. High priority was also given 
to monitoring the accounting process, the effectiveness  
of the internal control system, the internal audit system and 
the risk management system. Furthermore, the commit-
tee prepared the selection of the auditor and verified the 
independence of the auditor of the Annual and Consoli-
dated Financial Statements, particularly with regard to the 
performance of additional services. As of the end of 2017, 
the Audit Committee consisted of Carlos García Moreno 
Elizondo, as its Chairman and financial expert (pursuant to 
Section 92 (4a) AktG), Wolfgang Ruttenstorfer, Oscar Von 
Hauske Solís, Carlos M. Jarque, Peter Hagen, Peter Kollmann  
(since 20 September 2017, preceded by Ronny Pecik  
until 9 June 2017), as well as the employee representatives  
Silvia Bauer, Walter Hotz and Alexander Sollak.

▸  The Staff and Nomination Committee submits proposals 
to the Supervisory Board for appointments to positions  
on the Management Board and Supervisory Board1) that 
have become vacant, and also deals with questions of suc-
cession planning. Its members are Oscar Von Hauske Solís 
(Chairman), Wolfgang Ruttenstorfer, Carlos García Moreno 
Elizondo, Carlos M. Jarque, Alejandro Cantú Jiménez, Peter 
Kollmann (since 20 September 2017, preceded by Ronny 
Pecik until 9 June 2017), Walter Hotz, Werner Luksch and 
Alexander Sollak. The Staff and Nomination Committee 
held one meeting in the 2017 financial year. 

In the 2017 financial year, the Supervisory Board addressed 
the strategic orientation of the A1 Telekom Austria Group 
and its business performance in detail at six meetings of the 
Supervisory Board and several committee meetings. The main 
activities of the Supervisory Board in 2017 are compiled in  
the Supervisory Board’s report to the Annual General Meeting.

To ensure uniform Group management, the Telekom Austria AG 
Management Board members Alejandro Plater and Siegfried 
Mayrhofer also serve as the Chairman or Deputy Chairman  
of the Supervisory Board of the following key subsidiaries:  
A1 Telekom Austria AG (Austria), Mobiltel EAD (Bulgaria),  
Vipnet d.o.o. (Croatia), Unitary enterprise velcom (Belarus), 
A1 Slovenija d.d. (Slovenia), Vip mobile d.o.o. (Republic  
of Serbia) and one.Vip DOO (Republic of Macedonia).

Diversity within the A1 Telekom 
Austria Group (diversity concept)

The A1 Telekom Austria Group taps its employees’ valuable 
potential by means of continuous further development in an 
international working environment. After all, diversity and  
flexibility are the key to the company’s success and also form 
the basis of the A1 Telekom Austria Group’s diversity concept. 
The guiding principles of the A1 Telekom Austria Group are 
trust, team spirit and agility.

Targets outlined in the A1 Telekom Austria Group’s diversity 
concept for 2016–2018:
▸  38 % women in managerial positions
▸  Anchoring of flexible work arrangements
▸  Creation of a general framework to promote  

constant learning 

Appointment of positions on the  
Management Board and Supervisory 
Board of the A1 Telekom Austria Group
When selecting and appointing members of the Management 
Board, the company and the related decision-making criteria 
of the Supervisory Board place emphasis on candidates having  
the necessary skills and expertise to manage a telecommuni-
cations company.

The decision is also based on other criteria such as educational  
background and career history, age, gender and general per-
sonality traits.

The shareholder representatives on the Supervisory Board  
are appointed in line with the terms of the shareholders’ 
agreement between the controlling shareholder América  
Móvil and Österreichische Bundes- und Industriebeteili- 
gungen GmbH (ÖBIB)1).

1) See also information on C Rule 42
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Measures to support women 
On the Telekom Austria AG Supervisory Board, one of the ten 
shareholder representatives and one of the five members of 
the Staff Council are women. There is no female representation 
on the Management Board of Telekom Austria AG.

At the subsidiaries of the A1 Telekom Austria Group, three 
management positions (out of a total of 12) and four Super- 
visory Board positions are held by women.

As of the end of 2017, the Group-wide proportion of women in 
management positions was 36 % (2016: 36 %), and the overall 
proportion of women at the company was 38 % (2016: 39 %). 

The A1 Telekom Austria Group has made a voluntary  
commitment to gradually increase the proportion of women  
in managerial positions to 38 % by the end of 2018. 

To achieve this, the company is specifically targeting women  
in the recruitment process while simultaneously pressing 
ahead with new organizational models and flexible leader- 
ship structures on a Group-wide basis such as part-time  
management, but also functional management in virtual  
company-wide projects and programmes to ensure the sys- 
tematic and sustained advancement of women within the 
scope of the A1 Telekom Austria Group’s diversity concept. 

In addition, the company promotes a good work-life balance 
throughout the Group by means of flexible working environ-
ment and working time models and sabbaticals. There are  
a range of facilities on offer to families, which vary from coun-
try to country, including childcare initiatives, paternity leave 
and a baby month. The company also provides an expanded 
range of information for managers and employees and a  
women’s network with regular scheduled events in Austria.

“Directors and Officers” (D&O) 
insurance

The Telekom Austria Group has taken out a directors and  
officers (D&O) insurance policy for the members of the  
Group’s Management Board, executives and the members  
of the Supervisory Board. It also pays the associated costs.

Certified public accountant
Ernst & Young Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft m.b.H. has 
credibly demonstrated its impartiality to the Audit Committee 
of the Supervisory Board, in particular regarding reporting  
in accordance with Section 270 (1a) of the Austrian Business 
Enterprise Code (UGB). A detailed analysis by the Audit Com-
mittee revealed no legal obstacle to the appointment of Ernst 
& Young Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft m.b.H. The Annual 
General Meeting on 9 June 2017 appointed Ernst & Young 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft m.b.H. as the auditor of the 
Annual and Consolidated Financial Statements for the 2017 
financial year.

Report by Group Internal Audit 
and Risk Management 

Group Internal Audit is established as a staff unit of the CFO  
of Telekom Austria AG with a duty to report to the entire  
Management Board. There are also local Internal Audit units 
at all material operating subsidiaries of Telekom Austria AG, 
which report to Group Internal Audit. All companies, divisions 
and processes fall within the audit purview of Group Internal  
Audit without restriction. The associated rights and duties,  
in addition to the regulations for audit activities, are set out 
 in the Group Internal Audit Charter.

Group Internal Audit performs independent and objective 
audits throughout the entire Group and reports to the entire 
Management Board of Telekom Austria AG. Audit subjects  
are specified as part of an annual audit plan, which is pre- 
pared according to risk criteria and supplemented by ad  
hoc audit orders as required. After an initial joint evaluation  
by A1 Telekom Austria Group Compliance, reports received  
via the “tell.me” whistleblowing system are examined by  
Group Internal Audit.

In accordance with C Rule 18 of the Austrian Corporate  
Governance Code, the head of Group Internal Audit reports  
to the Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board on the  
annual audit plan in addition to preparing an annual report  
on the audits performed and its material findings. Further-
more, significant issues as well as whistleblowing information 
from the “tell.me” system are reported to the Audit Commit-
tee of the Supervisory Board by Group Internal Audit on an 
intra-year basis where necessary.

The A1 Telekom Austria Group’s risk management system, 
which the auditor has reported on to the Audit Committee, 
enables the Group-wide, structured identification, assess- 
ment and processing of risks on the basis of a defined risk 
policy in addition to strategic and operational objectives.  
The Audit Committee monitors the functionality and suitability  
of risk management and the effectiveness of the internal  
control system. 

The internal control system of the A1 Telekom Austria Group 
serves to ensure the effectiveness and profitability of business 
activities, the integrity and reliability of financial reporting  
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and compliance with all relevant laws and regulations. In 
addition, Telekom Austria AG implemented an internal control 
system in accordance with the US Sarbanes-Oxley (SOX) Act  
in the 2015 financial year. To prevent the passing on or misuse 
of confidential information that might affect the share price, 
a Group-wide capital market compliance guideline has been 
implemented and classified units have been defined within  
the company. 

The A1 Telekom Austria Group has also implemented a Group-
wide information security policy that governs the use of con- 
fidential information such as customer data, traffic data, 
content data and business and trade secrets. This policy is 
supplemented by country-specific guidelines at a local level. 
Information security and data protection managers have  
been appointed at all Group subsidiaries. Regular internal  
and external audits, in addition to staff training, ensure the 
effective implementation of this corporate policy. In 2005,  
A1 Telekom Austria AG became the first network operator in 
Austria to be certified according to the ISO 27001 standard.  
It was followed by Vipnet d.o.o. in 2007, Mobiltel EAD in  
2012 and One.Vip in 2013. The processes stipulated by this 
standard ensure the highest possible level of data security 
within the company. Since 2014, A1 Telekom Austria AG has 
also qualified for ISAE 3402 Type II standard certification  
with its ITO customers, which is especially relevant for per- 
forming IT services. The ICT Services division at A1 Telekom 
Austria AG is also ISO 20000 certified. The effective imple- 
mentation of IT service management quality standards  
prescribed by this standard is ensured on an ongoing basis  
by means of internal and external audits. Since 2016,  
A1 Marketplace has also been certified in accordance with  
the special security measures of ISO 27018.

Certified compliance  
management system of the  
A1 Telekom Austria Group 
In recent years, the Management Board of Telekom Austria AG 
has taken numerous measures to comprehensively develop  
the Group-wide compliance management system. The com-
pliance management system of the A1 Telekom Austria Group 
was audited according to the German audit standard IDW PS 
980 in 2013. The audit and consulting company PwC issued 
Telekom Austria AG with a positive audit report with no com-
ments, i.e. no suggestions for improvement. In 2016, essential 
elements of the Group-wide compliance management system 
were reviewed for effectiveness by Group Internal Audit with  
a successful outcome.

The Management Board is regularly informed about activities 
in the area of compliance management and, in particular, the 
compliance risk assessment and measures taken to prevent 
corruption and the management of other compliance risks; the 
Supervisory Board is informed annually. Moreover, the Super-
visory Board is informed annually about the company’s capital 
market compliance activities and other relevant changes.

The Group Compliance Director reports directly to the  
Management Board and is independent in his work. He is  
supported by experts in the Group Compliance division and 
the local compliance managers at the subsidiaries of the  
A1 Telekom Austria Group. The A1 Telekom Austria Group  
today has a compliance management system that is based  
on the central elements of prevention and reaction. The  
compliance measures necessary for this are firmly established 
in all divisions of the company.

In 2017, approximately 3,500 employees and managers were 
trained in the areas of corruption prevention and integrity, 
antitrust law, data protection and capital market compliance  
in classroom training sessions, while around 17,200 employ-
ees and managers received the same training via e-learning. 
The compliance helpdesk “ask.me” is available to employees  
to answer any questions. The “ask.me” helpdesk handled 
around 450 questions in 2017.
 
The A1 Telekom Austria Group operates a whistleblowing plat-
form (“tell.me”) to enable employees and third parties to in-
form the company about cases of potential misconduct – anon-
ymously if preferred. Around 40 % of the approximately 40 
tips received in 2017 were substantiated and investigated 
further. In instances where misconduct was found to have 
occurred, consequences extended from individual training to 
the termination of employment, depending on the extent of 
the transgression.

Changes after the reporting date
On 3 January 2018, the Management Board of Telekom  
Austria AG resolved to cancel the hybrid bond in accordance 
with Section 5 (3) of the bond terms and conditions with  
effect from 1 February 2018 (first repayment date) and  
to repay the bond plus all interest at its nominal value of  
EUR 600,000,000 (see Note 27).

In January 2018, the A1 Telekom Austria Group entered into 
credit lines with a total volume of EUR 540,000,000 and a  
term of up to twelve months, of which EUR 240,000,000 had 
been utilised as of 30 January 2018.

Vienna, 30 January 2018 
The Management Board

Alejandro Plater, CEO & COO

A1 Telekom Austria Group

Siegfried Mayrhofer, CFO 

A1 Telekom Austria Group
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Telekom Austria AG
Lassallestraße 9
1020 Vienna
Austria
 
Investor Relations Contact
Tel. +43 50 664 47500
investor.relations @A1.group
www.A1.group/en/investor-relations

Forward-Looking 
Statements

Disclaimer for forward-looking statements: This document contains forward-looking state-
ments. These forward-looking statements are usually accompanied by words such as ‘believe’, 
‘intend’, ‘anticipate’, ‘plan’, ‘expect’ and similar expressions. Actual events may differ materially 
from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of a number of factors. 
Forward-looking statements involve inherent risks and uncertainties. A number of important 
factors could cause actual results or outcomes to differ materially from those expressed in any 
forward-looking statement. Neither A1 Telekom Austria Group nor any other person accepts  
any liability for any such forward-looking statements. A1 Telekom Austria Group will not update 
these forward-looking statements, whether due to changed factual circumstances, changes  
in assumptions or expectations. This report does not constitute a recommendation or invitation 
to purchase or sell securities of A1 Telekom Austria Group.
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